CABINET
Thursday 29 October 2020 at 5.00pm
AGENDA
Viewing this meeting on YouTube
The meeting of the Cabinet may be viewed on YouTube by opening the link below:
https://youtu.be/-12AdmLBVTY

1.

Apologies for Absence

2.

Declarations of Interest
To receive declarations of interest from Members including the
terms(s) of the Grant of Dispensation (if any) by the Audit Board or
Strategic Director (Internal Services).

3.

Confirmation of the Minutes of the Meeting held on 24
September 2020 (Pages 1 - 8)
Summary:
To confirm the minutes of the meeting of the Cabinet held on 24
September 2020.
Recommendation:
That the minutes of the meeting of the Cabinet held on 24 September
2020 be confirmed as an accurate record.

4.

Urgent Items
The Chairman will announce his decision as to whether there are any
urgent items and their position on the agenda.

ITEMS FOR CONSIDERATION IN PUBLIC
5.

To receive the minutes of the Cabinet Advisory Panel held on 26
October 2020
To follow

6.

References from Committees
None at this stage.

1

A - Strategies, Policies, Key Decisions, Consultations
7.

Test and Trace Standard Support Payments and Discretionary
Payments Scheme Policies (Pages 9 - 46)
Summary:
This report updates Members on the new Test and Trace Support
Payments and Discretionary Payments Schemes and ancillary
matters.
Recommendations:

1. That the implementation of measures by Government to ensure
that those who are required to self-isolate on or after 28
September 2020, as a result of Test and Trace and if eligible,
receive a payment, through either the Test and Trace Standard
Support Payments Scheme or the Test and Trace Discretionary
Payments Scheme, to assist with their finances, be noted;
2. That authority be delegated to the Strategic Director (Internal
Services) to agree the details of the Policies respectively, for the
Test and Trace Standard Support Payments Scheme and the
Test & Trace Discretionary Payments Scheme, as set out in
Appendices A and B to the report; and
3. That in-year amendments to the Policy for the Test and Trace
Discretionary Payments Scheme, be delegated to the Strategic
Director (Internal Services), in consultation with the Leader of the
Council.
8.

White Paper Consultation: Planning for the Future (Pages 47 156)
Summary:
The Government launched a White Paper with proposals for
restructuring the planning system, called “Planning for the Future”.
This report considers the Council’s formal consultation response, and
some of the likely key implications.
Recommendation:
That the responses to the questions, set out in Appendix B to the
report, form the Council’s response to the Government’s Consultation
on the White Paper: Planning for the Future.

2

9.

Formal Parking Consultation Responses: West Hill Ward Shepherds Lane (Pages 157 - 164)
Summary:
This report outlines the responses received from local residents
following a formal statutory consultation undertaken between 10th
September and 1st October 2020 as part of a Traffic Regulation
Order process to implement a scheme to extend the days and hours
of operation of the residents parking bays in Shepherds Lane
between Nos.1a and 59.
Recommendations:
1. That the Cabinet considers the responses to the consultation
outlined in paragraph 3.6 of the report; and
2. That the extension of the days and hours of operation, Monday –
Sunday 9.30am to 8:00p.m, of the residents parking bays in
Shepherds Lane, between Nos.1a and 59, as shown coloured
pink on the plan at Appendix A to the report, be approved.

10.

Proposed London Resort and the Duty of the Applicant to
Consult the Council on the Proposal (Pages 165 - 268)
Summary:
The proposal for the London Resort leisure and entertainment
complex is to be dealt with as a planning application to be determined
by the Secretary of State as a Nationally Significant Infrastructure
Project (NSIP). As such, it is subject to legislation under the Planning
Act 2008, which is distinct to that for applications determined directly
by the Council. The applicant, London Resort Company Holdings
(LRCH), is required under section 42 of the 2008 Act to consult the
Borough on its emerging proposal before being formally submitted to
the Secretary of State, with the Council being a statutory consultee.
The closing date for responses was 21 September 2020. The
Council’s response, agreed under delegated powers, was submitted
in time to meet this deadline but this did not allow for the response to
be presented to Cabinet in advance.
Recommendation:
That the Council’s response to the consultation as set out in the letter
and comments attached at Appendices A-C to the report, be noted.

3

11.

Draft Private Sector Discretionary Assistance Policy (Pages 269
- 290)
Summary:
Central government allocates funding which allows discretionary
financial assistance to be provided by a local authority to assist local
residents to live independently and safely in their own homes. This
report proposes a new draft Private Sector Discretionary Assistance
Policy to replace the previous Better Care Fund Discretionary
Assistance Policy.
Recommendations:
1. That the Hospital Discharge Grant be increased from £5,000 to
£10,000;
2. That the Safe and Secure Grant be increased from £5,000 to
£10,000;
3. That the Discretionary Assistance Grant be increased from £7,500
to £15,000; and
4. That a new Contribution Grant for mandatory Disabled Facilities
Grants be approved with a maximum grant limit of £10,000.

12.

The Kent and Medway Energy and Low Emissions Strategy 2020
(Pages 291 - 330)
Summary:
This report outlines the details of the Kent and Medway Energy and
Low Emissions Strategy.
Recommendations:
1. That the Council’s commits to support for the Kent and Medway
Energy and Low Emissions Strategy; and
2. That a future report be submitted to Cabinet on the Kent and
Medway Energy and Low Emissions Strategy Implementation
Plan, linking with future Council activities.

4

B - Non-Key Decisions, Monitoring Reports
13.

Environmental Health Partnership and Proposed Disengagement
by Sevenoaks District Council (Pages 331 - 334)
Summary:
This report informs Members of the decision of Sevenoaks District
Council to disengage from the Environmental Health Partnership, the
implications for the [Borough] Council and the steps to be taken to
safeguard services to the Borough’s residents and businesses.
Recommendations:
1. That the proposal by Sevenoaks District Council to disengage from
the Environmental Health Partnership, be noted; and
2. That the actions proposed by Dartford Council, as set out in paras.
3.6 and 3.7 of the report, to mitigate the impact of the
disengagement, be noted.

14.

Review of the Management of the Housing Revenue Account
Garage Portfolio (Pages 335 - 342)
Summary:
Following an audit recommendation to review the current
performance of the Council’s garage stock, this report explores the
options that might best deliver the aims of improving the condition of
the stock to ensure they are fit for purpose and to improve the
occupancy rate and maximise potential rental income.
Recommendations:
1. That, for the reasons outlined in the body of the report, the
outsourcing of the management service for the Council’s garage
stock, be endorsed in principle; and
2. That a further report will be presented following the tender
process, seeking approval for the outsourcing to be in place, from
1 April 2021.

15.

Capital Programme Monitoring 2020/21 (Pages 343 - 356)
Summary:
To inform Cabinet of the progress to date on the schemes in
the approved Capital Programme, and to report the latest
position on capital resources.

5

Recommendations:
1. That Cabinet notes the progress made to date on the
2020/21 Programme;
2. That the current position on the Capital Prudential Indicators,
as shown in Appendix C to the report, be noted;
3. That Cabinet approves the virements between housing
revenue account budgets, as detailed in the report and in
Appendix A; and
4.

16.

That Cabinet approves the virement of £900,000 from the
Leisure and Open Spaces budget, to the Acacia Project budget.

Street Naming and Numbering - Littlebrook Power Station
Access Roads (Pages 357 - 360)
Summary:
To approve two new road names for the Littlebrook Power Station
redevelopment.
Recommendation:
That the names of Harris and Powerhouse be approved for the two
access roads at the Littlebrook Power Station Development.

C - Items for Information, Noting, Endorsing
17.

Treasury Management Mid-Year Report 2020-21 (Pages 361 376)
Summary:
To inform Cabinet of the investment performance of the Council’s
internally and externally managed funds to 30 September 2020 and
to update the Treasury Indicators for the six months to 30 September
2020.
Recommendations:
1. That Cabinet notes the investment performance of the Council’s
funds; and
2. That Cabinet notes the half-year position of the Council’s Treasury
Indicators.

6

18.

Revenue Budget Monitoring 2020/21 (Pages 377 - 388)
Summary:
To update Members on financial performance against the 2020/21
budget to date for the General Fund and Housing Revenue Account.
Recommendation:
That Members note that the overall level of spend and income for the
year is expected to be within the parameters of the budget.

19.

Minutes of the Policy Overview Committee on 8 September 2020
(Pages 389 - 396)
Summary:
To receive and note the minutes of the meeting of the Policy
Overview Committee held on 8 September 2020.
Recommendation:
That the minutes of the meeting of the Policy Overview Committee
held on 8 September 2020 be noted.

7

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 1

Agenda Item 3

DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL
CABINET
MINUTES of the meeting of the Cabinet held on Thursday 24 September 2020 at
5.00 pm
PRESENT:

Councillor J A Kite, MBE (Chairman)
Councillor C J Shippam (Vice-Chairman)
Councillor Mrs A D Allen, MBE
Councillor S H Brown
Councillor A R Lloyd
Councillor Mrs P A Thurlow
Councillor R J Wells

IN ATTENDANCE:

Sheri Green
Sarah Martin
Mark Aplin
Alan Twyman
Paul Blake

138.

- Strategic Director (External Services)
- Strategic Director (Internal Services)
- Planning Policy Manager
- Democratic Services Manager
- Interim Transformation Manager

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE
There we no apologies for absence.

139.

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
There were no declarations of interests.

140.

CONFIRMATION OF THE MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE CABINET
HELD ON 23 JULY 2020
Resolved:
That the minutes of the meeting of the Cabinet held on 23 July 2020 be
confirmed as an accurate record.

141.

URGENT ITEMS
There were no urgent items.

142.

TO RECEIVE THE MINUTES OF THE CABINET ADVISORY PANEL HELD
ON 21 SEPTEMBER 2020
The Cabinet received the minutes of the meeting of Cabinet Advisory Panel A
held on 21st September 2020 and had regard to the Panel’s views throughout
the meeting.

143.

REFERENCES FROM COMMITTEES
There were no references from other committees.
1

CHAIRMAN’S
INITIALS

Agenda Item 3

Page 2
CABINET
THURSDAY 24 SEPTEMBER 2020

144.

CONSULTATION
REGULATIONS

ON

CHANGES

TO

PLANNING

POLICY

AND

The Planning Policy Manager presented a report which detailed the Council’s
proposed response to the Government consultation on Changes to the
Current Planning System due to end on 1st October 2020. The report
explained that whilst the proposed changes were considered to be technical
they could be introduced very quickly by way of amendment to the national
Planning Policy Guidance and would not require legislation and the impact of
the changes on Dartford and other authorities could be significant.
There were four parts to the document:
 Changes to the standard method for assessing minimum housing
numbers in strategic plans. This change was proposed because the
existing methodology was not delivering the government target for
building 300,000 homes pa. The current methodology for identifying
the minimum number of homes to be planned in each borough, which
included a cap on any increase, was explained. The Government’s
revised methodology for calculating the target figure was explained
and the Government also proposed removing the cap. Using the
proposed approach Dartford would have to plan for 1,441 new homes
pa, double the current requirement, which it was felt would represent a
sudden and substantial increase and would be wholly unrealistic. It
would also unfairly punish those authorities like Dartford that had
delivered on their housing needs, result in further in-migration to the
Borough and result in a spiral of ever increasing housing projection
figures. The Council’s proposed response very strongly objected to the
changes, setting out a clear rationale and data demonstrating that the
Government’s revised approach is not an effective, fair or sustainable
methodology from which to derive a baseline target for housing. The
response also suggested that instead the baseline figure should be
established as 1.25% pa of the existing housing stock which would
deliver more than the Government’s target of 300,000 new homes pa.
 The report also detailed proposals for delivering ‘First Homes’,
intended for first time buyers at a discount of at least 30% below
market value and that a minimum of 25% of all affordable housing
should be First Homes. Whilst the Council had no objection to First
Homes per se it would not want this to endanger the provision of
affordable rented housing, which was needed in the Borough.
 The report described plans to support small and medium-sized
developers by reducing the amount of affordable housing they would
need to deliver through new planning permissions for 18 months by
raising the threshold at which developers would be required to provide
affordable housing on a site from 10 to 40 or 50 homes. This could
impact adversely on the delivery of affordable housing, particularly if
developers sought to gain and bank planning permissions or if this
became a permanent change.
CHAIRMAN’S
INITIALS

2

Page 3

Agenda Item 3

CABINET
THURSDAY 24 SEPTEMBER 2020
 Finally the Government was proposing extending the permission in
principle consent regime to allow developers to apply for in principle
permission for major housing-led development (where an
Environmental Impact Assessment or Habitats Regulations
Assessment were not required). This could however result in
developers obtaining in-principle decisions to redevelop town centre
sites and could result in developers seeking to construct higher
buildings than might otherwise be deemed appropriate under the
second stage technical details consent.
The Chairman highlighted the significant implications for Dartford and
unfairness of the proposed change to the methodology for establishing a
baseline target for house building for authorities like Dartford that had
effectively managed housing growth and delivered on housing need. He noted
that the Government was seeking to introduce a national algorithm to address
under delivery by other local authorities that had resulted in the Government’s
overall target for house building not being achieved but that applying a
national algorithm would have severe implications for authorities at the
extremes of the calculations, which would include Dartford. He suggested
that the Government should be looking at exemplar authorities like Dartford
and trying to replicate that success in other areas and that Dartford was not
prepared to accept a changed methodology which would adversely affect the
borough by resulting in greater housing density and lower quality. He
welcomed the strong support from Cabinet Advisory Panel A for the proposed
response to the consultation and thanked officers for the report. At a political
level he intended that the Council would make its views clear to the
Government beyond the level of the consultation response and he was of the
opinion that the Government was moving to an appreciation that it would need
to reconsider the methodology.
The Cabinet noted the implications for Dartford and for other authorities in
Kent and that the Leader of Kent County Council and MP’s across Kent were
also lobbying the Government for a fairer system. The Deputy Leader also
questioned where the increased number of houses could actually be built if
the new target had to be met. The Portfolio Holder for Finance questioned the
wisdom of basing future projections on past assumptions given the enormous
impact of the coronavirus pandemic on working arrangements and the impact
that this could have for future housing demand in commuter towns such as
Dartford. The Chairman agreed that working patterns were likely to change
permanently but felt that demand for housing would always be high in Dartford
because the borough was an attractive place to live and work but that this
demand had to be met in a well-planned and delivered manner, which was
currently being achieved through the Council’s existing Local Plan. He felt that
the proposed methodology was flawed and build on unrealistic premises that
could generate extreme targets. He felt that the Government would reconsider
the methodology and assumptions and either change the algorithm or
recognise the need to revise targets in areas where the targets were extreme
and unrealistic.
CHAIRMAN’S
INITIALS

3

Agenda Item 3

Page 4
CABINET
THURSDAY 24 SEPTEMBER 2020

RESOLVED:
That the responses to the questions, set out in Appendix B to the report, form
the Council’s response to the Government’s Consultation on Changes to the
Current Planning System.
145.

PARKING SERVICES ANNUAL REPORT
The Strategic Director introduced the Civil Enforcement & Parking Services
Report for 2018/20 which set out the Council’s approach to parking and traffic
management, provided information about parking provision and enforcement,
car park provision and parking schemes and projects undertaken during the
past two years as well as statistical and other relevant and comparative data.
She explained that there was a statutory requirement to publish a report and
that it was intended to be informative for the public and to explain how the
service worked. She explained that the Cabinet Advisory Panel had supported
the report but had suggested that future reports should contain even more
statistical data as well as asking for statistical data on the number of penalty
charge notices (PCN’s) issued for each location to be circulated to Members
on a more frequent basis, possibly quarterly or twice a year.
The Chairman noted the comments made by the Cabinet Advisory Panel and
that it had raised concerns about bad parking and behaviour around schools.
He had hoped that public behaviour might have improved as a result of the
greater community spirit that had arisen during the current pandemic but it
seemed that some people had reverted to bad habits and inconsiderate
parking. He understood Members wish to have more information about the
number of enforcement notices issued but felt that actually an increase in the
numbers of PCN’s was a reflection of failure to get the public to park
responsibly. Other ways of changing behaviours needed to be found but it
seemed that efforts to educate and encourage people to act responsibly
would not be heeded by some people. He noted the good work carried out by
the Safer to School Working Group but that this could not override the
behaviour of people who simply would not listen or do the right thing. He
hoped that the Government might act in future to give local authorities more
powers to take action where school safety was an issue. He emphasised that
the Council did not consider parking management to be a revenue generator
and that the service was cost neutral and intended to manage parking
responsibly and safely. This was evidenced by the Council’s actions during
the height of the pandemic when many PCN’s were waived and parking
charges were suspended.
The Portfolio Holder for Community Safety welcomed the report which he felt
was informative for residents and commented on the excellence and fairness
of the parking service. He commended the report to the Cabinet.

CHAIRMAN’S
INITIALS

The Portfolio Holder for Youth, Health & Wellbeing informed the Cabinet that
the report had also been considered by the Joint Transportation Board, which
4

Page 5

Agenda Item 3

CABINET
THURSDAY 24 SEPTEMBER 2020
she had chaired, and that many of the same concerns had been raised as had
been discussed by CAP. She noted that school safety was a particular
concern, especially as many pupils travelled to schools in Dartford from other
areas. She felt that there was a need for communication and education to
change the parking behaviours of some parents.
RESOLVED:
That the Cabinet notes the content of the Civil Enforcement & Parking
Services Report 2018-20, and the comments from the Joint Transportation
Board, and approves its publication on the Council’s web site.
146.

GUIDANCE - PRIORITISING INVESTIGATION OF REPORTED PARKING
ISSUES AND PARKING MANAGEMENT SCHEMES
The Cabinet considered a report which detailed the principles of new
guidance for prioritising reported parking issues in the borough for
investigation and development of parking schemes to address identified
problems. This recognised the increasing public demand for schemes to deal
with parking issues and the need to establish a more robust approach to
appraising parking issues and prioritising schemes for implementation to
provide clarity for the public, ward Members and partner organisations. The
guidance focussed on providing a simple, clear and consistent appraisal
approach to rank and prioritise parking issues and to establish a priority list for
action on a traffic lights basis.
The Portfolio Holder for Community Safety explained the need to establish
clear guidance to ensure that the Council appraised demands for parking
schemes fairly, prioritised according to need and demand and was community
driven. It also provided a clear role for local Members who were best
positioned to know the wishes of their communities. He also commented that
the guidance was being ‘piloted’ in Stone, where school parking was also an
issue.
The Chairman welcomed the guidance. He noted that demand for schemes
outstripped the Council’s ability to provide so it was important to have a clear,
fair and evidence-led process for prioritising requests. The Strategic Director
(External Services) advised Members that the Council had recognised
growing demand in this area and that two new members of staff were being
recruited to help to address this.
RESOLVED:
That the Guidance for Prioritising Investigation of Reported Parking Issues
and Parking Management Schemes be adopted as part of the Council’s
process for prioritising reported parking issues in the borough, as outlined in
paragraph 3.8 in the report.
CHAIRMAN’S
INITIALS

5

Agenda Item 3

Page 6
CABINET
THURSDAY 24 SEPTEMBER 2020

147.

TOWN CENTRE PUBLIC SPACES PROTECTION ORDER
The Cabinet considered a proposal to implement Part 4, section 59 of the
Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014 to renew a Public Spaces
Protection Order (PSPO), in order to suppress incidents of crime and antisocial behaviour occurring in Dartford Town Centre. The intention of a PSPO
was to deal with a particular nuisance or problem in a specific area that it
considered to be detrimental to the local community’s quality of life by
imposing conditions on the use of that area which apply to everyone and was
designed to ensure that the law-abiding majority of people could use and
enjoy public safety safe from anti-social behaviour. The Council could make a
PSPO on any public space within its area. The original PSPO had been
introduced in 2017 for a three year period and officers had believed that this
period began on the implementation date (13 November) rather than the date
on which the order had been made (12 September). The current PSPO had
therefore lapsed, although the police were confident that other powers could
be used if this proved to be necessary in the interim. The PSPO had proved
to be an effective measure in dealing with anti-social behaviour in the town
centre but unfortunately there was a continuing need which made it desirable
for the PSPO to be renewed for a further three years. Before this could
happen the Council would need to undertake a statutory consultation with the
Police, the Police and Crime Commissioner and other relevant bodies, which
would include community representatives, local businesses and their
customers. A further report would be submitted to the Cabinet following
consultation with a view to making a PSPO for a further three years.
The Chairman noted that the PSPO had worked well and provided a useful
tool in ensuring that local people could enjoy public spaces safely and with
confidence. He noted that the proposed new PSPO was unchanged from the
original PSPO which had come to the end of its three year term.

RESOLVED:
1. That on being satisfied that the anti-social behaviour activities detailed in
paras.3.10 and 3.11 of the report are having, or be likely to have, a
detrimental effect on the quality of life of those in the locality, are
persistent or continuing in nature and unreasonable, the Strategic Director
(External Services) be authorised to commence the statutory consultation
to enable the Council to renew its Public Spaces Protection Order
prohibiting anti-social behaviour associated with the consumption of
alcohol, misuse of substances and associated vehicle nuisance, on terms
set out in the draft Order at Appendix A to the report, to apply to specific
areas of Dartford Town Centre, as shown on the Map at Appendix B; and
2. That, a further report be presented to Cabinet, which takes into account
the outcome of the consultation process, with a view to seeking authority
for the Head of Legal Services to make the Public Spaces Protection
Order for a further period of three years.
CHAIRMAN’S
INITIALS

6

Page 7

Agenda Item 3

CABINET
THURSDAY 24 SEPTEMBER 2020
148.

LOCAL GOVERNMENT AND SOCIAL CARE OMBUDSMAN'S ANNUAL
REVIEW LETTER 2020
The Strategic Director (Internal Services) introduced the Local Government
and Social Care Ombudsman’s Annual Review Letter 2020 relating to
complaints against the Council and decisions made by the Ombudsman for
the year ending 31 March 2020 and statistics as to the outcomes of
investigations.
The Chairman noted the very low number of complaints to the Ombudsman
about Council services which were delivered on a daily basis to 106,000
residents. 17 cases had been referred to the Ombudsman in 2019-20, of
which 12 had not been investigated because the Ombudsman did not regard
them as warranting investigation, and of the 5 cases investigated 4 had been
upheld and had been addressed by the Council.

RESOLVED:
That the Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman’s Annual Review
Letter 2020, attached at Appendix A to the report, and the annual summary of
statistics on the decisions made about the Council for the year ending 31
March 2020, attached at Appendix B to the report, be noted.

The meeting closed at 5.55 pm

Councillor J A Kite, MBE
CHAIRMAN

CHAIRMAN’S
INITIALS

7

Agenda Item 3

Page 8

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 9

Agenda Item 7

CABINET
29 OCTOBER 2020
TEST AND TRACE STANDARD SUPPORT
DISCRETIONARY PAYMENTS SCHEMES POLICIES

PAYMENTS

AND

1. SUMMARY
1.1

This report updates Members on the new Test and Trace Support Payments
and Discretionary Payments Schemes and matters ancillary thereto.

2. RECOMMENDATIONS
2.1 That the implementation of measures by Government to ensure that those who
are required to self-isolate on or after 28 September 2020, as a result of Test
and Trace and if eligible, receive a payment, through either the Test and Trace
Standard Support Payments Scheme or the Test and Trace Discretionary
Payments Scheme, to assist with their finances, be noted.
2.2 That authority be delegated to the Strategic Director (Internal Services) to
agree the details of the Policies respectively, for the Test and Trace Standard
Support Payments Scheme and the Test & Trace Discretionary Payments
Scheme, as set out in Appendices A and B to the report.
2.3 That in-year amendments to the Policy for the Test and Trace Discretionary
Payments Scheme, be delegated to the Strategic Director (Internal Services),
in consultation with the Leader of the Council.

3. Background and Discussion
3.1 As part of its COVID-19 response, the Government announced a package of
legislative measures known as the Self-isolation Payment Scheme (under the Test and
Trace Support Scheme), to ensure that those who are required to self-isolate (on or
after 28 September 2020) receive a payment to assist their finances and to encourage
compliance with the legislation.
3.2 Local authorities are required to set up their self-isolation support schemes to be in
place by 12 October 2020. Those who start to self-isolate from 28 September, will
receive backdated payments, once their local authority schemes are set up.
3.3 Individuals will be entitled to a payment of £500 from the Council if they meet all the
following Test and Trace Standard Support Payments Scheme eligibility criteria:







Make an application to the Council in the prescribed form and provide all the
evidence and verification required;
Are a resident in the Borough;
Have been told to stay at home and self-isolate by NHS Test and Trace, either
because they have tested positive for coronavirus or have recently been in
close contact with someone who has tested positive;
Are employed or self-employed;
Are unable to work from home and will lose income as a result; and
Are currently receiving one of the following ‘qualifying benefits’:
o Universal Credit;
o Working Tax Credit;

Agenda Item 7

Page 10
CABINET
29 OCTOBER 2020

o Income-based Employment and Support Allowance;
o Income-based Jobseeker’s Allowance;
o Income Support;
o Housing Benefit; or
o Pension Credit.
3.4 Individuals who are not in receipt of a ‘qualifying benefit’ as referred to above, but meet
all the other criteria, will be eligible for a £500 payment under the Test and Trace
Discretionary Payments Scheme.
3.5 Individuals will not be entitled to apply for a payment under both the Schemes.
3.6 Both Schemes are available to all individuals who meet the eligibility criteria and are
told to self-isolate on or after 28 September 2020.
3.7 At the present time, the Government has stated that both Schemes will be available
until 31 January 2021.
3.8 The Government has confirmed that it will reimburse the Council for all payments
made under the Test and Trace Standard Support Payments Scheme. An initial
allocation of £48,000 has been made. The payments made will be reconciled so that
any money overspent or underspent compared to the initial allocation will be topped up
or repaid respectively.
3.9 The Council has been allocated a fixed amount of £28,869.01 from the Government for
the Test and Trace Discretionary Payments Scheme. The Government has announced
that no additional monies will be available. The Council therefore reserves the right to
amend this Scheme at any time to ensure the funds go to those who face the most
financial hardship. Any in-year amendments made to this Scheme will be agreed by
the Strategic Director (Internal Services) in consultation with the Leader.
3.10 The Council has also been allocated a sum of £27,142.40 towards the costs of
administering both Schemes.
3.11 The Policies respectively, for the Test and Trace Standard Support Payments Scheme
and the Test and Trace Discretionary Payments Scheme are as set out in Appendices
A and B to the report.
4

Relationship to the Corporate Plan
N/A.

5

Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk assessments
Financial Implications

As per paragraphs 3.8 to 3.10 of the report

Legal Implications

The Council has implemented both Schemes in line with
Government requirements and guidance.
All information and data provided by applicants will be dealt
with in accordance with the Council’s Data Protection Policy
and Privacy Notices, which have been published on the

Page 11

Agenda Item 7

CABINET
29 OCTOBER 2020
Council’s website.

Staffing Implications
Admin Implications

Risk Assessment

A Data Sharing Agreement has been signed with the
Department of Health & Social Care to enable the Council to
check that an applicant has a valid NHS Test & Trace
notification of the need to self-isolate.
The Schemes will be administered by the Revenues &
Benefits Service.
The Schemes will be administered as set out in Appendices
A and B. The Council has received a sum of £27,142.40
towards the costs of administering the Schemes.
The Council will need to be alert to the threat of fraud and
will therefore take appropriate steps when reviewing the
applications to minimise this risk.

6 Appendices
Appendix A: Test and Trace Standard Payments Scheme Policy
Appendix B: Test and Trace Discretionary Payments Scheme Policy
BACKGROUND PAPERS
Documents
consulted

Date

File Ref

Report
Author

Section and
Directorate

Sarah Martin

Mgt.
Team

Exempt
Information
Category
N/A

Page 12

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 13

Agenda Item 7

Dartford Borough Council
Test and Trace Support Payments Scheme

Dartford Borough Council/ Test & Trace Support Payment Scheme/10102020

1

Agenda Item 7

Page 14

Contents
Definitions ................................................................................................................................ 3
1.

Background to Self-Isolation and Test and Trace Support Payment Scheme................... 5

2.

An overview of the Test and Trace Payment scheme (the Standard Scheme)................. 5

3.

Commencement of the scheme and scheme closure ...................................................... 6

4.

Applying for a Test and Trace Support Payment (the Standard Scheme). ....................... 6

5.

Time limits for making an application for a payment....................................................... 7

6.

Multiple claims within the household and from the same applicant............................... 7

7.

The eligibility criteria and evidence required for the Test and Trace Support Payment
(the standard scheme). .................................................................................................... 8

8.

How much grant will be paid, methods of payment and timings................................... 12

9.

Notification of Decisions................................................................................................. 12

10.

Implications for other benefits and reductions .......................................................... 12

11.

Review of Decisions .................................................................................................... 12

12.

Complaints.................................................................................................................. 13

13.

The Discretionary Test and Trace Payment Scheme and its relationship with the
Scheme ....................................................................................................................... 13
Standard Scheme............................................................................................................ 13
Discretionary Scheme..................................................................................................... 13
Claiming from the schemes ............................................................................................ 13

14.

Funding of the scheme ............................................................................................... 14

15.

Taxation and provision of information to HMRC........................................................ 14

16.

Managing the risk of fraud ......................................................................................... 14

17.

Recovery of amounts incorrectly paid........................................................................ 14

18.

The Council’s duties in relation to self-isolation......................................................... 14

19.

Delegated Powers....................................................................................................... 15

20.

Data Protection and use of data................................................................................. 15

Dartford Borough Council/ Test & Trace Support Payment Scheme/10102020

2

Page 15

Agenda Item 7

Definitions
The following definitions are used within this document:
‘Applicant’; means the individual making an application for a payment under this scheme;
‘Contact Tracing and Advice Service (CTAS)’; means the web-based system used by Public
Health England to contact and trace individuals who are required to self-isolate;
‘CTAS Account ID’; means the unique number provided by Public Heath England through the
Contact Tracing and Advice Service (CTAS);
‘COVID-19’; means the infectious disease caused by the most recently discovered
coronavirus;
‘Housing Benefit’; means the benefit administered by local authorities under either the
Housing Benefit Regulations 2006 or the Housing Benefit (Persons who have attained the
qualifying age for state pension credit) 2006;
‘income-related Employment and Support Allowance’; means the means-tested
Employment and Support Allowance administered by the Department for Work and Pensions
under the Welfare Reform Act 2007;
‘income-based Jobseeker’s Allowance’; means the means-tested Jobseekers Allowance
administered by the Department for Work and Pensions under the Jobseekers Act 1995;
Income Support’; means the means-tested Income Support administered by the Department
for Work and Pensions under the Income Support (General) Regulations 1987;
‘NHS Test and Trace’; means the service provided to the National Health Service in England,
established in May 2020 to track and help prevent the spread of COVID-19;
‘Pension Credit’; means the means-tested Guarantee or Savings Credit administered by the
Department for Work and Pensions under the State Pension Credit Regulations 2002;
‘Qualifying benefit’; means any of the following benefits: Housing Benefit, Income support,
income-based jobseeker’s Allowance, income-related Employment and Support Allowance,
Working Tax Credit or Universal Credit;
‘Self-isolation, Self-isolate’; means the legal requirement for an individual to self-isolate
when told to by NHS Test and Trace or the NHS COVID-19 app and the legal duty to self-isolate
under the Health Protection (Coronavirus, Restrictions) (Self-Isolation) (England) Regulations
2020 which came into force on 28th September 2020;
‘Test and Trace Support Payment Scheme’ (‘Standard Scheme’); means the Standard
Scheme introduced by Government on 28th September and administered by Local Authorities;
‘Test and Trace Discretionary Payments Scheme’ (‘Discretionary Scheme’); means the Test
and Trace Discretionary Payments Scheme which has been agreed by the Council and which
may be available for individuals who are unable to access the ‘Standard Scheme’.
‘Universal Credit’ means the means-tested Universal Credit administered by the Department
for Work and Pensions under the Universal Credit Regulations 2013;

Dartford Borough Council/ Test & Trace Support Payment Scheme/10102020

3

Agenda Item 7

Page 16

‘Working Tax Credit’; means the means-tested benefit administered by Her Majesty’s
Revenues and Customs under the Working Tax Credit (Entitlement and Maximum Rate)
Regulations 2002.

Dartford Borough Council/ Test & Trace Support Payment Scheme/10102020

4

Page 17

Agenda Item 7

1.

Background to Self-Isolation and Test and Trace Support Payment
Scheme

1.1

From 28th September 2020, Government has changed the legislation so that certain
people will have to self-isolate due to the current COVID-19 crisis.

1.2

A package of legislative measures has been introduced both to ensure that those who
are required to self-isolate, do so and, that those on a low income, receive a payment
to assist their finances and to encourage compliance with the legislation.

1.3

The Council, together with Government, recognises that self-isolation is one of the
most powerful tools for controlling the transmission of the Covid-19 virus and this
scheme document details who will be eligible and how the Test and Trace Support
Payment will be made. It also outlines the approach the Council will take in
determining whether a payment will be made or not.

1.4

This document, which covers the Standard Scheme, should be read alongside the
Council’s Test and Trace Discretionary Support scheme which may be available to
individuals who do not qualify a payment under this scheme.

2.

An overview of the Test and Trace Payment scheme (the standard
scheme).

2.1

From 28th September 2020, individuals will be entitled to a Test and Trace Support
Payment of £500 from the Council if they meet the eligibility criteria listed below:
(a) Make an application to the Council in the prescribed form and provide all the
evidence and verification required;
(b) Are a resident within the Council’s area;
(c) Have been told to stay at home and self-isolate by NHS Test and Trace, either
because they have tested positive for coronavirus or have recently been in close
contact with someone who has tested positive;
(d) Are employed or self-employed;
(e) Are unable to work from home and will lose income as a result; and
(f) Are currently receiving any of the following ‘qualifying benefit’s:
• Universal Credit;
• Working Tax Credit;
• income-based Employment and Support Allowance;
• income-based Jobseeker’s Allowance;
• Income Support;
• Housing Benefit; or

Dartford Borough Council/ Test & Trace Support Payment Scheme/10102020

5

Agenda Item 7

•

Page 18

Pension Credit.

2.2

This particular scheme is designed for those individuals (applicants) who:
• meet the standard conditions 2.1 (a) to (e) above;
• are in receipt of one of the qualifying benefits listed in 2.1(f); and
• comply with the self-isolation requirements laid down by Government;

2.3

Where individuals meet all the requirements but are not in receipt of a qualifying
benefit (2.1 (f)), no payment can be made; however, they may be able to apply for a
discretionary payment under the Council’s Test and Trace Discretionary Payments
Scheme which is available on the Council’s website
www.dartford.gov.uk/testandtracepayments

2.4

Individuals will not be entitled to apply for both a payment under the Standard
Scheme and under the Council’s Discretionary Scheme.

3. Commencement of the scheme and scheme closure
Commencement
3.1

This scheme is available to all individuals who meet the eligibility criteria and
who are told to self-isolate on or after 28th September 2020.

3.2

Individuals who are required to self-isolate before 28th September 2020 will not be
eligible for a payment.

Scheme closure
3.3

At the present time, Government has stated that this Standard Scheme will be
available until 31st January 2021.

4.

Applying for a Test and Trace Support Payment (the Standard
Scheme).

4.1

Individuals who are resident within the Council’s area will be entitled to make an
application for a Test and Trace Support Payment under this scheme. In all cases, the
‘applicant’ will be required to answer all of the questions asked and provide the
information required by the Council in the specified timescale.

4.2

In order to receive a payment, all applicants must meet the full eligibility criteria,
details of which are shown within Section 6 of this scheme. The applicant will be
required to self-verify certain criteria and also confirm that they will comply
with the self-isolation requirements set by Government.

Dartford Borough Council/ Test & Trace Support Payment Scheme/10102020

6

Page 19

Agenda Item 7

4.3

Where the applicant fails to meet the eligibility criteria, they will not receive a
payment and will be informed of this by the Council, either at the point of application
or as soon as practicable thereafter.

4.4

Where the applicant is successful, the Council will notify them accordingly and make
payment in line with the timings and methods shown in Section 8.

4.5

Applications can only be accepted from individuals who are resident in the Council’s
area.

4.6

Applications will be accepted from a third party in respect of any individual who meets
the eligibility criteria for a payment. However, the following should be noted:
• The person making the application will need to provide evidence of their identity
and also the reason why they are applying on behalf of another person; and
• That any payment must only be made by the Council to the person who is selfisolating. No payment will be made to a third party under any circumstance.

4.7

All applications shall be made online using the Council’s dedicated webpage
www.dartford.gov.uk/testandtracepayments.There are no paper or other types of
application processes; however, should individuals experience difficulties in making
any application, they should contact the Council on 01322 343434.

5. Time limits for making an application for a payment
5.1

No application for a payment can be made before the 28th September 2020 or for
any individual who has been required to self-isolate before 28th September 2020.

5.2

Eligible individuals can apply for a Test and Trace Support Payment at any time up to
14 days after their period of self-isolation ended. The Council will not accept any
applications after this point.

5.3

Where an individual has been required to self-isolate on or after 28th September but
before the Council’s scheme opened on 12th October 2020, an application for a
backdated discretionary payment must be made by 26th October 2020 (14 days after
commencement of scheme).

6.

Multiple claims within the household and from the same applicant

6.1

Individuals in the same household can each make an application to receive a Test
and Trace Support Payment, if they each meet the eligibility criteria in full.

6.2

An individual may make an application more than once but only:
• If the individual is told to self-isolate multiple times; and
• they meet the eligibility criteria for each individual application; and
• the periods of self-isolation do not overlap.

Dartford Borough Council/ Test & Trace Support Payment Scheme/10102020

7

Agenda Item 7

Page 20

6.3

The Council is mindful that this can be confusing for applicants and it will be essential,
where multiple applications are made by an individual, to ensure correct eligibility.
Therefore, a new application will need to be made for each distinct period of selfisolation.

7.

The eligibility criteria and evidence required for the Test and Trace
Support Payment (the Standard Scheme).

7.1

For payment to be made under this scheme, all of the criteria must be met. As with
the application form itself, all evidence will need to be provided electronically. The
Council provides facilities for all applicants to upload documents, evidence and
photographs.

7.2

Where documentation is only held in ‘hard copy’ or paper form, the Council will accept
digital images or photographs provided they show all the relevant information.

7.3

The Council will keep all information supplied by applicants, secure and in accordance
with Data Protection legislation.

An individual must make a valid application to the Council in the prescribed form and
provide all the evidence and verification required
7.4

As mentioned in Section 4, a valid application must be made via the Council’s
website www.dartford.gov.uk/testandtracepayments All applicants will be required
to provide details sufficient to identify themselves, their address and to allow the
Council to contact them including:
• Full name;
• Address;
• National Insurance Number;
• Telephone number; and
• Email address.

7.5

In addition to the above, all applicants will be required to submit a copy of their
current bank statement(s) in order to:
• Verify that their income has reduced due to having to self-isolate (see later);
and
• Provide details of the bank account number and sort code of the account into
which a payment would be made.

That they are a resident within the Council’s area
7.6

The applicant will be required to verify that they have their sole or main residence in
the Council’s area. The Council will check other records held (and make other
enquiries where appropriate) to determine this.

Dartford Borough Council/ Test & Trace Support Payment Scheme/10102020

8

Page 21

7.7

Agenda Item 7

Where necessary, the Council will ask the applicant to provide additional evidence of
residence.

Have been told to stay at home and self-isolate by NHS Test and Trace, either because
they have tested positive for coronavirus or have recently been in close contact with
someone who has tested positive
7.8

A key requirement of the scheme is that the applicant has been instructed by the NHS
Test and Trace to stay at home and self- isolate either because:
• they have tested positive for COVID-19 (coronavirus); or
• have recently been in close contact with someone who has tested positive.

7.9

All applicants will be required to provide the 8-digit unique ID number which has been
provided to them by NHS Test and Trace.

7.10

For information, the NHS Test and Trace service uses the Contact Tracing and Advice
Service (CTAS) to record information about people who have tested positive for
COVID-19 and their contacts. The CTAS Account ID is an 8-character identifier unique
to each case (e.g. 3b1a3015c). Most individuals who test positive for COVID-19 or are
a contact of someone who has had a positive test, will receive a digital invitation from
the CTAS system to undertake the contact tracing journey.

7.11

All cases and contacts who have completed the contact tracing journey (including
those who were ineligible for the digital invitation such as children or individuals with
a landline number only) will receive a citizen advice message upon completion of the
NHS Test and Trace questionnaire. The citizen message (sent either via a text
message/email or postal service for people with no access to mobile phone or email)
contains the 8-character Account ID.

7.12

The Council will check that the applicant has a valid Account ID produced by the
Contact Tracing and Advice Service. Only this number will allow an application to be
processed.

7.13

The Council will not make payment to anyone who does not have a valid
notification (Account ID) from NHS Test and Trace. It should be noted that there is a
legal duty to self-isolate which only applies to people who have been told to selfisolate by NHS Test and Trace.

7.14

The Council will not accept a notification from the NHS Isolation Note service. Where
the applicant has provided this only, they will be given an opportunity to provide a
valid NHS Test and Trace notification if they have one.

Dartford Borough Council/ Test & Trace Support Payment Scheme/10102020

9

Agenda Item 7

7.15

Page 22

This scheme does not cover people who are self-isolating after returning to the UK
from abroad, unless they have tested positive for COVID-19 (coronavirus) or have
been instructed to self-isolate by NHS Test and Trace.

All applicants must be currently employed or self-employed
7.16

Only those applicants who are currently employed or currently self-employed will be
entitled to claim a Test and Trace Support Payment. For the sake of clarity, this scheme
requires all applicants to provide sufficient evidence of their current employment or
self-employment status. In the case of employed applicants, full details of their
employer must be given on the application form including contact numbers.

7.17

The Council will also require applicants to provide proof such as listed below:

Employed
• Current wages or salary slips;
• Employment contract; or
• Letter from the employer confirming current employment.
Self Employed
• Self-assessment form;
• Details of HMRC registration as self-employed;
• Current accounts; or
• Current accounts and trading statements

7.18

The above list is not exhaustive.

7.19

As this is an essential requirement in order for a Test and Trace Support Payment to
be made, the applicant must satisfy the Council that they meet this criterion.

Are unable to work from home and will lose income as a result
7.20

All applicants will have to certify on the application form that they are:
• Unable to work from home; and
• Will lose income as a result.

7.21

The Council will need to be satisfied that any applicants meet these conditions in
full.

Unable to work from home

7.22

The Council will require applicants to give details about the nature of their work and
whether they can undertake this work from home.

Dartford Borough Council/ Test & Trace Support Payment Scheme/10102020

10

Page 23

Agenda Item 7

7.23

Only those applicants that cannot work from home whilst self-isolating will meet the
criteria and therefore, each applicant will not only be required to verify the fact, but
also provide details of the reasons why this is the case, together with details of the
type of work that they would normally undertake.

7.24

This criterion applies whether an applicant is either employed or self-employed and
Government has provided a number of examples as follows:
• An applicant with a single job whose employer continued to pay them a full wage
while they self-isolated would not meet the criteria;
• An applicant whose employer paid them a reduced wage while they self-isolated
would meet the criteria (as they have lost income); and
• An applicant with two part-time jobs who continued to be paid a full wage by one
employer, but whose other employer did not pay them while self-isolating, would
be eligible.

Are currently receiving any of the qualifying benefits.
7.25

The final criterion is that the applicant must be in receipt of one of the following
qualifying benefits:
• Universal Credit;
• Working Tax Credit;
• income-based Employment and Support Allowance;
• income-based Jobseeker’s Allowance;
• Income Support;
• Housing Benefit; or
• Pension Credit.

7.26

Applicants must be actually in receipt of the listed benefits. Each applicant will be
required to verify that they are in receipt of one of the benefits and provide
evidence of that to the Council. Evidence will need to be provided electronically but
typically could be copies of bank statements showing the payments, confirmation of
benefit entitlement or award /payment summaries (as in the case of Universal Credit).
The Council will accept ‘screenshots’ of any online benefit account.

7.27

Where an applicant has yet to apply for a qualifying benefit; is awaiting a decision on
a benefit; is currently appealing a negative decision; or is unable to apply for a
qualifying benefit, they will not be entitled to a payment under the Standard Scheme
and will be directed to apply for a payment under the Council’s Test and Trace
Discretionary Payment Scheme.

7.28

The Council will verify the current receipt of a qualifying benefit with the Department
for Work and Pensions (DWP) and Her Majesty’s Revenues and Customs (HMRC) as
appropriate.

Dartford Borough Council/ Test & Trace Support Payment Scheme/10102020

11

Agenda Item 7

8.

Page 24

How much grant will be paid, methods of payment and timings.

8.1

Where an applicant meets all of the eligibility criteria, a single payment of £500 shall
be paid for each period of self-isolation. Payments will be made direct to the
applicant’s bank account within 3 working days, starting with the date of application.

8.2

Where further information or evidence is required from the applicant, the Council will
look to make payment within 3 working days starting with the date when all of the
required information is received.

8.3

Full details of the applicant’s bank account must be supplied on the application form
and this will be cross checked with the copies of the bank statements provided as part
of the verification process.

8.4

As required by Government, payments can only be made to the applicant’s bank
account. No payments can be made to third parties whatsoever.

8.5

The Council is aware that in some cases, applicants may be overdrawn and may not
be able to gain access to the payment. In these cases, the applicant may apply for
protection. This protection is called a 'first right of appropriation of funds order'.
More details of this can be obtained from the Councils website
www.dartford.gov.uk/testandtracepayments or from Citizens Advice.

9.
9.1

Notification of Decisions
Applications will be considered by officers of the Council and all decisions made by the
Council shall be notified to the applicant either in writing or by email.

10. Implications for other benefits and reductions
10.1

The Council has been advised by the Department for Work and Pensions (DWP) that
the Test and Trace Support Payment will be disregarded for the purposes of all meanstested benefits.

10.2

The Council has decided that any payment made under this scheme shall not affect
entitlement to Council Tax Reduction.

11. Review of Decisions
11.1

Whilst there is no statutory appeal process, the Council will operate an internal review
process and will accept an applicant’s request for an appeal of its decision by a senior
officer.

11.2

All such requests must be made in writing to the Council, within 3 days of the Council’s
decision, and should state the reasons why the applicant is aggrieved with the decision
of the Council. New information may be submitted at this stage to support the

Dartford Borough Council/ Test & Trace Support Payment Scheme/10102020

12

Page 25

Agenda Item 7

applicant’s appeal. The application will be reconsidered as soon as practicable, and
the applicant informed in writing or by email of the decision.

12. Complaints
12.1

The Council’s ‘Complaints Procedure’ (available on the Councils website) will be
applied in the event of any complaint received about this scheme.

13. The Discretionary Test and Trace Payment Scheme and its
relationship with the Standard Scheme
Standard Scheme

13.1

This ‘Standard’ Scheme has been determined by criteria set down by Government and
is primarily aimed at all applicants who are working or self-employed; are unable to
work from home and will therefore have a reduction in income and are in receipt of
certain qualifying benefits (Universal Credit; Working Tax Credit; Income-based
Employment and Support Allowance; income-based Jobseeker’s Allowance; Income
Support; Housing Benefit; or Pension Credit).

13.2

The receipt of one of those benefits is essential in order for a payment to be made.

Discretionary Scheme

13.3

The Council’s Test and Trace Discretionary Payments Scheme is for any individual who
meets all the required criteria except that they are not currently in receipt of a
qualifying benefit. The reason for this could be, for example, that a claim for a benefit
has not yet been made or that the individual, whilst normally resident in the UK, is
unable to gain access to public funds.

13.4

Details of the Council’s Test and Trace Discretionary Payment Scheme can be found at
www.dartford.gov.uk/testandtracepayments

Claiming from the schemes

13.5

Individuals who are entitled to a payment from the Standard Scheme are unable to
make a claim from the Council’s discretionary scheme.

13.6

However, an applicant who is refused a ‘Standard Scheme’ payment on the basis that
they meet all the criteria except that they are not in receipt of a qualifying benefit,
will be directed to make an application for a discretionary payment.

Dartford Borough Council/ Test & Trace Support Payment Scheme/10102020

13

Agenda Item 7

Page 26

14. Funding of the scheme
14.1

Government has confirmed that it will reimburse the Council for all payments
correctly made under this scheme.

15. Taxation and provision of information to HMRC
15.1

The Council has been informed by Government that all payments under this scheme
are taxable. However, the payments will not be subject to National Insurance
contributions.

15.2

The Council does not accept any responsibility in relation to an applicant’s tax
liabilities and all applicants should make their own enquiries to establish any tax
position.

15.3

All applicants should note that the Council is required to inform Her Majesty’s
Revenue and Customs (HMRC) of all payments made to individuals.

16. Managing the risk of fraud
16.1

Neither the Council, nor Government will accept deliberate manipulation of the
scheme and fraud. Any applicant caught falsifying information to gain payments will
face prosecution and any payment issued will be recovered from them and this may
also include other recovery costs.

16.2

Applicants should note that, where a Test and Trace Support Payment is paid by the
Council, details of each individual applicant will be passed to Government. Applicants
should also note that the Council utilises a number of databases and Government
systems to verify information in connection with any applications submitted.

17. Recovery of amounts incorrectly paid
17.1

If it is established that any Test and Trace Support Payment has been made incorrectly
due to incorrect information provided to the Council by an applicant or their
representative(s), the Council will look to recover the amount in full.

18. The Council’s duties in relation to self-isolation
18.1

The duty to self-isolate is an important one. Ensuring infected individuals and their
close contacts isolate is one of our most powerful tools for controlling transmission.

18.2

We know that someone with the virus can remain infectious to other people for up to
10 days after developing symptoms. It can take up to 14 days for individuals to develop
coronavirus symptoms after they catch the virus, and in this time, they can
unknowingly pass it on to others, even if they don’t have symptoms.

Dartford Borough Council/ Test & Trace Support Payment Scheme/10102020

14

Page 27

Agenda Item 7

18.3

Self-isolating helps prevent family, friends and the community from contracting
coronavirus, as well as helping to protect the health and care system.

18.4

The changes announced by Government on 20th September 2020 and brought into
force on 28th September 2020 (as well as providing for the Test and Trace Support
payments scheme):
• introduce a new legal duty on individuals to self-isolate if someone tests positive
or is identified as a contact by NHS Test and Trace;
• introduce penalties for those breaking the rules, including fines of at least £1,000
and up to a maximum of £10,000 for repeated or very serious offences; and
• place a new legal obligation on employers that they must not knowingly enable
or encourage their employees to break the law on self-isolation.

18.5

As part of this, the Council has a duty If it becomes aware, either through postpayment verification checks or through other means, that someone has not selfisolated, to refer the case to the police.

18.6

The Council has been informed by Government that, in order to ensure compliance
with the new legislation NHS Test and Trace call handlers will be increasing contact
with those self-isolating. Police resources will be used to check compliance in highest
incidence areas and in high-risk groups, based on local intelligence including acting on
instances where third parties have identified others who have tested positive, but are
not self-isolating.

18.7

The Council will continue to focus on the principle of encouraging, educating and
supporting self-compliance.

19. Delegated Powers
19.1

The Council has implemented this scheme in line with Government requirements and
guidance.

19.2

Officers of the Council will administer the scheme and the Section 151 Officer is
authorised to make technical scheme amendments to ensure it continues to meet
the criteria set by the Council and, in line with Central Government guidance.

20. Data Protection and use of data
20.1

All information and data provided by businesses shall be dealt with in accordance with
the Council’s Data Protection policy and Privacy Notices which are available on the
Council’s website.

Dartford Borough Council/ Test & Trace Support Payment Scheme/10102020

15

Page 28

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 29

Agenda Item 7

Dartford Borough Council
Test and Trace Discretionary Payments
Scheme

Dartford Borough Council/ Test & Trace Discretionary Payment Scheme/10102020

1

Agenda Item 7

Page 30

Contents
Definitions ................................................................................................................................ 4
1.

Background to Self-Isolation and the Test and Trace Payments ...................................... 6

2. An overview of the Test and Trace Discretionary Payments Scheme (the Discretionary
Scheme).................................................................................................................................... 6
3.

Commencement of the scheme and scheme closure ...................................................... 7

4.

Applying for a Test and Trace Discretionary Payment (the Discretionary Scheme). ........ 8

5.

Time limits for making an application for a payment....................................................... 8

6.

Multiple claims within the household and from the same applicant............................... 9

7. The eligibility criteria and evidence required for a Test and Trace Discretionary
Payment. .................................................................................................................................. 9
An individual must make a valid application to the Council in the prescribed form and
provide all the evidence and verification required .............................................................. 9
That they are a resident within the Council’s area............................................................. 10
Have been told to stay at home and self-isolate by NHS Test and Trace, either because
they have tested positive for coronavirus or have recently been in close contact with
someone who has tested positive...................................................................................... 10
All applicants must be currently employed or self-employed............................................ 11
Employed........................................................................................................................ 11
Self Employed ................................................................................................................. 11
Are NOT currently receiving any of the following benefits. ............................................... 12
Are unable to work from home and will lose income as a result and will face financial
hardship as a result of not being able to work while they are self-isolating ...................... 12
Meet the Council’s additional criteria for discretionary payments.................................... 13
8.

How much discretionary payment will be paid, methods of payment and timings....... 14

9.

Notification of Decisions................................................................................................. 14

10.

Implications for other benefits and reductions .......................................................... 14

11.

Review of Decisions .................................................................................................... 14

12.

Complaints.................................................................................................................. 15

13.
The Test and Trace Discretionary Payments Scheme and its relationship with the
Standard Scheme.................................................................................................................... 15
Standard Scheme............................................................................................................ 15
Discretionary Scheme..................................................................................................... 15
Claiming from the schemes ............................................................................................ 15
14.

Funding of the Discretionary Scheme......................................................................... 16

15.

Taxation and provision of information to HMRC........................................................ 16

Dartford Borough Council/ Test & Trace Discretionary Payment Scheme/10102020

2

Page 31

Agenda Item 7

16.

Managing the risk of fraud ......................................................................................... 16

17.

Recovery of amounts incorrectly paid........................................................................ 17

18.

The Council’s duties in relation to self-isolation......................................................... 17

Delegated Powers................................................................................................................... 18
19.

Data Protection and use of data................................................................................. 18

Dartford Borough Council/ Test & Trace Discretionary Payment Scheme/10102020

3

Agenda Item 7

Page 32

Definitions
The following definitions are used within this document:
‘Additional Eligibility Criteria’; means the additional criteria decided by the Council that need
to be met, in order to receive a payment under the Council’s Test and Trace Discretionary
Payments Scheme. These will be in addition to the standard criteria and are allowable under
Government guidance;
‘Applicant’; means the individual making an application for a payment under this scheme;
‘Contact Tracing and Advice Service (CTAS)’; means the web-based system used by Public
Health England to contact and trace individuals who are required to self-isolate;
‘CTAS Account ID’; means the unique number provided by Public Heath England through the
Contact Tracing and Advice Service (CTAS);
‘COVID-19’; means the infectious disease caused by the most recently discovered
coronavirus;
‘face financial hardship’; a key criterion of the Test and Trace Discretionary Payments Scheme
is that all applicants will, if not for the payment, face financial hardship solely due to their
need to self-isolate;
‘Housing Benefit’; means the benefit administered by local authorities under either the
Housing Benefit Regulations 2006 or the Housing Benefit (Persons who have attained the
qualifying age for state pension credit) 2006;
‘income-related Employment and Support Allowance’; means the means-tested
Employment and Support Allowance administered by the Department for Work and Pensions
under the Welfare Reform Act 2007;
‘income-based Jobseeker’s Allowance’; means the means-tested Jobseekers Allowance
administered by the Department for Work and Pensions under the Jobseekers Act 1995;
Income Support’; means the means-tested Income Support administered by the Department
for Work and Pensions under the Income Support (General) Regulations 1987;
‘NHS Test and Trace’; means the service provided to the National Health Service in England,
established in May 2020 to track and help prevent the spread of COVID-19;
‘Pension Credit’; means the means-tested Guarantee or Savings Credit administered by the
Department for Work and Pensions under the State Pension Credit Regulations 2002;
‘Qualifying benefit’; means any of the following benefits: Housing Benefit, Income support,
income-based jobseeker’s Allowance, income-related Employment and Support Allowance,
Working Tax Credit or Universal Credit;
‘Self-isolation, Self-isolate’; means the legal requirement for an individual to self-isolate
when told to by NHS Test and Trace or the NHS COVID-19 app and the legal duty to self-isolate
under the Health Protection (Coronavirus, Restrictions) (Self-Isolation) (England) Regulations
2020 which came into force on 28th September 2020;
‘Test and Trace Support Payment Scheme’ (‘Standard Scheme’); means the Standard
Scheme introduced by Government on 28th September and administered by Local Authorities;

Dartford Borough Council/ Test & Trace Discretionary Payment Scheme/10102020

4

Page 33

Agenda Item 7

‘Test and Trace Discretionary Payments Scheme’ (‘Discretionary Scheme’); means the Test
and Trace Discretionary Payments Scheme which has been agreed by the Council and which
may be available for individuals who are unable to access the ‘Standard Scheme’.
‘Universal Credit’ means the means-tested Universal Credit administered by the Department
for Work and Pensions under the Universal Credit Regulations 2013;
‘Working Tax Credit’; means the means-tested benefit administered by Her Majesty’s
Revenues and Customs under the Working Tax Credit (Entitlement and Maximum Rate)
Regulations 2002.

Dartford Borough Council/ Test & Trace Discretionary Payment Scheme/10102020

5

Agenda Item 7

Page 34

1. Background to Self-Isolation and the Test and Trace Payments
1.1

From 28th September 2020, Government has changed the legislation so that certain
people will have to self-isolate due to the current COVID-19 crisis.

1.2

A package of legislative measures has been introduced to ensure that those who are
required to self-isolate, do so and that those on a low income receive a payment to
assist their finances and to encourage compliance with the legislation.

1.3

The Council, together with Government, recognises that self-isolation is one of the
most powerful tools for controlling the transmission of the Covid-19 virus. The
Government has set down the requirements for two payment schemes to be set up
by the Council as follows:
(a) The Test and Trace Support Payments Scheme (the Standard Scheme) for those
eligible applicants who are in receipt of Housing Benefit, Pension Credit, Income
support, income-based jobseeker’s Allowance, income-related Employment and
Support Allowance, Working Tax Credit or Universal Credit (the qualifying
benefits); and
(b) The Test and Trace Discretionary Payments Scheme (the Discretionary Scheme)
for those applicants who are not in receipt of any of the qualifying benefits but
who are on a low income and will face financial hardship as a result of not being
able to work while they are self-isolating.

1.4

This document details who will be eligible for a payment under the Test and Trace
Discretionary Payments Scheme.

1.5

Any applicant who is in receipt of a qualifying benefit, should apply for a payment
under the standard scheme details of which are available at
www.dartford.gov.uk/testandtracepayments.

2. An overview of the Test and Trace Discretionary Payments
Scheme (the Discretionary Scheme).
2.1

From 28th September 2020, individuals will be entitled to a payment of £500 from the
Council’s Test and Trace Discretionary Payments Scheme if they meet the eligibility
criteria listed below:
(a) Make an application to the Council in the prescribed form and provide all the
evidence and verification required;
(b) Are a resident within the Council’s area;
(c) Have been told to stay at home and self-isolate by NHS Test and Trace, either
because they have tested positive for coronavirus or have recently been in close
contact with someone who has tested positive;

Dartford Borough Council/ Test & Trace Discretionary Payment Scheme/10102020

6

Page 35

Agenda Item 7

(d) Are employed or self-employed;
(e) Are unable to work from home and will lose income as a result;
(f) Are NOT currently receiving any of the following benefits:
• Universal Credit;
• Working Tax Credit;
• income-based Employment and Support Allowance;
• income-based Jobseeker’s Allowance;
• Income Support;
• Housing Benefit; or
• Pension Credit; and
(g) Meet the Council’s additional criteria for a discretionary payment.
2.2

This particular scheme is designed for those individuals (applicants) who:
• meet the standard conditions 2.1 (a) to (g) above;
• are not receiving a benefit listed in 2.1(f); and
• comply with the self-isolation requirements laid down by Government;

2.3

Where individuals meet all the requirements but are in receipt of a benefit stated in
2.1 (f), no payment can be made under the Discretionary Scheme; however,
they may be able to apply for payment under the Standard Scheme which is available
on the Council’s website
www.dartford.gov.uk/testandtracepayments

2.4

Individuals will NOT be entitled to apply for both a payment under the Standard
Scheme and under the Council’s Discretionary Scheme.

3. Commencement of the scheme and scheme closure
Commencement
3.1

This scheme is available to all individuals who meet the eligibility criteria for a
discretionary payment and who are told to self-isolate on or after 28th September
2020.

3.2

Individuals who are required to self-isolate before 28th September 2020 will not be
eligible for a payment.

Scheme closure
3.3

At the present time, Government has stated that this Discretionary Scheme (and the
Standard Scheme) will be available until 31st January 2021.

Dartford Borough Council/ Test & Trace Discretionary Payment Scheme/10102020

7

Agenda Item 7

Page 36

4. Applying for a Test and Trace Discretionary Payment (the
Discretionary Scheme).
4.1

Individuals who are resident within the Council’s area may make an application for a
Test and Trace Discretionary Payment under this scheme. In all cases, the ‘applicant’
will be required to answer all of the questions asked and provide the
information required by the Council in the specified timescale.

4.2

In order to receive a payment, all applicants must meet the full eligibility criteria,
details of which are shown within Section 6 of this scheme. The applicant will be
required to self-verify certain criteria and also confirm that they will comply
with the self-isolation requirements set by Government.

4.3

Where the applicant fails to meet the eligibility criteria, they will not receive a
payment and will be informed of this by the Council, either at the point of application
or as soon as practicable thereafter.

4.4

Where the applicant is successful, the Council will notify them accordingly and make
payment in line with the timings and methods shown in Section 8.

4.5

Applications can only be accepted from individuals who are resident in the Council’s
area.

4.6

Applications will be accepted from a third party in respect of any individual who meets
all the eligibility criteria for a payment. However, the following should be noted:
• The person making the application will need to provide evidence of their identity
and also the reason why they are applying on behalf of another person; and
• That any payment must only be made by the Council to the person who is selfisolating. No payment will be made to a third party under any circumstance.

4.7

All applications shall be made online using the Council’s dedicated webpage
www.dartford.gov.uk/testandtracepayments. There are no paper or other types of
application processes; however, should individuals experience difficulties in making
any application, they should contact the Council on 01322 343434.

5. Time limits for making an application for a payment
5.1

No application for a discretionary payment can be made before the 28th September
2020 or for any individual who has been required to self-isolate before 28th September
2020.

5.2

Eligible individuals can apply for a Test and Trace Discretionary Payment at any time
up to 14 days after their period of self-isolation ended. The Council will not
accept any applications after this point.

Dartford Borough Council/ Test & Trace Discretionary Payment Scheme/10102020

8

Page 37

5.3

Agenda Item 7

Where an individual has been required to self-isolate on or after 28th September but
before the Council’s scheme opened on 12th October 2020, an application for a
backdated discretionary payment must be made by 26th October 2020 (14 days after
commencement of scheme).

6. Multiple claims within the household and from the same
applicant
6.1

6.2

6.3

Individuals in the same household can each make an application to receive a Test
and Trace Discretionary Payment, if they each meet all the eligibility criteria in full.
An individual may make an application more than once but only:
• If the individual is told to self-isolate multiple times; and
• they meet the eligibility criteria for each individual application; and
• the periods of self-isolation do not overlap.
The Council is mindful that this can be confusing for applicants and it will be essential,
where multiple applications are made by an individual, to ensure correct eligibility.
Therefore, a new application will need to be made for each distinct period of selfisolation.

7. The eligibility criteria and evidence required for a Test and Trace
Discretionary Payment.
7.1

For payment to be made under this Discretionary Scheme, all of the criteria must be
met. As with the application form itself, all evidence will need to be provided
electronically. The Council provides facilities for all applicants to upload documents,
evidence and photographs.

7.2

Where documentation is only held in ‘hard copy’ or paper form, the Council will accept
digital images or photographs provided they show all the relevant information.

7.3

The Council will keep all information supplied by applicants, secure and in accordance
with Data Protection legislation.

An individual must make a valid application to the Council in the prescribed form
and provide all the evidence and verification required
7.4

As mentioned in Section 4, a valid application must be made via the Council’s
website www.dartford.gov.uk/testandtracepayments. All applicants will be
required to provide details sufficient to identify themselves, their address and to
allow the Council to contact them including:
• Full name;
• Address;
• National Insurance Number;

Dartford Borough Council/ Test & Trace Discretionary Payment Scheme/10102020

9

Agenda Item 7

•
•
7.5

Page 38

Telephone number; and
Email address.

In addition to the above, all applicants will be required to submit a copy of their
current bank statement(s) in order to:
• Verify that their income has reduced due to having to self-isolate (see later);
and
• Provide details of the bank account number and sort code of the account into
which a payment would be made.

That they are a resident within the Council’s area
7.6

The applicant will be required to verify that they have their sole or main residence in
the Council’s area. The Council will check other records held (and make other
enquiries where appropriate) to determine this.

7.7

Where necessary, the Council will ask the applicant to provide additional evidence of
residence.

Have been told to stay at home and self-isolate by NHS Test and Trace, either
because they have tested positive for coronavirus or have recently been in close
contact with someone who has tested positive
7.8

A key requirement of the scheme is that the applicant has been instructed by the NHS
Test and Trace to stay at home and self- isolate either because:
• they have tested positive for COVID-19 (coronavirus); or
• have recently been in close contact with someone who has tested positive.

7.9

All applicants will be required to provide the 8-digit unique ID number which has been
provided to them by NHS Test and Trace.

7.10

For information, the NHS Test and Trace service uses the Contact Tracing and Advice
Service (CTAS) to record information about people who have tested positive for
COVID-19 and their contacts. The CTAS Account ID is an 8-character identifier unique
to each case (e.g. 3b1a3015c). Most individuals who test positive for COVID-19 or are
a contact of someone who has had a positive test, will receive a digital invitation from
the CTAS system to undertake the contact tracing journey.

7.11

All cases and contacts who have completed the contact tracing journey (including
those who were ineligible for the digital invitation such as children or individuals with
a landline number only) will receive a citizen advice message upon completion of the
NHS Test and Trace questionnaire. The citizen message (sent either via a text
message/email or postal service for people with no access to mobile phone or email)
contains the 8-character Account ID.

Dartford Borough Council/ Test & Trace Discretionary Payment Scheme/10102020

10

Page 39

Agenda Item 7

7.12

The Council will check that the applicant has a valid Account ID produced by the
Contact Tracing and Advice Service. Only this number will allow an application to be
processed.

7.13

The Council will not make payment to anyone who does not have a valid
notification (Account ID) from NHS Test and Trace. It should be noted that there is a
legal duty to self-isolate which only applies to people who have been told to selfisolate by NHS Test and Trace.

7.14

The Council will not accept a notification from the NHS Isolation Note service. Where
the applicant has provided this only, they will be given an opportunity to provide a
valid NHS Test and Trace notification if they have one.

7.15

This scheme does not cover people who are self-isolating after returning to the UK
from abroad, unless they have tested positive for COVID-19 (coronavirus) or have
been instructed to self-isolate by NHS Test and Trace.

All applicants must be currently employed or self-employed
7.16

Only those applicants who are currently employed or currently self-employed will be
entitled to claim a Test and Trace Support Payment. For the sake of clarity, this scheme
requires all applicants to provide sufficient evidence of their current employment or
self-employment status. In the case of employed applicants, full details of their
employer must be given on the application form including contact numbers.

7.17

The Council will also require applicants to provide proof such as listed below:

Employed
• Current wages or salary slips;
• Employment contract; or
• Letter from the employer confirming current employment.
Self Employed
• Self-assessment form;
• Details of HMRC registration as self-employed;
• Current accounts; or
• Current accounts and trading statements
7.18

The above list is not exhaustive.

7.19

As this is an essential requirement in order for a Test and Trace Discretionary
Payment to be made, the applicant must satisfy the Council that they meet this
criterion.

Dartford Borough Council/ Test & Trace Discretionary Payment Scheme/10102020

11

Agenda Item 7

Page 40

Are NOT currently receiving any of the following benefits.
7.20

To receive a discretionary payment the applicant must not be in receipt of one of
the following benefits:
• Universal Credit;
• Working Tax Credit;
• income-related Employment and Support Allowance;
• income-based Jobseeker’s Allowance;
• Income Support;
• Housing Benefit; or
• Pension Credit.

7.21

Where applicants are in receipt of any of the above benefits, then payments can
ONLY be made through the Standard Scheme. The Council has designed the
application process so that the same form can used to claim either payment (Standard
Scheme or Discretionary Scheme) and applicants who fail to qualify for a Standard
Scheme payment because they are not in receipt of one of those benefits, will
automatically be directed to the Discretionary Scheme.

7.22

Where an applicant has yet to apply for one of the benefits listed; is awaiting a
decision on a benefit; is currently appealing a negative decision; or is unable to apply
for a qualifying benefit, they may make an application under this Discretionary
Scheme.

Are unable to work from home and will lose income as a result and will face
financial hardship as a result of not being able to work while they are self-isolating
7.23

All applicants will have to certify on the application form that they are:
• Unable to work from home;
• Will lose income as a result; and
• Will face financial hardship as a result of not being able to work while they are
self-isolating

7.24

The Council will need to be satisfied that any applicants meeting these conditions in
full.

7.25

The Council will require applicants to give details about the nature of their work and
whether they can undertake this work from home.

7.26

Only those applicants that cannot work from home whilst self-isolating will meet the
criteria and therefore, each applicant will not only be required to verify the fact, but
also provide details of the reasons why this is the case, together with details of the
type of work that they would normally undertake.

Dartford Borough Council/ Test & Trace Discretionary Payment Scheme/10102020

12

Page 41

7.27

Agenda Item 7

The Council will also require all applicants making an application for a discretionary
payment to provide evidence of financial hardship. All applicants will be required to
demonstrate that the financial hardship is solely due to having to self-isolate

Meet the Council’s additional criteria for discretionary payments
7.28

Given that the funding for the Discretionary Scheme is limited (see Section 14),
Government has stated that it will be up to each Council to determine additional
criteria that have to be met if a payment is to be made. The additional criteria are
shown in 7.29 below.

7.29

The additional criteria are as follows:
(a) All applicants must be 18 years old or more;
(b) An applicant’s gross earnings are no greater than £300 per week. This figure is
before any deductions for tax, national insurance, pension or other non-statutory
items. This is the amount that the applicant would normally earn prior to selfisolation.
Where an applicant has earnings above this level then they would not normally
be eligible unless there was an exceptional circumstance;
(c) An applicant’s gross earnings are no less than £80 per week. This figure is before
any deductions for tax, national insurance, pension or other non-statutory items;
(d) An applicant must not possess capital of £3,000 or more. Any applicant with
capital above that level would not be eligible. For the sake of clarity, capital will be
calculated in accordance with the rules for Housing Benefit;
(e) Individuals who have applied for a qualifying benefit but have not yet received
a decision or have appealed against a decision not to award a qualifying benefit
and are awaiting the outcome of the appeal will be eligible to claim provided they
meet all other criteria within this section;
(f) Applicants who are excluded from qualifying benefits by the “Persons from
Abroad” provisions within the welfare benefit schemes will be eligible to claim
provided they meet all other criteria within this section; and
(g) In all cases applicants will need to demonstrate that they will suffer financial
hardship by having to self-isolate.

Dartford Borough Council/ Test & Trace Discretionary Payment Scheme/10102020

13

Agenda Item 7

Page 42

8. How much discretionary payment will be paid, methods of
payment and timings.
8.1

Where an applicant meets all of the eligibility criteria for a discretionary payment, a
single payment of £500 shall be paid for each period of self-isolation. Payments will
be made direct to the applicant’s bank account within 3 working days, starting
with the date of application.

8.2

Where further information or evidence is required from the applicant, the Council will
look to make payment within 3 working days starting with the date when all of the
required information is received.

8.3

Full details of the applicant’s bank account must be supplied on the application form
and this will be cross checked with the copies of the bank statements provided as part
of the verification process.

8.4

As required by Government, payments can only be made to the applicant’s bank
account. No payments can be made to third parties whatsoever.

8.5

The Council is aware that in some cases, applicants may be overdrawn and may not
be able to gain access to the payment. In these cases, the applicant may apply for
protection. This protection is called a 'first right of appropriation of funds order'.
More details of this can be obtained from the Councils website
www.dartford.gov.uk/testandtracepayments or from Citizens Advice.

9. Notification of Decisions
9.1

Applications for discretionary payments will be considered by officers of the Council
and all decisions made by the Council shall be notified to the applicant either in writing
or by email.

10. Implications for other benefits and reductions
10.1

The Council has been advised by the Department for Work and Pensions (DWP) that
all Test and Trace Support Payments (of any type) will be disregarded for the
purposes of all means-tested benefits.

10.2

The Council has decided that any payment made under this scheme shall not affect
entitlement to Council Tax Reduction.

11. Review of Decisions
11.1

Whilst there is no statutory appeal process, the Council will operate an internal review
process and will accept an applicant’s request for an appeal of its decision by a senior
officer.

Dartford Borough Council/ Test & Trace Discretionary Payment Scheme/10102020

14

Page 43

11.2

Agenda Item 7

All such requests must be made in writing to the Council, within 3 days of the Council’s
decision, and should state the reasons why the applicant is aggrieved with the decision
of the Council. New information may be submitted at this stage to support the
applicant’s appeal. The application will be reconsidered as soon as practicable, and
the applicant informed in writing or by email of the decision.

12. Complaints
12.1

The Council’s ‘Complaints Procedure’ (available on the Councils website) will be
applied in the event of any complaint received about this scheme.

13. The Test and Trace Discretionary Payments Scheme and its
relationship with the Standard Scheme
Standard Scheme
13.1

This ‘Standard Scheme’ has been determined by criteria set down by Government and
is primarily aimed at all applicants who are working or self-employed; are unable to
work from home and will therefore have a reduction in income and are in receipt of
certain qualifying benefits (Universal Credit; Working Tax Credit; Income-related
Employment and Support Allowance; income-based Jobseeker’s Allowance; Income
Support; Housing Benefit; or Pension Credit).

13.2

The receipt of one of those benefits is essential in order for a payment to be made.

13.3

Details of the Standard Scheme can be found at;
www.dartford.gov.uk/testandtracepayments

Discretionary Scheme
13.4

The Council’s Test and Trace Discretionary Payments Scheme is for any individual who
meets all the required criteria (including the Council’s additional criteria) except that
they are not currently in receipt of a qualifying benefit and they would face financial
hardship due to self-isolation. The reason for this could be, for example, that a claim
for a benefit has not yet been made or that the individual, whilst normally resident in
the UK, is unable to gain access to public funds.

Claiming from the schemes
13.5

Individuals who are entitled to a payment from the Standard Scheme are unable to
make a claim from the Council’s Discretionary Scheme.

13.6

However, an applicant who is refused a ‘Standard Scheme’ payment on the basis that
they meet all the criteria except that they are not in receipt of a qualifying benefit,
will be directed to make an application for a discretionary payment. It should be

Dartford Borough Council/ Test & Trace Discretionary Payment Scheme/10102020

15

Agenda Item 7

Page 44

noted that in all cases, where an individual applies for a discretionary payment, they
will have to satisfy not only the basic criteria laid down by Government but also the
additional criteria set by the Council.

14. Funding of the Discretionary Scheme
14.1

The Council will receive a fixed amount of funding from Government which will be for
the four months that the Discretionary Scheme is intended to last. Government has
confirmed that no additional monies will be given to the Council.

14.2

In view of this, and to ensure that discretionary payments are available throughout
the period to 31st January 2021, the Council reserves the right to change the Test and
Trace Discretionary Payments Scheme at any time to ensure funds go to those who
face the most financial hardship.

15. Taxation and provision of information to HMRC
15.1

The Council has been informed by Government that all payments under this scheme
are taxable. However, the payments will not be subject to National Insurance
contributions.

15.2

The Council does not accept any responsibility in relation to an applicant’s tax
liabilities and all applicants should make their own enquiries to establish any tax
position.

15.3

All applicants should note that the Council is required to inform Her Majesty’s
Revenue and Customs (HMRC) of all payments made to individuals.

16. Managing the risk of fraud
16.1

Neither the Council, nor Government will accept deliberate manipulation of the
scheme and fraud. Any applicant caught falsifying information to gain payments will
face prosecution and any payment issued will be recovered from them and this may
also include other recovery costs.

16.2

Applicants should note that, where a Test and Trace Discretionary Payment is paid by
the Council, details of each individual applicant will be passed to Government.
Applicants should also note that the Council utilises a number of databases and
Government systems to verify information in connection with any application
submitted.

Dartford Borough Council/ Test & Trace Discretionary Payment Scheme/10102020

16

Page 45

Agenda Item 7

17. Recovery of amounts incorrectly paid
17.1

If it is established that any Test and Trace Discretionary Support Payment has been
made incorrectly due to misrepresentation or incorrect information provided to the
Council by an applicant or their representative(s), the Council will look to recover the
amount in full.

18. The Council’s duties in relation to self-isolation
18.1

The duty to self-isolate is an important one. Ensuring infected individuals and their
close contacts isolate is one of our most powerful tools for controlling transmission.

18.2

We know that someone with the virus can remain infectious to other people for up to
10 days after developing symptoms. It can take up to 14 days for individuals to develop
coronavirus symptoms after they catch the virus, and in this time, they can
unknowingly pass it on to others, even if they don’t have symptoms.

18.3

Self-isolating helps prevent family, friends and the community from contracting
coronavirus, as well as helping to protect the health and care system.

18.4

The changes announced by Government on 20th September 2020 and brought into
force on 28th September 2020 (as well as providing for the Test and Trace Support
Payments Schemes):
• introduce a new legal duty on individuals to self-isolate if someone tests positive
or is identified as a contact by NHS Test and Trace;
• introduce penalties for those breaking the rules, including fines of at least £1,000
and up to a maximum of £10,000 for repeated or very serious offences; and
• place a new legal obligation on employers that they must not knowingly enable
or encourage their employees to break the law on self-isolation.

18.5

As part of this, the Council has a duty if it becomes aware, either through postpayment verification checks or through other means, that someone has not selfisolated, to refer the case to the police.

18.6

The Council has been informed by Government that, in order to ensure compliance
with the new legislation NHS Test and Trace call handlers will be increasing contact
with those self-isolating. Police resources will be used to check compliance in highest
incidence areas and in high-risk groups, based on local intelligence including acting on
instances where third parties have identified others who have tested positive, but are
not self-isolating.

18.7

The Council will continue to focus on the principle of encouraging, educating and
supporting self-compliance.

Dartford Borough Council/ Test & Trace Discretionary Payment Scheme/10102020

17

Agenda Item 7

Page 46

Delegated Powers
19.1

The Council has implemented this Discretionary Scheme in line with Government
requirements and guidance.

19.2

Officers of the Council will administer the scheme and the Section 151 Officer is
authorised to make technical scheme amendments to ensure it continues to meet
the criteria set by the Council and, in line with Central Government guidance.

19. Data Protection and use of data
20.1

All information and data provided by applicants shall be dealt with in accordance with
the Council’s Data Protection policy and Privacy Notices which are available on the
Council’s website.

Dartford Borough Council/ Test & Trace Discretionary Payment Scheme/10102020

18

Page 47

Agenda Item 8

CABINET
29 OCTOBER 2020
WHITE PAPER CONSULTATION: PLANNING FOR THE FUTURE

1. Summary
1.1 The Government launched a White Paper with proposals for restructuring the planning
system, called “Planning for the Future”. This report considers the Council’s formal
consultation response, and some likely key implications.

2. RECOMMENDATION:
2.1

3.

That the responses to the questions, set out in Appendix B to the report, form the
Council’s response to the Government’s Consultation on the White Paper: Planning for
the Future.

Background

3.1

The Government have produced substantial proposals for restructuring the planning system in
“Planning for the Future”. It forms Appendix A to this report. Launched 6 August 2020, and
labelled a White Paper, the consultation closes today (29 October).

3.2

As reported to the last Cabinet on 24 September, Government also launched on the same day
a separate consultation on “Changes to the current planning system”. Whilst these changes
were considered to be largely ‘technical’, their impact on the Council as well as on other
authorities was viewed likely to be immediate and direct, resulting in potentially very significant
housing pressures on the Council.

3.3

In contrast, the White Paper moots possible structural changes of the planning system over a
longer timeframe. Primary legislation would need to be approved, then further rules and
guidance formulated. Government officials have unofficially talked of the new ideas as “more of
a vision” than firm proposals. It should be noted that ‘alternative options’ are included, but these
tend to be variations on the status quo, rather than alternative versions of the main changes
proposed. There therefore remains uncertainty and limited detail on the implementation of
changes outlined.

3.4

The Paper includes 24 “proposals” organised around three themes (“pillars”). The Government
summarises its proposals at paragraph 1.15 to 1.20 of the Paper. The White Paper sets out the
Government’s current perception of the planning system, including:



3.5

4.
4.1

Process: too complex and outdated.
Outcomes: slow, and delivering too few new houses.

Overall, there is a recurrent emphasis on national simplification/ modernisation of the system
through technology, and seeking to achieve predictability and speedier decision-making for
developers. It is apparent from the Prime Minister’s Foreword that the speeding up of
housebuilding is a primary driver of the proposals.

Discussion of Proposals
The current planning system is ‘discretionary’ one with individual decision making on a sitespecific basis, with the statutory Local Plan as a starting point, rather than having locally
predetermined land uses and requirements for each site, providing more certainty for
developers.. Proposals to amend this grabbed initial headlines (however there are multiple

1

Agenda Item 8

Page 48
CABINET
29 OCTOBER 2020

different proposals in the White Paper), focusing on attempts to seek greater predictability and
standardisation in the content of Local Plans.
4.2

Plans would be required to place all land in one of the three categories for future land use.
Pillar 1 of the Paper includes proposals for:
 Growth Areas in Local Plans would allow substantial development: large new
redevelopment sites (etc) receive outline consent at the time the Plan is approved.
 Renewal Areas in Local Plans support smaller-scale development in built up areas, (for
instance urban infill or small sites in or on the edge of villages) by providing in principle
support for development delivering specified uses.
 Protected Areas including Green Belt land would require planning applications as now.
Some areas would be defined nationally, others locally.
This classification impacts on how new development can get consent, giving developers
options, with implications for development management processes. Adding to the uncertainty,
potential ‘sub-areas’ may occur.

4.3

The development management process is intended to be a more streamlined end-to-end
process with firm deadlines for determination with built-in incentives for prompt determination
of applications by local planning authorities such as deemed approval of some applications or
return of fees. It also envisages that there will be increased delegation of detailed planning
decisions to planning officers where the principle of development has been established. It is
likely to lead to less involvement by the Development Control Board at the planning application
stage but potential for Members to be more involved at the earlier policy-making stage where
parameters are set for development.

4.4

Applicants will be entitled to an automatic rebate of their planning application fee if they are
successful at appeal. There is interest in exploring if some types of applications should be
deemed to have been granted planning permission where a local authority does not determine
an application within the set time limits.

4.5

The White Paper is hopeful that new and future technology can be widely rolled out to improve
efficiency and streamlining, and the presentation of planning proposals. Proposals include:
 reducing information requirements and ensuring all documents are machine-readable;
 digital templates, greater standardisation for supporting information, planning conditions
and technical requirements.

4.6

It is envisaged that the proposed changes will free up qualified planners to focus on what they
are trained for rather than being reactive. The Government intends to strengthen the powers for
local planning authorities to enforce against breach of planning control and provide incentives
for enforcement action to be taken.

4.7

The Paper proposes improvements will be enabled by technology also allowing better
consultation methods and map-based Local Plans (plus more visually engaging ‘design codes’).
A series of simplifications are proposed to the production of Local Plans:
 Local Plans will be shorter if more visual and focused on the three area classifications and
development management policies only to be set out in national policy (and with a model
template proposed).
 Local Plans should be digitised, accessible to all, and based on data rather than
documents.
 The evidence required to justify Local Plans, and the tests on which they are assessed,
will be simplified. Similarly the legal Duty to Cooperate test is proposed to be dropped.
Little detail is presented on the new arrangements in these welcome respects.

2

Page 49

Agenda Item 8

CABINET
29 OCTOBER 2020


Local Plans will have to be produced within 30 months. This is proposed to be achieved
by restricting the stages at which the public can input to:
o first stage suggestions to the council
o the final proposed Plan: objections can be made to the Inspector.

Some streamlining could significantly improve Local Plans. However efforts before to shorten
Local Plan production timescales have failed. Public participation has not worked effectively
when front loaded at the issues or ideas phase (when there are no clear policies for public
comment) or the publication stage (which is dealt with by a Planning Inspector more influenced
by national policy and articulate developers than residents).
4.8

Even if Government choose to set public participation points aside, and succeed in undertaking
rationalisation of Plan evidence/ assessment processes, the pressure on Local Plan delivery
may well increase from other elements proposed. Significant preparatory work including
communication with service providers and landowners (and consequent drafting iterations) are
needed to ensure infrastructure and development proposals are sustainable and achievable.
This occurs on both the individual site level and cumulatively Borough-wide. This need will be
increased, not diminished, with proposals to move the consideration of all these issues for big
sites more to the Plan-making stage of the process e.g. front loaded at ‘Growth Areas’ to take
risk away from developers.

4.9

Members will be aware the Government is pursuing an agenda of changing the planning system
in order to increase housebuilding towards the level it views as necessary nationally. As
considered by at the last Cabinet meeting, a new formula has been put forward to increase local
housing targets for consideration in Local Plans. However under the White Paper that would
only form an interim approach as longer term, the Government is looking to directly stipulate a
binding level for local house building. Under the White Paper, it is proposed to explore a national
method accounting for both needs and constraints, removing local consideration of Borough
constraints out of Local Plans. In theory this centralisation would simplify Local Plan production,
but consideration of all applicable local factors by national Government is in reality an extremely
challenging ambition.

4.10 Under Pillar 2 “Planning for Beautiful and Sustainable Places” the Government seeks to raise
design quality, with expectations set out in a more visual and predictable from. The Government
seek a “fastrack for beauty through changes to national policy and legislation, to incentivise and
accelerate high quality development which reflects local character and preferences”. Design is
one aspect of the system where the Government are looking to create greater opportunities for
public input.
4.11 The Government proposes the increased use of nationally set permitted development rights
and, elsewhere, design codes for development. (A design code is a set of written and graphic
rules that establish principles aimed at delivering better quality places, for example the
relationships between street, block, massing, and landscaping requirements, and so forth;
without prescribing the overall outcome.) National policy will make it clear that schemes
complying with local design codes will have a positive advantage and greater certainty of swift
approval. It is moreover anticipated that many applications which meet design code parameters
or permitted development right standards can be dealt with by digitisation programmes as there
is no requirement for consideration by a professional planner.
4.12 National publications such as the National Design Guide, National Model Design Code and the
revised Manual for Streets will also have direct bearing on development design. However the
Government is still committed to widening Permitted Development rights, which can happen
without any application process required. This freedom is likely to mean little consideration is
given to design quality in most instances where the rights are exercised.

3

Agenda Item 8

Page 50
CABINET
29 OCTOBER 2020

4.13 Proposals under Pillar 3 (the infrastructure theme) could have significant implications for
developer contributions with the clear concept of unified levy on development – hopefully
generating more revenue - however uncertainty remains as to final proposals and their ultimate
outcome. The abandonment of site specific Section 106 legal agreement in favour of an
infrastructure levy based on sales values (not floorspace) is a major shift. Affordable housing
would also now be funded through the same mechanism as funds for infrastructure provision,
with it all going into the same broad spending ‘pot’. It is unclear how the full range of purposes
that Section 106 serves (including non-financial commitments) would be replaced in making
specific developments acceptable and sustainable.
4.14 More types of development are likely to contribute with this levy than under CIL, but revenue
generation will depend on how the levy rate is set, and exemptions such as the threshold at
which low value developments qualify to pay. Changes are also proposed to push back when
developers pay. There appears to be a new emphasis on flexibility for local authorities, including
spending revenues on legitimate items other than infrastructure and affordable housing, for
example Council Tax reduction. As with CIL, the final detailed provisions will influence how
workable it proves; and substantial further consideration and testing would be required.
4.15 The Government acknowledge overall there would be an impact of all the changes on
resourcing and skills; and accept suggest new burdens funding would be available for a time.
The White Paper hopes its proposals will allow some ‘freeing up’ of planners and development
of new skills. Landowners and developers are however seen as principal funders of the system
in future, through fees, and also potentially setting aside (part of) development contributions;
however there is again a lack of clarity over this important issue.
4.16 A new body is proposed to provide expertise that local authorities can draw upon. Nevertheless,
it is clear a step change in available design skills will be necessitated. Additional resource would
also be required to implement the digital agenda that forms part of many proposals. Resourcing
enhancement of digital and geospatial capabilities is likely to be a significant challenge.
4.17 The key expected pros and cons of the five most fundamental restructuring proposals for the
Council’s planning decisions and infrastructure planning, can be summarised as below:

Extended digitisation

Pros





A ‘binding’ new
housing requirement
for local authorities,
centrally factoring in
land constraints.




Enhanced
visualisation
of
proposals
Procedural
efficiency
Consistency
between
local
authorities.
Potential enhanced
engagement with
some groups.
Simplifies
Local
Plan preparation
Consistency
between
Local
Plans

Cons
 Highly resource intensive
 New skills required
 May alienate some groups.






Reduces role and strategic
significance of Local Plans
Insensitive to local issues
Central target driven, not bottom
up.
Highly challenging to produce a
workable approach considering a

4

Page 51

Agenda Item 8

CABINET
29 OCTOBER 2020

Interactive map-based
Local Plans,
streamlined with the
requirement to
produce within 30months, identifying
Growth, Renewal and
Protected land
(zones)



Local design codes
and guides to be
prepared with
community
involvement by Local
Planning Authorities



A new fixed rate
Infrastructure Levy to
replace Section106s
and Community
Infrastructure Levy,
based on the final
value of development



5.






Greater
predictability and
clarity with clearer
‘zoning’
Improved
public
interest.
Simplifying
complex processes



Stronger
design
focus
Opportunity
for
public input













Commitment to aim
for
increased
infrastructure
funding, with a
broader
funding
base.
More transparency/
predictability.




sufficient breadth of constraints e.g.
infrastructure capacity.
Removal of the most significant
stage of public consultation
Reduced scope, and possibly
influence, for Local Plans
Simplistic
representation
of
complex
local
environments
required if streamlining to occur.
Technology intensive
Front-loading of outline application
work transfers cost/ risk and staff
resource burden from private
sector to Council
Centralised requirements may
reduce effectiveness
New professional skills need to be
secured
Pattern books/ design codes,
unless their production is well
resourced,
may
result
in
undifferentiated development
Non-financial
issues
still
sometimes need legal control
mechanisms
Expectation for greater local
authority delivery and forward
funding, with later payment by
developer shifting risk away from
them.

Implications and Conclusions

5.1

The consultation proposals can be seen as one of the most significant sets of proposals for the
English planning system in decades. It amounts to a serious attempt to grapple with significant
challenges facing the planning system, adding to the extended series of shorter-term planning
changes. It is clear the Government's proposals will not provide any ’quick wins’. The ideas do
not form a full programme of revisions that may be expected with a White Paper; instead there
remains many practical issues still to be designed and tested to achieve the framework outlined.

5.2

It should be highlighted that whilst major changes are outlined, councils and developers will
continue working within a framework that has aspects of continuity, for example:
 The Local Plan-led legal basis for decision taking remains and is supported by Government.
 Central Government and national policy retains an influential role, especially with further
weakening of cross boundary (regional) considerations.
 There are no proposals foro National Green Belt policy changes, or revising the overall level of land designated as
Green Belt.
o Reviewing country-wide the balance of development with the aim of ‘levelling up’ (or
other ways to relieve pressure on the South East).

5

Agenda Item 8

Page 52
CABINET
29 OCTOBER 2020

5.3

It is acknowledged in our response there is scope for simplification of planning requirements.
However key concerns include:
 Reduced local political and public input to planning decisions. Less of an emphasis on
local discretionary planning means there will be fewer full applications to the council, and
less of these will be decided by Members. The Government view that predictability and
efficiency of land use and growth decisions will be improved by shifting the overall focus,
and public consultation, away from individual planning applications reviewed by elected
Councillors. Resident and local input is directed instead to the Local Plan, and design
codes. However in forming local policy, key details will not be available to the public until
the Plan is about to be handed to the Planning Inspectorate to determine. Particularly if
speeding up Local Plans reduces the ability of the public to influence policy drafting at a
formative stage, it is unlikely better use of public participation techniques and technology
will fully mitigate the loss of local accountability in the planning system.
 Increased house-building through centralising targets. The longer-term idea in the Paper
to fully centralise local planning authority house building levels and produce a binding
requirement (with constraints considered nationally not locally) is not only contentious but
highly ambitious. More residential development can be expected in/ at cities and towns,
through pro-growth measures and higher housing targets. Development is envisaged to
be accommodated through densification, not Green Belt release; but in order to main
quality the planning system must be allowed to continue to closely assess urban
development proposals.
 Overall impact on quality is unclear. At present it is hard to be confident a widespread
uplift in the substance of design quality and sustainable developments will result. The
Government has not set out that the new framework will support refusals of poorly
designed development (despite reliance on greater urban densification). Similarly, no
dramatic change is expected in the shorter term on environmentally friendly construction,
as the Government have deferred acting on previous proposals and commitments.
 Outcome of infrastructure and affordable housing funding shifts are not fully certain. The
Paper promises that, in introducing a single Infrastructure Levy for developer
contributions, overall revenues to support local infrastructure and on-site affordable
housing delivery levels, will be maintained or increased. This could lead to greater
infrastructure provision to support more development, however details are lacking and it
is far from certain the final arrangements will increase infrastructure funding in Dartford.
There is no new mechanism or organisation in the proposals to secure timely delivery of
infrastructure. Effectively, Council delivery and administrative burdens may grow under a
new comprehensive Infrastructure Levy, as will infrastructure delivery expectations.
 Resources requirements will increase substantially:. Good urban design and
experienced officers are vital to successful denser urban development. Professionals
will need to be able to analyse and effectively communicate development design options
in writing and in discussion with the public and with specialists employed by developers
Full use of new technology is expected to deliver better quality public participation (in
the Local Plan/ design codes) and to realise savings from simplification of processes: in
particular much better quality visual platforms are expected to show design options and
for the Local Plan to become a fully-map based facility. Public consultation will
necessitate highly interactive functionality i.e. new software (and possibly hardware) and
new skills to operate technology effectively for public benefit.

5.4

The proposed response raises these concerns and suggests the aspects of the system that
could readily be simplified and improved without the disruption of further major planning change.

6
6.1

Relationship to the Corporate Plan
The Council’s Corporate Plan includes a number of relevant strategic aims:

6

Page 53

Agenda Item 8

CABINET
29 OCTOBER 2020




7

To ensure that regeneration in Dartford is sustainable and of benefit to all of our
communities
To facilitate quality, choice and diversity in the housing market, assist in meeting
housing need in Dartford and deliver high quality services to service users
To create strong and self-reliant communities

Financial, legal, staffing and other implications and risk assessments
Financial Implications

No implications of responding.

Legal Implications

No implications of responding.

Staffing Implications

No implications of responding.

Administrative Implications No implications of responding.
Risk Assessment

8.

No implications of responding.

Details of Exempt Information Category
Not applicable

9.

Appendices
Appendix A - Planning for the Future White Paper August 2020
Appendix B - Formal Response to the ‘Planning for the Future’ Consultation

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Documents consulted

Date /
File Ref

Report Author

Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information
Category

-

Mark Aplin

Planning &

N/A

Planning Policy Manager Regeneration
01322 343202

7

Page 54

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix A

White Paper August 2020

Page 55
Agenda Item 8

Agenda Item 8

Page 56

Contents
Scope of the consultation

4

Ministerial Foreword	6
Introduction	
10
Pillar One – Planning for development	26
Pillar Two – Planning for beautiful and sustainable places	44
60

Delivering change	68
What happens next	74
Annex A

78

Page 57

Pillar Three – Planning for infrastructure and connected places

Agenda Item 8

Scope of the consultation
This consultation seeks any views on each part of a package of proposals for reform of the planning system in England
to streamline and modernise the planning process, improve outcomes on design and sustainability, reform developer
contributions and ensure more land is available for development where it is needed.

Scope of this consultation:

This consultation covers a package of proposals for reform of the planning system in England, covering plan-making,
development management, development contributions, and other related policy proposals.

Geographical scope:

These proposals relate to England only.

Impact Assessment:

The Government is mindful of its responsibility to have regard to the potential impact of any proposal on the Public Sector
Equality Duty. In each part of the consultation we would invite any views on the duty. We are also seeking views on the
potential impact of the package as a whole on the Public Sector Equality Duty.

4 | Planning For The Future

Page 58

Views are sought for specific proposals and the wider package of reforms presented.

Agenda Item 8

Topic of this consultation:

Basic information
This consultation is open to everyone. We are keen to hear from a wide range of interested parties from across the public and
private sectors, as well as from the general public.

Body/bodies responsible
for the consultation:

Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government

Duration:

This consultation will last for 12 weeks from 6 August 2020.

Enquiries:

For any enquiries about the consultation please contact planningforthefuture@communities.gov.uk.

How to respond:

You may respond by going to our website https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/planning-for-the-future
Alternatively you can email your response to the questions in this consultation to planningforthefuture@communities.gov.uk.
If you are responding in writing, please make it clear which
questions you are responding to.

Agenda Item 8

Written responses should be sent to:
Planning for the Future Consultation,
Planning Directorate, 3rd Floor, Fry Building, 2 Marsham Street, London SW1P 4DF.

Page 59

To:

When you reply it would be very useful if you confirm whether
you are replying as an individual or submitting an official
response on behalf of an organisation and include:
• your name,
• your position (if applicable), and
• the name of organisation (if applicable).

Planning For The Future | 5

Foreword from the Prime Minister
of innovations and talent that, when combined with our extraordinary can-do spirit,
has brought forth everything from the jet engine to gene editing therapy.

But as we approach the second decade of the 21st century that potential is being artificially
constrained by a relic from the middle of the 20th – our outdated and ineffective planning system.
Designed and built in 1947 it has, like any building of that age, been patched up here and
there over the decades.

whoever’s name is on the deeds at the time. Eight years ago a new landlord stripped most
of the asbestos from the roof.
But make-do-and-mend can only last for so long and, in 2020, it is no longer fit for
human habitation.
Thanks to our planning system, we have nowhere near enough homes in the right places.
People cannot afford to move to where their talents can be matched with opportunity.
Businesses cannot afford to grow and create jobs. The whole thing is beginning to crumble
and the time has come to do what too many have for too long lacked the courage to do –

rather than years and decades.
That actively encourages sustainable, beautiful, safe and useful development rather than
obstructing it.
That makes it harder for developers to dodge their obligations to improve infrastructure and
opens up housebuilding to more than just the current handful of massive corporations.
That gives you a greater say over what gets built in your community.
That makes sure start-ups have a place to put down roots and that businesses great and
small have the space they need to grow and create jobs.
And, above all, that gives the people of this country the homes we need in the places we
want to live at prices we can afford, so that all of us are free to live where we can connect
our talents with opportunity.
Getting homes built is always a controversial business. Any planning application, however
modest, almost inevitably attracts objections and I am sure there will be those who say this
paper represents too much change too fast, too much of a break from what has gone before.

tear it down and start again.

But what we have now simply does not work.

That is what this paper proposes.

So let’s do better. Let’s make the system work for all of us. And let’s take big, bold steps so that

Radical reform unlike anything we have seen since the Second World War.

we in this country can finally build the homes we all need and the future we all want to see.

Not more fiddling around the edges, not simply painting over the damp patches, but
levelling the foundations and building, from the ground up, a whole new planning system
for England.
The Rt. Hon. Boris Johnson MP
Prime Minister
6 | Planning For The Future

Page 60

Extensions have been added on, knocked down and rebuilt according to the whims of

One that is simpler, clearer and quicker to navigate, delivering results in weeks and months

Agenda Item 8

I never cease to be amazed by the incredible potential of this country. The vast array

“The homes we need in
the places we want to
live in at prices we can
afford, so that all of us
are free to live where we
can connect our talents
with opportunity.”

Page 61
Agenda Item 8

Foreword from the Secretary of State
nation. With so many people spending more time at home than ever before, we have

We will build environmentally friendly homes that will not need to be expensively retrofitted in
the future, homes with green spaces and new parks at close hand, where tree lined streets are

come to know our homes, gardens and local parks more intimately. For some this has

the norm and where neighbours are not strangers.

the people they love. For others – those in small, substandard homes, those unable

We are moving away from notices on lampposts to an interactive and accessible map-based

been a welcome opportunity to spend more time in the place they call home with

to walk to distant shops or parks, those struggling to pay their rent, or indeed for

those who do not have a home of their own at all – this has been a moment where

online system – placing planning at the fingertips of people. The planning process will be
brought into the 21st century. Communities will be reconnected to a planning process that is
supposed to serve them, with residents more engaged over what happens in their areas.

Such times require decisive action and a plan for a better future. These proposals will help us

While the current system excludes residents who don’t have the time to contribute to the

to build the homes our country needs, bridge the present generational divide and recreate an

lengthy and complex planning process, local democracy and accountability will now be

ownership society in which more people have the security and dignity of a home of their own.

enhanced by technology and transparency.

Our proposals seek a significantly simpler, faster and more predictable system. They aim to

Reforming the planning system isn’t a task we undertake lightly, but it is both an overdue and

facilitate a more diverse and competitive housing industry, in which smaller builders can thrive

a timely reform. Millions of jobs depend on the construction sector and in every economic

alongside the big players, where all pay a fair share of the costs of infrastructure and the

recovery, it has played a crucial role.

affordable housing existing communities require and where permissions are more swiftly
This paper sets out how we will reform the planning system to realise that vision and make
it more efficient, effective and equitable. I am most grateful to the taskforce of experts who
We are cutting red tape, but not standards. This Government doesn’t want to just build

have generously offered their time and expert advice as we have developed our proposals

houses. We want a society that has re-established powerful links between identity and place,

for reform – Bridget Rosewell, Miles Gibson, Sir Stuart Lipton, Nicholas Boys Smith, and

between our unmatchable architectural heritage and the future, between community and

Christopher Katkowski QC.

purpose. Our reformed system places a higher regard on quality, design and local vernacular
than ever before, and draws inspiration from the idea of design codes and pattern books that
built Bath, Belgravia and Bournville. Our guiding principle will be as Clough Williams-Ellis said
to cherish the past, adorn the present and build for the future.
The Rt. Hon. Robert Jenrick MP

Secretary of State for Housing, Communities and Local Government
8 | Planning For The Future

Page 62

longstanding issues in our development and planning system have come to the fore.

turned into homes.

Agenda Item 8

The outbreak of COVID-19 has affected the economic and social lives of the entire

Page 63

“These proposals will help
us to build the homes
our country needs,
bridge the present
generational divide and
recreate an ownership
society in which more
people have the dignity
and security of a home
of their own.”

Agenda Item 8

Introduction
development. In doing this, it must ensure new development brings with it the schools,

The planning system is central to our most important national challenges: tackling head on the

our unmatchable architectural heritage and natural environment.

hospitals, surgeries and transport local communities need, while at the same time protecting

Agenda Item 8

The challenge we face – an inefficient, opaque process and poor outcomes

shortage of beautiful, high quality homes and places where people want to live and work;
combating climate change; improving biodiversity; supporting sustainable growth in all parts of

There is some brilliant planning and development. And there are many brilliant planners

the country and rebalancing our economy; delivering opportunities for the construction sector,

and developers. But too often excellence in planning is the exception rather than the rule,

upon which millions of livelihoods depend; the ability of more people to own assets and have a

as it is hindered by several problems with the system as it stands:
•	It is too complex: the planning system we have today was shaped by the Town and

To succeed in meeting these challenges, as we must, the planning system needs to be fit for

Country Planning Act 1947, which established planning as nationalised and discretionary

purpose. It must make land available in the right places and for the right form of

in character. Since then, decades of reform have built complexity, uncertainty and delay
into the system. It now works best for large investors and companies, and worst for those
without the resources to manage a process beset by risk and uncertainty. A simpler
framework would better support a more competitive market with a greater diversity of
developers, and more resilient places.
•	Planning decisions are discretionary rather than rules-based: nearly all decisions to grant
consent are undertaken on a case-by-case basis, rather than determined by clear rules for
what can and cannot be done. This makes the English planning system and those derived
from it an exception internationally, and it has the important consequences of increasing
planning risk, pushing up the cost of capital for development and discouraging both

There is some brilliant planning and
development. And there are many
brilliant planners and developers.
1 0 | Planning For The Future

Page 64

stake in our society; and our capacity to house the homeless and provide security and dignity.

1

Planning decisions are discretionary
rather than rules-based: nearly all
decisions to grant consent are
undertaken on a case-by-case basis.

Page 65
Agenda Item 8

overturned – of the planning applications determined at appeal, 36 per cent of decisions
relating to major applications and 30 per cent of decisions relating to minor applications
are overturned.3

Agenda Item 8

innovation and the bringing forward of land for development.2 Decisions are also often

The planning system is based on
20th-century technology: planning
systems are reliant on legacy
software that burden the
sector with repetitive tasks.

•	It takes too long to adopt a Local Plan: although it is a statutory obligation to have an
up-to-date Local Plan in place, only 50 per cent of local authorities (as of June 2020) do,
effectively out of date as soon as they are adopted).
•	Assessments of housing need, viability and environmental impacts are too complex and
opaque: land supply decisions are based on projections of household and business ‘need’
typically over 15- or 20-year periods. These figures are highly contested and do not provide
a clear basis for the scale of development to be planned for. Assessments of environmental
impacts and viability add complexity and bureaucracy but do not necessarily lead to
environmental improvements nor ensure sites are brought forward and delivered.
• It has lost public trust with, for example, a recent poll finding that only seven per cent
trusted their local council to make decisions about large scale development that will be
good for their local area (49 per cent and 36 per cent said they distrusted developers and
local authorities respectively).4 And consultation is dominated by the few willing and able to
navigate the process – the voice of those who stand to gain from development is not heard
loudly enough, such as young people. The importance of local participation in planning is
now the focus of a campaign by the Local Government Association but this involvement
must be accessible to all people.5

1 2 | Planning For The Future

Page 66

and Local Plan preparation takes an average of seven years (meaning many policies are

•	It is based on 20th-century technology: planning systems are reliant on legacy software that
burden the sector with repetitive tasks. The planning process remains reliant on
documents, not data, which reduces the speed and quality of decision-making. The user
experience of the planning system discourages engagement, and little use is made of
interactive digital services and tools. We have heard that for many developers the worst
thing that can happen is for the lead local authority official to leave their job – suggesting
a system too dependent on the views of a particular official at a particular time, and not
transparent and accessible requirements shaped by communities.

is complex, protracted and unclear: as a result, the outcomes can be uncertain, which further
diminishes trust in the system and reduces the ability of local planning authorities to plan
for and deliver necessary infrastructure. Over 80 per cent of planning authorities agree that

Page 67

•	The process for negotiating developer contributions to affordable housing and infrastructure

planning obligations cause delay.6 It also further increases planning risk for developers and
landowners, thus discouraging development and new entrants.
•	There is not enough focus on design, and little incentive for high quality new homes and
beautiful and which will enhance the environment, health, and character of local areas.
Local Plans do not provide enough certainty around the approved forms of development,
relying on vague and verbal statements of policy rather than the popularly endorsed visual
clarity that can be provided by binding design codes. This means that quality can be
negotiated away too readily and the lived experience of the consumer ignored too readily.

Planning For The Future | 13

Agenda Item 8

places: There is insufficient incentive within the process to bring forward proposals that are

the need for new homes is the highest. Adopted Local Plans, where they are in place,
provide for 187,000 homes per year across England – not just significantly below our
ambition for 300,000 new homes annually, but also lower than the number of homes

Agenda Item 8

• It simply does not lead to enough homes being built, especially in those places where

delivered last year (over 241,000).7 The result of long-term and persisting undersupply is that
housing is becoming increasingly expensive, including relative to our European neighbours.
In Italy, Germany and the Netherlands, you can get twice as much housing space for your

A poor planning process results in poor outcomes. Land use planning and development control
are forms of regulation, and like any regulation should be predictable and accessible, and strike
a fair balance between consumers, producers and wider society. But too often the planning
system is unpredictable, too difficult to engage with or understand, and favours the biggest
players in the market who are best able to negotiate and navigate through the process.
The Government has made significant progress in recent years in increasing house building,
with construction rates at a 30-year high in 2019. But these fundamental issues in the system
remain, and we are still lagging behind many of our European neighbours. And as the
Building Better, Building Beautiful Commission found in its interim report last year, too often
what we do build is low quality and considered ugly by local residents.9

1 4 | Planning For The Future

Page 68

money compared to the UK.8 We need to address the inequalities this has entrenched.

The Government has made significant
progress in recent years to increase
house building, with construction rates
at a 30-year high.

Page 69
Agenda Item 8

A new vision for England’s planning system
purpose of those who sought to improve our homes and streets in late Victorian and early
20th-century Britain. That original vision has been buried under layers of legislation and case
law. We need to rediscover it.

• protections for environmental and heritage assets – such as Areas of Outstanding
Natural Beauty (AONBs), and Sites of Special Scientific Interest (SSSIs) and Conservation
Areas – continue to protect our treasured countryside and historic places; and
• we have democratised and localised the planning process by abolishing the top-down regional

Agenda Item 8

This paper and the reforms that follow are an attempt to rediscover the original mission and

strategies and unelected regional planning bodies, and empowered communities to prepare
Planning matters. Where we live has a measurable effect on our physical and mental health:

a plan for their area, through our introduction of neighbourhood planning – with over 2,600

on how much we walk, on how many neighbours we know or how tense we feel on the daily

communities taking advantage of our reforms so far.

of purpose and wellbeing. This is a question of social justice too. Better off people experience

But the simple truth is that decades of complexity and political argument have resulted in

more beauty than poorer people and can better afford the rising costs of homes. As a nation

a system which is providing neither sufficient homes nor good enough new places. Nor is

we need to do this better. Evidence from the Town and Country Planning Association

it fairly using the talents and passions of public sector planners who often feel over-worked

(TCPA), the Royal Town Planning Institue (RTPI) and the Green Building Council to the

and under-appreciated, trapped between the urgent need for more homes, an insufficiently

Building Better Building Beautiful Commission all emphasised that the evidence on what

competitive market and a policy framework which makes it almost impossible for them to

people want and where they flourish is remarkably consistent.

insist upon beautiful and sustainable new homes and places.

The Government’s planning reforms since 2010 have started to address the underlying issues:

The planning system needs to be better at unlocking growth and opportunity in all parts

• last year, we delivered over 241,000 homes, more new homes than at any point in the last 30 years;

of the country, at encouraging beautiful new places, at supporting the careful stewardship

• our reforms to change-of-use rules have supported delivery of over 50,000 new homes;

and rebirth of town and city centres, and at supporting the revitalisation of existing buildings

• the rate of planning applications granted has increased since 2010;

as well as supporting new development.

10

• the National Planning Policy Framework, introduced in 2012, has greatly simplified the
previously huge volume of policy;
• we have introduced a simplified formula for assessing housing need and clearer incentives
for local authorities to have up-to-date plans in place;
• we have introduced greater democratic accountability over infrastructure planning, giving
elected Ministers responsibility for planning decisions about this country’s nationally significant
energy, transport, water, wastewater and waste projects;
• we have continued to protect the Green Belt;
1 6 | Planning For The Future

It is also time for the planning system finally to move towards a modernised, open data
approach that creates a reliable national picture of what is happening where in planning,
makes planning services more efficient, inclusive and consistent, and unlocks the data
needed by property developers and the emerging Property Technology (PropTech) sector,
to help them make more informed decisions on what to build and where.

Page 70

journey to work or school. Places affect us from the air that we breathe to our ultimate sense

Page 71
Agenda Item 8
Planning For The Future | 17

Agenda Item 8

We wish to:
• be more ambitious for the places we create, expecting new development to be beautiful
and to create a ‘net gain’ not just ‘no net harm’;
• move the democracy forward in the planning process and give neighbourhoods and communities
an earlier and more meaningful voice in the future of their area as plans are made, harnessing
digital technology to make it much easier to access and understand information about specific
planning proposals. More engagement should take place at the Local Plan phase;
find and understand and make it appear in the places that discussions are happening, for
example in digital neighbourhood groups and social networks. New digital engagement

of place. We need to build more homes at gentle densities in and around town centres and

processes will make it radically easier to raise views about and visualise emerging proposals

high streets, on brownfield land and near existing infrastructure so that families can meet

whilst on-the-go on a smart phone;

their aspirations. Good growth will make it easier to level up the economic and social

• support home ownership, helping people and families own their own beautiful, affordable,

opportunities available to communities.

green and safe homes, with ready access to better infrastructure and green spaces;
• increase the supply of land available for new homes where it is needed to address

Underpinning this, we need to modernise the day-to-day operation of the planning system.

affordability pressures, support economic growth and the renewal of our towns and cities,

Residents should not have to rely on planning notices attached to lamp posts, printed in

and foster a more competitive housing market;

newspapers or posted in libraries. The COVID-19 pandemic has highlighted the need for

• help businesses to expand with readier access to the commercial space they need in the
places they want and supporting a more physically flexible labour market;
• support innovative developers and housebuilders, including small and medium-sized

modern digital planning services that can be accessed from home, and many planners and
local authorities have responded brilliantly to this challenge. The planning system must build
on this success and follow other sectors in harnessing the benefits which digitisation can bring

enterprises (SMEs) and self-builders, those looking to build a diverse range of types and

– real-time information, high-quality virtual simulation, straightforward end-to-end processes.

tenure of housing, and those using innovative modern methods of construction (MMC);

It should be based on data, not documents, inclusive for all members of society, and stimulate

• promote the stewardship and improvement of our precious countryside and environment,

the innovation of the great British design industry.

ensuring important natural assets are preserved, the development potential of brownfield
land is maximised, that we support net gains for biodiversity and the wider environment and

There are growing calls for change, and for the shape that it should take – based on a bold

actively address the challenges of climate change; and

vision for end-to-end reform, rather than further piecemeal change within the existing system.

• create a virtuous circle of prosperity in our villages, towns and cities, supporting their
ongoing renewal and regeneration without losing their human scale, inheritance and sense
1 8 | Planning For The Future

Recent reports from think tanks and the Government-appointed Building Better, Building
Beautiful Commission are the latest prominent voices to have added to the chorus.11

Page 72

• improve the user experience of the planning system, to make planning information easier to

Page 73

Agenda Item 8

Proposals
and create a system fit for the 21st century. We want to hear your views on our proposals.

First, we will streamline the planning process with more democracy
taking place more effectively at the plan-making stage, and will replace
the entire corpus of plan-making law in England to achieve this:

• Local councils should radically and profoundly re-invent the ambition, depth and breadth
with which they engage with communities as they consult on Local Plans. Our reforms will
democratise the planning process by putting a new emphasis on engagement at the
plan-making stage. At the same time, we will streamline the opportunity for consultation at

Agenda Item 8

We will undertake fundamental reform of the planning system to address its underlying weaknesses

the planning application stage, because this adds delay to the process and allows a small
minority of voices, some from the local area and often some not, to shape outcomes. We
want to hear the views of a wide range of people and groups through this consultation on
our proposed reforms.

– Growth areas suitable for substantial development, and where outline approval for
development would be automatically secured for forms and types of development

• Local Plans should be subject to a single statutory “sustainable development” test, and

specified in the Plan; Renewal areas suitable for some development, such as gentle

unnecessary assessments and requirements that cause delay and challenge in the current

densification; and Protected areas where – as the name suggests – development is

system should be abolished. This would mean replacing the existing tests of soundness,

restricted. This could halve the time it takes to secure planning permission on larger sites

updating requirements for assessments (including on the environment and viability) and

identified in plans. We also want to allow local planning authorities to identify sub-areas

abolishing the Duty to Cooperate.

in their Growth areas for self- and custom-build homes, so that more people can build
their own homes.

• Local Plans should be visual and map-based, standardised, based on the latest digital
technology, and supported by a new standard template. Plans should be significantly

• Local Plans should set clear rules rather than general policies for development. We will set
out general development management policies nationally, with a more focused role for

shorter in length, and limited to no more than setting out site- or area-specific parameters
and opportunities.

Local Plans in identifying site- and area-specific requirements, alongside locally produced
design codes. This would scale back the detail and duplication contained in Local Plans,

• Local authorities and the Planning Inspectorate will be required through legislation to meet

while encouraging a much greater focus on design quality at the local level. Plans will be

a statutory timetable (of no more than 30 months in total) for key stages of the process, and

significantly shorter in length (we expect a reduction in size of at least two thirds), as they

there will be sanctions for those who fail to do so.

will no longer contain a long list of “policies” of varying specificity – just a core set of
standards and requirements for development.

• Decision-making should be faster and more certain, within firm deadlines, and should
make greater use of data and digital technology.

2 0 | Planning For The Future

Page 74

• Simplifying the role of Local Plans, to focus on identifying land under three categories

We will develop a comprehensive resources
and skills strategy for the planning sector to
support the implementation of our reforms
• We will seek to strengthen enforcement powers and sanctions so that as we move towards
a rules-based system, communities can have confidence those rules will be upheld.

• Work with tech companies and local authorities to modernise the software used for making
and case-managing a planning application, improving the user-experience for those applying
and reducing the errors and costs currently experienced by planning authorities. A new

• We will develop a comprehensive resources and skills strategy for the planning sector

more modular software landscape will encourage digital innovation and will consume

to support the implementation of our reforms – so that, as we bring in our reforms, local

and provide access to underlying data. This will help automate routine processes, such

planning authorities are equipped to create great communities through world-class civic

as knowing whether new applications are within the rules, making decision-making faster

engagement and proactive plan-making.

and more certain.
• Engage with the UK PropTech sector through a PropTech Innovation Council to make the
most of innovative new approaches to meet public policy objectives, help this emerging
sector to boost productivity in the wider planning and housing sectors, and ensure
government data and decisions support the sector’s growth in the UK and internationally.

• Support local planning authorities to use digital tools to support a new civic engagement
process for Local Plans and decision-making, making it easier for people to understand

Page 75

Second, we will take a radical, digital-first approach to modernise the
planning process. This means moving from a process based on
documents to a process driven by data. We will:

Third, to bring a new focus on design and sustainability, we will:

what is being proposed and its likely impact on them through visualisations and other
digital approaches. We will make it much easier for people to feed in their views into the
system through social networks and via their phones.

• Ensure the planning system supports our efforts to combat climate change and maximises
environmental benefits, by ensuring the National Planning Policy Framework targets those

• Insist local plans are built on standardised, digitally consumable rules and data, enabling

mitigation and adaptation and facilitate environmental improvements.

accessible interactive maps that show what can be built where. The data will be accessed
by software used across the public sector and also by external PropTech entrepreneurs to
improve transparency, decision-making and productivity in the sector.
• Standardise, and make openly and digitally accessible, other critical datasets that the planning

• Facilitate ambitious improvements in the energy efficiency standards for buildings to help
deliver our world-leading commitment to net-zero by 2050.
• Ask for beauty and be far more ambitious for the places we create, expecting new

system relies on, including planning decisions and developer contributions. Approaches

development to be beautiful, and to create a ‘net gain’ not just ‘no net harm’, with

for fixing the underlying data are already being tested and developed by innovative local

a greater focus on ‘placemaking’ and ‘the creation of beautiful places’ within the

planning authorities and we are exploring options for how these could be scaled nationally.

National Planning Policy Framework.
Planning For The Future | 21

Agenda Item 8

areas where a reformed planning system can most effectively address climate change

proposals for high-quality developments where they reflect local character and preferences.

Fourth, we will improve infrastructure delivery in all parts of the country
and ensure developers play their part, through reform of developer
contributions. We propose:

• Introduce a quicker, simpler framework for assessing environmental impacts and enhancement

• The Community Infrastructure Levy and the current system of planning obligations will be

• Make it easier for those who want to build beautifully through the introduction of a fast-track
for beauty through changes to national policy and legislation, to automatically permit

opportunities, that speeds up the process while protecting and enhancing England’s
unique ecosystems.

reformed as a nationally set, value-based flat rate charge (the ‘Infrastructure Levy’). A single
rate or varied rates could be set. We will aim for the new Levy to raise more revenue than
under the current system of developer contributions, and deliver at least as much – if not
more – on-site affordable housing as at present. This reform will enable us to sweep away

development – to be prepared locally and to be based on genuine community

months of negotiation of Section 106 agreements and the need to consider site viability.

involvement rather than meaningless consultation, so that local residents have a genuine

We will deliver more of the infrastructure existing and new communities require by

say in the design of new development, and ensure that codes have real ‘bite’ by making

capturing a greater share of the ulpift in land value that comes with development.

them more binding on planning decisions.
• Establish a new body to support the delivery of design codes in every part of the country, and
give permanence to the campaigning work of the Building Better, Building Beautiful

• We will be more ambitious for affordable housing provided through planning gain, and we
will ensure that the new Infrastructure Levy allows local planning authorities to secure more
on-site housing provision.

Commission and the life of its co-chairman the late Sir Roger Scruton.
• Ensure that each local planning authority has a chief officer for design and place-making,

• We will give local authorities greater powers to determine how developer contributions
are used, including by expanding the scope of the Levy to cover affordable housing

to help ensure there is the capacity and capability locally to raise design standards and the

provision to allow local planning authorities to drive up the provision of affordable homes.

quality of development.

We will ensure that affordable housing provision supported through developer contributions

• Lead by example by updating Homes England’s strategic objectives to give greater
emphasis to delivering beautiful places.
• Protect our historic buildings and areas while ensuring the consent framework is fit for the
21st century.

is kept at least at current levels, and that it is still delivered on-site to ensure that new
development continues to support mixed communities. Local authorities will have the
flexibility to use this funding to support both existing communities as well as new communities.
• We will also look to extend the scope of the consolidated Infrastructure Levy and remove
exemptions from it to capture changes of use through permitted development rights, so that
additional homes delivered through this route bring with them support for new infrastructure.

2 2 | Planning For The Future

Page 76

• Expect design guidance and codes – which will set the rules for the design of new

Agenda Item 8

“The Community Infrastructure Levy and
the current system of planning will be
reformed as a nationally set, value-based
flat rate charge (the ‘Infrastructure Levy’).”

Fifth, to ensure more land is available for the homes and development
people and communities need, and to support renewal of our town and
city centres, we propose:
• A new nationally determined, binding housing requirement that local planning authorities
would have to deliver through their Local Plans. This would be focused on areas where
affordability pressure is highest to stop land supply being a barrier to enough homes being
built. We propose that this would factor in land constraints, including the Green Belt, and

Page 77

would be consistent with our aspirations of creating a housing market that is capable of
delivering 300,000 homes annually, and one million homes over this Parliament.
• To speed up construction where development has been permitted, we propose to make
it clear in the revised National Planning Policy Framework that the masterplans and design
codes for sites prepared for substantial development should seek to include a variety
of development types from different builders which allow more phases to come forward
together. We will explore further options to support faster build out as we develop
our proposals for the new planning system.

Agenda Item 8

• To provide better information to local communities, to promote competition amongst
developers, and to assist SMEs and new entrants to the sector, we will consult on options
for improving the data held on contractual arrangements used to control land.
• To make sure publicly owned land and public investment in development supports
thriving places, we will:
– ensure decisions on the locations of new public buildings – such as government offices
and further education colleges – support renewal and regeneration of town centres; and
–e
 xplore how publicly owned land disposal can support the SME and self-build sectors.
Planning For The Future | 23

Our proposals will greatly improve the user experience of the planning system, making it fit
for the next century.
Residents will be able to engage in a much more democratic system that is open to a wider
range of people whose voice is currently not heard. Residents will no longer have to rely on
planning notices attached to lamp posts, printed in newspapers and posted in libraries to find
out about newly proposed developments. Instead people will be able to use their smartphone
more visual information about development proposals near them – rather than current
planning policies and development proposals presented in PDF documents, hundreds of
pages long. And existing and new residents alike will gain from more affordable, green and
beautiful homes near to where they want to live and work.
Communities will be able to trust the planning system again as their voice will be heard from
the beginning of the process and better use of digital technology will make it radically easier
for people to understand what is being proposed in their neighbourhoods and provide new
ways to feed their views into the reformed system. Local Plans will be developed over a fixed
30-month period with clear engagement points, rather than the current inconsistent process
which takes seven years on average. The Infrastructure Levy will be more transparent than
Section 106, and local communities will have more control over how it is spent. Communities
will be able to set standards for design upfront through local design codes. And with more
land available for homes where they are most needed, and a renewed focus on the beauty of
new development, communities will be able to grow organically and sustainably, and
development will enhance places for everyone.
Innovators, entrepreneurs and businesses will benefit from a planning system that is much
more adaptable to the changing needs of the economy. A greater amount of land available
near to workplaces, and a more flexible approach to how that land can be used, will make it
2 4 | Planning For The Future

Page 78

to give their views on Local Plans and design codes as they are developed, and to see clearer,

Innovators and businesses
will benefit from a planning
system that is much more
adaptable to the changing
need of the economy.

Agenda Item 8

The change we will see – a more engaging,
equitable and effective system

much easier for firms to set up and expand in the most productive locations – for example,

This consultation document does not address every detailed part of the planning system,

spin-out companies looking to set up near to research-intensive universities. A reformed

its function and objectives, but rather focuses on the key reforms that can help improve the

system that is based upon data, rather than documents will help to provide the data that

delivery and quality of homes and neighbourhoods, set within our drive towards net-zero

innovators and entrepreneurs, including the burgeoning PropTech sector, need to build new

greenhouse gas emissions by 2050.

technology to help improve citizen engagement and planning processes.
And fixing the planning system alone will not be enough – it will require a collective effort
Small builders, housing associations and those building their own home, will find this system

between Government, communities, businesses and developers over the long term. But fixing

much easier, less costly and quicker to navigate, with more land available for development

the planning system should be the starting point for these efforts.

and clearer expectations on the types of development permitted, helping them to find
development opportunities and use innovative construction methods. With permission for the
principle of development secured automatically in many cases, a major hurdle in the process
will be removed, taking two to three years out of the process. The system of developer
contributions will make it much easier for smaller developers, who will not have to engage in
months of negotiation and can instead get on with the job of building. And a shorter, more
certain process will remove significant risk from the process, lowering the need for developers
to secure long development pipelines and lowering the regulatory barriers to entry that

Page 79

currently exist in the market. A data-led planning system will help developers of all sizes and
experience to find the planning information they need to understand what can be built and
where, which will provide greater certainty to them and their investors.
Local authorities, including mayoral combined authorities, will be liberated to plan and able
to focus on what they do best, with the shackles of current burdensome assessments and
negotiations removed. They will be able to give more attention to improving the quality of
new development and focus on those large and special sites that need the most
consideration. And the Government will support modernisation of the planning process so

Agenda Item 8

that routine tasks are automated and decision-making, and plan-making, is improved by
better access to the data local authorities need.
And for our children and grandchildren, our reforms will leave an inheritance of environmental
improvement – with environmental assets protected, more green spaces provided, more
sustainable development supported, new homes that are much more energy-efficient and
new places that can become the heritage of the future, built closer to where people want
to live and work to reduce our reliance on carbon-intensive modes of transport.

Planning For The Future | 25

Pillar One – Planning for development
It is difficult for users of the planning system to find the information they need, and when
they do, it is difficult to understand. Few people read the array of evidence base documents
The starting point for an effective planning system is to establish a clear and predictable

which accompany plans and these assessments do not sufficiently aid decision-making. Much

basis for the pattern and form of development in an area. The current system of land use

of this evidence becomes dated very quickly, and production times often render policies out

planning in England is principally based on Local Plans, brought forward by local planning

of date as soon as they are adopted. Furthermore, even when the plan is in place, it cannot be

authorities on behalf of their communities. But in contrast to planning systems in places like

relied on as the definitive statement of how development proposals should be handled.

Agenda Item 8

Overview

Japan, the Netherlands and Germany, where plans give greater certainty that development
Local Plans should instead be focused on where they can add real value: allocating enough

required to secure permission on the sites that it designates for development.

land for development in the right places, giving certainty about what can be developed on
that land, making the process for getting permission for development as simple as possible,

Local Plans are a good foundation on which to base reform, as they provide a route for local

and providing local communities a genuine opportunity to shape those decisions. To this end,

requirements to be identified and assessed, a forum for political debate and for different

Local Plans should:

views on the future of areas to be heard. The National Planning Policy Framework provides

•	be based on transparent, clear requirements for local authorities to identify appropriate

a clear basis for those matters that are best set in national policy.

levels of, and locations for, development that provide certainty and that applicants and
communities can easily understand;

However, change is needed. Layers of assessment, guidance and policy have broadened the

•	communicate key information clearly and visually so that plans are accessible and easily

scope of Local Plans, requiring a disproportionate burden of evidence to support them. As

understandable, and communities can engage meaningfully in the process of developing them;

a result, Local Plans take increasingly long to produce, on average over seven years; have

•	be published as standardised data to enable a strategic national map of planning to be created;

become lengthier documents of increasing complexity, in some cases stretching to nearly 500

•	be developed using a clear, efficient and standard process;

pages; are underpinned by vast swathes of evidence base documents, often totalling at least

•	benefit from a radically and profoundly re-invented engagement with local communities so

ten times the length of the plan itself, and none of which are clearly linked, standardised, or
produced in accessible formats; and include much unnecessary repetition of national policy.

that more democracy takes place effectively at the plan-making stage; and
•	set clear expectations on what is required on land that is identified for development, so that
plans give confidence in the future growth of areas and facilitate the delivery of beautiful and
sustainable places.

2 6 | Planning For The Future

Page 80

is permitted in principle upfront, plans in England are policy-based, with a separate process

Questions
1. What three words do you associate most with the planning
system in England?
2(a). Do you get involved with planning decisions in your local area?
[Yes / No]

Page 81

2(b). If no, why not?
[Don’t know how to / It takes too long / It’s too complicated /
I don’t care / Other – please specify]

Agenda Item 8

3. Our proposals will make it much easier to access plans and contribute
your views to planning decisions. How would you like to find out about
plans and planning proposals in the future?
[Social media / Online news / Newspaper / By post /
Other – please specify]
4. What are your top three priorities for planning in your local area?
[Building homes for young people / building homes for the homeless /
Protection of green spaces / The environment, biodiversity and action
on climate change / Increasing the affordability of housing / The design
of new homes and places / Supporting the high street / Supporting the
local economy / More or better local infrastructure / Protection of
existing heritage buildings or areas / Other – please specify]
Planning For The Future | 27

Agenda Item 8

Proposals
We propose a new role for Local Plans and a new process for making them, by replacing
the existing primary and secondary legislation.

A NEW APPROACH TO PLAN-MAKING

Page 82

Local Plans should have a clear role and function, which should be, first, to identify land
for development and sites that should be protected;and, second, to be clear about what
development can take place in those different areas so that there is greater certainty about
land allocated for development and so that there is a faster route to securing permission.
They should be assessed against a single statutory “sustainable development” test to ensure
plans strike the right balance between environmental, social and economic objectives.

Proposal 1: The role of land use plans should be simplified. We propose
that Local Plans should identify three types of land – Growth areas
suitable for substantial development, Renewal areas suitable for
development, and areas that are Protected.
All areas of land would be put into one of these three categories:
• Growth areas “suitable for substantial development” – we propose that the term substantial

those around universities where there may be opportunities to create a cluster of growth-

development be defined in policy to remove any debate about this descriptor. We envisage

focused businesses. Sites annotated in the Local Plan under this category would have outline

this category would include land suitable for comprehensive development, including new

approval for development (see proposal 5 for more detail). Areas of flood risk would be

settlements and urban extension sites, and areas for redevelopment, such as former

excluded from this category (as would other important constraints), unless any risk can be

industrial sites or urban regeneration sites. It could also include proposals for sites such as

fully mitigated;

2 8 | Planning For The Future

•	Renewal areas “suitable for development” – this would cover existing built areas where

flexibilities in use allowed by virtue of the new Use Classes Order and permitted

smaller scale development is appropriate. It could include the gentle densification and infill

development). For example, it may be appropriate for some areas to be identified as

of residential areas, development in town centres, and development in rural areas that is

suitable for higher-density residential development, or for high streets and town centres to

not annotated as Growth or Protected areas, such as small sites within or on the edge of

be identified as distinct areas. In Growth areas, we would also want to allow sub-areas to be

villages. There would be a statutory presumption in favour of development being granted

created specifically for self and custom-build homes, and community-led housing

for the uses specified as being suitable in each area. Local authorities could continue to

developments, to allow a range of housing aspirations to be met and help create diverse

consider the case for resisting inappropriate development of residential gardens;

and flourishing communities. In the case of self and custom-build homes, local authorities
should identify enough land to meet the requirements identified in their self-build and

particular environmental and/or cultural characteristics, would justify more stringent

custom housebuilding registers. For Protected areas, the key and accompanying text would
explain what is permissible by cross-reference to the National Planning Policy Framework.

development controls to ensure sustainability. This would include areas such as Green Belt,
Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONBs), Conservation Areas, Local Wildlife Sites,

Alternative options: Rather than dividing land into three categories, we are also interested in

areas of significant flood risk and important areas of green space. At a smaller scale it can

views on more binary models. One option is to combine Growth and Renewal areas (as

continue to include gardens in line with existing policy in the National Planning Policy

defined above) into one category and to extend permission in principle to all land within this

Framework. It would also include areas of open countryside outside of land in Growth or

area, based on the uses and forms of development specified for each sub-area within it.

Page 83

•	Areas that are Protected – this would include sites and areas which, as a result of their

Renewal areas. Some areas would be defined nationally, others locally on the basis of
An alternative approach would be to limit automatic permission in principle to land identified

relevant development restrictions defined in the National Planning Policy Framework.

for substantial development in Local Plans (Growth areas); other areas of land would, as now,
be identified for different forms of development in ways determined by the local planning

This new-style Local Plan would comprise an interactive web-based map of the administrative area

authority (and taking into account policy in the National Planning Policy Framework), and

where data and policies are easily searchable, with a key and accompanying text. Areas and sites

subject to the existing development management process.

would be annotated and colour-coded in line with their Growth, Renewal or Protected designation,
with explanatory descriptions set out in the key and accompanying text, as appropriate to the category.

Question

In Growth and Renewal areas, the key and accompanying text would set out suitable

5. Do you agree that Local Plans should be simplified in line with our proposals?
[Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting statement.]

development uses, as well as limitations on height and/or density as relevant. These could
be specified for sub-areas within each category, determined locally but having regard to
national policy, guidance and legislation (including the National Model Design Code and

Planning For The Future | 29

Agenda Item 8

national policy, but all would be annotated in Local Plan maps and clearly signpost the

This will significantly increase clarity for those wishing to bring forward development,
enabling automation of more binary considerations and allowing for a greater focus on
those areas where there is likely to be greater subjectivity.

Agenda Item 8

Proposal 2: Development management policies established at national
scale and an altered role for Local Plans.
With the primary focus of plan-making on identifying areas for development and protection,

Alternative options: Rather than removing the ability for local authorities to include general

to clear and necessary site or area-specific requirements, including broad height limits, scale

development management policies in Local Plans, we could limit the scope of such policies

and/or density limits for land included in Growth areas and Renewal areas, established

to specific matters and standardise the way they are written, where exceptional circumstances

through the accompanying text. The National Planning Policy Framework would become the

necessitate a locally-defined approach. Another alternative would be to allow local authorities

primary source of policies for development management; there would be no provision for

a similar level of flexibility to set development management policies as under the current

the inclusion of generic development management policies which simply repeat national

Local Plans system, with the exception that policies which duplicate the National Planning

policy within Local Plans, such as protections for listed buildings (although we are interested

Policy Framework would not be allowed.

in views on the future of optional technical standards). We propose to turn plans from long
lists of general “policies” to specific development standards.

Question

Local planning authorities and neighbourhoods (through Neighbourhood Plans) would play

6. Do you agree with our proposals for streamlining the development
management content of Local Plans, and setting out general
development management policies nationally?
[Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting statement.]

a crucial role in producing required design guides and codes to provide certainty and
reflect local character and preferences about the form and appearance of development.
This is important for making plans more visual and engaging. These could be produced
for a whole local authority area, or for a smaller area or site (as annotated in the Local Plan),
or a combination of both. Design guides and codes would ideally be produced on a ‘twin
planning documents.

Proposal 3: Local Plans should be subject to a single statutory “sustainable
development” test, replacing the existing tests of soundness.

We want to move to a position where all development management policies and code

This would consider whether the plan contributes to achieving sustainable development

requirements, at national, local and neighbourhood level, are written in a machine-readable

in accordance with policy issued by the Secretary of State. The achievement of sustainable

format so that wherever feasible, they can be used by digital services to automatically screen

development is an existing and well-understood basis for the planning system, and we

developments and help identify where they align with policies and/or codes.

propose that it should be retained.

track’ with the Local Plan, either for inclusion within the plan or prepared as supplementary

3 0 | Planning For The Future

Page 84

we propose that development management policy contained in the plan would be restricted

“A simpler test, as well as more
streamlined plans, should
mean fewer requirements
for assessments that add
disproportionate delay to the
plan-making process. ”

The new-style digital Local Plan would also help local planning authorities to engage with

assessments that add disproportionate delay to the plan-making process.

strategic cross-boundary issues and use data-driven insights to assess local infrastructure needs
to help decide what infrastructure is needed and where it should be located.

Specifically:
• we propose to abolish the Sustainability Appraisal system and develop a simplified process

• Alternative option: Rather than removing the existing tests of soundness, an alternative

for assessing the environmental impact of plans, which would continue to satisfy the

option could be to reform them in order to make it easier for a suitable strategy to be found

requirements of UK and international law and treaties (see our proposals under Pillar Two);

sound. For example, the tests could become less prescriptive about the need to demonstrate

• the Duty to Cooperate test would be removed (although further consideration will be given
to the way in which strategic cross-boundary issues, such as major infrastructure or strategic

deliverability. Rather than demonstrating deliverability, local authorities could be required
to identify a stock of reserve sites which could come forward for development if needed.

in areas with significant strategic challenges); and
“sustainable development” test.
Plans should be informed by appropriate infrastructure planning, and sites should not be
included in the plan where there is no reasonable prospect of any infrastructure that may
be needed coming forward within the plan period. Plan-making policies in the National
Planning Policy Framework will make this clear.

Questions
7(a). Do you agree with our proposals to replace existing legal and policy tests
for Local Plans with a consolidated test of “sustainable development”,
which would include consideration of environmental impact?
[Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting statement.]
7(b). How could strategic, cross-boundary issues be best planned for in the
absence of a formal Duty to Cooperate?
Planning For The Future | 31

Agenda Item 8

sites, can be adequately planned for, including the scale at which plans are best prepared
• a slimmed down assessment of deliverability for the plan would be incorporated into the

Page 85

A simpler test, as well as more streamlined plans, should mean fewer requirements for

account the practical limitations that some areas might face, including the presence of
designated areas of environmental and heritage value, the Green Belt and flood risk. For
example, areas in National Parks are highly desirable and housing supply has not kept up
with demand; however, the whole purpose of National Parks would be undermined by
multiple large scale housing developments so a standard method should factor this in;
• t he opportunities to better use existing brownfield land for housing, including through greater
densification. The requirement figure will expect these opportunities to have been utilised
fully before land constraints are taken into account;

businesses and community facilities – for a minimum period of 10 years. This includes land

• t he need to make an allowance for land required for other (non-residential) development; and

needed to take advantage of local opportunities for economic growth, such as commercial

• inclusion of an appropriate buffer to ensure enough land is provided to account for the drop

space for spin-out companies near to university research and development facilities, or other

off rate between permissions and completions as well as offering sufficient choice to the market.

high productivity businesses.
The standard method would make it the responsibility of individual authorities to allocate
Debates about housing numbers tend to dominate this process, and a standard method for

land suitable for housing to meet the requirement, and they would continue to have choices

setting housing requirements would significantly reduce the time it takes to establish the

about how to do so: for example through more effective use of existing residential land,

amount of land to release in each area. This has historically been a time-consuming process

greater densification, infilling and brownfield redevelopment, extensions to existing urban

which ultimately has not led to enough land being released where it is most needed (as

areas, or new settlements. The existing policy for protecting the Green Belt would remain.

reflected by worsening affordability). A standard requirement would differ from the current

We also propose that it would be possible for authorities to agree an alternative distribution

system of local housing need in that it would be binding, and so drive greater land release.

of their requirement in the context of joint planning arrangements. In particular, it may be
appropriate for Mayors of combined authorities to oversee the strategic distribution of the

It is proposed that the standard method would be a means of distributing the national

requirement in a way that alters the distribution of numbers, and this would be allowed for.

housebuilding target of 300,000 new homes annually, and one million homes by the end
of the Parliament, having regard to:
• the size of existing urban settlements (so that development is targeted at areas that
can absorb the level of housing proposed);
• the relative affordability of places (so that the least affordable places where historic
under-supply has been most chronic take a greater share of future development);
3 2 | Planning For The Future

In the current system the combination of the five-year housing land supply requirement,
the Housing Delivery Test and the presumption in favour of sustainable development act
as a check to ensure that enough land comes into the system. Our proposed approach
should ensure that enough land is planned for, and with sufficient certainty about its
availability for development, to avoid a continuing requirement to be able to demonstrate

Page 86

Local Plans will need to identify areas to meet a range of development needs – such as homes,

• the extent of land constraints in an area to ensure that the requirement figure takes into

Agenda Item 8

Proposal 4: A standard method for establishing housing requirement
figures which ensures enough land is released in the areas where
affordability is worst, to stop land supply being a barrier to enough
homes being built. The housing requirement would factor in land
constraints and opportunities to more effectively use land, including
through densification where appropriate, to ensure that the land is
identified in the most appropriate areas and housing targets are met.

a five-year supply of land. However, having enough land supply in the system does not
guarantee that it will be delivered, and so we propose to maintain the Housing Delivery Test
and the presumption in favour of sustainable development as part of the new system.
Alternative option: It would be possible to leave the calculation of how much land to include
in each category to local decision, but with a clear stipulation in policy that this should be
sufficient to address the development needs of each area (so far as possible subject to
recognised constraints), taking into account market signals indicating the degree to which
this approach in relation to housing; and it would be possible to make changes to the

8(a). Do you agree that a standard method for establishing housing
requirements (that takes into account constraints) should be introduced?
[Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting statement.]
8(b). Do you agree that affordability and the extent of existing urban areas are
appropriate indicators of the quantity of development to be accommodated?
[Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting statement.]

current approach that ensure that meeting minimum need is given greater weight to make
sure sufficient land comes forward. However, we do not think that this approach would carry
the same benefits of clarity and simplicity as our preferred option, and would also require

Page 87

existing needs are not being met. As now, a standard method could be retained to underpin

Questions

additional safeguards to ensure that adequate land remains available, especially once the
assessment of housing need has been translated into housing requirements. We would,
therefore, propose to retain a five-year housing land supply requirement with this approach.

Agenda Item 8

We have published a separate consultation on proposed changes to the standard method
for assessing local housing need which is currently used in the process of establishing
housing requirement figures. The future application of the formula proposed in the revised
standard method consultation will be considered in the context of the proposals set out
here. In particular, the methodology does not yet adjust for the land constraints, including
Green Belt. We will consider further the options for doing this and welcome proposals.

Planning For The Future | 33

There will therefore be no need to submit a further planning application to test whether the

Development Corporations can be reformed to reflect this new framework.
In areas suitable for development (Renewal areas), there would be a general presumption in
favour of development established in legislation (achieved by strengthening the emphasis on
taking a plan-led approach, with plans reflecting the general appropriateness of these areas
for development). Consent for development would be granted in one of three ways:
• for pre-specified forms of development such as the redevelopment of certain building
types, through a new permission route which gives an automatic consent if the scheme
meets design and other prior approval requirements (as discussed further under the
fast-track to beauty proposals set out under Pillar Two);

site can be approved. Where the Local Plan has identified land for development, planning

• for other types of development, a faster planning application process where a planning

decisions should focus on resolving outstanding issues – not the principle of development.

application for the development would be determined in the context of the Local Plan
description, for what development the area or site is appropriate for, and with reference

In areas suitable for substantial development (Growth areas) an outline permission for the
principle of development would be conferred by adoption of the Local Plan. Further details

to the National Planning Policy Framework; or
• a Local or Neighbourhood Development Order.

would be agreed and full permission achieved through streamlined and faster consent
routes which focus on securing good design and addressing site-specific technical issues.

In both the Growth and Renewal areas it would still be possible for a proposal which is
different to the plan to come forward (if, for example, local circumstances had changed

Detailed planning permission could be secured in one of three ways:

suddenly, or an unanticipated opportunity arose), but this would require a specific planning

• a reformed reserved matters process for agreeing the issues which remain outstanding;

application. We expect this to be the exception rather than the rule: to improve certainty in

• a Local Development Order prepared by the local planning authority for the development

the system, it will be important for everyone to have confidence that the plan will be the

which could be prepared in parallel with the Local Plan and be linked to a master plan and

basis for decisions, and so we intend to strengthen the emphasis on a plan-led approach in

design codes; or

legislation (alongside giving appropriate status to national planning policy for general

• for exceptionally large sites such as a new town where there are often land assembly and
planning challenges, we also want to explore whether a Development Consent Order
under the Nationally Significant Infrastructure Projects regime could be an appropriate
3 4 | Planning For The Future

development management matters).

Page 88

Proposal 5: Areas identified as Growth areas (suitable for substantial
development) would automatically be granted outline planning
permission for the principle of development, while automatic approvals
would also be available for pre-established development types in other
areas suitable for building.

route to secure consents. Similarly, we will consider how the planning powers for

Agenda Item 8

A STREAMLINED DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT PROCESS
WITH AUTOMATIC PLANNING PERMISSION FOR SCHEMES
IN LINE WITH PLANS

In areas where development is restricted (Protected areas) any development proposals would
come forward as now through planning applications being made to the local authority (except
where they are subject to permitted development rights or development orders), and judged
against policies set out in the National Planning Policy Framework.
We will consider the most effective means for neighbours and other interested parties to
address any issues of concern where, under this system, the principle of development has
been established leaving only detailed matters to be resolved.

which have accumulated over time, including simplified planning zones, enterprise zones and
brownfield land registers.

9(a). Do you agree that there should be automatic outline permission
for areas for substantial development (Growth areas) with faster
routes for detailed consent?
[Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting statement.]
9(b). Do you agree with our proposals above for the consent
arrangements for Renewal and Protected areas?
[Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting statement.]
9(c). Do you think there is a case for allowing new settlements
to be brought forward under the Nationally Significant
Infrastructure Projects regime?
[Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting statement.]

Page 89

Separate to these reforms, we also intend to consolidate other existing routes to permission

Questions

Agenda Item 8

The route to full planning permission should
follow clearly and directly from the designation
made in the Local Plan.
Planning For The Future | 35

Agenda Item 8
Page 90

Proposal 6: Decision-making should be faster and more certain, with firm
deadlines, and make greater use of digital technology

local planning authorities. In particular, the validation of applications should be integrated with

For all types of planning applications regardless of the category of land, we want to see a much

for modernising planning systems in local government;

more streamlined and digitally enabled end to end process which is proportionate to the scale

the submission of the application so that the right information is provided at the start of the
process. For Spending Review, the Government will prepare a specific, investable proposal
• a new, more modular, software landscape to encourage digital innovation and provide access

and nature of the development proposed, to ensure decisions are made faster. The well-

to underlying data. This will help automate routine processes, such as knowing whether new

established time limits of eight or 13 weeks for determining an application from validation

applications are within the rules, which will support faster and more certain decision-making.

to decision should be a firm deadline – not an aspiration which can be got around through

We will work with tech companies and local planning authorities to modernise the software

extensions of time as routinely happens now.

used for case-managing a planning application to improve the user-experience for those
applying and reduce the errors and costs currently experienced by planning authorities;

To achieve this, we propose:

• shorter and more standardised applications. The amount of key information required as part

• the greater digitalisation of the application process to make it easier for applicants, especially

of the application should be reduced considerably and made machine-readable. A national

those proposing smaller developments, to have certainty when they apply and engage with

data standard for smaller applications should be created. For major development, beyond

3 6 | Planning For The Future

relevant drawings and plans, there should only be one key standardised planning statement

appeals process is faster, with the Inspectorate more digitally responsive and flexible. And to

of no more than 50 pages to justify the development proposals in relation to the Local Plan

promote proper consideration of applications by planning committees, where applications are

and National Planning Policy Framework;

refused, we propose that applicants will be entitled to an automatic rebate of their planning

• data-rich planning application registers will be created so that planning application

application fee if they are successful at appeal.

information can be easily found and monitored at a national scale, and new digital services
can be built to help people use this data in innovative ways;
• data sets that underpin the planning system, including planning decisions and developer
contributions, need to be standardised and made open and digitally accessible;
• a digital template for planning notices will be created so that planning application
information can be more effectively communicated and understood by local communities
and used by new digital services;

Question
10. Do you agree with our proposals to make decision-making faster
and more certain?
[Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting statement.]

• greater standardisation of technical supporting information, for instance about local highway
impacts, flood risk and heritage matters. We envisage design codes will help to reduce the
need for significant supplementary information, but we recognise there may still need to
be site specific information to mitigate wider impacts. For these issues, there should be clear
national data standards and templates developed in conjunction with statutory consultees;

Page 91

• clearer and more consistent planning conditions, with standard national conditions to cover
common issues;
• a streamlined approach to developer contributions, which is discussed further under Pillar Three;
• the delegation of detailed planning decisions to planning officers where the principle of
development has been established, as detailed matters for consideration should be principally
a matter for professional planning judgment.
We also believe there should be a clear incentive on the local planning authority to determine
an application within the statutory time limits. This could involve the automatic refund of the

Agenda Item 8

planning fee for the application if they fail to determine it within the time limit. But we also
want to explore whether some types of applications should be deemed to have been granted
planning permission if there has not been a timely determination, to ensure targets are met
and local authorities keep to the time limit in the majority of cases. We particularly want to
ensure that the facilities and infrastructure that communities value, such as schools, hospitals
and GP surgeries, are delivered quickly through the planning system.
There will remain a power to call in decisions by the Secretary of State and for applicants to
appeal against a decision by a local planning authority. However, by ensuring greater certainty
about the principle of development in Local Plans, we expect to see fewer appeals being
considered by the Planning Inspectorate. For those that do go to appeal, we want to ensure the
Planning For The Future | 37

Agenda Item 8

A NEW INTERACTIVE, WEB-BASED MAP STANDARD FOR
PLANNING DOCUMENTS
Planning documentation should reflect this simplified role for Local Plans and should support
community engagement.

Page 92

Proposal 7: Local Plans should be visual and map-based, standardised,
based on the latest digital technology, and supported by a new template.
Interactive, map-based Local Plans will be built upon data standards and digital principles. To
support local authorities in developing plans in this new format, we will publish a guide to the
new Local Plan system and data standards and digital principles, including clearer expectations
around the more limited evidence that will be expected to support “sustainable” Local Plans,
accompanied by a “model” template for Local Plans and subsequent updates, well in advance
of the legislation being brought into force. This will support standardisation of Local Plans across
the country. The text-based component of plans should be limited to spatially-specific matters
and capable of being accessible in a range of different formats, including through simple digital
services on a smartphone.
To support open access to planning documents and improve public engagement in the plan-

planning policies to be created so that new digital services can be built using this data, and this

making process, plans should be fully digitised and web-based following agreed web standards

will also enable any existing or future mapping platforms to access and visualise Local Plans.

rather than document based. This will allow for any updates to be published instantaneously and

This will make it easier for anyone to identify what can be built where. The data will be accessed

makes it easier to share across all parties and the wider public. Those digital plans should be

by software used across the public sector and also by external PropTech entrepreneurs to

carefully designed with the user in mind and to ensure inclusivity, so that they can be accessed in

improve transparency, decision-making and productivity in the sector. There should also be a

different formats, on different devices, and are accessible and understandable by all. Geospatial

long-term aim for any data produced to support Local Plans to be open and accessible online in

information associated with plans, such as sites and areas, should also be standardised and

machine-readable format and linked to the relevant policies and areas.

made openly available online. Taken together, these changes will enable a digital register of
3 8 | Planning For The Future

By shifting plan-making processes from documents to data, new digital civic engagement
processes will be enabled, making it easier for people to understand what is being proposed
where and how it will affect them. These tools have the potential to transform how communities
engage with Local Plans, opening up new ways for people to feed their views into the system,
including through social networks and via mobile phones. Early pilots from local planning
authorities using emerging digital civic engagement tools have shown increased public
participation from a broader audience, with one PropTech SME reporting that 70% of their
users are under the age of 45.18

Page 93

To encourage this step-change, we want to support local authorities to radically rethink how they
produce their Local Plans, and profoundly re-invent the ambition, depth and breadth with which
they engage with communities. We will set up a series of pilots to work with local authorities and
tech companies (the emerging ‘PropTech’ sector) to develop innovative solutions to support
plan-making activities and make community involvement more accessible and engaging. This
could include measures to improve access to live information and data or the use of 3D
visualisations and other tools to support good community engagement.

Agenda Item 8

Question
11. Do you agree with our proposals for accessible, web-based
Local Plans?
[Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting statement.]

Planning For The Future | 39

Agenda Item 8

A STREAMLINED, MORE ENGAGING PLAN-MAKING PROCESS
The average time taken from plan publication to adoption rose from an average of 450 days
in 2009 to 815 days in 2019. There is currently no statutory requirement around timescales
for key stages of the plan-making process.

Under the current system, it regularly takes over a decade for development sites to go through
the Local Plan process and receive outline permission. Under our proposals, this would be
shortened to 30 months, although we expect many local authorities could do this in a shorter

• Stage 3 [6 weeks]: The local planning authority simultaneously
(i) submits the Plan to the Secretary of State for Examination together with a Statement
of Reasons to explain why it has drawn up its plan as it has; and
(ii) publicises the plan for the public to comment on. Comments seeking change must explain

time and we would encourage them to do so where this is practicable. We propose that the

how the plan should be changed and why. Again, this process would embody ‘best in class’

process covers five stages, with meaningful public engagement at two stages:

ways of ensuring public involvement. Responses will have a word count limit.

• Stage 1 [6 months]: The local planning authority “calls for” suggestions for areas under the

• Stage 4 [9 months]: A planning inspector appointed by the Secretary of State considers whether

three categories, including comprehensive “best in class” ways of achieving public involvement

the three categories shown in the proposed Local Plan are “sustainable” as per the statutory test

at this plan-shaping stage for where development should go and what it should look like.

and accompanying national guidance and makes binding changes which are necessary to satisfy
the test. The plan-making authority and all those who submitted comments would have the right

• Stage 2 [12 months]: The local planning authority draws up its proposed Local Plan, and

to be “heard” by the inspector (whether face to face, by video, phone or in writing –all at the

produces any necessary evidence to inform and justify the plan. “Higher-risk” authorities will

inspector’s discretion). The inspector’s report can, as relevant, simply state agreement with the

receive mandatory Planning Inspectorate advisory visits, in order to ensure the plan is on track

whole or parts of the council’s Statement of Reasons, and/or comments submitted by the public.

prior to submission.
• Stage 5 [6 weeks]: Local Plan map, key and text are finalised, and come into force.

4 0 | Planning For The Future

Page 94

Proposal 8: Local authorities and the Planning Inspectorate will be
required through legislation to meet a statutory timetable for key
stages of the process, and we will consider what sanctions there
would be for those who fail to do so.

Taken together, the effect of these reforms would be to greatly simplify and shorten the plan-making

Alternative options: The existing examination process could be reformed in order to speed up

and development process, ensuring more land comes through the system and does so at pace.

the process. For instance, the automatic ‘right to be heard’ could be removed so that participants
are invited to appear at hearings at the discretion of the inspector. Certain Local Plans, that are

To support the transition to the new system, we propose a statutory duty for local authorities to

less complex or controversial, could also be examined through written representations only,

adopt a new Local Plan by a specified date – either 30 months from the legislation being brought

as is usually the case with Neighbourhood Plans at present.

into force, or 42 months for local planning authorities who have adopted a Local Plan within the
A further alternative could be to remove the Examination stage entirely, instead requiring

examination. In the latter case, the 42 month period would commence from the point at which

Local Planning Authorities to undertake a process of self-assessment against set criteria and

the legislation is brought into force, or upon adoption of the most recent plan, whichever is later.

guidance. To supplement this, the Planning Inspectorate could be utilised to audit a certain
number of completed plans each year in order to assess whether the requirements of the

This should be accompanied by a requirement for each planning authority to review its Local Plan

statutory sustainability test had been met. However, there is a risk that this option wouldn’t

at least every five years. Reviews should be undertaken sooner than five years where there has

provide sufficient scrutiny around whether plans meet the necessary legal and policy tests.

been a significant change in circumstances, for instance where issues with land supply have been
identified through regular monitoring. Where a review concludes that an update is required, then
the same 30-month deadline would apply although there would be an expectation that in many
cases an update could be completed more quickly.

to date, would be at risk of government intervention. A range of intervention options will be

Question
12. Do you agree with our proposals for a 30 month statutory timescale
for the production of Local Plans?
[Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting statement.]

available, including the issuing of directions and preparation of a plan in consultation with local
people. Decisions on intervention would also have regard to:
• the level of housing requirement in the area;
• the planning context of the area, including any co-operation to get plans in place across local
planning authority boundaries;
• any exceptional circumstances presented by the local planning authority.

Planning For The Future | 41

Agenda Item 8

Local planning authorities that fail to do what is required to get their plan in place, or keep it up

Page 95

previous three years or where a Local Plan has been submitted to the Secretary of State for

Agenda Item 8

Proposal 9: Neighbourhood Plans should be retained as an important
means of community input, and we will support communities to make
better use of digital tools
Since statutory Neighbourhood Plans became part of the system in 2011, over 2,600
communities have started the process of neighbourhood planning to take advantage
of the opportunity to prepare a plan for their own areas – and over 1,000 plans have been
the democracy forward’ in planning, by allowing communities to think proactively about how
they would like their areas to develop.
Therefore, we think Neighbourhood Plans should be retained in the reformed planning
system, but we will want to consider whether their content should become more focused to
reflect our proposals for Local Plans, as well as the opportunities which digital tools and data
offer to support their development and improve accessibility for users. By making it easier to
develop Neighbourhood Plans we wish to encourage their continued use and indeed to help
spread their use further, particularly in towns and cities. We are also interested in whether
there is scope to extend and adapt the concept so that very small areas – such as individual
streets – can set their own rules for the form of development which they are happy to see.
Digital tools have significant potential to assist the process of Neighbourhood Plan production,
including through new digital co-creation platforms and 3D visualisation technologies to
explore proposals within the local context. We will develop pilot projects and data standards
which help neighbourhood planning groups make the most of this potential.

4 2 | Planning For The Future

Page 96

successfully passed at referendum. They have become an important tool in helping to ‘bring

SPEEDING UP THE DELIVERY OF DEVELOPMENT
Our plans for a simpler and faster planning process need to be accompanied by a stronger
emphasis on the faster delivery of development, especially for Growth areas where substantial
development has been permitted. If local communities through the new Local Plan process
have identified sites for substantial development over the next ten years and developers have
secured planning consents, there should be a presumption that these sites will be built out
quickly. But as Rt. Hon. Sir Oliver Letwin found in his Independent Review of Build Out Rates in
rates, with some sites taking over 20 years to complete.

Proposal 10: A stronger emphasis on build out through planning

Page 97

2018, the build out of large residential developments can be slow due to low market absorption

To address this, we propose to make it clear in the revised National Planning Policy Framework
that the masterplans and design codes for sites prepared for substantial development
(discussed under Pillar Two) should seek to include a variety of development types by different

13(a). Do you agree that Neighbourhood Plans should be retained
in the reformed planning system?
[Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting statement.]
13(b). How can the neighbourhood planning process be developed
to meet our objectives, such as in the use of digital tools and
reflecting community preferences about design?

builders which allow more phases to come forward together. We will explore further options to
support faster build out as we develop our proposals for the new planning system.

Question
14. Do you agree there should be a stronger emphasis on the build
out of developments? And if so, what further measures would
you support?
[Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting statement.]

Planning For The Future | 43

Agenda Item 8

Questions

Overview
We have set out how a simpler planning process could improve certainty about what can
be built where, as well as offering greater flexibility in the use of land to meet our changing
economic and social needs. But improving the process of planning is only the starting point
– we want to ensure that we have a system in place that enables the creation of beautiful
places that will stand the test of time, protects and enhances our precious environment,
and supports our efforts to combat climate change and bring greenhouse gas emissions
the vital contribution that planning can make to a sustainable and inclusive recovery.12
To do this, planning should be a powerful tool for creating visions of how places can be,
engaging communities in that process and fostering high quality development: not just
beautiful buildings, but the gardens, parks and other green spaces in between, as well as
the facilities which are essential for building a real sense of community. It should generate
net gains for the quality of our built and natural environments - not just ‘no net harm’.
As the report of the Building Better, Building Beautiful Commission has shown, all too often
that potential has fallen short. Too many places built during recent decades fail to reflect
what is special about their local area or create a high quality environment of which local
people can be proud. The Commission has played an invaluable role not just in highlighting
the deficiencies, but in setting out a wide range of recommendations for addressing them.
We will respond fully to the Commission’s report in the autumn, but there are important
aspects that we want to highlight now, as being integral to our proposals for what a revised
planning system can achieve.

4 4 | Planning For The Future

15. What do you think about the design of new development that has
happened recently in your area?
[Not sure or indifferent / Beautiful and/or well-designed / Ugly and/
or poorly-designed / There hasn’t been any / Other – please specify]
16. Sustainability is at the heart of our proposals. What is your priority
for sustainability in your area?
[Less reliance on cars / More green and open spaces / Energy
efficiency of new buildings / More trees / Other – please specify]

Page 98

to net-zero by 2050. Recent research from the Royal Town Planning Institute has set out

Questions

Agenda Item 8

Pillar Two – Planning for beautiful
and sustainable places

As the report of the Building Better,
Building Beautiful Commission has
shown, all too often that potential
has fallen short.

Page 99
Agenda Item 8

CREATING FRAMEWORKS FOR QUALITY

Agenda Item 8

Proposals

To deliver our vision, it is important for the planning system to set clear expectations for the
form of development which we expect to see in different locations. It should do so in ways
places that have stood the test of time; but it should also address modern lifestyles, facilitate
modern methods of construction (and its associated benefits for efficiency, build quality and
the environment) and the need to create places that are both durable and sustainable.
History provides many examples of how we can do this well – including Georgian terraces
and Victorian mansion blocks – and we should learn from what has worked in the past.
Our National Design Guide, published in October last year, illustrates how well-designed
places that are beautiful, enduring and successful can be achieved in practice. It is a vital
starting point, defining ten characteristics of successful places and the ingredients which
can deliver these. However, to provide as much clarity as possible for applicants and
communities and provide the basis for ‘fast-tracking’ decisions on design, broad principles
need to be turned into more specific standards.
To address this challenge, this autumn we will publish a National Model Design Code to
supplement the guide, setting out more detailed parameters for development in different
types of location: issues such as the arrangement and proportions of streets and urban
blocks, positioning and hierarchy of public spaces, successful parking arrangements,
placement of street trees, and high quality cycling and walking provision, in line with
our wider vision for cycling and walking in England.13 It will be accompanied by worked
examples, and complement a revised and consolidated Manual for Streets.
4 6 | Planning For The Future

Page 100

which reflect local character and community preferences, and the types of buildings and

To deliver our vision, it is important for the planning system
to set clear expectations for the form of development
which we expect to see in different locations.

Page 101
Agenda Item 8

Agenda Item 8

Proposal 11: To make design expectations more visual and predictable,
we will expect design guidance and codes to be prepared locally with
community involvement, and ensure that codes are more binding on
decisions about development.
As national guidance, we will expect the National Design Guide, National Model Design
communities. But to ensure that schemes reflect the diverse character of our country, as well
as what is provably popular locally, it is important that local guides and codes are prepared
wherever possible. These play the vital role of translating the basic characteristics of good
places into what works locally, and can already be brought forward in a number of ways:
by local planning authorities to supplement and add a visual dimension to their Local Plans;
through the work of neighbourhood planning groups; or by applicants in bringing forward
proposals for significant new areas of development.
We propose that these different routes for bringing forward design guides and codes
should remain, although in all cases it will be essential that they are prepared with effective
inputs from the local community, considering empirical evidence of what is popular and
characteristic in the local area. To underpin the importance of this, we intend to make
clear that designs and codes should only be given weight in the planning process if they
can demonstrate that this input has been secured. And, where this is the case, we will also
make clear that decisions on design should be made in line with these documents. Where
locally-produced guides and codes are not in place, we also propose to make clear in policy
that the National Design Guide, National Model Design Code and Manual for Streets should
guide decisions on the form of development.

4 8 | Planning For The Future

Page 102

Code and the revised Manual for Streets to have a direct bearing on the design of new

Question
17. Do you agree with our proposals for improving the production and
use of design guides and codes?
[Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting statement.]
architecture and design centres. Whatever model is adopted, we envisage that it would be
able to draw on the expertise of recognised experts with a range of skills, drawn from across

to the National Planning Policy Framework that can support the planning system’s role in

the built environment sector. Should the final proposals lead to the creation of new central

fostering better buildings, places and settlements, and we will consult on changes which

government arm’s-length body, then the usual, separate government approval process

reflect these recommendations in the autumn.

would apply for such entities.
We will also bring forward proposals later this year for improving the resourcing of planning
departments more broadly; and our suggestions in this paper for streamlining plan-making
will allow some re-focusing of professional skills. However, effective leadership within
authorities will also be crucial. To drive a strong vision for what each place aspires to,
and ensure this is integrated across council functions, we believe that each authority should
appoint a chief officer for design and place-making, as recommended by the Building Better,

The vision which we have set out will require a step-change in the design skills available to many

Building Beautiful Commission.

local planning authorities, as well as the right prioritisation and leadership across the sector.
We recognise that this will not happen overnight, and that authorities will need support.
WWe will explore the options for establishing a new expert body which can help authorities
make effective use of design guidance and codes, as well as performing a wider monitoring
and challenge role for the sector in building better places. Different models exist for how
this could be taken forward - such as a new arms-length body reporting to Government, a
new centre of expertise within Homes England, or reinforcing the existing network of

Question
18. Do you agree that we should establish a new body to support
design coding and building better places, and that each authority
should have a chief officer for design and place-making?
[Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting statement.]
Planning For The Future | 49

Agenda Item 8

Proposal 12: To support the transition to a planning system which is
more visual and rooted in local preferences and character, we will set
up a body to support the delivery of provably locally-popular design
codes, and propose that each authority should have a chief officer for
design and place-making.

Page 103

The Building Better, Building Beautiful Commission recommended several other changes

We are committed to taking a leadership role in the delivery of beautiful and well-designed
homes and places, which embed high environmental standards. The Building Better, Building
design as well as price, and give greater weight to design quality in its work.
The Government supports this recommendation and recognises that the work of Homes
England is an important route through which we can lead by example. Homes England have
already taken steps to champion design quality in their land disposals programme, through
implementation of a design quality assessment approach, with a minimum standard which
must be achieved for a proposal to progress.
However, we recognise that there is an opportunity to go further, and we will engage Homes
England, as part of the forthcoming Spending Review process, to consider how its objectives
might be strengthened to give greater weight to design quality, and assess how design quality
and environmental standards can be more deeply embedded in all Homes England’s activities
and programmes of work.

5 0 | Planning For The Future

19. Do you agree with our proposal to consider how design
might be given greater emphasis in the strategic objectives
for Homes England?
[Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting statement.]

Page 104

Beautiful Commission recommended that Homes England should attach sufficient value to

Question

Agenda Item 8

Proposal 13: To further embed national leadership on delivering better
places, we will consider how Homes England’s strategic objectives can
give greater emphasis to delivering beautiful places.

The vision which we have set out will require a step-change in the
design skills available to many local planning authorities, as well
as the right prioritisation and leadership across the sector.

Page 105
Agenda Item 8

These masterplans and codes could be prepared by the local planning authority alongside

One of the important propositions of the Building Better, Building Beautiful Commission is

and key principles to be established. For example, a set of simple ‘co-ordinating codes’

that there should be a ‘fast-track for beauty’. Where proposals come forward which comply

of the sort endorsed by the Building Better, Building Beautiful Commission could set some

with pre-established principles of what good design looks like (informed by community

initial key parameters for the site layout. Where sites are expected to come forward in the

preferences), then it should be possible to expedite development through the planning

near future, more developed masterplans or codes, prepared by the local planning authority

process. This should incentivise attractive and popular development, as well as helping to

or site promoter, will provide greater certainty.

or subsequent to preparing its plan, at a level of detail commensurate with the size of site

Proposal 14: We intend to introduce a fast-track for beauty through
changes to national policy and legislation, to incentivise and accelerate
high quality development which reflects local character and preferences.

Third, we also propose to legislate to widen and change the nature of permitted
development, so that it enables popular and replicable forms of development to be
approved easily and quickly, helping to support ‘gentle intensification’ of our towns and
cities, but in accordance with important design principles. There is a long history – in this
country and elsewhere – of ‘pattern books’ being used to articulate standard building types,

We propose to do this in three ways. In the first instance, through updating the National

options and associated rules (such as heights and set-backs). They have helped to deliver

Planning Policy Framework, we will make clear that schemes which comply with local design

some of our most popular and successful places, and in a way which makes it relatively easy

guides and codes have a positive advantage and greater certainty about their prospects

for smaller development companies to enter the market. We want to revive this tradition,

of swift approval.

in areas suitable for development (Renewal areas), by allowing the pre-approval of popular
and replicable designs through permitted development. The benefits are much more than

Second, where plans identify areas for significant development (Growth areas), we will

fast delivery of proven popular designs – it will foster innovation and support

legislate to require that a masterplan and site-specific code are agreed as a condition

industrialisation of housebuilding, enabling modern methods of construction to be

of the permission in principle which is granted through the plan. This should be in place

developed and deployed at scale.

prior to detailed proposals coming forward, to direct and expedite those detailed matters.

5 2 | Planning For The Future

Page 106

relieve pressure on planning authorities when assessing proposals.

Agenda Item 8

A FAST-TRACK FOR BEAUTY

One of the central propositions of the
Building Better, Building Beautiful
Commission is that there should be
a ‘fast-track for beauty’.

Page 107
Agenda Item 8

types that allow the redevelopment of existing residential buildings where the relevant
conditions are satisfied – enabling increased densities while maintaining visual harmony
in a range of common development settings (such as semi-detached suburban development).

Agenda Item 8

To take this approach forward, we intend to develop a limited set of form-based development

These would benefit from permitted development rights relating to the settings in which they
apply. Prior approval from the local planning authority would still be needed for aspects of the
design to ensure the development is right for its context (such as materials), as well as for
access. To enable further tailoring of these patterns to local character and preferences,
we also propose that local planning authorities or neighbourhood planning groups would be
able to use local orders to modify how the standard types apply in their areas, based on local
evidence of what options are most popular with the wider public.
This proposal will require some technical development and testing, so we will develop a pilot
programme to test the concept. Where we are taking forward existing schemes to expand
the scope of permitted development through upwards extensions and demolition/rebuilding,
we also intend to legislate so that prior approval for exercising such rights takes into account
design codes which are in place locally (or, in the absence of these, the National Model
Design Code).

Question
20. Do you agree with our proposals for implementing a fast-track
for beauty?
[Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting statement.]

5 4 | Planning For The Future

Page 108

other important planning considerations such as avoidance of flood risk and securing safe

Page 109

Agenda Item 8

Agenda Item 8

EFFECTIVE STEWARDSHIP AND ENHANCEMENT OF OUR NATURAL
AND HISTORIC ENVIRONMENT
The reformed planning system will continue to protect the places of environmental and cultural
value which matter to us. Plans will still play a vital role in identifying not just areas of defined
national and international importance (such as National Parks and Sites of Special Scientific
Local Wildlife Sites).
However, the planning system can and should do much more than this. In line with the ambitions
in our 25 Year Environment Plan, we want the reformed system to play a proactive role in
promoting environmental recovery and long-term sustainability. In doing so, it needs to play a
strong part in our efforts to mitigate and adapt to climate change and reduce pollution as well as
making our towns and cities more liveable through enabling more and better green spaces and
tree cover. Several initiatives are already laying the foundations for this. Nationally, the
Environment Bill currently before Parliament will legislate for mandatory net gains for biodiversity
as a condition of most new development. And the Local Nature Recovery Strategies which it will
also introduce will identify opportunities to secure enhancements through development schemes
and contributions. We will also deliver our commitment to make all new streets tree-lined, by
setting clear expectations through the changes to the National Planning Policy Framework which
will be consulted on in the autumn, and informed by the outcome of this summer’s consultation
on the England Tree Strategy.14 And we are also assessing the extent to which our planning
policies and processes for managing flood risk may need to be strengthened along with
developing a national framework of green infrastructure standards.
Once the proposals in this paper for reformed Local Plans begin to be implemented, it will be
important for authorities to consider how the identification of different categories of land, and any
5 6 | Planning For The Future

Page 110

Interest), but also those which are valued and defined locally (such as Conservation Areas and

sub-areas within them, can most effectively support climate change mitigation and adaptation.
For example, in identifying land for inclusion within the Growth area, or the densities of
development appropriate in different locations, the ability to maximise walking, cycling and
public transport opportunities will be an important consideration.

These measures, and reform of our policy framework, provide important opportunities to
strengthen the way that environmental issues are considered through the planning system.
However, we also think there is scope to marry these changes with a simpler, effective
approach to assessing environmental impacts.

Page 111

Proposal 15: We intend to amend the National Planning Policy
Framework to ensure that it targets those areas where a reformed
planning system can most effectively play a role in mitigating and
adapting to climate change and maximising environmental benefits.

In doing so, we will want to be clear about the role that local, spatially-specific policies can
continue to play, such as in identifying important views, opportunities to improve public
accommodated. In reviewing the Framework, we will also want to ensure that it provides a
clear and robust basis for development management decisions more generally, so that
reliance no longer needs to be placed on generic policies contained in Local Plans.

Proposal 16: We intend to design a quicker, simpler framework for
assessing environmental impacts and enhancement opportunities,
that speeds up the process while protecting and enhancing the most
valuable and important habitats and species in England.

Planning For The Future | 57

Agenda Item 8

access or places where renewable energy or woodland and forestry creation could be

It is vital that environmental considerations are considered properly as part of the planning and
development process. However, the current frameworks for doing so – which include Strategic
Environmental Assessment, Sustainability Appraisal, and Environmental Impact Assessment –
unnecessary delays. Outside of the European Union, it is also important that we take the
opportunity to strengthen protections that make the biggest difference to species, habitats and
ecosystems of national importance, and that matter the most to local communities.
To succeed, a new system will need to meet several objectives:
• Processes for environmental assessment and mitigation need to be quicker and speed
up decision-making and the delivery of development projects. The environmental aspects
of a plan or project should be considered early in the process, and to clear timescales.

Agenda Item 8

can lead to duplication of effort and overly-long reports which inhibit transparency and add

National and local level data, made available to authorities, communities and applicants
in digital form, should make it easier to re-use and update information and reduce the
need for site-specific surveys.

and consolidated in one place so far as possible, so that the same impacts and opportunities
do not need to be considered twice.
• Any new system will need to ensure that we take advantage of opportunities for environmental
improvements while also meeting our domestic and international obligations for environmental
protection. This will be the subject of a separate and more detailed consultation in the autumn.

Proposal 17: Conserving and enhancing our historic buildings and areas
in the 21st century.
The planning system has played a critical role ensuring the historic buildings and areas we cherish
are conserved and, where appropriate, enhanced by development. The additional statutory
protections of listed building consent and conservation area status have worked well, and the
National Planning Policy Framework already sets out strong protections for heritage assests where
planning permission or listed building consent is needed. We want to build on this framework as
we develop the new planning system. We envisage that Local Plans will clearly identify the location
of internationally, nationally and locally designated heritage assets, such as World Heritage Sites
and conservation areas, as well locally important features such as protected views.

5 8 | Planning For The Future

Page 112

• Requirements for environmental assessment and mitigation need to be simpler to understand

We also want to ensure our historic buildings play a central part in the renewal of our cities,
towns and villages. Many will need to be adapted to changing uses and to respond to new
challenges, such as mitigating and adapting to climate change. We particularly want to see
more historical buildings have the right energy efficiency measures to support our zero
carbon objectives. Key to this will be ensuring the planning consent framework is sufficiently
responsive to sympathetic changes, and timely and informed decisions are made.
We will, therefore, review and update the planning framework for listed buildings and
conservation areas, to ensure their significance is conserved while allowing, where appropriate,
sympathetic changes to support their continued use and address climate change. In doing so,
we want to explore whether there are new and better ways of securing consent for routine
works, to enable local planning authorities to concentrate on conserving and enhancing the
most important historic buildings. This includes exploring whether suitably experienced
architectural specialists can have earned autonomy from routine listed building consents.

Page 113

Proposal 18: To complement our planning reforms, we will facilitate
ambitious improvements in the energy efficiency standards for buildings
to help deliver our world-leading commitment to net-zero by 2050.
The planning system is only one of the tools that we need to use to mitigate and adapt to climate
change. Last year we consulted on our proposals to move towards a Future Homes Standard,
which was a first step towards net zero homes. From 2025, we expect new homes to produce
75-80 per cent lower CO2 emissions compared to current levels. These homes will be ‘zero carbon
ready’, with the ability to become fully zero carbon homes over time as the electricity grid
decarbonises, without the need for further costly retrofitting work.

considered the points they raised. We will respond to the Future Homes Standard consultation in

accountable for the actions that they are taking, and the consultation response will look to clarify

full in the autumn. As part of this, we intend to review the roadmap to the Future Homes Standard

the role that they can play in setting energy efficiency standards for new build developments.

to ensure that implementation takes place to the shortest possible timeline. Our ambition is that
homes built under our new planning system will not need retrofitting in the future. To work towards

We will also want to ensure that high standards for the design, environmental performance and

ensuring that all new homes are fit for a zero carbon future we will also explore options for the

safety of new and refurbished buildings are monitored and enforced. As local authorities are freed

future of energy efficiency standards, beyond 2025.

from many planning obligations through our reforms, they will be able to reassign resources and
focus more fully on enforcement. Ensuring that planning standards and building regulations are

All levels of Government have a role to play in meeting our net zero goal, and Local Authorities are

met, whether for new homes or for retrofitting old homes, will help to ensure that we deliver

rising to this challenge. Local Planning Authorities, as well as central Government, should be

homes that are fit for the future and cheaper to run.
Planning For The Future | 59

Agenda Item 8

We welcome the Committee on Climate Change’s response to the consultation and we have

Overview

successfully. This unevenness is a problem too for local authorities, with significant variation
in skill and negotiation in negotiating viability across authorities.

New development brings with it new demand for public services and infrastructure.
Mitigating these impacts – by securing contributions from developers and capturing more

The Community Infrastructure Levy addresses many of these problems as it is a flat-rate and

land value uplift generated by planning decisions to deliver new infrastructure provision – is

non-negotiable tariff, and developers and local authorities have, in general, welcomed the

key for both new and existing communities. It is also central to our vision for renewal of the

certainty it brings. However, as payment is set at the point planning permission is granted,

planning system.

and payment due once development commences, it is inflexible in the face of changing

At present, there are two broad routes for local planning authorities to secure developer

risk and cost of finance, creating cashflow challenges which are more acute for smaller

contributions, both of which are discretionary for authorities: planning obligations and the

developers. And despite early payment, many local authorities have been slow to spend

Community Infrastructure Levy. Planning obligations – through Section 106 agreements – are

Community Infrastructure Levy revenue on early infrastructure delivery, reflecting factors

negotiated with developers, and in 2018/19 were worth a total of £7bn, of which £4.7bn was

including indecision, competing spending priorities, and uncertainty over other

in the form of affordable housing contributions – supporting delivery of 30,000 affordable

infrastructure funding streams.

homes. In contrast, the Community Infrastructure Levy is a fixed charge, levied on the area
(floorspace) of new development, and secures infrastructure that addresses the cumulative

Securing necessary infrastructure and affordable housing alongside new development is

impact of development in an area. The Community Infrastructure Levy is not mandatory for

central to our vision for the planning system. We want to bring forward reforms to make sure

local planning authorities, and around half of authorities currently charge it. Levy rates are

that developer contributions are:

discretionary, established by assessments of infrastructure need and viability.

•	responsive to local needs, to ensure a fairer contribution from developers for local

There are several problems with this system. Planning obligations are broadly considered to

•	transparent, so it is clear to existing and new residents what new infrastructure will

communities so that the right infrastructure and affordable housing is delivered;
be uncertain and opaque, as they are subject to negotiation and renegotiation based in part
on the developer’s assessment of viability. This creates uncertainty for communities about
the level of affordable housing and infrastructure that development will bring. In turn, this
brings cost, delay and inconsistency into the process. Over 80 per cent of local authorities
agree that such negotiations create delay, despite the planning application being
acceptable in principle.15 This acts as a barrier to entry to the market, and major developers
are better placed to devote the legal and valuation resource needed to negotiate
6 0 | Planning For The Future

accompany development;
•	consistent and simplified, to remove unnecessary delay and support competition in the
housebuilding industry;
•	buoyant, so that when prices go up the benefits are shared fairly between developers and
the local community, and when prices go down there is no need to re-negotiate agreements.

Page 114

market conditions. Payment before a single home has been built increases the developer’s

Agenda Item 8

Pillar Three – Planning for infrastructure and
connected places

The Government could also seek to use developer contributions to capture a greater
proportion of the land value uplift that occurs through the grant of planning permission, and
use this to enhance infrastructure delivery. There are a range of estimates for the amount of
land value uplift currently captured, from 25 to 50 per cent.19 The value captured will
depend on a range of factors including the development value, the existing use value of the
land, and the relevant tax structure – for instance, whether capital gains tax applies to the
land sale. Increasing value capture could be an important source of infrastructure funding
but would need to be balanced against risks to development viability.

Planning For The Future | 61

Agenda Item 8

21. When new development happens in your area, what is your priority
for what comes with it?
[More affordable housing / More or better infrastructure (such as
transport, schools, health provision) / Design of new buildings /
More shops and/or employment space / Green space / Don’t know /
Other – please specify]

Page 115

Question

A CONSOLIDATED INFRASTRUCTURE LEVY

above the threshold, the Levy would only be charged on the proportion of the value that
exceeded the threshold ; and
•	provide greater certainty for communities and developers about what the level of developer
contributions are expected alongside new development.

Agenda Item 8

Proposals

We propose that the existing parallel regimes for securing developer contributions are
replaced with a new, consolidated ‘Infrastructure Levy’.

The single rate, or area-specific rates, would be set nationally. It would aim to increase revenue
levels nationally when compared to the current system. Revenues would continue to be collected
and spent locally.
As a value-based charge across all use classes, we believe it would be both more effective at
capturing increases in value and would be more sensitive to economic downturns. It would
reduce risk for developers, and would reduce cashflow difficulties, particularly for SME developers.

We believe that the current system of planning obligations under Section 106 should
be consolidated under a reformed, extended ‘Infrastructure Levy’.

In areas where land value uplift is insufficient to support significant levels of land value capture,
some or all of the value generated by the development would be below the threshold, and

This would be based upon a flat-rate, valued-based charge, set nationally, at either a single

so not subject to the levy. In higher value areas, a much greater proportion of the development

rate, or at area-specific rates. This would address issues in the current system as it would:

value would be above the exempt amount, and subject to the levy.

•	be charged on the final value of a development (or to an assessment of the sales value

To better support the timely delivery of infrastructure, we would also allow local authorities

where the development is not sold, e.g. for homes built for the rental market), based on

to borrow against Infrastructure Levy revenues so that they could forward fund infrastructure.

the applicable rate at the point planning permission is granted;

Enabling borrowing combined with a shift to levying developer contributions on completion,

•	be levied at point of occupation, with prevention of occupation being a potential sanction
for non-payment;
•	include a value-based minimum threshold below which the levy is not charged, to prevent

would incentivise local authorities to deliver enabling infrastructure, in turn helping to ensure
development can be completed faster. As with all volatile borrowing streams, local authorities
should assure themselves that this borrowing is affordable and suitable.

low viability development becoming unviable, reflecting average build costs per square
metre, with a small, fixed allowance for land costs. Where the value of development is

Under this approach the London Mayoral Community Infrastructure Levy, and similar strategic

below the threshold, no Levy would be charged. Where the value of development is

Community Infrastructure Levies in combined authorities, could be retained as part of the
Infrastructure Levy to support the funding of strategic infrastructure.

6 2 | Planning For The Future

Page 116

Proposal 19: The Community Infrastructure Levy should be reformed
to be charged as a fixed proportion of the development value above
a threshold, with a mandatory nationally-set rate or rates and the
current system of planning obligations abolished.

To better support the timely delivery of infrastructure, we would
also allow local authorities to borrow against Infrastructure Levy
revenues so that they could forward fund infrastructure.
In bringing forward the reformed Infrastructure Levy, we will need to consider its scope. We
will also consider the impact of this change on areas with lower land values.
Alternative option: The Infrastructure Levy could remain optional and would be set by
individual local authorities. However, as planning obligations would be consolidated into the
single Infrastructure Levy, we anticipate that there would be a significantly greater uptake.
The aim of the de minimis threshold would be to remove the viability risk, simplifying the
rate setting process, as this would remove the need for multiple charging zones within an
parameters. There would be a stronger incentive for local authorities to introduce the new
Levy, as they would not be able to use Section 106 planning obligations to secure
infrastructure or affordable housing. In addition, some local authorities have chosen not to
introduce the Community Infrastructure Levy out of concern for the impact on viability of
development. Because the new Infrastructure Levy would only be charged above a set
threshold, these impacts would be mitigated.
This option would address issues around transparency, responsiveness to local needs and
less strong, with decisions about levy rates being taken at the local level.
Alternatively, the national rate approach could be taken, but with the aim of capturing more
land value than currently, to better support the delivery of infrastructure. While developers

22(b). Should the Infrastructure Levy rates be set nationally at a single
rate, set nationally at an area-specific rate,or set locally?
[Nationally at a single rate / Nationally at an area-specific rate / Locally]
22(c). Should the Infrastructure Levy aim to capture the same amount
of value overall, or more value, to support greater investment
in infrastructure, affordable housing and local communities?
[Same amount overall / More value / Less value / Not sure.
Please provide supporting statement.]
22(d). Should we allow local authorities to borrow against the
Infrastructure Levy, to support infrastructure delivery in their area?
[Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting statement.]

would be liable for paying the levy, the cost of this would be capitalised into land value. This
would ensure that the landowners who benefit from increases in value as a result of the
grant of planning permission contribute to the infrastructure and affordable housing that
makes development acceptable.

Planning For The Future | 63

Agenda Item 8

consistency. However, the Government’s levers over levels of land value capture would be

22(a). Should the Government replace the Community Infrastructure
Levy and Section 106 planning obligations with a new
consolidated Infrastructure Levy, which is charged as a fixed
proportion of development value above a set threshold?
[Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting statement.]

Page 117

authority. It would be possible to simplify further – for instance, for the Government to set

Questions

Agenda Item 8

Proposal 21: The reformed Infrastructure Levy should deliver
affordable housing provision
Developer contributions currently deliver around half of all affordable housing, most of

Proposal 20: The scope of the Infrastructure Levy could be extended
to capture changes of use through permitted development rights
In making this change to developer contributions for new development, the scope of the
Infrastructure Levy would be extended to better capture changes of use which require
planning permission, even where there is no additional floorspace, and for some permitted
development rights including office to residential conversions and new demolition and rebuild
permitted development rights. This approach would increase the levy base, and would allow
these developments to better contribute to infrastructure delivery and making development
acceptable to the community. However, we will maintain the exemption of self and custombuild development from the Infrastructure Levy.

on-site affordable housing at least at present levels.
Affordable housing provision is currently secured by local authorities via Section 106, but the
Community Infrastructure Levy cannot be spent on it. With Section 106 planning obligations
removed, we propose that under the Infrastructure Levy, authorities would be able to use
funds raised through the levy to secure affordable housing.
This could be secured through in-kind delivery on-site, which could be made mandatory
where an authority has a requirement, capability and wishes to do so. Local authorities
would have a means to specify the forms and tenures of the on-site provision, working with
a nominated affordable housing provider. Under this approach, a provider of affordable
housing could purchase the dwelling at a discount from market rate, as now. However, rather
than the discount being secured through Section 106 planning obligations, it would instead

Question

be considered as in-kind delivery of the Infrastructure Levy. In effect, the difference between

23. Do you agree that the scope of the reformed Infrastructure Levy
should capture changes of use through permitted development rights?
[Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting statement.]

from the final cash liability to the Levy. This would create an incentive for the developer to

6 4 | Planning For The Future

the price at which the unit was sold to the provider and the market price would be offset
build on-site affordable housing where appropriate.16 First Homes, which are sold by the
developer direct to the customer at a discount to market price, would offset the discount
against the cash liability.

Page 118

which is delivered on-site. It is important that the reformed approach will continue to deliver

Page 119
Agenda Item 8
Planning For The Future | 65

proportion would be set nationally, and the developer would have discretion over which units

and that we would need to mitigate that risk in order to maintain existing levels of on-site

were sold in this way. A threshold would be set for smaller sites, below which on-site delivery

affordable housing delivery. We believe that this risk can be fully addressed through policy

was not required, and cash payment could be made in lieu. Where on-site units were purchased,

design. In particular, in the event of a market fall, we could allow local planning authorities

these could be used for affordable housing, or sold on (or back to the developer) to raise

to ‘flip’ a proportion of units back to market units which the developer can sell, if Levy

money to purchase affordable housing elsewhere. The local authority could use Infrastructure

liabilities are insufficient to cover the value secured through in-kind contributions. Alternatively,

Levy funds, or other funds, in order to purchase units.

Agenda Item 8

Under this approach we recognise that some risk is transferring to the local planning authority,

we could require that if the value secured through in-kind units is greater than the final levy
provide standardised agreements, to codify how risk sharing would work in this way.
We would also need to ensure the developer was incentivised to deliver high build and
design quality for their in-kind affordable homes. Currently, if Section 106 homes are not
of sufficient quality, developers may be unable to sell it to a provider, or have to reduce the
price. To ensure developers are not rewarded for low-standard homes under the Levy, local
authorities could have an option to revert back to cash contributions if no provider was
willing to buy the homes due to their poor quality. It is important that any approach taken
maintains the quality of affordable housing provision as well as overarching volumes, and
incentivises early engagement between providers of affordable housing and developers.
Local authorities could also accept Infrastructure Levy payments in the form of land within or
adjacent to a site. Through borrowing against further Infrastructure Levy receipts, other
sources of funding, or in partnership with affordable housing providers, they could then
build affordable homes, enabling delivery at pace.
Alternative option: We could seek to introduce further requirements around the delivery
of affordable housing. To do this we would create a ‘first refusal’ right for local authorities or
any affordable housing provider acting on their behalf to buy up to a set proportion of on-site
units (on a square metre basis) at a discounted price, broadly equivalent to build costs. The
6 6 | Planning For The Future

Questions
24(a). Do you agree that we should aim to secure at least the same
amount of affordable housing under the Infrastructure Levy,
and as much on-site affordable provision, as at present?
[Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting statement.]
24(b). Should affordable housing be secured as in-kind payment towards
the Infrastructure Levy, or as a ‘right to purchase’ at discounted
rates for local authorities?
[Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting statement.]
24(c). If an in-kind delivery approach is taken, should we mitigate
against local authority overpayment risk?
[Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting statement.]
24(d). If an in-kind delivery approach is taken, are there additional steps
that would need to be taken to support affordable housing quality?
[Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting statement.]

Page 120

liability, then the developer has no right to reclaim overpayments. Government could

Proposal 22: More freedom could be given to local authorities over
how they spend the Infrastructure Levy
It is important that there is a strong link between where development occurs and where
funding is spent. Currently, the Neighbourhood Share of the Community Infrastructure Levy
ensures that up to 25 per cent of the levy is spent on priorities in the area that development
occurred, with funding transferred to parish councils in parished areas. There are fewer
restrictions on how this funding is spent, and we believe it provides an important incentive

25. Should local authorities have fewer restrictions over how they spend
the Infrastructure Levy?
[Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting statement.]
25(a).If yes, should an affordable housing ‘ring-fence’ be developed?
[Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting statement.]

this approach the Neighbourhood Share would be kept, and we would be interested in ways
to enhance community engagement around how these funds are used, with scope for digital
innovation to promote engagement.
There is scope for even more flexibility around spending. We could also increase local
authority flexibility, allowing them to spend receipts on their policy priorities, once core
infrastructure obligations have been met. In addition to the provision of local infrastructure,
including parks, open spaces, street trees and delivery or enhancement of community
affordable housing and infrastructure may vary depending on a local authority’s
circumstances, but under this approach it may be necessary to consider ring-fencing a
certain amount of Levy funding for affordable housing to ensure that affordable housing
continues to be delivered on-site at current levels (or higher).There would also be
opportunities to enhance digital engagement with communities as part of decision making
around spending priorities. Alternatively, the permitted uses of the Levy could remain
focused on infrastructure and affordable housing, as they are broadly are at present. Local
authorities would continue to identify the right balance between these to meet local needs,
as they do at present.
Planning For The Future | 67

Agenda Item 8

facilities, this could include improving services or reducing council tax. The balance of

It is important that there is a strong link
between where development occurs and
where funding is spent.

Page 121

to local communities to allow development in their area. We therefore propose that under

Questions

Delivering change

It is important that in bringing forward reform to improve the operation of the planning

•	securing of First Homes, sold at a discount to market price for first time buyers, including
key workers, through developer contributions in the short term until the transition
to a new system;

system, we do not cause delays to development that is currently planned.

•	temporarily lifting the small sites threshold, below which developers do not need

Subject to responses to this consultation, we will consider the arrangements for implementing

•	extending the current Permission in Principle to major development so landowners and

Agenda Item 8

How we move into the new system

to contribute to affordable housing, to up to 40 or 50 units;
developers now have a fast route to secure the principle of development for housing

ensure a smooth transition. This includes making sure that recently approved plans, existing

on sites without having to work up detailed plans first;

permissions and any associated planning obligations can continue to be implemented as
intended; and that there are clear transitional arrangements for bringing forward new plans

This consultation document can be found at:

and development proposals as the new system begins to be implemented.

www.gov.uk/government/consultations/changes-to-the-current-planning-system .

Nevertheless, we do want to make rapid progress toward this new planning system. We are

To provide better information to local communities, to promote competition amongst

already introducing a new Use Class Order, with associated permitted development rights,

developers, and to assist SMEs and new entrants to the sector, we will consult on options

to make easier for businesses to change use without the need for planning permission to

for improving the data held on contractual arrangements used to control land. This can be

support our high streets and town centres bounce back following the COVID-19 pandemic.

found at: www.gov.uk/government/consultations/transparency-and-competition-a-call-for-

We have also created new permitted development rights to enable more new homes to be

evidence-on-data-on-land-control .

built on top of buildings and the demolition and rebuild of vacant buildings for housing,
without the need for usual planning permission.

Public assets and investment

Today, we are also publishing a consultation on four shorter-term measures which will

As we fix our planning system, we also want to make better use of surplus land owned by

improve the immediate effectiveness of the current system:

the public sector, and to level up public investment in development to support renewal

•	changes to the standard method for assessing local housing need, which as well as being

of towns and cities across the country, giving power to communities to shape its future use

a proposal to change guidance in the short term has relevance to proposals for land

and bringing investment to places across the country. We will do this by:

supply reforms set out in this paper;
•	Ensuring investment in new public buildings supports renewal and regeneration of town
and city centres across the country. The Government Estate Strategy (GES), which was
6 8 | Planning For The Future

Page 122

these changes to minimise disruption to existing plans and development proposals and

published in 2018, sets out how we will use the estate as an enabler to deliver better

enable more flexible development corporation models that can drive housing, regeneration

outcomes for the public, across all four nations of the UK. As part of this, the Government

and employment. We are currently considering responses to the consultation and will

Hubs programme aims to transform the Government’s office estate by accommodating

respond to it shortly.

departmental workforces in shared regional hubs and supporting office estate – creating
strategic hubs across the UK in major city centre conurbations and in secondary towns and
cities. We will continue to look at how the Government can ensure investment in its estate
delivers wider benefits for places across the country.

Page 123

•	Exploring how disposal of publicly-owned land can support the SME and self-build sectors.
As announced by the Prime Minister last month in ‘A New Deal for Britain’, the Government
will produce a new cross-government strategy on how land owned by the Government can
be managed and released more effectively and put to better use. As part of this review,
we will explore how we can support SME housebuilders, community land trusts and
self-builders to identify public land opportunities.

Supporting innovation in delivery

Agenda Item 8

As we bring forward planning reform, we also want to ensure we have in place the right
delivery mechanisms, including development corporations. A good example that we are
already progressing is development at Toton in the East Midlands, where we have
announced our intention to support the establishment of a development corporation to
maximise the area’s international links and create tens of thousands of new homes and jobs.
We want to see more schemes of this kind, backed by modern delivery models, around
the country.
That is why we consulted at the end of last year on changes to the legislative framework for
development corporations. This includes exploring whether we need to make changes to
Planning For The Future | 69

departments operate. They need to be more outward looking, proactively engaging with

Local planning authorities remain at the heart of our ambitious reforms. We want to free up

local communities.

developers, businesses, architects and designers, as well as a wider cross-section of their

Agenda Item 8

Making sure the system has the right people and skills

planners to focus on what they were trained for – creating great communities through world-class
civic engagement and proactive plan-making,rather than reactive development management.

In particular, we envisage the focus of local planning authorities shifting towards the
development of clear Local Plans and high-quality design codes which set the parameters
for development – rather than making discretionary decisions based on vague policies.

as well as the necessary resources, to implement these reforms successfully. Many local authorities

In doing so, there is a real opportunity for planners to redesign their individual roles and

are delivering great services, and through the COVID-19 pandemic have been able to transform

change perceptions of their profession. We will consider how best to support the planning

the way they work to a more digital and modern service. We look forward to seeing evaluations

profession in making this adjustment, in a way which supports culture change, improves

and lessons learned so that we can use this as a catalyst for modernisation of our planning services.

recruitment and changes perceptions of planning.

But we know that local authority planning departments are under great pressure – with spending

In addition, other key players, including the Planning Inspectorate and statutory consultees,

per person on planning and development down 60 per cent and shortages of specialist skills

will have to transform the way they operate in response to these reforms, given their critical

such as design and ecology. And the technology in local planning authorities to support

role supporting the preparation of Local Plans and decision-making. They too will need

modern services is not there – whilst PropTech firms are developing new apps and other digital

to be more responsive and outward looking, and have the necessary skills and resources

services that enable communities to engage with development in new ways, in few places can

to undertake their new roles.

17

this be captured by the local authority. Instead, documents are submitted electronically, but not
in the way of modern digital services such as those now supporting tax services.

We understand why many participants – not just local authorities, but statutory consultees and
the Planning Inspectorate – are risk averse. Judicial review is expensive, and to lose a judicial

The preparation of reformed Local Plans, development of new design codes, a major overhaul

review in the courts is bad for the reputation of either. And judicial reviews can be precedent

of development contributions, and a new streamlined approach to decision-making will have

setting, establishing a new interpretation of the law. We think the proposals set out in the

profound implications for how local planning authorities operate in future. They will need to

document should remove the risk of judicial review substantially. Most judicial reviews are

have sufficient leadership, a strong cadre of professional planners and good access to

about imprecise and unclearly worded policies or law. Our plans for an overhaul of planning

technical expertise, as well as transformed systems which utilise the latest digital technology.

law to create simple and clear processes and for plans that set out clear requirements and

But equally importantly, there must be a fundamental cultural change on how planning

standards will substantially remove the scope for ambiguity and therefore challenge.

7 0 | Planning For The Future

Page 124

We recognise that local planning departments need to have the right people with the right skills,

The cost of operating the new planning system should beprincipally
funded by the beneficiaries of planning gain – landowners and
developers – rather than the national or local taxpayer.
Proposal 23: As we develop our final proposals for this new planning
system, we will develop a comprehensive resources and skills strategy
for the planning sector to support the implementation of our reforms.
In doing so, we propose this strategy will be developed including the
following key elements:

Some local planning activities should still be funded through general taxation given the

The cost of operating the new planning system should be principally funded by the beneficiaries

continuous improvement across all planning functions from Local Plans to decision-making and

of planning gain – landowners and developers – rather than the national or local taxpayer.

enforcement – and enables early intervention if problems emerge with individual authorities.

public benefits from good planning, and time limited funding will be made available by
the Government in line with the new burdens principle to support local planning authorities
to transition to the new planning system as part of the next Spending Review.
Local planning authorities should be subject to a new performance framework which ensures

a large extent covered by planning fees, although the current fee structure means the cost

The Planning Inspectorate and statutory consultees should become more self-financing

of processing some applications can be significantly greater than their individual fee. However,

through new charging mechanisms and be subject to new performance targets to improve

the cost of preparing Local Plans and enforcement activities is now largely funded from the local

their performance.

planning authority’s own resources.
Workforce planning and skills development, including training, should be principally for the local
Planning fees should continue to be set on a national basis and cover at least the full cost of

government sector to lead on, working closely with Government, statutory consultees, planning

processing the application type based on clear national benchmarking. This should involve the

consultancies and universities.

Page 125

Currently, the cost of development management activities by local planning authorities is to

greater regulation of discretionary pre-application charging to ensure it is fair and proportionate.
If a new approach to development contributions is implemented, a small proportion of the

and capacity across the planning sector to support high-quality new digital Local Plans and

income should be earmarked to local planning authorities to cover their overall planning costs,

digitally enabled decision-making. We think the English planning profession has the potential

including the preparation and review of Local Plans and design codes and enforcement activities.

to become an international world-leader in digital planning, capable of exporting world class
planning services around the world.

Reform should be accompanied by a deep dive regulatory review to identify and eliminate
outdated regulations which increase costs for local planning authorities, especially to the
decision-making process.

Planning For The Future | 71

Agenda Item 8

Reform should be accompanied by a significant enhancement in digital and geospatial capability

Agenda Item 8

In developing this strategy, we recognise different local planning authorities face different
pressures and issues, and it will be important to develop a resourcing and skills framework
which works for all authorities across the country. We will work with local planning
authorities, professional bodies and the wider planning sector to ensure views about
implementation are considered. We would particularly want to see innovative solutions
which can transform practice

Stuart Walker Photography

that underpins the planning system so that it is open, we want to enable the PropTech
sector to transform housing, land, and planning industries with innovative products that are
interoperable with others. This will make use of process improvement insights and data to
offer services for many different clients, including for improved public consultation
opportunities for citizens and developers to identify sites on which to build, helping to
reduce investment risks. We will continue to engage with the innovators and the UK
PropTech sector through a Minister-led PropTech Innovation Council (announced in
November 2019) to make the most of innovative new approaches to meet public policy
objectives, help this emerging sector to boost productivity in the wider planning and
housing sectors, and ensure government data and decisions support the sector’s growth in
the UK and internationally.

Stronger enforcement
As part of the implementation of our planning reforms, we want to see local planning authorities
place more emphasis on the enforcement of planning standards and decisions. Planning
enforcement activity is too often seen as the ‘Cinderella’ function of local planning services.
But local communities want new development to meet required design and environmental
standards, and robust enforcement action to be taken if planning rules are broken. As local
7 2 | Planning For The Future

planning authorities are freed from many planning requirements through our reforms, they will
be able to focus more on enforcement across the planning system.

Proposal 24: We will seek to strengthen enforcement powers
and sanctions
We will review and strengthen the existing planning enforcement powers and sanctions available
to local planning authorities to ensure they support the new planning system. We will introduce
more powers to address intentional unauthorised development, consider higher fines, and look
to ways of supporting more enforcement activity.
This will include implementing our commitments from the Government’s response to the
consultation on unauthorised development and encampments, to strengthen national
planning policy against intentional unauthorised development and ensure temporary stop
notices are more effective. And will also consider what more can be done in cases where the
Environment Agency’s flood risk advice on planning applications is not followed.

Page 126

At the same time, we also want to enable a thriving PropTech sector. By unlocking the data

We will seek to strengthen enforcement
powers and sanctions

Page 127
Agenda Item 8

What happens next
and traditional models of community engagement discourages people from having their say

The proposals in this paper apply to England only. Planning is devolved in Scotland, Wales

from a narrow set of demographic groups – typically older, better off and white. We believe

and Northern Ireland.

that the voices of those who may benefit most from new development are therefore often

on decisions. At the same time, it disproportionately encourages engagement from people

Agenda Item 8

Implementing reform

the quietest in the planning process.
Subject to the outcome of this consultation, we will seek to bring forward legislation and
We are committed to delivering wider engagement in planning, increasing the supply

of a reformed planning system. We have not comprehensively covered every aspect of the

of land for development, and supporting inclusive and mixed communities. Some authorities

system, and the detail of the proposals will need further development pending the outcome

and developers are pioneering new models of engagement that broaden this to different

of this consultation. We will continue to develop the proposals as we gather feedback and

groups. We hope that the reforms set out in this consultation – to make the system more

views on them.

accessible, accountable, digital and transparent – will increase access and engagement
for all groups up and down the country.

Our proposals for Local Plan reform, changes to developer contributions and development
management would require primary legislation followed by secondary legislation. The proposals

We would welcome views on the potential impact on the proposals raised in this

allow 30 months for new Local Plans to be in place so a new planning framework, so we would

consultation on people with protected characteristics and whether further reforms

expect new Local Plans to be in place by the end of the Parliament.

could broaden access to planning for people in diverse groups.

We would implement any policy changes, including to set a new housing requirement,
by updating the National Planning Policy Framework in line with the new legislation.

Responding to this consultation
EQUALITIES IMPACTS
We want all communities, families, groups and individuals to have a say in the future of the
places where they live. For too long, planning and planning decisions have felt out of reach
from too many people. The Government has heard how the combination of technical jargon
7 4 | Planning For The Future

Question
26. Do you have any views on the potential impact of the proposals
raised in this consultation on people with protected characteristics
as defined in section 149 of the Equality Act 2010?

Page 128

policy changes to implement our reforms. This consultation sets out our vision for the basis

Page 129
Agenda Item 8
Planning For The Future | 75

About this consultation
Individual responses will not be acknowledged unless specifically requested.

Consultation Principles issued by the Cabinet Office.
Your opinions are valuable to us. Thank you for taking the time to read this document and respond.
Representative groups are asked to give a summary of the people and organisations they
represent, and where relevant who else they have consulted in reaching their conclusions

Are you satisfied that this consultation has followed the Consultation Principles? If not or you

when they respond.

have any other observations about how we can improve the process please contact us via

Agenda Item 8

This consultation document and consultation process have been planned to adhere to the

the complaints procedure.
published or disclosed in accordance with the access to information regimes (these are
primarily the Freedom of Information Act 2000 (FOIA), the Data Protection Act 2018 (DPA),
the General Data Protection Regulation, and the Environmental Information Regulations 2004.
If you want the information that you provide to be treated as confidential, please be aware
that, as a public authority, the Department is bound by the Freedom of Information Act and
may therefore be obliged to disclose all or some of the information you provide. In view of
this it would be helpful if you could explain to us why you regard the information you have
provided as confidential. If we receive a request for disclosure of the information we will take
full account of your explanation, but we cannot give an assurance that confidentiality can be
maintained in all circumstances. An automatic confidentiality disclaimer generated by your
IT system will not, of itself, be regarded as binding on the Department.
The Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government will process your personal
data in accordance with the law and in the majority of circumstances this will mean that your
personal data will not be disclosed to third parties. A full privacy notice is included at Annex A.

7 6 | Planning For The Future

Page 130

Information provided in response to this consultation, including personal data, may be

Page 131

Agenda Item 8

Annex A
4. With whom we will be sharing your personal data

under the data protection legislation.

We will not share your personal data with organisations outside of MHCLG without
contacting you for your permission first.

These rights apply to your personal data (your name address and anything that could be used
to identify you personally) not the content of your response to the consultation.

5. For how long we will keep your personal data, or criteria used to determine the
retention period.

Your personal data will be held for two years from the closure of the consultation.

The Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) is the data controller.
The Data Protection Officer can be contacted at dataprotection@communities.gsi.gov.uk

6. Your rights, e.g. access, rectification, erasure
The data we are collecting is your personal data, and you have considerable say over what

2. Why we are collecting your personal data

happens to it. You have the right:

Your personal data is being collected as an essential part of the consultation process, so that

a. to see what data we have about you

we can contact you regarding your response and for statistical purposes. We may also use it

b. to ask us to stop using your data, but keep it on record

to contact you about related matters.

c. to ask to have all or some of your data deleted or corrected
d. to lodge a complaint with the independent Information Commissioner (ICO) if you think

3. Our legal basis for processing your personal data

we are not handling your data fairly or in accordance with the law. You can contact the ICO

Article 6(1)(e) of the General Data Protection Regulation 2016 (GPDR) provides that

at https://ico.org.uk/, or telephone 0303 123 1113.

processing shall be lawful if processing is necessary for the performance of a task carried out
in the public interest or in the exercise of official authority vested in the controller. Section

7. Storage of your personal data

8(d) of the Data Protection Act 2018 further provides that this shall include processing of

The Data you provide directly will be stored by MHCLG’s appointed third-party on their

personal data that is necessary for the exercise of a function of the Crown, a Minister of the

servers. We have taken all necessary precautions to ensure that your rights in terms of data

Crown or a government department.

protection will not be compromised by this.

The processing is necessary for the performance of a task carried out in the public interest or

If you submit information to this consultation using our third-party survey provider, it will be moved

in the exercise of official authority vested in the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local

to our secure government IT systems at a date following the consultation publication date.

Government. The task is consulting on departmental policies or proposals or obtaining
opinion data in order to develop good effective government policies in relation to’ planning.
7 8 | Planning For The Future

8. Your personal data will not be used for any automated decision making.

Page 132

1. The identity of the data controller and contact details of our Data Protection Officer

Agenda Item 8

The following is to explain your rights and give you the information you are be entitled to

Page 133
Agenda Item 8
Planning For The Future | 79

Footnotes

2 The EU Compendium of Spatial Planning Systems and Policies, European Commission (1997);OECD (2017), Land-use
Planning Systems in the OECD: Country Fact Sheets;Monk, S., Whitehead, C., Burgess, G. & Tang, C. (2013)
International review of land supply and planning systems, Joseph Rowntree Foundation.
3 MHCLG data, period covering 24 months to end March 2019.

5 See the LGA’s open statement on planning at https://www.local.gov.uk/keep-planning-local.
6 MHCLG (2019) The Value and Incidence of Developer Contributions in England 2018/19 available at: https://gov.uk/
government/publications/section-106-planning-obligations-and-the-community-infrastructure-levy-in-england-2018-to2019-report-of-study
7 MHCLG data on housing supply available at https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/housing-supply-net-additionaldwellings-england-2018-to-2019.
8 Data from the Deloitte Property Index, available at https://www2.deloitte.com/content/dam/Deloitte/cz/Documents/
survey/Property_Index_2016_EN.pdf
9 Building Better Building Beautiful Commission (2019) Creating space for beauty: Interim report. Available at:
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/815493/
BBBBC_Commission_Interim_Report.pdf
10 See https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/875032/
Planning_Application_Statistics_October_to_December_2019.pdf (p.3).
11 See Policy Exchange (2020) “A planning system for the 20th century”, available at: https://policyexchange.org.uk/
publication/rethinking-the-planning-system-for-the-21st-century/ Centre for Cities (2020) “Planning for the future”,
available at: https://www.centreforcities.org/publication/planning-for-the-future/; Building Better Building Beautiful
Commission (2020) “Living with beauty: promoting health, well-being and sustainable growth”, available at: https://
www.gov.uk/government/publications/living-with-beauty-report-of-the-building-better-building-beautiful-commission;
Create Streets (2018) “From NIMBY to YIMBY”, and (2018) “More Good Homes”.

8 0 | Planning For The Future

13 Our plan for cycling and walking is available at https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/cycling-andwalking-plan-for-england.
14 To give your views on the England Tree Strategy, please visit https://consult.defra.gov.uk/forestry/england-treestrategy/.
15 MHCLG (2019) The Value and Incidence of Developer Contributions in England 2018/19
16 As above, a Section 106 planning obligation could still be used to secure a covenant on the land, where
necessary. However, the value would be captured through the Infrastructure Levy, rather than Section 106.
17 Institute for Fiscal Studies (2019) “English local government funding: trends and challenges in 2019 and
beyond”, https://www.ifs.org.uk/uploads/English-local-government-funding-trends-and-challenges-in-2019and-beyond-IFS-Report-166.pdf
18 For more information see https://www.commonplace.is/
19 Estimates provided to the Housing, Communities and Local Government Select Committee Inquiry into Land
Value Capture: https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201719/cmselect/cmcomloc/766/766.pdf

Page 134

4 YouGov polling commissioned by Grosvenor (2019) – available at https://www.grosvenor.com/Grosvenor/files/a2/
a222517e-e270-4a5c-ab9f-7a7b4d99b1f3.pdf. An overview of wider evidence and studies on public attitudes to
planning and development is available in chapter 9 of the Building Better Building Beautiful Commission’s interim
report –available at https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/
file/815495/BBBB_Commission_Interim_Report_Appendices.pdf.

12 RTPI (2020) “Plan the world we need: The contribution of planning to a sustainable, resilient and inclusive
recovery”, available at: https://www.rtpi.org.uk/research/2020/june/plan-the-world-we-need/.

Agenda Item 8

1 The shortage of affordable homes in and close to the most productive urban centres is a major drag on national
productivity – see PwC (2019) “UK Housing market outlook”, available at https://www.pwc.co.uk/economic-services/
ukeo/ukeo-housing-market-july-2019.pdf.

Page 135

Agenda Item 8

Image Credits
Credit

Page

Image

Credit

Front cover

Tregunnel Hill

ADAM Architecture

51

Milford

HTA Design

3

Timekeepers Square

Buttress Architects, English Cities Fund, HDA Winner

53

Roussillon Park, Chichester

Designed Ben Pentreath Ltd

11

Rochester Riverside, Chatham

BPTW for Countryside, HDA winner

61

South Gardens, Elephant and Castle

Maccreanor Lavington for Lend Lease, HDA winner

14

Peverell Avenue in Poundbury

Andrew Cameron & Associates

65

Foreman Manor

Aspen Homes

17

Timekeepers Square

Buttress Architects, English Cities Fund, HDA Winner

69

Listers Pods, Lister Mills, Bradford

Urban Splash

18

South Gardens, Elephant and Castle

Maccreanor Lavington for Lend Lease, HDA winner

72

Stuart Walker Photography

19

East Float, Wirral Waters

House by Urban Splash & Peel L&P

Community engagement,
St Cuthbert’s Garden Village

23

Community engagement,
St Cuthbert’s Garden Village

Stuart Walker Photography

73

Nansledan

ADAM Architecture

24

Wapping Wharf Phase I, Bristol

Alec French Architects

77

75

Robert Kwolek

81

27

Wapping Wharf Phase I, Bristol

Alec French Architects

Rear cover

28

Fountains Close

Richmond Housing Partnership

31

Cecil Square

ADAM Architecture

38

Community engagement

HTA Design

39

Community engagement

HTA Design

40

Community engagement

HTA Design

42

Community engagement

HTA Design

43

Inholm site plan, Inholm,
Northstowe, Cambs

Proctor and Matthews, Homes England, HDA winner

44

Roussillon Park, Chichester

Designed Ben Pentreath Ltd

46

AVRO Manchester

Urban Splash

47

Cane Hill

HTA Design

48

Park Hill, Sheffield

Urban Splash & Places for People

49

Tregunnel Hill

ADAM Architects

50

Great Kneighton

Countryside Properties

25

8 2 | Planning For The Future

Robert Kwolek
Piece Hall

Piece Hall
PRP Architects

Campbell Park, Milton Keynes

Urban Splash & Places for People

Page 136

Image

Agenda Item 8

Page

Page 137
Agenda Item 8
Planning For The Future | 83

Agenda Item 8

© Crown copyright, 2020

You may re-use this information (not including logos) free of charge in any format or
medium, under the terms of the Open Government Licence. To view this licence visit
http://www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence/version/3/
This document/publication is also available on our website at www.gov.uk/mhclg
If you have any enquiries regarding this document/publication, complete the form
at http://forms.communities.gov.uk/ or write to us at:
Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government
Fry Building
2 Marsham Street
London
SW1P 4DF
Telephone: 030 3444 0000
For all our latest news and updates follow us on Twitter: https://twitter.com/mhclg
August 2020

Page 138

Copyright in the typographical arrangement rests with the Crown.

Appendix B

DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL, OCTOBER 2020 – FORMAL RESPONSE TO ‘PLANNING FOR THE FUTURE’ CONSULTATION

Question

Response

Pillar 1 - Planning for Development
Flexible, democratic, plan-led.
Dartford BC is the Local Planning Authority, yes.
N/A
N/A

1. More/ better infrastructure, to support the large scale of housing that has already been delivered
2. Supporting the local economy
3. Building homes that local people of all ages and circumstances can access – that is, a range of tenure types to
suit different needs

Proposal 1: The role of land use plans should be simplified. We propose that Local Plans should identify three types of land –
Growth areas suitable for substantial development, Renewal areas suitable for development, and areas that are Protected.

Agenda Item 8

A NEW APPROACH TO PLAN-MAKING

Page 139

1. What three words do you associate most
with the planning system in England?
2. Do you get involved with planning decisions
in your local area?
2(a). If no, why not?
3. Our proposals will make it much easier to
access plans and contribute your views to
planning decisions. How would you like to find
out about plans and planning proposals in the
future?[Social media / Online news /
Newspaper / By post / Other – please specify]
4. What are your top three priorities for
planning in your local area?
[Building homes for young people / building
homes for the homeless / Protection of green
spaces / The environment, biodiversity and
action on climate change / Increasing the
affordability of housing / The design of new
homes and places / Supporting the high street /
Supporting the local economy / More or better
local infrastructure / Protection of existing
heritage buildings or areas / Other – please
specify]

Appendix B

Page 140

No.
It is accepted that the current local plan process has become too complicated and sometimes takes too long to
carry out. This has not been helped by constant changes to the system over the past 15 years. Local Plan
processes can be simplified (as we set out under later questions) however it is not clear that the land classification
approach will be effective.
A major mandatory change in approach is unlikely to offer shorter terms benefits of simplification. Moreover it
is clear that the classifications are expected to lead to even more ‘routes to consent’ for developers i.e types of
planning applications, all in addition to the existing ones which have grown substantially in recent years. This
means even more complexity and legal provisions and procedures which the public will find hard to understand.
For local planning authorities the operation of the system at the planning application stage will be more complex
and will provide for less self-funding than the current system.
There are specific concerns over how the classifications would operate in practice. Each of the three areas would
require considerable work and resources in order to define character sub-areas within them, in order to develop
acceptable uses, the parameters for development etc in each of them. Additional specialised resource to
develop specific masterplans, design codes and guidelines.
Identifying all land in one of these three categories will in some circumstances become very complicated.
Including all land in categories is unlikely to be flexible; and there is particular concern over places such as urban
Conservation Areas, or historic town centres more widely, which may contain a complex mosaic of places that
will include buildings for preservation, but are otherwise naturally sustainable locations for development. Can
these be both for Protection and for Growth/Renewal? It is also unclear how the process will ensure that
needs for all types of development are met. The consultation focuses mainly on meeting housing needs, with
little mention of other types of development.
Even without any detail of how the approach would operate, it is apparent that the system would generate new
complexities, such as disagreements over whether or not a proposal complied with the provisions of the land
classification for the site – resulting in confusion and disputes later in the process. The period of transition to
the new system will introduce uncertainty which might delay and potentially undermine investment decisions.
Research by the RTPI suggest that a move away from discretionary planning towards systems found in other parts
of the world result in the need for frequent changes, which the Council considers does not provide the relative
simplicity and clarity of time sought by both developers and local communities. There must be a clear system/
juncture for simple partial reviews.

Agenda Item 8

5. Do you agree that Local Plans should be
simplified in line with our proposals?
[Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting
statement.]

Appendix B

Proposal 2: Development management policies established at national scale and an altered role for Local Plans.
6. Do you agree with our proposals for
streamlining the development management
content of Local Plans, and setting out general
development management policies nationally?
[Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting
statement.]

With regard to the aspiration that all development management policies and code requirements are machine
readable, the Council supports this principle but is concerned about the level of skilled resource that will be
required upfront to achieve this and the subsequent costs to the local authority.

Agenda Item 8

The Council would encourage the government to be decisive and ambitious in setting out more technical
construction standards on a mandatory basis through Building Control standards. It should move forward from
having nationally described technical standards that do not apply in some areas. This would assist in reducing the
need for local policy coverage of essentially technical construction matters that do not vary considerably locally
eg minimum space policy or e-vehicle charging provisions. This is obvious and effective streamlining and
simplification of regulation. It can occur alongside Design Code SPDs to reduce DM content in Local Plans.

Page 141

The Council agree that some broad high level development management policies could be set out at high level,
such as regard to heritage assets, safe and accessible design etc. Change, including potentially through the
alternative options, should be appropriately explored.
Repetition of national policy locally should not occur, however there is a need for complementary policies in
Local Plans for some topics not fully addressed in the NPPF where clarity is needed. For example in Dartford there
is need to set out the approach for safe and sustainable development, in the context where much of the land in
the urban area marketed for redevelopment is contaminated gassing landfill; and where it is logical when
Dartford has a good housing land supply on non-contaminated sites for these to be given preference in the short
and medium term. The Council also consider that technical requirements could be taken out of planning policy
and should be assessed through Building Regulations.
Dartford is proud its 2017 Development Management Plan is short and focussed, with all non-strategic provisions
picked up in just 25 policies. However, the level of policy in this respect could still be reduced further.
The Council are concerned that should the range of local issues across the country that need to be covered are
scaled up to a national level, this is likely to result in lengthy and unworkable national policy. Alternatively, the
risk is that a streamlined national policy fails to address local issues and low quality and possible unsafe
development occurs across the country.

Appendix B

7(a). Do you agree with our proposals to replace
existing legal and policy tests for Local Plans
with a consolidated test of “sustainable
development”, which would include
consideration of environmental impact?
[Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting
statement.]

Proposal 4: A standard method for establishing housing requirement figures which ensures enough land is released in the
areas where affordability is worst, to stop land supply being a barrier to enough homes being built. The housing requirement
would factor in land constraints and opportunities to more effectively use land, including through densification where
appropriate, to ensure that the land is identified in the most appropriate areas and housing targets are met.
8(a). Do you agree that a standard method for
establishing housing requirements (that takes
into account constraints) should be introduced?

The Council fundamentally disagrees with a standard approach which is based on affordability of an area. The
Council has demonstrated in its response to the consultation on Changes to the Current Planning System that at
the local authority level, there is no relationship between the delivery of homes and affordability. In Dartford

Page 142

7(b). How could strategic, cross-boundary
issues be best planned for in the absence of a
formal Duty to Cooperate?

Yes. The tests of soundness need streamlining, and in principle it is agreed the ultimate test of planning is
achieving sustainable development. However it is noted that there is no clear approach outlined to what the test
would actually be. The Sustainability Appraisal seeks to make this assessment, however it is agreed that
simplification and standardisation could be increased with clear guidance. Further consultation should take place
on the more detailed proposals for the new test.
The Council considers it useful that a proportionate but genuine consideration is given to alternative strategies
for achieving local sustainable development is beneficial in the evolution of Local Plans, for instance consulting
with the public on alternative development distribution options; i.e. options assessment should be retained.
The alternative approach outlined is not considered mutually exclusive – it essential for sustainable development
that plans are freed from the burden of focusing heavily on “deliverability”. As Plans are longer-term strategies
for change, and are intended to tackle and unlock current constraints, an undue focus on current developer
positions and profitability is fundamentally unhelpful. “Pie in the sky” unduly aspirational/unrealistic Plans should
not be supported; the test should be achievement on the balance of probabilities within the Plan period and
under the sustained influence of plan policies, not the narrow focus of proving current “deliverability”.
The removal of the time-consuming, legalistic, inherently and highly bureaucratic, ineffective, opaque and
counter-productive Duty to Cooperate would be welcome.
An alternative approach would be based around streamlined, bottom-up, cross boundary (at least at the subregional scale or greater) output-focussed requirements, with guidelines allowing planning officers to come
together and concentrate on taking forward key sizeable development and infrastructure matters. . The MHCLG
has already requested progress across different regions in order to take forward the London Plan and should
provide additional resource and clear guidance in this respect.

Agenda Item 8

Proposal 3: Local Plans should be subject to a single statutory “sustainable development” test, replacing the existing tests of
soundness.

Appendix B
[Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting
statement.]

Council’s case, house price increase have been the highest in Kent despite also having one of the highest delivery
rates in the country as a proportion of households (2.3% per annum, as compared to a national average of 1.2%)
The alternative approach recognising opportunities and constraints is preferable given its local focus. For
sustainable development to be planned for sensitively, housing needs should be identified discussed and tested/
agreed locally, but with appropriate national co-ordination and oversight. It should be based on locally sourced
evidence of not just housing need, but all needs within a local authority area including, but not limited to,
infrastructure, jobs and open space.
It is proposed that 1.25% of the existing housing stock is an appropriate figure to be applied, not as a baseline to
which further affordability factors are added, but as a final figure. This will achieve the government’s objective
by resulting in a total figure of around 330,000 homes a year. As proposed in the White Paper (para 2.25), this
standard method of distribution should then be locally adjusted taking into account the constraints and
opportunities in an area.

Covered above

Agenda Item 8

8(b). Do you agree that affordability and the
extent of existing urban areas are appropriate
indicators of the quantity of development to be
accommodated?

Aside from these principles, there is concern that the factors indicated in paragraph 2.25 are not exhaustive, and
some that are included as misguided. There is no clear justification, for example, for adding in an extra ‘buffer’
due to market reasons such as the failure of the market to translate permissions to completions or a nominal
“choice” factor. The Council is particularly concerned that whilst it is recognised there could be “allowance” for
non-residential development, this is given cursory recognition and it fails to cite the obvious example of the
transport, community and green infrastructure necessary alongside housing for sustainable development.
Moreover no indication is given to the weighting to be given to these disparate matters. How will Local Planning
Authorities and communities be engaged and be able to influence this process?
No. The government’s definition of affordability is too narrow if it continues to only focus on incomes and house
prices. This ignores the large proportion of people who rent housing, the cost of houses in terms of mortgages
availability and interest rates, affordable tenure housing provision and so on. It is unsuitable to base stipulations
for development levels on this basis.

Page 143

There is lack of information and no detail to overcome the Council’s fundamental concerns that a suitable
methodology will arise. For any consultation on a top-down binding housing requirement for local planning
authorities, proper detail must be available. This includes a robust justification for the national housing target
driving the figures. The White Paper does not appear to recognise the inefficiency of top-down planning that
continues to overheat growth in the southeast of the country and ignore the growth potential elsewhere.

Appendix B
We support the extent of existing urban areas as an appropriate indicator, which would need to be adjusted for
various constraint factors such as flooding and contamination. There are further factors that are of relevance the
government should incorporate including infrastructure capacity and Green Belt land.

Proposal 5: Areas identified as Growth areas (suitable for substantial development) would automatically be granted outline
planning permission for the principle of development, while automatic approvals would also be available for pre-established
development types in other areas suitable for building.
9(a). Do you agree that there should be
automatic outline permission for areas for
substantial development (Growth areas) with
faster routes for detailed consent?
[Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting
statement.]

For instance, what happens when there is disagreement over whether a proposal in a Growth Area qualifies for
automatic permission?

In relation to Growth Areas being given automatic outline permission. This is likely to require significant up-front
work at the Local Plan stage, including site survey work and technical assessments which would normally be
submitted at the outline application stage, demonstrating that the land is suitable for development and
establishing the capacity of the site for development. Given the reduction in timescales for bringing forward Local
Plans we have concerns about how this can be achieved without significant additional resourcing. It appears to
be suggested that alternatively, site promoters and landowners would carry out this work up front to submit
alongside proposals for the site to be designated a growth area. This is likely to disadvantage the smaller house
builders. It is also unlikely to work in an area which is in multi-ownership, and is unclear what action the Council
can take if these studies are not submitted, as the land is likely to need to be identified to meet housing delivery
targets. There would also be concerns about the impartiality of these assessments. It would then still fall on the
Council to carry out the necessary assessment and masterplans in order to determine the capacity of the site for
development.

Page 144

No. There is substantial concern over the loss of local democracy from proposals. Granting outline permission
through identification of an area in a Local Plan, is not considered workable in practice, particularly given
proposals to reduce the number of stages at which the public have an opportunity for input to Local Plans.
Expecting Plans to directly unlock large sites and to accurately define substantial developments as proposed and
grant consent, will require very regular amendments to Plans; with the prospect of continual revisions creating
confusion and delay not predictability (with multiple large proposals coming forward for different proposals at
different points). This approach is unlikely to assist small-medium sized developers, and it has not been shown
that the approach overall will increase housing supply or assist with public engagement.

Agenda Item 8

[Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting
statement.]

Appendix B

9(b). Do you agree with our proposals above for
the consent arrangements for Renewal and
Protected areas?
[Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting
statement.]

Agenda Item 8

The Council also has concerns that the shortened timescale for producing a local plan together with a number of
local authorities going through the process at the same time will result in a shortage of design professionals with
the appropriate skills willing to work with the public sector. There should be upskilling being undertaken now to
plan for this.
No. There is a logic If development proposals are genuinely national or have substantial cross boundary impacts
(this will depend on what qualified as a genuine new “settlement”). Then, the principle of national-level
consideration, with full local consultation, has merit. However this case is undermined by the weak current policy
basis to apply for proposals of this kind as NSIPs –there is insufficient national policy statements providing clarity
on new settlements, and it is not certain Local Plans (where applicable to proposals) would have sufficient force.
The NSIP examination process does not allow detailed examination of some of the design details and
implementation details of large new settlements which ensures their successful delivery.

Page 145

9(c). Do you think there is a case for allowing
new settlements to be brought forward under
the Nationally Significant Infrastructure Projects
regime?
[Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting
statement.]

This will result in resource implications not only for the local planning authority but also the statutory consultees
who would have to provide up-front detailed technical advice on a large number of sites at the same time, at the
plan-making stage, the equivalent of dealing with a large number of major outline planning applications
concurrently. The compressed timescale for providing this advice, with a number of Local Plans most likely also
coming forward concurrently, would make resource management for statutory consultees an insurmountable
challenge. Inadequate quality of statutory consultee responses resulting from work overload at key stages will
undermine the robustness of Local Plans and put in question the sustainability of development.
No. There is a lack of clarity over key aspects of how this will operate. Practical details are absent from the White
Paper. The system has grown in complexity with various additional types of development consent introduced.
The proposal is to introduce various new kinds of potential planning permission when it is not clear these further
options are supported by developers.
This will also lead to a significant level of upfront work by local planning authorities, which is unlikely to be
supported by developers in the case of renewal areas. Parameters for each sub-area will need to be defined,
there will need to be considerable detailed consultation of individual communities and a considerable amount
of design expertise will be required to produce local codes and design guides. The proposal for community
consultation to largely take part at the plan-making stage, instead of the planning application stage, means that
additional time and staff resource will need to be factored in to enable meaningful consultation. This is
inconsistent with the shortened plan-making period proposed.

Appendix B

10. Do you agree with our proposals to make
decision-making faster and more certain?
[Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting
statement.]

The Council supports in-principle the increased digitisation but is concerned about the resource implications,
including the cost to the local authority but also whether there are adequate skills to deliver this.
The high workloads currently undertaken by development management planners and administrative staff would
not enable sufficient time to adjust to changes and certainly will not allow sufficient time for extensive training
without some impact on the service and the determination of planning permissions. These changes will result in
extra workload for already stretched services, at a time where faster decision-making is being sought. The
outcome could well be a slow-down in the short to medium term.

The Council delegated approximately 90% of its decisions to officers in the year 2019/20 and delegated powers
already exist to deal with the detailed design of developments when the principle has been established.
The Council objects to the return of the planning fee if the application has not been determined within the
statutory timescale. Delays in determination often result from inadequate information being submitted by an
applicant or awaiting for issues with consultees to be resolved (see above for suggestion to minimise this). It is
likely that the unintended consequence of the return of the fee will be that Local Planning Authorities will simply
refuse the planning application to avoid returning the fee. This will remove the ability of the planning authority
to improve the application proposal through negotiation, as Dartford Council seeks to do in terms of design and
landscaping during the determination period.

Page 146

In the absence of clear commitment for funding to Local Authorities to achieve this digital transformation and
ensure staff have the right skills to deliver it the Council cannot support this.
In order to speed up the processes and reduce the amount of information required with a planning application
some of the technical considerations, such as contaminated land assessment, flood risk, sustainable drainage,
could be dealt directly by the statutory consultees beforehand. It is suggested that the developer pays an
appropriate fee for the consideration of their issues by the relevant consultees. This will help resource the
consultees better enabling them to provide certification which can be submitted with a planning application.
Much time is spent on planning applications with regard to these matters and they are still issues that have to
be considered at prior approval.

Agenda Item 8

Proposal 6: Decision-making should be faster and more certain, with firm deadlines, and make greater use of digital
technology

Appendix B

Proposal 7: Local Plans should be visual and map-based, standardised, based on the latest digital technology, and supported
by a new template.
11. Do you agree with our proposals for
accessible, web-based Local Plans?
[Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting
statement.]

No – in the absence of clear commitment for funding to Local Authorities to achieve this digital transformation
and ensure staff have the right skills to deliver it and a suitable transition period.
Whilst the Council agrees that the proposals should improve engagement with younger groups in the community,
there are concerns that it could also be a barrier to engagement, particularly with older members of the
community, and those who do not have access to smart phones/ computers etc.
Finally, whilst we support the standardisation of local plans, it is important that they continue to remain locally
distinctive as not all areas in the country are the same and many have very different challenges.

Proposal 8: Local authorities and the Planning Inspectorate will be required through legislation to meet a statutory timetable
for key stages of the process, and we will consider what sanctions there would be for those who fail to do so.
No. From experience, this would be appear to be insufficient time to prepare a robust plan, particularly given
the additional requirements for front-loading of assessment of individual sites and meaningful public
engagement.

A key challenge arising from the proposed approach will be how to engage people on plans when there is no
proposal before them to envisage and comment on. In general, the public struggle to engage with the early ‘high
level’ broad ideas and outline of strategy that are always the starting point of robust plan making. Meaningful
consultation occurs at a stage where there is some clarity and a degree of certainty over key aspects to which
the public can consider. The proposal is to put this key point at the stage when formal comments are made after
the plan has been published. This means the outcomes of the main public participation are considered by the
Planning Inspector, alongside the final assessment of the plan’s legal compliance and against the pivotal tests. It

Agenda Item 8

We agree there is scope for streamlining the assessments and legal requirements required to get a Local Plan in
place (for example, the Examination process, Duty to Cooperate, statutory assessments and the scale of the
evidence base).
The proposals as currently put forward do not provide sufficient time to undertake all the key stages required to
produce a local plan in a robust manner with meaningful public engagement, and risks the quality and soundness
of the Plan. There needs to be sufficient scope for Member involvement in the Plan making, involvement of
infrastructure providers etc, detailed design input and preparation of details and to account for local input to the
decision-making process.

Page 147

12. Do you agree with our proposals for a 30
month statutory timescale for the production of
Local Plans?
[Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting
statement.]

Appendix B

It is not considered the technological options for more interactive/ visual public consultation, overcome the
disadvantages from cutting public consultation periods or Council oversight in Plan making and decisions on sites.
With a 30 month timescale for Plan production government would need to ensure that Local Authorities have
sufficient resources.

Proposal 9: Neighbourhood Plans should be retained as an important means of community input, and we will support
communities to make better use of digital tools
Yes. In theory more local input to the system is beneficial; however opportunities to refine and simplify the
current system should be explored.

This should be done without enforcing disruptive radical restructuring of neighbourhood planning.

SPEEDING UP THE DELIVERY OF DEVELOPMENT
Proposal 10: A stronger emphasis on build out through planning
14. Do you agree there should be a stronger
emphasis on the build out of developments?
And if so, what further measures would you
support?
[Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting
statement.]

Yes. Greater variety and differentiation in the build out of large housing sites should be made more enforceable,
using local SHMA studies and with clear national policy consistent with the findings of the Letwin Review.

Pillar Two – Planning for beautiful and sustainable places
15. What do you think about the design of new
development that has happened recently in
your area?

The Council seeks to achieve a high standard of design in new development that provides useable and attractive
places for people to live, work and spend their leisure time.

Page 148

13(a). Do you agree that Neighbourhood Plans
should be retained in the reformed planning
system?
[Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting
statement.]
13(b). How can the neighbourhood planning
process be developed to meet our objectives,
such as in the use of digital tools and reflecting
community preferences about design?

Agenda Item 8

is considered undemocratic and unresponsive for the Inspectorate to lead the principle response to public
comments, when the Plan should have ownership by the Council and local community.

Appendix B
[Not sure or indifferent / Beautiful and/or welldesigned / Ugly and/or poorly-designed / There
hasn’t been any / Other – please specify]

16. Sustainability is at the heart of our
proposals. What is your priority for
sustainability in your area?
[Less reliance on cars / More green and open
spaces / Energy efficiency of new buildings /
More trees / Other – please specify]

The pressure to deliver housing has, however, in some cases in the past few years led to development which
does not meet the high standards of design and quality of environment that the Council would aspire to.
More recently, increased build costs for developers have resulted in further standardisation of building types,
detailing, windows etc and less money spent on the public realm as well as the need to increase densities on site
reducing the amount of space given over to landscaping and public realm.
The Council has a strong objective within its adopted Local Plan to deliver sustainable development in locations
well-served by new and existing services, facilities and public transport in order encourage less reliance on cars.
A good quality attractive quality walking and cycling environment is also key to the success of this objective.

CREATING FRAMEWORKS FOR QUALITY
17. Do you agree with our proposals for
improving the production and use of design
guides and codes?
[Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting
statement.]

The Council agrees with the principle of design guides and codes and considers that if produced in a way that
takes account of the local characteristics they can be a valuable tool in guiding the new development to reach
high standard design qualities. However, there is a risk that they can prevent good quality innovative design that
can create a step change in the quality of the area.
Additionally, the Council has significant concerns about the costs of funding such works and the ability to engage
the appropriate skills to prepare these resources and engage with the local community. There is a shortage of
such skills in the public sector. This will be exacerbated by all local authorities simultaneously seeking to recruit
to these same skills.

18. Do you agree that we should establish a
new body to support design coding and building
better places, and that each authority should
have a chief officer for design and placemaking?

Yes the Council agrees there should be national support for design coding but do not understand how a
centralised body will fund the resources required. The Council is also concerned that there is a limited resource
of design skills and that there will need to be training in this sector.
The Council welcomes the increased emphasis on good quality design and the creation of attractive places and
a chief officer for design and place-making could ensure this is on the agenda for the Council. But it would

Agenda Item 8

Proposal 12: To support the transition to a planning system which is more visual and rooted in local preferences and
character, we will set up a body to support the delivery of provably locally-popular design codes, and propose that each
authority should have a chief officer for design and place-making.

Page 149

Proposal 11: To make design expectations more visual and predictable, we will expect design guidance and codes to be
prepared locally with community involvement, and ensure that codes are more binding on decisions about development.

Appendix B
depend what role this officer had and the skills of the post holder as to the effectiveness of it. The Council has
doubts that there are sufficient skills available for each Council to be able appoint a chief officer with design
skills.

Proposal 13: To further embed national leadership on delivering better places, we will consider how Homes England’s
strategic objectives can give greater emphasis to delivering beautiful places.
19. Do you agree with our proposal to consider
how design might be given greater emphasis in
the strategic objectives for Homes England?
[Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting
statement.]

Yes

Agenda Item 8

[Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting
statement.]

A FAST-TRACK FOR BEAUTY
20. Do you agree with our proposals for
implementing a fast-track for beauty?
[Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting
statement.]

No. The Council does not agree with the introduction of further permitted development rights.
If prior approval is still required by the Council this is effectively a planning application, a two tie system is
confusing to applicants and the public. There is no evidence that development provided through permitted
development rights is better quality than development granted planning permission, in fact the opposite as the
development usually has reduced amenity space and spaces standards and impacts on the adjacent neighbours.
The Council has a regular and significant amount of complaints to planning enforcement from neighbours who
consider they are impacted by permitted development which they have not had the ability to comment on and
which the Council have been unable influence in terms of design.
The Council support the emphasis in national guidance of the need to comply with local design codes but the
development and preparation of local codes and consultation on these with the local community will be a
significant resource for the Council which cannot currently be met.
With regard to Masterplans and Design guides for growth areas the Council has already raised concern above
about the lack of resources to undertake this skilled work and the significant cost this is likely to be on the Council
to engage these skills.
With regard to both it is unlikely that the local community will have time to engage on the detail of design codes
and will not consider it a priority until such time as they are directly impacted by development.

Pillar Three – Planning for infrastructure and connected places

Page 150

Proposal 14: We intend to introduce a fast-track for beauty through changes to national policy and legislation, to incentivise
and accelerate high quality development which reflects local character and preferences.

Appendix B
21. When new development happens in your
area, what is your priority for what comes with
More/better infrastructure
it?
[More affordable housing / More or better
infrastructure (such as transport, schools, health
provision) / Design of new buildings / More
shops and/or employment space / Green space
/ Don’t know / Other – please specify]

A CONSOLIDATED INFRASTRUCTURE LEVY
Proposal 19: The Community Infrastructure Levy should be reformed to be charged as a fixed proportion of the development
value above a threshold, with a mandatory nationally-set rate or rates and the current system of planning obligations
abolished.
No, on present evidence there is insufficient information provided to give confidence that another disruptive
shift to - an approach requiring extensive new legislation and guidance – is warranted, given the impact of further
change on local authorities, the public, infrastructure service providers and the development industry. The
identified alternative option with a more localised optional approach Is preferred.
However capturing a greater uplift in land value is necessary to fully mitigate the impact of new development;
and to ensure improved infrastructure delivery in parallel with development. The commitment to securing:
“more revenue than under the current system of developer contributions and deliver at least as much – if not
more – on-site affordable housing as at present” is very welcomed, however it is unclear if the proposals would
achieve that vital objective.

The Council has concerns that the new Infrastructure levy will be paid on occupation. This will create a lag in the
receipt of funds and therefore does not allow the timely delivery of infrastructure to meet the needs of occupiers.
The forward funding of such infrastructure creates increased risk for the Council, particularly where as a district

Agenda Item 8

It is agreed that refinements, particularly simplifying the existing CIL regime, and having fewer exemptions for
applying CIL than at present, could be beneficial. The proposals that a new levy will capture some of the
considerable value created though the government’s permitted development policy is welcome. However as
found with CIL, legislation needs extensive consultation on specific proposals, deliberation by experts across
sectors, and then full road testing on a trial basis.

Page 151

22(a). Should the Government replace the
Community Infrastructure Levy and Section 106
planning obligations with a new consolidated
Infrastructure Levy, which is charged as a fixed
proportion of development value above a set
threshold?
[Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting
statement.]

Appendix B

In addition there would be a resource implication as each development would require essentially a viability audit
by the Council to ensure that the applicable rate is correct and to agree the Infrastructure Levy amount. It also
fails to provide certainty for the developer. The current CIL provides a fixed rate plus indexation so it is clear what
costs the developer will have with regard to this.
Enforcement of non-payment could be very difficult, delaying people moving into a new home is very emotive
and it would not be proportionate for the Council to prevent people moving into their new home when the
enforcement is against the developer. This could lead to significant resource implications for the Council and bad
press which will be seen to contradict the objective of delivery new homes more quickly. There needs to be
additional, easy to impose, sanctions to ensure payment of the Levy.

There is also a risk that arrangements to mitigate the overall impact of development on wider environmental
issues (that may not be fully felt locally), or where there are other sustainable development infrastructure
priorities that are longer-term will not be effectively replaced.
22(b). Should the Infrastructure Levy rates be
set nationally at a single rate, set nationally at
an area-specific rate, or set locally?
[Nationally at a single rate / Nationally at an
area-specific rate / Locally]

Locally – because the tool of a Standard percentage rate of development value is a blunt instrument: hugely so
if required to operate with a nationally set percentage.
There will be a highly difficult decision to reconcile all this variation and end up with either a lowish rate, yielding
little for infrastructure – which will be further reduced as some developments will fall under the threshold (which
also has to be determined). Or alternatively, a higher rate that allows exceptions but that then re-introduces
some negotiation.

Page 152

It does not appear the abolition, as opposed to scaling down or replacement, of on-site legal provisions are
justified. S106 provides flexibility. Section 106 agreements are not just financial, but also used to control the
management of land, delivery of off-site direct mitigation and not simply to collect contributions from
developers. They are a very important tool in ensuring that development can be permitted but with the controls
necessary.

Agenda Item 8

authority the Council is not providing the services for which the Infrastructure Levy is primarily intended to fund.
This adds to the complexity of managing the process for the Council.

Appendix B
22(c). Should the Infrastructure Levy aim to
capture the same amount of value overall, or
more value, to support greater investment in
infrastructure, affordable housing and local
communities?
[Same amount overall / More value / Less value
/ Not sure. Please provide supporting
statement.]
22(d). Should we allow local authorities to
borrow against the Infrastructure Levy, to
support infrastructure delivery in their area?
[Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting
statement.]

More value, but with local sensitivity to guard against genuine viability issues often arising. Under the existing
CIL levy regime, which was originally designed only to provide a limited ‘top-up’ to core infrastructure funding
streams, and is not set as a level proportionate to infrastructure needs, infrastructure provision in Dartford has
lagged behind the pace of housing delivery. This has seriously impacted on quality of life or all residents in the
Borough, and affected their health and wellbeing, and promotes unsustainable travel patterns and overwhelmed
public services, whilst residents wait for new healthcare, schools and transport facilities to be completed.
Meanwhile, the existing system has helped generate supernormal profits for large house builders from
development with limited infrastructure. The payment of the Infrastructure Levy on occupation is likely to
intensify this lag as funding will not be available when development comes forward.
Yes, in principle this flexibility is supported. However this is not a golden bullet for speedy infrastructure delivery
and may not be able to be widely utilised. Service providers, often not the LPA, need help support to ensure
prompt delivery. This creates a complex administrative burden on the Council to manage this inflow and outflow
of money which will need to be resourced.

Proposal 20: The scope of the Infrastructure Levy could be extended to capture changes of use through permitted
development rights
Yes, new homes and development generate infrastructure needs however they were permitted, and
accommodation created through PD must make an equal contribution. New residents will have the same
requirements of community infrastructure whether or not their new house was subject to planning permission
or permitted development rights.

Proposal 21: The reformed Infrastructure Levy should deliver affordable housing provision
24(a). Do you agree that we should aim to
secure at least the same amount of affordable
housing under the Infrastructure Levy, and as

Yes, and this should not be solely measured in terms of the total number of units the government regard as
“affordable housing”. Future provision must include ensuring this is made up of at least as much rented tenure
accommodation as presently. The ability of people in need to access accommodation now classed as “affordable
housing” by government varies hugely depending on whether or not the specific tenure i.e. if it is a house for

Agenda Item 8

23. Do you agree that the scope of the
reformed Infrastructure Levy should capture
changes of use through permitted
development rights?
[Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting
statement.]

Page 153

Borrowing is not a sustainable funding solution. Whilst the ability to forward-fund necessary infrastructure has
the potential to secure the delivery of infrastructure in advance of the development coming forward, the financial
risk arising from slower than expected delivery or sites not coming forward at all is passed to the Local Authority.
Compounding this, the proposal that the trigger for payment by the landowner is moved back from
commencement to occupation of the development is unwelcome in increasing risk further.

Appendix B

Whilst delivery issues are discussed there remains a lack of clarity about how affordable housing will be secured
without S106, especially in a volatile market.
We prefer that current system is retained, with a % of affordable housing sought, in addition to a Levy. It seems
to over-complicate the system and is likely to result in more delay to the housing sites being delivered as these
issues are resolved.

Were the in-kind delivery approach adopted, if the value secured through in-kind units is nominally greater than
the final levy liability, then the developer should have no right to reclaim as these are not actual overpayments.

Page 154

24(b). Should affordable housing be secured as
in-kind payment towards the Infrastructure
Levy, or as a ‘right to purchase’ at discounted
rates for local authorities?
[Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting
statement.]
24(c). If an in-kind delivery approach is taken,
should we mitigate against local authority
overpayment risk?
[Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting
statement.]
24(d). If an in-kind delivery approach is taken,
are there additional steps that would need to
be taken to support affordable housing quality?
[Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting
statement.]

purchase on the open market with some discount on the asking price, through to genuinely affordable social
rented accommodation.

Yes

Proposal 22: More freedom could be given to local authorities over how they spend the Infrastructure Levy
25. Should local authorities have fewer
restrictions over how they spend the
Infrastructure Levy?
[Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting
statement.]
25(a). If yes, should an affordable housing ‘ringfence’ be developed?
[Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting
statement.]

Agenda Item 8

much on-site affordable provision, as at
present?
[Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting
statement.]

Yes in general this principle is supported but the link to addressing growth pressures should be maintained. There
should be clear but sufficiently flexible guidance, so that public and developers are given confidence that money
from developer levies is spent on infrastructure and affordable housing.

Yes this is supported in order to ensure local objectives and the Local Plan are delivered; subject to further
consultation and trialling of this would work in practice.

EQUALITIES IMPACTS

Appendix B
26. Do you have any views on the potential
impact of the proposals raised in this
consultation on people with protected
characteristics as defined in section 149 of the
Equality Act 2010?

There are concerns as set in the response in relation to the impact on certain groups in society due to proposed
changes to public consultation, infrastructure and affordable housing delivery. However the response has flagged
up sensitivities and the scope to change and improve the high level proposals – legislation and guidance for
implementation of specific proposals will require close consideration, and (it is assumed) further consultation,
including those with protected characteristics.

Page 155
Agenda Item 8

Page 156

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 157

Agenda Item 9

CABINET
29 October 2020

FORMAL PARKING CONSULTATION RESPONSES: WEST HILL
WARD – SHEPHERDS LANE
1. Summary
1.1 This report outlines the responses received from local residents following a
formal statutory consultation undertaken between 10 th September and 1st
October 2020 as part of a Traffic Regulation Order process to implement a
scheme to extend the days and hours of operation of the residents parking bays
in Shepherds Lane between Nos.1a and 59.
1.2 A total of seven responses were received from the formal statutory consultation,
three indicated no observations about the proposals or were in support whilst
four objected to the proposals. Details of the responses are highlighted in the
report.
2. RECOMMENDATIONS
2.1

That the responses to the consultation outlined in paragraph 3.6 of the report,
be considered.

2.2

That the extension of the days and hours of operation, Monday – Sunday
9.30am to 8:00p.m, of the residents parking bays in Shepherds Lane, between
Nos.1a and 59, as shown coloured pink on the plan at Appendix A to the report,
be approved.

3.

Background and Discussion

3.1.

At the 31st October 2019 meeting [Min.No.53], the Cabinet approved
a scheme to extend the hours and days of operation of the residents
parking bays outside Nos. 1a to 59 Shepherds Lane, from Monday to
Friday 9.30 am to 4.00 pm to Monday to Sunday 9.30 am to 8.00 pm
(see Appendix A showing map of the affected area). This followed
concerns raised by some local residents living opposite Dartford Boys’
Grammar School that those visiting the school premises beyond the
school day, are reducing the opportunity for residents to park close to
their homes.

3.2.

The report presented to the Cabinet in October 2019, highlighted the
results of informal consultation undertaken between 4 th and 17th March
2019 which included the following parking scheme options:





Extend only the hours of operation e.g. 9.30 am to 8 pm;
Extend only the days of operation e.g. Monday to Saturday (six days
per week) or Monday to Sunday (seven days per week);
Extend both the days of operation and the hours of the day e.g.
Monday to Saturday or Monday to Sunday and 9.30 am to 8pm;
Do not change the scheme’s hours of operation i.e., leave as Monday
to Friday 9.30 am to 4 pm.

Agenda Item 9

Page 158
CABINET
29 October 2020

3.3.

As part of the informal consultation, the Council provided an online
survey enabling respondents to engage with the informal consultation
easily. The overall response rate was 81%. Residents were asked to
choose one of four options shown in the table below and also indicate
their preferred hours and days of operation should they choose one of
the options in 1 to 3. The results were as follows:
Overall
Number
Response
of
% of
Rate %
responses households

Option 1 – Extend hours of
operation
Option 2 – I support the
proposals to extend only the
days of operation into the
weekend
Option 3 – I support the
proposals to extend the hours
and days of operation into the
evening and into the
weekend
Option 4 – I object to the
proposals and do not want
them to be delivered

81.3

0

0.0

0.0

81.3

1

3.1

3.8

81.3

14

43.8

81.3

11

34.4

Residents’ preference
Seven day scheme
Six day scheme
Weekend scheme
supported but the
preference for a 6 or 7 day
scheme was not stated

3.4.

% of respondents

% of
household
responses
40.0
20.0
40.0

The Cabinet agreed to progress completion of a Traffic Regulation
Order as per Option 3 above i.e., extension of the hours and days of
operation to Monday to Sunday 9.30 am to 8.00 pm. Whilst the
Council’s threshold of 50% or more households for scheme delivery
was not achieved, it was noted that:


There was a high turnout to the consultation in March 2019 with a
combined percentage of almost 47% of households supported
proposals to extend the days of operation into the evening and into
the weekend. Of these, majority were in favour of a seven day
scheme. In addition, a combined figure of 57.6% of respondents were

53.8

42.3

Page 159

Agenda Item 9

CABINET
29 October 2020



in favour of proposals to extend days of operation into the weekend
or extend the hours and days of operation into the evening and into
the weekend.
The proposed Option 3 will alleviate the key concerns raised by the
majority of residents regarding safety around the school and parking
capacity for local residents.

Formal Consultation Responses
3.5.

The formal consultation was undertaken between 10 th September and
1st October 2020. This included the publication of a draft Order notice,
street notices in Shepherds Lane, legal documents made available at
the Council’s Civic Centre and accessible via the Council’s website. The
draft notice identified the proposal to extend the days and hours of
operation of the permit bays to Monday to Sunday from 9.30am to
8.00pm.

3.6.

A total of seven responses were received including four objections and
three in support or no objections from Kent Police and local residents.
The general comments received from local residents are summarised
below:

Responses / Comments

Officer Response

This section of Shepherds Lane
is blighted every day with
problem parking, caused by
Dartford Grammar School for
Boys (DGSB) and surrounding
amenities.
DGSB is an 18 hours a day 7
days a week site - the expansion
of this site for more pupils,
weekend sports fixtures, a church
on Sunday, Beckets Gym, Events
held at the Mick Jagger centre
most weekends day and night as
well as the doctors surgery mean
that the bay restriction times are
totally inadequate.
The extension of the hours into
the evenings and weekends is
long overdue and will improve
resident’s chances of finding a
space.
In recent months residents have
further frustrated things by
employing their own parking
management schemes - with bins
and cones. Some cars then make

Support for the proposal is noted.

Support for the scheme is noted.
However, placing obstructions on
the highway to prevent parking
can create a number of safety
issues for drivers and also

Agenda Item 9

Page 160
CABINET
29 October 2020

a sudden stop in the traffic to
move the obstructions. I
anticipate residents would not
continue to take such measures
with the extended hours
proposed.
Changing the parking times will
have no benefit to the residents,
only to their disadvantage unless
it is controlled by parking
wardens adequately, which
current resources do not allow
for, so this will be a waste of
resources and tax payers money
and illegal parking will continue to
abuse and ignore parking times,
as they do now, knowing that
they will not be held to account.

vulnerable road users, including
cyclists and pedestrians.

Objection noted, however,
extending the hours and days of
operation of the resident permit
parking bays would discourage
parking on residents bays after
4pm. If a driver without a permit
does so, a contravention will
mean a Penalty Charge Notice
(PCN) can be issued. In addition,
existing enforcement regime will
be reviewed in line with the
proposal taking into consideration
compliance levels.
We are only allowed one
Objection noted. The Council
residents permit which means we currently operates a one permit
can only park one car in the
per household scheme based on
parking bay and park the other
road space available. The
car in an adjoining road, pushing proposed extension of hours and
parking problems onto their
days of operation of the existing
already congested roads. We feel residents’ bays will ensure that
that the bays should be 100% for priority is given to residents with
residents above anyone else. The permit allocation beyond the
requirements of residents must
existing controlled period. This is
be a priority over visitors who are proposed in order that residents’
of an unknown number at any
use of the parking spaces is
given time.
prioritised, rather than being
taken up by parking linked to
school events.
The Council do not intend to
make any changes to existing
visitor parking allocation which is
capped at 15% of permit
allocations. Therefore the
proposal should not result in an
increase in visitor parking related
to resident households.
The original complaints regarding Objection noted. The Council also
parking are during school term
received complaints about
time, extending the restrictions on parking issues outside school
parking to the weekend and later term as there was concern that
in the evening will not make any
people attending events at the
effect on parent’s parking during
Mick Jagger Centre were parking
school days, but will penalise
on residents bays after the
households in Shepherds Lane
existing hours of restrictions and
when friends or family visit them
at weekends. The proposal will

Page 161

Agenda Item 9

CABINET
29 October 2020
at the weekends or during the
week after work.

address these concerns and give
priority to local residents. The
Council do not intend to make
any changes to existing visitor
parking allocation and therefore
the proposal should not impact
existing usage of visitor parking
permit.

3.7.

Based on the comments received from the formal consultation exercise
carried out in September 2020, objections were based on concerns
about the Council’s policy of allowing one resident’s parking bay per
household and the potential impact on friends/visitors. Concerns were
also raised about the lack of inadequate enforcement.

3.8.

The Council currently operates a one permit per household scheme and
about 15% visitor parking allocation based on overall road space
available. It is noted that only four responses objected on this basis and
three of these were the same letters signed by different households.
Members may wish to consider whether the wider benefits of the
proposal outweigh the impact on a few households given that there are
visitor parking spaces available and that residents with more than one
car per household could potentially park in other streets nearby.

3.9.

In terms of the concerns about adequate enforcement. As indicated in
the report to the Cabinet in October 2019, the existing enforcement
regime will be reviewed in line with any new proposals taking into
consideration
compliance
levels.

3.10. Questions were raised about the basis of Cabinet’s decision in October
2019 as the Council’s threshold of 50% of households’ support was not
met. This matter has been addressed in paragraph 3.4 to the report.
3.11. In view of officers’ consideration of the objections to the formal
consultation outlined in paragraphs 3.6 to 3.10 to the report and
Cabinet’s previous consideration of the informal consultation undertaken
in March 2019, Members are recommended to approve the progression
of the proposal to extend the days and hours of operation, Monday –
Sunday 9.30am – 8.00 pm. of the residents parking bays in Shepherds
Lane between Nos.1a and 59. If approved, officers will progress the
second stage of the Traffic Regulation Order process and publish the
‘made’ Order notice, to ensure that respondents are informed of the
Council’s decision.
4.

Relationship to the Corporate Plan
SC 1: Use the Council’s statutory functions to increase public safety in
the Borough
SC 3: Increase public perception of the Borough as a safe place.

Agenda Item 9

Page 162
CABINET
29 October 2020

5.

Financial, legal, staffing and other implications and risk assessments*

Financial Implications
Legal Implications

Staffing Implications
Administrative
Implications
Risk Assessment

6.

Costs will be met from existing budgets.
Changes to the parking restrictions will be carried
out in accordance with the statutory process for
Traffic Regulation Orders.
Will be from existing staff resources.
None.
Vehicle displacement may occur resulting in
residents from neighbouring streets requesting
parking management regulations. It is KCC’s
'policy not to propose regulations within
neighbouring streets for the same highway
management reasons within three years of a
statutory TRO consultation exercise.

Details of Exempt Information Category
Not applicable

7.

Appendices
Appendix A – Map of affected area.

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Documents consulted

Parking consultation: West
Hill Ward – Shepherds Lane

Date /
File Ref

-

-

Report Author

Lukman Agboola
Principal Transport
Planner
(01322) 343410
&
Paul Nevard
Transport Engineer
(01322) 343216

Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information
Category

Planning &
Regenerati
on
Parking
Services,
EARS

N/A

N/A

Page 163

Agenda Item 9

CABINET
29 October 2020

Appendix A – Advertised Scheme Proposal

6

11

°

1

87

9

1

73

WEST
HILL

69

57

1

2

41 41

PH

41 b 39 39

43

BM 30.22m

27.1m

EIM

13

ROA

12

D

53

BM 29.94m

72

Health Centre

BLEN
H

PO

66 64
Shelter

Cliffsid

e

Bakery

2 1
YMCA

10

Hall

13

1

2

TOWE
RR
1c 1aOAD
1d 1b

SHEPHERD
S LANE

51

54

37

40

1

25

3a 1a

26

29.9m

14

20

23

Independent
Spiritualist Church

El Sub Sta

ROAD

Dartford Borough Council 100025870 2019
68

58

39

2

TOWER

Dartford Grammar School

30

35

57

31

45

TOWER

35

ROAD

31.0m

21 17

9

13

8
8a

TCB

LB

56

52

42

Page 164

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 165

Agenda Item 10

CABINET
29 October 2020
PROPOSED LONDON RESORT AND THE DUTY FOR THE APPLICANT TO
CONSULT THE COUNCIL ON THE PROPOSAL

1. Summary
1.1 The proposal for the London Resort leisure and entertainment complex is to be dealt
with as a planning application to be determined by the Secretary of State as a Nationally
Significant Infrastructure Project (NSIP). As such, it is subject to legislation under the
Planning Act 2008, which is distinct to that for applications determined directly by the
Council. The applicant, London Resort Company Holdings (LRCH), is required under
section 42 of the 2008 Act to consult the Borough on its emerging proposal before being
formally submitted to the Secretary of State, with the Council being a statutory
consultee.The closing date for responses was 21 September 2020. The Council’s
response, agreed under delegated powers, was submitted in time to meet this deadline
but this did not allow for the response to be presented to Cabinet in advance.

2. RECOMMENDATION
2.1

That the Council’s response to the consultation as set out in the letter and
comments attached at Appendices A-C, be noted.

3.

Background and Discussion

3.1.

In May 2014 the Secretary of State for Communities and Local
Government confirmed that the London Paramount Entertainment
Resort qualifies as a nationally significant business or commercial
project (NSIP) for which development consent is required under the
Planning Act 2008. The Developer must therefore apply to the Secretary
of State (SoS) for a Development Consent Order (DCO). Under the
DCO process the onus is on the developer, in this case London Resort
Company Holdings Ltd (LRCH), to lead the consultation and assessment
process with the intention that by the time the examination on the
proposal is started the project is properly understood and has been
publicised widely.

3.2.

LRCH has advised that it intends to submit the application to the
Planning Inspectorate in December 2020 and therefore the examination
of the proposed development, by a panel of Inspectors appointed by the
Planning Inspectorate, is expected to take place in 2021.

3.3.

The Head of Regeneration has delegated authority to respond to
consultations regarding NSIPs and issue responses to Preliminary
Environmental Impact Reports (PEIRs) prepared by LRCH (the current
stage of the project), where the responses are in accordance with the
principles of resolutions made by both Cabinet and Development Control
Board (DCB) relating to the Project and where this is not possible, to
respond in consultation with the Cabinet Chairman and the DCB
Chairman. In this case, the consultation and Cabinet timetable did not
allow for a decision to be brought to Cabinet and the response was
agreed in consultation with the Cabinet Chairman and the DCB
Chairman.

Agenda Item 10

Page 166
CABINET
29 October 2020

3.4.

LRCH is required to consult the local community on the proposals and
prepare a statement as to how they intend to do this. The Draft
Statement of Community Consultation (SOCC) was submitted in June
2020 and LRCH was advised, by officers under delegated authority, that
the Council broadly supported its approach to consultation but
expressed disappointment that the consultation was to take place over
the summer holiday period and requested a clear plan of the proposals
be displayed on the London Resort website. The consultation was
subsequently extended further into September.

3.5.

LRCH has previously undertaken four stages of consultation. The 4th
stage of consultation was a formal stage of consultation under s47 of the
2008 Act, in June 2015 and the Council made comments at that time.

3.6.

Given the length of time that has passed LRCH has undertaken a fresh
consultation process and submitted a full set of updated documents.

3.7.

For the current round of consultation, LRCH has held a series of public
webinars but due to COVID 19, there have been no face to face
meetings or public exhibitions. The consultation period and events were
advertised in the newspapers, on social media, on the project website,
by poster and by a leaflet distributed to homes and businesses across
the area. Details could be accessed via the LRCH’s website.

3.8.

Under section 42 of the 2008 Act the LRCH as applicant, is also required
to formally consult the Local Authorities on the application prior to
submission. Dartford Borough Council (as well as Gravesham Borough
Council, Ebbsfleet Development Corporation, Kent County Council and
Thurrock Council) have been formally consulted and invited to comment
as part of a statutory consultation on the various documents that will form
the basis of the planning submission by LRCH later this year. The
Council had until the 21st September to respond to this formal statutory
consultation.

3.9.

The current statutory consultation is a very important presubmission/pre-application stage when LRCH should be setting out full
information about the proposals and their impacts. It is the main
opportunity for the various statutory and non-statutory bodies including
the Local Planning Authorities and the wider community to influence and
inform the future application and to suggest how impacts can be
mitigated.

3.10. An important requirement of the NSIP process for a Development
Consent Order is for the developer to publish and seek comments on a
Preliminary Environmental Information Report (PEIR). This document
should examine the likely environmental effects of the project and invite
comments on it. The PEIR is not intended to be a complete assessment
of those effects but should outline the main areas of likely effect and
summarise what those effects might be, to the best of available
knowledge at the time the PEIR is produced. It is intended to stimulate
comment and clarification on which effects should be considered.

Page 167

Agenda Item 10

CABINET
29 October 2020
3.11. The PEIR is just one of a suite of documents that has been submitted
for comment as part of the formal public statutory consultation process.
The other documents are a Draft Development Consent Order and its
Explanatory Memorandum and a series of Plans. The Development
Consent Order (DCO) is a statutory instrument that details the legal
powers which LRCH is seeking consent. The draft of this document has
been submitted for comment. It contains a list of all the works proposed
and a series of draft ‘Requirements’ which set out various obligations if
consent is granted. The ‘requirements’ are similar to a planning decision
notice the Council would issue where it has determined a planning
application.
3.12. The Plans submitted show: the land to be affected by the proposal and
the land to be acquired through the DCO process; the areas of “works”
which relate to the wording in the draft Development Consent Order; and
parameter plans showing maximum heights of development.
3.13. The proposal is to create a leisure and entertainment attraction and the
development proposed is categorised as Principal Development which
requires a DCO (rather than planning permission) and the Associated
Development to support the Principal Development.
The Principal Development is expected to include: ·








land remediation works; ·
the Leisure Core, comprising a range of events spaces, themed
rides and attractions, entertainment venues including theatres
and cinemas, developed in landscaped settings in two phases
known as Gate One and Gate Two. The Gate areas will include
visitor entrance plazas offering ticketing and ancillary retail,
commercial, dining and entertainment facilities; ·
terrain remodelling, hard and soft landscape works, amenity
water features and planting; ·
car parks with an overall volume of 10,750 spaces; ·
pedestrian and cycle access routes and infrastructure; ·
the A2 Highways Works comprising a signalised at-grade
gyratory junction to replace two existing roundabouts at the A2(T)
/ B259 junction

The Associated Development is expected to include:






four hotels providing family, upmarket, luxury and themed
accommodation totalling up to 3,550 suites or ‘keys’. One or more
of these hotels might be located within the leisure core. One hotel
will incorporate access to an enclosed water park; ·
a ‘Conferention’ Centre (i.e. a combined conference and
convention centre) with a floor area of up to 11,000 sq m, capable
of hosting a wide range of entertainment, sporting, exhibition and
business events; ·
a linked building hosting a range of e-Sports, video and computer
gaming events, with a total floorspace of up to 16,500 sq m; ·

Agenda Item 10

Page 168
CABINET
29 October 2020













a ‘Back of House’ area accommodating many of the necessary
supporting technical and logistical operations to enable the
Entertainment Resort to function, including security command
and crisis centre, maintenance facilities, costuming facilities,
employee administration and welfare, medical facilities, offices
and storage facilities, internal roads, landscaping and employee
car parking;
a people mover and transport interchanges;
a Resort access road of up to four lanes (i. e. up to two lanes in
each direction); ·
local transport links; ·
river transport infrastructure on both sides of the Thames,
including floating jetty and ferry terminals and the repair of Bell
Wharf; ·
utility supply compounds, plant and service infrastructure
including an energy centre; ·
flood defence and drainage works; ·
habitat creation and enhancement and public access; ·
security and safety provisions; ·
data centres to support the Resort’s requirements.

Related Housing is also proposed, comprising up to 500 dwellings for
Resort workers. The dwellings will typically have 4-6 bedrooms and
shared kitchen and lounge facilities.
3.14. Despite the length of time since the last consultation much of the
assessment work required has not been submitted within the PEIR and
there is much detail on the proposals which is not provided. It is
therefore difficult at this stage for the Council to provide detailed
comments on the options or the impacts, as the assessment results are
not available to enable proper consideration by the Council of the likely
impacts and the mitigation needed. LRCH has not allowed sufficient time
or resources to enable engagement with the Council and there has been
no collaborative working to inform the design or develop mitigations. The
response to the consultation therefore draws attention to the
assessments that are missing, the paucity of information on the detail of
the proposal and the potential risks that could result for the Council and
the Borough.
3.15. Whilst the London Resort has the potential to bring significant benefits
to the Borough through employment, skills development and a boost to
the local economy, this is not a foregone conclusion. The right measures
need to be in place to enable this. Mitigations also need to be in place to
ensure that adverse impacts of the scheme can be addressed. It is
hoped that fuller engagement will take place with the Council following
this consultation so that the Borough and its residents can benefit from
the proposal. .
3.16. The red line for the proposal has expanded since the initial consultation
on the project and now includes an area in Thurrock at Tilbury to allow
for use of part of the Docks for transport of construction materials initially
and then visitors via Thames Clipper.

Page 169

Agenda Item 10

CABINET
29 October 2020
3.17. The Council’s full comments to LRCH are set out within the attached
letter and responses at Appendix A, and the responses to draft
Development Consent Order (Appendix B) and suggested s106 Heads
of Terms at Appendix C.
3.18. LRCH has stated its intention to submit the application in December this
year, although the Council’s response and that of other consultees has
urged for this to be delayed so as to enable more robust assessment of
the scheme and fuller engagement to take place. When the application
is submitted, the Council will be contacted by the Planning Inspectorate
and asked about the adequacy of consultation. Once the application is
accepted as valid by the Planning Inspectorate, the Council will have an
opportunity to make representation to the examining panel and be
required to produce a Local Impact Report which sets out clearly the
impacts on the Borough arising from the development, having
consideration of the completed Environmental Impact Assessment and
other documents submitted with the application.
3.19. LRCH and its consultants still need to produce an extensive amount of
information for the planning application submission. The final submission
will need to include a comprehensive assessment of the proposal and
mitigation of the impacts. The attached comments are intended to assist
in this process.
3.20. Once the application is accepted the timescale and amount of work
required by the Council is significant. This will include reviewing the full
application submission, making representations, preparing a Local
Impact Report, answering questions from the Inspectors in short
timescales, appearing at the examination and producing expert
evidence.
3.21. With a standard planning application, the application fee received by the
Council would cover the Council’s costs in determining the application.
In the case of an NSIP, the Planning Inspectorate relies on the local
planning authority to advise of the local impacts but there is no fee
payable. It is accepted practice that the applicant covers the local
planning authority’s costs through a Planning Performance Agreement
(PPA). Discussions on funding support to assist the Council in dealing
with this large and complex application through the employment of
consultants have been ongoing since February 2020 but LRCH has as
yet failed to provide a written commitment to provide sufficient funding
to enable the Council to appoint appropriate expertise to consider the
details of the submission and engage more fully with LRCH to address
the gaps and shortcomings. This will, in turn, provide a more informed
picture of the potential impacts of the scheme and enable appropriate
mitigations to be considered.
4.

Relationship to the Corporate Plan
The London Resort is linked to the Strategic Aim of the Corporate Plan
being to ensure that regeneration in Dartford is sustainable and of benefit
to all of our communities.

Agenda Item 10

Page 170
CABINET
29 October 2020

5.

Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk
assessments

Financial Implications

There will be cost of consultants and legal
advice, particularly during the Examination
period. Re-imbursement of costs is being
sought from LRCH.

Legal Implications

None

Staffing Implications

Resource issue during consideration of
proposal: likely to require external assistance
If permission is granted significant workload for
all sections of the Council.

Administrative
Implications

None

Risk Assessment

Lack of detail with regard to the proposal and no
certainty whether it will get permission or not.
There is a risk LRCH will not adequately
reimburse the Council for costs incurred in
responding to the consultation and submission.

6.

Details of Exempt Information Category
Not applicable

7.

Appendices
Appendix A – Letter and comments sent to LRCH in response to
consultation
Appendix B – Comments on Development Consent Order
Appendix C – Suggested s106 heads of terms

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Documents
consulted

None

Date /
File Ref

Report Author

Sonia Bunn
(01322) 343620

Section and
Directorate

Regeneration Services,
Strategic (External)
Directorate

Exempt
Information
Category
N/A

Page 171

London Resort
By email to:
info@londonresortcompany.co.uk

Agenda Item 10

Appendix A

Please ask for:
Direct Line:
Direct Fax:
E-mail:
DX:

Sonia Bunn
(01322) 343620
(01322) 343047
Sonia.bunn@dartford.gov.uk
142726 Dartford 7

Your Ref:
Our Ref:

20/00597/NSIP

Date:

21st September 2020

Dear Sirs,

RE: Consultation response under section 42 of the Planning Act 2008
London Resort: Nationally Significant Infrastructure Project
Thank you for consulting Dartford Borough Council on the proposed London Resort leisure
and entertainment attraction. The Council is the primary host local authority within which the
development falls and will be the authority most impacted by the implementation of these
proposals in the short and long term.
We recognise that there are many local authorities and statutory bodies which the applicant
also needs to liaise and engage with and that is right and appropriate. However, the Resort
will lie immediately adjacent to residential communities in Dartford Borough; will rely on the
transport network across the Borough to transport visitors and staff, will result in the
displacement of an entire employment estate; will rely on the housing stock in Dartford to
house its temporary and permanent workers as well as visitors; and will rely on the Dartford
residents to supply part of its workforce. Moreover, the Resort will in the long-term depend on
the Council to support it through the provision of a range of services such as licensing permits,
inspection of food premises and ongoing planning approvals. The impacts and reliance on the
Dartford community and Dartford Council will continue throughout the operational lifetime of
the Resort. A positive and collaborative relationship will be required between the Resort
operator and Dartford Council working with its residents to enable the smooth running of the
Resort.
The Ebbsfleet Development Corporation (EDC) currently acts as the local planning authority
for development management purposes for the area where the London Resort is to be located.
It has been set up with the objective of regenerating and bringing forward transformative
development in the Ebbsfleet area, including the Swanscombe Peninsula, and creation of the
Ebbsfleet Garden City. Dartford Council shares the objectives of the EDC in this respect and
works closely with the EDC to help bring these objectives to fruition. The Council is working in
partnership with the EDC to ensure that the proposals brought forward by you contribute to
and support the strategic vision for the Ebbsfleet Garden City.

Agenda Item 10

Page 172

Response to consultation on London Resort 2020
The Council recognises that if the proposals are implemented, there is the potential for very
significant benefits in terms of local employment opportunities and a boost to the local
economy. However, these local benefits are not a foregone conclusion and may only
materialise with the right mechanisms in place. Moreover, the proposals will inevitably give
rise to wide-ranging and significant negative impacts, unless these are understood in advance
and mitigations are put in place to address them.
To understand the scale of the proposals in the local context (which are not spelled out in all
the thousands of pages of documents provided as part of the consultation) if the proposal is
implemented, on a peak-day when the Resort is fully operational it is estimated that there
could be over 90,000 visitors and staff on-site on any one day, many of whom would be
travelling to and from the Resort along the Borough’s transport network. This will dwarf the
total population of the Borough which currently stands at 113,000. The London Resort will,
therefore, dominate Dartford Borough in terms of people movement and activity. The Council
is committed to ensuring that it is fully engaged in the development of the proposals and is
able to help shape them so that the benefits of the development can be locally reaped and the
not insignificant impacts which will inevitably arise can be appropriately mitigated.
However, given the lack of commitment from the applicant to date in funding consultants to
assist the Council in engaging with the proposal, together with the compressed timetable set
out by the applicant, with multiple strands of work taking place concurrently, the necessary
collaborative engagement has not taken place. It is hoped that the applicant will take the
opportunity to put this right before submission of the DCO to the Planning Inspectorate.
It is, of course, the applicant’s responsibility to ensure that the proposal submitted to the
Planning Inspectorate is sufficiently developed and that a full and relevant Environmental
Impact Assessment (EIA) has been carried out However, in its role as the host authority,
Dartford Council will be required to advise the Planning Inspectorate on the local impacts of
the scheme through its Local Impact Report. It is expected that it would draw on the EIA to
come to its conclusions. However, the Preliminary Environmental Information Report (PEIR),
which is the precursor to the EIA, provides much data but little in the way of understanding of
impacts on the local area. It is the view of the Council that much work still needs to be
undertaken by you to reach a position where the assessment of the proposal is presented in
a way which provides a full and robust understanding of its local impacts.
The Council does have some concerns, at present, about the adequacy of the consultation
process, as so little detail has been provided of the proposal itself or how it might come forward
and there has been no meaningful assessment of the likely impacts. It is difficult therefore for
the Council to consider the proposal and there is certainly insufficient information in order to
inform a Local Impact Report or Statement of Common Ground. It is difficult to see how the
consultation details therefore meet the objectives of the Nationally Significant Infrastructure
Project process which seeks to resolve issues prior to an application being submitted. The
Council would therefore urge the applicant to develop the proposal and the mitigations
proposed in more detail before an application is made to the Planning Inspectorate.
Only once the impacts are understood can a view be taken on whether it is possible to mitigate
these and what form the mitigations should take. We are not yet at that point. It is suggested
that the current programme for submission of the application is unrealistic. A longer time
frame is needed to collaboratively work with the Council to fully understand the impacts of the
proposal and consider the most appropriate means to mitigate these.
Dartford Borough Council
21st September 2020
2

Page 173

Agenda Item 10

Response to consultation on London Resort 2020

Given the current paucity of relevant detail, analysis and assessment provided, the Council
has not prepared a detailed review of the information since much of this is as yet poorlydeveloped or not relevant to a local understanding of the impacts. The Council has rather
concentrated on the issues which cause initial concerns and which create risks for the Council
and the Borough. In its current form, there are some serious and significant concerns and
risks arising from the proposed development. It is hoped that a longer time frame in advance
of submission will enable the parties to work together to arrive at an improved understanding
of the impacts and appropriate mitigations. There are a couple of high level issues which
should be noted. Firstly, the site, as noted above, lies within the Ebbsfleet Development
Corporation area. There is a long-standing commitment from the relevant local planning
authorities as well as Central Government for transformative development and regeneration
of this area, now being taken forward as Ebbsfleet Garden City. Plans and delivery are well
progressed and these are embedded in Dartford’s Local Plan, contributing to its planned
delivery of homes and jobs. It is encumbent on the Council to ensure that the delivery of its
Local Housing Need requirement, as currently planned, is not jeopardised by the Resort
proposals. Housing delivery within the EDC area forms a significant part of the Council’s total
requirement. There is no assessment within the documents provided of the potential impact
of the Resort proposals on the delivery of homes, jobs and other supporting facilities within
the wider EDC area. Secondly, Dartford is placed at a key transport node. You will be aware
from the consultations on the proposals that transport, particularly rail capacity and the
capacity of the surrounding local and strategic road network are key issues for Dartford
residents, employees and businesses. Many aspects of the transport network, such as the
North Kent Line and walking and cycling routes, have not been addressed at all in the
documentation. Other aspects, such as the impact on the road network, are as yet in the early
stages of assessment so currently do not provide an understanding of the impacts. These are
matters on which the Council would wish to have full involvement.
Attached at Appendix A are the Council’s comments based on the submitted Preliminary
Environmental Information Report, the Draft Development Consent Order and the Draft Plans.
As noted above, a formal review of the information provided has not been undertaken. The
Council considers that there is still much work to be undertaken to provide a meaningful
assessment of the proposed Resort impacts and that this is best undertaken in a collaborative
and iterative way with you and your consultants working alongside the Council and its
consultants. It is hoped that this can be facilitated by a commitment from you to the funding
of consultants, so as to enable this work to be taken forward.
Additionally, an initial review of the Draft Development Consent Order (DCO) is provided at
Appendix B. At this stage, the DCO can only be partial. Without an understanding of the
impacts, appropriate mitigations cannot be identified. However, it is hoped this initial review
can form a start to ongoing discussion.
Finally, at Appendix C, an initial identification of S106 heads of Terms is provided. Again,
without understanding impacts, the S106 cannot be fully defined. However, again it is hoped
this can be a starting point for discussions.
With respects to all three appendices and the comments contained within them, these are
considered to be initial and preliminary, in the absence of a full understanding of the Resort

Dartford Borough Council
21st September 2020
3

Agenda Item 10

Page 174

Response to consultation on London Resort 2020
proposals and their impacts. The Council reserves the right to add to or amend these as more
information becomes available.
The Council acknowledges that the applicant has made significant progress in developing its
business case and the internal operation of the London Resort. However, the Resort will not
be an island. It sits within a very tight urban area with large-scale development proposals.
There is much collaborative work still to be done to understand how the Resort will interact
with its surrounding area and to ensure that they can co-exist in a mutually supportive way. It
is hoped that this letter and its attachments make clear the importance that Dartford Council
attaches to ensuring the local impacts of the London Resort are fully understood and
appropriately responded to. We look forward to working with the applicant in a positive way
on these matters.
Yours sincerely,

Teresa Ryszkowska

Head of Regeneration

Dartford Borough Council
21st September 2020
4

Page 175

Agenda Item 10

Response to consultation on London Resort 2020

OVERVIEW
1.

Clarity of proposals and impact
The Council appreciates the complexity of the proposal but it is disappointing that
there is a lack of clarity on proposals and assessments have not been supplied
or completed.
It is also disappointing that the Preliminary Environmental Impact Report (PEIR)
was completed prior to the Scoping Response from the Planning Inspectorate
and therefore has not taken this into account or the comments raised by the Local
Authorities. Some of these comments are repeated below as they have not been
addressed in the PEIR.
The Council reserves the right to comment where the impacts are not clear or
have not been assessed at all.
The lack of completeness of the environmental information in the PEIR, including
baseline surveys, assessment and modelling makes it difficult for the Council to
provide comprehensive comments on the proposed development; its impacts;
and potential mitigation. It is also of some concern that the PEIR makes
judgements and statements regarding impact without the benefit of survey work,
modelling and assessment.
It is unclear as to what Gate 2 will comprise as the description for Works No. 2
in the draft Development Consent Order (DCO), which seems to align with the
area noted as Gate 2, does not include “events spaces, themed rides,
entertainment venues, theatres and cinemas” as set out for Works no 1. It seems
to only include retail, dining and entertainment facilities and entertainment
venues, all uses which have previously been advised to be outside of a “payline”.
Indeed there is no reference to any of these proposals being within a payline and
no requirement in the DCO in this regard.
RISK: The proposal could become an out of town retail and leisure centre
which has different impacts to a “global entertainment resort”. Potential
adverse impact on town centres, Bluewater and district centres and
potential to undermine mixed use proposals at Ebbsfleet Central which are
likely to rely on retail and leisure uses at the core.

2

Cumulative and identified development
It is unclear how the development will impact on the delivery of Ebbsfleet Central
which is identified for delivery of housing and employment within the Council’s
adopted Local Plan and emerging Local Plan.
Dartford Borough Council
21st September 2020
5

Agenda Item 10

Page 176

Response to consultation on London Resort 2020

Not only is the construction work for the Resort access road likely to blight and
hinder delivery of this housing and employment but the DCO and Works plan
indicate that much of the area identified in the Local Plan is proposed to be used
for a multi-storey car park, surface car park or alterative car park in the DCO.
There is no assessment of these impacts within the PEIR and indeed the land
use plan does not indicate this.
RISK: Council cannot meet its housing and employment delivery targets,
infrastructure is not delivered and development of the Ebbsfleet Garden
City is undermined.

3.

Phasing
There is no clear phasing or triggers for provision of different facilities, which is
critical on a major development site of this complexity.
For instance, requirements that the road, people mover, riverboat access, car
parking be complete and available for use before Gate 1 is open to the public.
Indeed the DCO does not set out any restrictions on how the development comes
forward. At present the DCO allows any part of the development to come forward
without Works No 1. E.g. the retail, dining and entertainment in Works no 2 could
come forward in isolation.
The Council considers that this is unacceptable. The references to assessments
in the Environmental Statement all assume Gate 1 comes forward first but the
DCO requirements are limited and phasing has not been clearly set out in any
document.
Requirement 2 of the draft DCO, setting out a simple time limit for implementation
of the proposal of 5 years is unacceptable for a development of this scale and
complexity in the Council’s opinion. The time limit condition should set time limits
for the implementation of each phase of the development, as would usually be
the case with a major outline planning permission. This is necessary, in order to
ensure that the development is not implemented by a small “Works package” and
then remains an extant permission for many years but without any work coming
forward, thus blighting the area.
RISK: The entertainment attraction will not be delivered in full or as
suggested. The development could be implemented and then cease and
yet the permission would be extant. A number of risks ensue, for example
an-out-of-town retail/leisure complex being developed in isolation,
resulting in competition to existing centres, or development of the staff
housing in isolation. The large area covered by the Consent could become
blighted, unmanaged and undeveloped for a number of years
Dartford Borough Council
21st September 2020
6

Page 177

Agenda Item 10

Response to consultation on London Resort 2020

4.

Input into design and layout
Over the years of gestation of this project, technical consultees and the Council
have warned that the development has been “fixed” without the assessments
being completed and without meaningful discussions with consultees feeding
into the option choices. The concerns raised previously that there would be no
ability to influence the design in order to reduce impacts now appears to be borne
out. Although it is noted that the proposals provide very little detail on land uses
and detailed design and this is still to be developed. However, the Council is
concerned that the DCO also contains little ability for the local planning
authorities to approve detailed design for many of the proposals. Requirement 4
of the DCO only allows for detailed design of Works 1 and 2 to be agreed.
This omits a number of significant work packages. For instance Works nos 14b
and 14d are directly adjacent to residential uses (albeit at a different level). The
services and infrastructure buildings covered by these Works numbers is very
broad and could have a significant impact on adjacent properties. The
Parameters plans consist of height plans showing heights above AOD but as
plans of existing levels do not appear to have been provided it is difficult for the
Council to consider the impact on adjacent uses and the appearance of the area,
particularly given the varied topography in the area.
There are significant issues within the Kent project site that require detailed
design to ensure adequate mitigation, for instance the road design across the
Bakers Pit SSSI, the Scheduled Monument and Northfleet landfill. As well as how
the road will integrate with Ebbsfleet International Station and the proposed
development in the area. Yet there appear to be less detailed plans of the
proposed Resort road and junction arrangements than submitted in 2015.
RISK: Detrimental impact on neighbouring residents and character and
appearance of the area as well as prejudicing future development and
protected heritage assets.

5.

Construction Programme
The Council has some concerns about the reality of the construction programme
and the delivery of appropriate mitigation - for example: habitat creation and
archaeological evaluation - prior to work starting on the site.

Dartford Borough Council
21st September 2020
7

Agenda Item 10

Page 178

Response to consultation on London Resort 2020

PRELIMINARY ENVIRONMENTAL INFORMATION REPORT (PEIR)
The Council acknowledges that the PEIR is a preliminary report on the environmental
information but given the absence of much of the baseline surveys, assessments and
modelling, it does not contain sufficient depth of information on which the Council can
confidently make any judgement with regard to the detailed design and mitigation of
the proposal.

Chapter 7: Land use and Socio-economic effects
The Council would request that full consideration is given to the character, nature and
use of the associated development, as these will have different socio-economic
impacts to the venue itself, particularly the ‘conferention centre’, e-sports arena, and
other venues.
The Council is disappointed that although this chapter seems to cover a lot of
information the PEIR however provides no real analysis and there is a reliance on
documents for key data where the authors already accept they need updating. Some
of the documents referred to are older documents whilst other times using the updated
version of the same doc e.g. KCC GIF. Documents relied on include those that have
been superseded post 2015 e.g. Gravesham BC has a more recent retail study, or are
so out of date that they not credible, such as the Thurrock 5 year housing supply
referred to which is more than 5yrs+ out of date.
It is not clear from the PEIR how the development construction will impact on other
development coming forward at the same time. There is no analysis of what other
larger scale construction will be happening at the same time, as noted above the
proposal is likely to directly impact on the ability of Ebbsfleet Central to be built out
and there is no consideration given to the level of demand for construction jobs by
competing infrastructure, commercial and housing delivery. This has the potential to
delay critical infrastructure and employment floorspaces and could raise construction
costs of development sites, which is particularly critical with regard to housing costs
for local people and the ability of sites to provide affordable housing and s106
contributions.
RISK: The objectives and policies of the Local Plan cannot be delivered.

The Council notes that a retail and leisure assessment is to be produced and would
welcome involvement in the detailed scope of this. There is limited detail within the
PEIR with regard to this. Impact on the local town centres, in terms of both leisure and
retail, should be addressed. Theatres and social facilities, within the proposed
development which are open to the wider public should be considered with regard to
impact on local theatres. Both Dartford and Gravesend have local theatres that could
Dartford Borough Council
21st September 2020
8

Page 179

Agenda Item 10

Response to consultation on London Resort 2020

be impacted by the proposed theatres within the Gate 1 area and the non-gated
‘conferention’ centre, and there are further regional theatres in the wider area. The
proposal, if successful, is also likely to create demand for new retail and food and drink
uses (as well as hotels) seeking to locate close to the site but not forming part of the
development itself. The consequences of the proposal in terms of stimulating these
types of uses close to the development should also therefore be taken into
consideration but does not seem to have been considered in the PEIR. The impact of
the proposal on the town centres and planned new retail and leisure floorspace, such
as at Ebbsfleet Central and consented extensions to Bluewater Regional Shopping
Centre needs to be assessed and the impacts need to be identified clearly. The
Council is also concerned about the land use changes in the local area: the impact
on local shopping centres such as Swanscombe; and consequent changes on the
nature of the offer in the local shopping centres to a visitor-orientated offer, with a loss
of their continued ability to serve local needs. Mitigation proposals should be included
and the impacts with and without mitigation assessed.
RISK: Lack of understanding and appropriate mitigation of the retail and leisure
impacts could lead to undermining of town centres and Bluewater and the
communities they support, as well as diversion of investment from the emerging
Ebbsfleet Central proposals

The Council would like to understand the impacts with regard to displacement of
employment uses on the proposed site, particularly as these are predominantly “bad
neighbour uses”. Where is it anticipated that they will go? Will the services they provide
still be available to the local communities? What is the consequence of the loss of
these local businesses for the local communities, in terms of both employment, the
services they provide, as well as impact on the businesses themselves? The PEIR
although identifying this as an issue does not consider the types of uses and simply
advises that employment land has been identified in the Local Plan. There is no
acknowledgement that this identified employment land is there to be the needs of the
existing and growing population in Dartford. In addition, the identified sites referred to
in the PEIR are not offering land for the warehousing, waste transfer stations and
heavy industrial uses located within the project site. The Borough already has
significant pressure and impacts from development in the Green Belt where
commercial uses, such as those to be displaced from the site, seek cheap
accommodation.
RISK: Businesses which serve the local population are displaced out of their
existing catchment area. There is increased pressure for bad-neighbour uses
on unauthorised agricultural land in the Green Belt, creating an urban fringe
which result in visual harm to the landscape and undermines the purpose of the
Green Belt.
Dartford Borough Council
21st September 2020
9

Agenda Item 10

Page 180

Response to consultation on London Resort 2020

The Council is concerned about the lack of understanding of the local housing market
and the travel to work market. There is much data provided and comparison at the
national level but this does not help in the understanding of the dynamics of the local
housing market. Moreover, amalgamation of the data of the three Boroughs, including
Thurrock, within the Core Study Area further obscures understanding of the issues
and impacts and is misleading. Thurrock is very much larger than Dartford in area
and household numbers and, being on the other side of the river, is unlikely to
commensurately contribute to labour force and accommodation provision, particularly
at the construction phase but also in the operational phase.
Data is provided showing that Dartford is doing well in terms of meeting its Local
Housing Need requirement, which is the case. However, this data does not provide
an understanding of the local housing market. Much of the new housing is being taken
up by people moving out of London and is not affordable to many local residents. As
noted, the Private Rented Sector (PRS) in Dartford is comparatively small. The
shortage of PRS locally is exacerbated by this accommodation being taken up by
homeless households from London Boroughs. Despite one of the highest growth
levels in the country as compared to existing population, housing pressures in Dartford
are already severe. There is no capacity within the housing identified in the Local Plan
to meet the needs arising from the Resort from construction workers, workers during
the operational phase and visitors staying overnight. The additional demand from the
proposal has potential for significant impact on the ability of local people to access
new and existing housing. The conclusion of the report that the impact on homes and
their residents will be minor adverse (not significant) in 2025 and moderately adverse
in 2030 and 2038 (para 7.370) is not credible.
The use of existing data on travel to work times to existing employment within the
wards covered by the proposal is simplistic and reflects the nature of the existing jobs
and the long term relationship that the local communities of Swanscombe and
Northfleet have had with the employment areas on Swanscombe Peninsula. The
proposed leisure and entertainment attraction will provide significantly different job
types and potentially impact on the character of the existing community and housing
demands. The assessment of housing pressures should also include consideration of
increased rental and purchase prices as a result of pressure on accommodation and
changes to the type of residential accommodation in area, such as the need for
increased short stay lets and the impact this demand has on the local housing
availability. Displacement of local residents from the housing market due to the
increased housing demand and increase in prices should be assessed. Holiday and
short stay lets cannot generally be controlled outside of London where the character
of the property remains a single family dwelling. The increase in these housing types
is already causing harm to local residents of Dartford and the increased proliferation

Dartford Borough Council
21st September 2020
10

Page 181

Agenda Item 10

Response to consultation on London Resort 2020

of such units should be considered with regard to direct impact on neighbours, and the
changing character of communities should be assessed.
RISK: Increased pressure for short term lets in the surrounding area, which are
not controlled under planning legislation. Could result in impacts on
neighbouring residents, loss of community cohesion and change in the
character of the area.
RISK: Increased demand for housing arising from the proposal could mean that
the Council cannot provide for local needs, housing prices will rise and local
people will be displaced and/or there could be increased pressure to release
Green Belt for housing development.

Although the PEIR advises that a Health Impact Assessment will be carried out and
notes there could be an increase in admissions, particularly during the construction
periods which are over an extended time, to Darent Valley hospital there is no detailed
assessment and no suggested mitigation put forward. There seems to be no reference
to discussions with the Dartford and Gravesham NHS Trust
The references in the PEIR to new GP and surgery provision in the area are out of
date and over-estimate and in addition this new provision is identified to meet the
needs of the existing growth in the area. Surgeries and doctor waiting lists are already
over-capacity, as identified in some of the analysis. The development will therefore
create additional demand and need for further GPs, both during construction and from
staff living in the area at the operational stage. There is no indication of how this
additional need can be provided, whether there are sufficient GPS to take up new
posts and how additional infrastructure can be funded.
RISK: Lack of provision of healthcare to meet the construction and operational
needs, putting pressure on a healthcare service that is already over capacity in
the area.

There is no assessment of the impact on locally provided Council services.
Consideration of the impact on all such services and their cost to the Council should
be undertaken including:





Environmental Health (covering both inspection of food outlets, public health
risk assessment of the Resort in the construction and operational phase;
responding to complaints from the resident population on noise issues etc.)
Parking Enforcement outside the Resort boundary;
Planning – applications for discharge of conditions, amendments to DCO,
details of later phases etc,; as well consequential impacts outside of the
application boundary and the need to change planning policy.
Dartford Borough Council
21st September 2020
11

Agenda Item 10

Page 182

Response to consultation on London Resort 2020








Planning Enforcement – investigation of instances where the conditions of the
DCO are reported as being breached
Licensing – applications for alcohol licences
Community Safety – investigation and response to instances of public
disturbance / increases in theft etc arising as a consequence of the Resort (the
Council works in collaboration with the Police on such matters)
Street cleaning – additional litter on street and bins outside the Resort
Housing – additional demand for affordable housing; increased homelessness
etc arising from housing pressures generated by the Resort

The detailed design of the Resort is likely to give consideration to terrorist related
attack and proposed mitigations to deal with this. The Council suggests this should
also be considered within the Assessment, with consideration to the impacts of how
heightened alerts levels would affect operations, queuing etc and how evacuation
might impact on the local area, as well as the impacts of the security on the
surrounding community.

Chapter 8: Human health
The urban areas of North Kent have a poor record of health for a variety of reasons.
Obesity is a particular problem in the local area, although the PEIR notes there will be
additional walking routes, it does not consider the potential for detriment from
increased availability for junk food and passive entertainment. In addition, the potential
for a worsening local environment, such as dominance of the car on local roads which
discourages walking or cycling; increased density of development and smaller housing
types discouraging further activity and reducing access to outside space. In addition
the risk resulting from worsening air quality in the area (discussed below) should be
considered in more detail.
RISK: Potential for increased obesity, worsening air quality, poor environments
impacting on mental health.

Chapter 9 Transport, accessibility and movement
It is disappointing that no details have been provided of the traffic modelling and the
current consultation details contain less detail than the draft proposals of 2015.

The Council notes that KCC as highways authority have provided comments on the
Technical Notes submitted and referred to in the PEIR. But these comments have not
been addressed.
Dartford Borough Council
21st September 2020
12

Page 183

Agenda Item 10

Response to consultation on London Resort 2020

The transport chapter concentrates on visitors to the amusement park element of the
attraction with no discussion about the nature of the non-gated uses, such as the
‘conferention’ centre, which will be likely to generate peak vehicle trips.
The proposed Access Strategy is far too simplistic in the Council’s view for a proposal
of this complexity and variety of trip generators. It concentrates on the main vehicular
access, which the Council recognises as a key consideration with a number of
constraints. However, there is no discussion about pedestrian and cycle access from
the existing road network or how the “local access” may be controlled.
There is very little detail provided on access points to the site particularly during the
construction stage, but also during the operational phases at a local level and for nonvisitor traffic or non-motorised modes. For instance the Works Plans show
landscaping and pedestrian walks to London Road (Works no25a) but it is not clear if
this is to link with London Road or uses a tunnel under the road to access the staff
accommodation area. The location of these access points for pedestrians, although
welcome, can create impacts such as drop off and collection by car. In addition the
footways along London Road are narrow and there appear to be no proposals for
works to London Road itself.
It is not clear how staff living on site will access the Resort for work or where they will
park their cars.
RISK: Impact in highway safety, free-flow of traffic and neighbouring amenity
due to attraction of vehicular drop off. Plus inadequate width footways and
cycleways along the connecting classified road.
Chapter 9 seems to concentrate on the effects of transport and traffic and yet the
Transport Notes issued by London Resort assume notable levels of travel by other
modes. There appears to be little about: the assessment of these other modes; the
impact of the proposal on existing public transport services; capacity of services and
infrastructure; and whether it is realistic to assume these alternative modes are
useable/accessible. There is therefore no indication of consideration of the mitigation
required to make them viable alternatives to the car; or of the impact on local users of
use of these services by Resort visitors/employees.
As advised by Kent County Council, as local highways authority, in addition to highway
capacity it is key that a detailed review of the existing walking, cycling and public
transport facilities is undertaken for key destinations such as Greenhithe,
Swanscombe and Northfleet stations and surrounding cycle routes to the site. This
includes both capacity and quality of routes, with improvements implemented where
required.
There is little commitment to reducing the vehicle arrival modal share. The anticipated
mode share of 66% arriving by car is significantly above what the Council would expect
Dartford Borough Council
21st September 2020
13

Agenda Item 10

Page 184

Response to consultation on London Resort 2020

for a modern planned development immediately adjacent to international and domestic
stations and with access to river transport. This target disappointingly lacks ambition.

Rail transport
The PEIR advises that the primary station will be Ebbsfleet International, which may
be the case for visitors, but staff are more likely to use the North Kent Line as are more
local visitors. The assessment should include the capacity of local stations on the
North Kent Line to deal with visitors and staff and the capacity of the North Kent Line
services. Peak arrivals and departures of visitors to the Theme Parks and associated
development should be considered; existing stations and the surrounding
environments, particularly on the North Kent line, may not be able to cope with these
peaks. The assessment should include capacity of the station buildings, platforms,
stairways, lifts and their external spaces to support peak usage; provision of facilities
including ticketing and information, toilets, refreshments etc; and interchange facilities
including the capacity of the bus interchanges and capacity for drop-off/s collections
as well as the interface with walking and cycling routes. The assessment should
consider provision for disabled access. Safety aspects of potentially large crowds
within and around the station at peak times, including on platforms, stairways and
outside the station co-mingling with vehicular traffic should be considered. The Council
requests that rail services and infrastructure are included with the Environmental
Impact Assessment.
This is particularly concerning in the light of the proposal to dismiss Swanscombe
Station as an option and instead visitors will be encouraged to alight at Greenhithe
Station and use either Fastrack or a shuttle bus service to the resort. The Assessment
should include consideration of the use of Greenhithe Station and the impacts of this
proposal, both with regards to capacity of the station forecourt and bus interchange
and also the impact on the residential development (Ingress Park) that lies between
Greenhithe Station and the Resort and would be affected by increased services along
the Fastrack route. This should be compared with the impacts of using Swanscombe
station and the mitigation requirements.
It is noted that paragraph 9.64 acknowledges the need for infrastructure at other
stations, e.g. Swanscombe, to aid movement of people but no further detail is
provided. There is limited ability to carry out small-scale improvements to
Swanscombe Station to make it safe for a higher level of useage than currently. The
Council supports Network Rail proposals to consider a full redevelopment of the
existing station.
The proposal is likely to have an impact on the existing rail infrastructure and rolling
stock in terms of capacity to deal with the increased demand. The limited capacity on
the existing network at peak times is likely to have an impact on the assumptions made
with regard to use of the rail network by staff. There needs to be more detailed
Dartford Borough Council
21st September 2020
14

Page 185

Agenda Item 10

Response to consultation on London Resort 2020

analysis of where staff will come from and what times (acknowledging that not all staff
with arrive immediately before a Park opening, and that not all of the proposals relate
to an amusement park with opening times.
The Council notes that paragraph 9.268 acknowledges that HS1 and the North Kent
Line (NKL) are close to capacity.
It is disappointing however, that the PEIR assessment of rail passenger capacity is
limited to data for High Speed 1 from 2011. This is shortly after the Ebbsfleet station
opened and the pattern of usage of this station and demand from commuters, both
from the new housing in Ebbsfleet Garden City as well as commuters driving to the
station from the rest of Kent has increased significantly.
LRCH will be aware the Government is funding a study (AW2E) into options for
enhancing connectivity between Abbey Wood (as the present terminus for the south
east branch of Crossrail) and Ebbsfleet. The study is “mode-agnostic” and is focused
particularly on the level of development uplift different options could support and how
different options might be funded and financed. Extension of Crossrail itself is one of
the options under consideration; and whilst LRCH’s transport strategy is designed not
to be dependent upon such an intervention, it does not consider any consideration of
the additional benefits and access implications of connectivity to visitor and labour
markets that such an intervention could unlock.
RISK: There will be inadequate passenger capacity on NKL services and station
capacity will be inadequate at peak times. This could lead to increased car
usage.

Non motorised transport
The Transport Notes make assumptions about active travel modes but these
assumptions would need to be based on the availability of adequate infrastructure in
order to be valid. However there appears to be no indication in the Scoping Report, of
an assessment of this infrastructure. Actual walking and cycling routes over the mode
share trip origin areas and from the public transport and car park arrival points should
be assessed and mitigation put forward to demonstrate that the mode share
assumptions can be achieved.
The majority of the pedestrian routes referred to in Chapter 9 are leisure pedestrian
routes. There is no assessment of walking routes for staff and local visitors, including
users of the Thames Clipper service.
There is no discussion about A226 London Road, as noted above even though part of
this falls within the project boundary.

Dartford Borough Council
21st September 2020
15

Agenda Item 10

Page 186

Response to consultation on London Resort 2020

Bus transport
The assessment should identify the origins and routes of potential Fastrack users and
other bus services (TfL bus routes extend into Dartford and there are longer distance
buses serving Bluewater). The capacity assessment of local bus services must form
part of the assessment to ensure they can meet the demand of the development and
to identify where additional capacity is needed and how that will be delivered. The
impact on existing users should be assessed.
Reliance on Fastrack is likely to lead to the need for increased services, reducing the
headway between buses. Where service levels are required to be increased, the
impact on the local traffic network, junctions and noise and air quality impacts on the
local environment should be assessed. In particular, the impact on local traffic of
increased delay at signals, given the signal priority afforded Fastrack buses, should
be assessed.
In addition the assessment should include a capacity assessment of the infrastructure
supporting the bus services, e.g. bus stops, bus stands, bus interchange facilities and
dedicated bus routes.
It appears to be proposed that the main disembarkation station on the North Kent line
will be Greenhithe Station, with the Fastrack service providing the final leg of the
journey, although this is not set out in the PEIR. However, the Council must highlight
that the route between the station and the Resort takes the bus through the quiet
residential neighbourhood of Ingress Park, where many families with young children
live. This is a pedestrian-friendly residential area where through traffic is discouraged.
The impact of the increased frequency of bus services on this area should be
assessed, both at peak times for any assumed enhancement of the bus service, as
well as peak times for resident journeys. The assessment should include impact on
traffic flows through the area; impact on the local environment including noise and air
quality and other disturbance; impact on pedestrian and cycle routes in the area;
including any potential barrier effect of a high frequency of buses; visual impacts of
buses travelling through at a high frequency; and road safety issues. Additionally,
consideration should be given to the propensity for Resort visitors/employees to
disembark at Ingress Park to take advantage of the quieter Thames
Riverside/parkland environment and any consequent disturbance issues arising.
The Council consider that Swanscombe Station will be the main point to alight for staff
and visitors and this should be assessed fully.
RISK: The Fastrack bus services will not be available for local users and
commuters which is fundamental to the Council’s strategy for modal shift and
underpins growth and housing delivery in the area.

Dartford Borough Council
21st September 2020
16

Page 187

Agenda Item 10

Response to consultation on London Resort 2020

RISK: The quality of the residential environment at Ingress Park will be
undermined/lost impacting on the character of the area and the quality of the
environment and accommodation which meets an important need in the area.

Road traffic
It is disappointing that there is no detail of traffic modelling.
More detail is required with regard to the different uses proposed within the Project
site so that they can be assessed fully. More detail is also required with regard to the
“local servicing route” and the potential impacts of this and mitigation to ensure that
impacts are limited should be included.
The Council would emphasise the request by KCC to carry out an assessment for a
weekend peak. There is the potential for flows relating to London Resort to conflict
with flows generated elsewhere, particularly in the case of the Bluewater regional
shopping centre which also has significant leisure uses, and is another major
generator of visitor traffic in the immediate vicinity. Bluewater results in significant
flows at weekends and on a seasonal basis, including in association with special
events, as well as “off peak” peaks in traffic flow such as the morning opening which
may coincide with the morning peak of the leisure resort and afternoon peaks at school
pick up time. The Council, as well as the Highways Authority, need to be assured that
the assessment provides a worst case scenario of the impacts on local roads
particularly when peak trips for Bluewater coincide with high trip levels at London
Resort, such as weekends during the run up to Christmas or summer school holidays.
It is not clear how construction traffic will be considered in the assessment. The
commitment to the majority of construction materials travelling by River in the guide to
consultation is noted but there do not seem to be commitments to this in the PEIR or
suggested controls to ensure this should be included as part of the mitigation. Some
construction traffic and construction workers are less likely to arrive by the River,
particularly until the wharf is suitable for use, and this impact should be assessed,
particularly as the new Resort access road will not be available at the early stage of
construction. Detailing phasing of the construction supplied with the ES would be
helpful in this regard.
There should be detailed assessment of the construction phasing and the impacts on
the local road network as well as consideration of the cumulative impacts that might
occur due to other large scale construction projects in the area at the same time, such
as Lower Thames Crossing, Ebbsfleet Central and the generally high levels of
development taking place in the area. There is no detail of the Construction Phase
assessment.

Dartford Borough Council
21st September 2020
17

Agenda Item 10

Page 188

Response to consultation on London Resort 2020

RISK: Severe impact on local and strategic road network during construction
as materials and contractors need to access the construction sites including
the Resort road which is in itself a significant piece of infrastructure.

Car Parking
It is not clear how parking will be made available to visitors. The Council understands
that this will be part of the ticketing for the theme park visitors but it is unclear how
parking will be made available to users of the restaurants for instance, outside of the
payline? If there is a charge for this parking it will lead to pressure for parking in the
local area.
Detailed mitigation proposals with regard to control of off-site parking within the local
area and around Fastrack stops, which could be impacted, should be included as part
of the assessment. This may need to be addressed through parking regulation and
enforcement.
The parking survey of 2015 is out of date now.
RISK: Adequate on-site parking is not made available or is unattractive to
visitors outside the payline. Pressure for parking on local roads.

Mitigation
It is not clear what mitigation is proposed as there is no assessment or indeed detail
of the proposals.
Mitigation should consider the need for a methodology for measures to be introduced
as remedial actions post commencement where impacts are outside acceptable limits
together with the payment of penalties if the assessed vehicle levels are exceeded so
that a pot of money can be created to fund the remedial actions. This methodology of
potential toolkit measures to be determined in the future subject to the impacts arising
has been developed for other planning permissions in the area supported by penalties
for exceedances of traffic numbers above those anticipated.
Assessment of the existing walking, cycling and public transport infrastructure is likely
to lead to a need for mitigation and this should be considered with regard to the impact
on the existing developed areas as well as planned development and the unintended
consequences of such mitigation (eg. Creation of a direct access which might
encourage car parking around this connection).
Some of the “unintended consequences” of the mitigation and the Resort development
itself is unlikely to be foreseeable this far ahead and as the entertainment industry will
respond to changes both in fashions and impacts such as the Coronavirus pandemic.
Dartford Borough Council
21st September 2020
18

Page 189

Agenda Item 10

Response to consultation on London Resort 2020

The Council would suggest that consideration is given to a ‘local community’ fund as
compensation for the environmental/disturbance impacts of the development.

Chapter 11: Landscape and visual effects
As requested in the scoping response an additional long distance view should also be
considered from the higher ground to the south, from the North Downs. Many of the
viewpoints in the PEIR are from low points within valleys, there are no viewpoints from
the highest points on the Downs directly adjacent to the project site. The site is
prominent from the Bean junction area and St Clements Way and as a major road
junction and access to Bluewater shopping centre this view is seen by millions every
year.
Since there are proposals for development directly to the east and north of
Swanscombe, (e.g. infrastructure buildings) the Council consider the visual impacts of
these proposals on the residents and occupants adjacent to these areas should be
considered but this does not appear to have been taken into account.
Receptors in the area also include the high numbers of people who drive through the
area or visit Bluewater or travel through the area on the train. Consideration should
therefore be given to the impacts on these views and the perception of the Borough to
visitors and people travelling through it.
The issue of lighting on the Peninsula at night is something that still needs to be
considered in terms of visual impact and any proposals for mitigation.
The current parameter plans provide a great deal of flexibility on what the actual scale
of development is and it is important for any assessment to give a clearer idea of what
is actually involved and what it might look like. Is it a solid building or a ride that appears
more lightweight and as identified above the nature of the uses is very flexible. The
Council considers it is difficult to make a realistic assessment without this information.
Parameter plans imply structure heights of up to 100m AOD. Most of the site in Kent
is close to 0 AOD, but there is no detail of existing levels to understand these impacts.
The cliffs and chalk spines could provide some screening but it appears from the
maximum AODs set out that this is unlikely.
The Council is not convinced therefore by the initial judgements made in the PEIR with
regard to limited landscape impacts and consider that more detail should be provided
with regard to the proposal and the impacts.
RISK: Long distance views from high ground will not be assessed, the impacts
of the development will not be assessed fully in terms of visual impact
particularly in terms of the adjacent residents and the character and appearance
Dartford Borough Council
21st September 2020
19

Agenda Item 10

Page 190

Response to consultation on London Resort 2020

of the area surrounding the core of the site and therefore adequate mitigation
will not be provided.

Chapter 12: Ecology and Biodiversity
The KCC Ecology section provides advice to the Borough Council under a service
agreement. They provide the following comments with regard to chapter 12 of the
PEIR.
“The submitted ecological surveys in appendix 12.1 have not been reviewed in detail as at
the time of writing the reports the majority of the surveys were still being undertaken.
Surveys Results
The submitted report has detailed that the following species have been recorded within the
site to date or presumed to be present (* denotes surveys are on going or will be to
commencing)
 Wintering bird surveys – site provides functionally linked land associated with the
SPA and Ramsar sites
 28 species not associated with the SPA/Ramsar sites recorded during the wintering
bird survey
 93 species recorded during the breeding bird surveys*
 Suitable buildings and trees to be used by roosting bats*
 At least 9 species of foraging/commuting bats*
 Dormouse*
 Otter*
 Water vole*
 3 species of reptile
 At least 262 species of invertebrates*
 Aquatic Invertebrates*
 8 Rare Plants
 Harvest Mouse*
We highlight that no specific botanical survey has been carried out and we presume that the
plant species were recorded during other surveys and therefore the number of rare plants
within the site may be higher than recorded.
Records of Brown hare, hedgehog, pygmy shrew and weasel were identified during the data
search but the ES states they will not be taken forward as an Important Ecological Feature.
However we highlight that as no specific surveys have been carried out they may be present
within the site and therefore impacted by proposed development and therefore should be
considered within the submission. In addition we highlight that brown hare and hedgehog are
priority species (under S41 NERC Act) and impacts to species of principal importance / BAP
priority species are: “Capable of being a material consideration in the…making of planning
decisions.” (paragraph 84, Government Circular (ODPM 06/2005)),
Bat Surveys – it’s understood that internal examination of the buildings could not be carried
out as a result of Covid 19 restrictions. But due to the size and type of the proposed
development we would have expected emergence surveys to have been scheduled to
ensure it was understood if and to what extent bats were roosting within the buildings to
ensure the impact on roosting bats was fully understood.

Dartford Borough Council
21st September 2020
20

Page 191

Agenda Item 10

Response to consultation on London Resort 2020
We highlight that the species interest of the site is so high due to the range of habitats
present within the site including scrub, woodland , semi improved grassland, Coastal
Grazing Marsh, Open Mosaic Previously Developed Land, Reedbed and open water.
We have concerns with the conclusions of the report about the classification of the
importance of the species within the site and we are off the opinion that for many of the
species groups the conclusions are underrated. To demonstrate our point we have the
following examples:
•
reptiles have been assessed as district level importance even through the presence
of 3 species of reptile make the site suitable to be considered as a Local Wildlife Site.
Therefore we would expected the reptile population to have been assessed as county
importance.
•
Otters have been assessed as local importance but otters are not common within
Kent and therefore the presence of otter is of note – therefore we would expect otter to have
been assessed as at least county importance.
We highlight that as all the surveys have not been completed the importance classification
can not be fully considered and we advise that those conclusions must only be made once
the surveys have been completed.
Ecological Mitigation
Limited information has been provided on what ecological mitigation required to retain the
ecological interest of the site and instead the report details that the following are the key
mechanisms to implement the required mitigation.
•
• Construction and Environmental Management Plan
•
• Ecological Mitigation and Management Framework Plan
•
• Landscape and Ecological Management Plan
•
• Green Infrastructure Strategy
•
• Sustainable Drainage Scheme
•
• Detailed Lighting Strategy.
We highlight that until all the ecological surveys have been completed and it is fully
understood what is present on site it is impossible to fully understand what the impact will
be, what mitigation is required and if it is achievable. We advise that this is information is
required prior to identifying what mechanisms could be used to implement it.
We highlight that when we refer to impacts we refer to both direct and indirect impacts. This
includes (but not limited to) habitat loss, changes to habitat management, increase in noise,
increase in lighting and increase in disturbance.
Onsite mitigation
The proposed development will result in the direct loss of habitat for the implementation of
the proposed development and the remaining areas will be required to be multi-functional
and provide Open Space for recreation and SuDS in addition to the ecological mitigation.
Due to the loss of habitat, impacts from the proposed development (including noise and
lighting) and the other requirements on the retained habitat (in particular recreation) we are
concerned that, due to the ecological interest of the site, there will be a limit to the amount of
ecological mitigation which can be implemented successfully on site and there will be a
significant loss of biodiversity within the site.
Multifunctionality of open spaces
We understand that due to the limited amount of space within development sites that open
spaces do have to be multifunctional. However in these situation we would fully expect
information to be submitted clearly demonstrating what the constraints on site would be and
those requirements would not negatively impact the ecological mitigation.
The Swanscombe peninsula currently has limited recreational access so the site is largely
undisturbed. The creation of walking trails within the site would encourage people to use the
Dartford Borough Council
21st September 2020
21

Agenda Item 10

Page 192

Response to consultation on London Resort 2020
site and therefore result in an increase in disturbance within site and as such it may result in
the following:
•
• Reduction in breeding bird species/numbers due to an increase in noise / light
•
• Reduction in bat species/numbers due to increase in light (lighting my be required
within the opens space area due to H+S)
•
• Loss of habitat due to increase in trampling
Therefore we would fully expect any submitted information to fully assess the impact the
proposal would have from an increase in recreational pressure.
We highlight that the pressure from recreation would result from the proposed development
and existing and proposed housing within the surrounding area.
Surface Water Drainage Features are required to prevent surface water flooding and
therefore any SuDS Features will have to be managed in a way that means that they will
remain operational. We agree that SuDS features can benefit biodiversity but there will be
restrictions on the types of habitats that can establish within these areas and the
management priority will be for surface water drainage not biodiversity. Therefore there will
be limits on the mitigation which can be incorporated in to the SuDS scheme.
We highlight that due to the proposed recreational usage of the site there may be
requirements to avoid deep water bodies within the site for H+S reasons and therefore it
may not be possible to retain existing habitat types or species present within the site.
The report has detailed that there will be a direct impact on Botany Marshes LWS
designated sites due to alteration of hydrological regime through destruction of adjoining
wetland but advised that the proposed mitigation is certain subject to design and
implementation of suitable drainage and hydrological strategy. We highlight that the
implementation of appropriate mitigation is not certain until it has been clearly demonstrated
that an appropriate drainage and hydrological strategy can be impelmetned – we would
suggest that until that point the proposed mitigation is uncertain at best.
We highlight that there is a need for any future submissions to clearly demonstrate that they
have worked collaboratively with other specialists to ensure it is fully understood what the
direct and indirect impacts from the proposal is and if the mitigation is achievable.
Off Site
The submitted information has highlighted that due to the use of the site by wintering birds
the proposed development will have a negative impact on South Thames Estuary and
Marshes SSSI, Inner Thames Marshes SSSI , Medway Estuary and Marshes SPA/Ramsar/
SSSI and Thames Estuary and Marshes SPA/Ramsar and the mitigation is uncertain due to
the requirement of off site mitigation. We highlight to fully understand the if the impact can be
mitigated details of an off site mitigation area must be provided and it must be demonstrate
that the mitigation is achievable and it can provide suitable habitat in perpetuity. We highlight
that as the proposal will result in likely significant effect on the designated sites there will be
a need for any further information submitted to enable the determining authority undertake
an Appropriate Assessment.
The submitted information has highlighted that there will be a need for off site species
mitigation and we would expect information to be submitted demonstrating that suitable
mitigation areas can be created within Kent and ideally the immediate surrounding area. We
highlight that due to the size of any off site mitigation areas and the habitat creation
requirements it may not be possible for the proposed designated sites and the species
mitigation to be located within the same area. It must be clearly demonstrated that the
mitigation can be implemented and retained in perpetuity.
We highlight that we expect ecological surveys to have been carried out on the proposed off
site mitigation areas. This will enable consideration of whether the proposed off site
mitigation is appropriate and any requirements for habitat creation would not negatively
impact any species currently present within the site.
Net Gain
Dartford Borough Council
21st September 2020
22

Page 193

Agenda Item 10

Response to consultation on London Resort 2020
The submitted information has detailed that the applicant is proposing to implement Net Gain
and detailed that the proposed development will result in a loss of 355 units however the Net
Gain information has been submitted as a PDF rather than a excel Metric and therefore
there it is difficult to interrogate the data to consider if we agree with the conclusions. To
enable full consideration of this matter we would expect a excel Net Gain Metric and
corresponding maps showing the locations of the habitats detailed within the metric. We
highlight that the loss of habitat (in Net Gain terms) may be higher than 15%. In situations
where Net Gain is proposed we would expect information to be submitted demonstrating that
it can be implemented and retained in perpetuity.”

RISK: There is a significant risk at present that the proposal will not be assessed
fully with regard to ecology and biodiversity and will result in signicant harm to
the bio-diversity of the sites.
The Council would also raise the issue that it will seek a s106 agreement with regard
to the management of the Green Zones to ensure that they are retained as such in
perpetuity to ensure there is no “permitted development associated with the
“amusement park” as suggested in the DCO and that the sites aren’t subsequently
used for expansion of the “theme park” through themed nature trails. These Green
Zones should be managed such that they remain open and are not behind a payline.

Chapter 14: Cultural heritage and archaeology
Kent County Council Heritage Conservation, who are the Council’s advisors with
regard to archaeology, have provided the following to the Council. Listed Buildings are
matters dealt with by the Council.
“Chapter 14 of the PEIR covers Cultural heritage and archaeology and correctly notes that
nationally and internationally important archaeological remains are known to be present
within the Kent part of the site; these include the designated sites of Palaeolithic Bakers Hole
SSSI and scheduled monument, Neolithic remains along the Ebbsfleet valley and Roman
remains around Springhead Roman town and religious focus. In addition, nationally
important undesignated archaeological assets are known or expected to be present within
the site and under the NPPF (para 194 footnote 63) should be treated as though they are
designated.
Chapter 14 is supported by a draft Archaeological Desk based assessment 2015, a draft
Archaeological deposit model and characterisation 2015, a Historic Landscape assessment
2015, a fluxgate gradiometer survey 2016, an Earth resistance and EI survey 2017 and a
Palaeolithic Desk-based assessment 2017. As stated in the draft Desk based assessment
and the draft deposit model and characterisation, both of these reports will need to be
updated to take account of the later reports noted above and the updated Historic
Environment Record search which was obtained in 2020. As up to date reports have not
been shared as part of the statutory consultation, draft updated reports should be sent to
statutory consultees and local authorities for comment prior to DCO submission.
The updated Archaeological desk-based assessment should also include a detailed historic
map regression (see KCC standard specification current version), a specialist assessment of
industrial archaeology (including the cement industry, Bell Wharf and the super pylon), which
Dartford Borough Council
21st September 2020
23

Agenda Item 10

Page 194

Response to consultation on London Resort 2020
seems to have been underestimated in the reports so far, and a detailed archaeological
impact assessment, which should include temporary construction impacts and landscape
and biodiversity mitigation alongside the development proposals.
In addition, archaeological field evaluation will be required in several areas of the site prior to
submission of the DCO. In particular, the areas which require evaluation to be undertaken
and reported on before submission of the DCO include Bakers Hole SSSI, Scheduled
Monument and adjacent non-designated archaeological remains (transit route, people
mover, interchange area); non-designated archaeological remains in the area of Springhead
Roman town and religious focus; designated and non-designated archaeological remains of
earlier prehistoric date along the flood plain and adjacent areas of the river Ebbsfleet; and
borehole assessment of alluvial areas relating to the river Thames. Natural England and
Historic England are the main advisers in relation to the designated sites but important
archaeological remains are known to be present outside the designated areas so KCC
Heritage Conservation would wish to agree the Written Schemes of Investigation for the
evaluation work prior to it being undertaken and the draft reports prior to DCO submission.
The work should be carried out according to KCC standard specifications.
Information in the PEIR is unclear about the proposed location of the people mover – the
Illustrative masterplan seems to show Option 1 of the routes considered in the Palaeolithic
DBA, whereas Masterplan fig 4.2e (described in 4.27 as the current proposal) seems to
show option 3 of the routes assessed in the Palaeolithic DBA and paragraph 4.45 states:
‘The solution now proposed involves a people mover route comprising a lightweight road laid
on the surface of Baker’s Hole, with minimal ground penetration to avoid disturbance to the
geological and Palaeolithic features that justify the protection of the site. From the proposed
travel interchange the route would cross the designated area and then follow a course along
the eastern edge of Baker’s Hole. To facilitate its future removal or realignment, the people
mover route would not be adopted as public highway.’
Option 2 of the people mover routes causes least harm to cultural heritage (see Palaeolithic
DBA) – this route should therefore be chosen or a full explanation provided within chapter 4
of why it has not and clarity as to which of the other routes is proposed. As noted above
archaeological field evaluation should be undertaken prior to submission of the DCO.
In addition, all of the proposed routes for the people mover, transit route and interchange will
have an impact on non-designated archaeological remains of expected national importance;
field evaluation is required prior to submission of the DCO, as noted above.
I welcome the intention noted in Chapter 14 to produce a Historic Environment Framework
and strategy for submission with the DCO; a draft documents should be sent to local
authorities and statutory consultees for comment prior to submission of the DCO. The
document should include agreements for management and enhancement of heritage assets
within LR land ownership which will include Bakers Hole SSSI, SM and adjacent
archaeological remains.
I also welcome the statement in 14.215 that ‘Opportunities will be sought to mitigate effects
on the historic environment through improving public understanding and engagement with,
and protection of, the historic environment. The nature of the use, display and interpretation
of the archaeological and built heritage evidence is currently under discussion and will be
more fully addressed in the ES and supporting appendices but options include: …’. Again,
draft proposals should sent to local authorities and statutory consultees for comment prior to
submission of the DCO. There are opportunities to improve the condition, management,
display, and interpretation of the important archaeological remains within and adjacent to the
site – this should be explained in detail in the DCO following further discussion local
Dartford Borough Council
21st September 2020
24

Page 195

Agenda Item 10

Response to consultation on London Resort 2020
authorities and statutory consultees, and developer contributions should be agreed to allow
these ambitions to be achieved. Understanding of the historic environment of the area will
help in understanding the context of the development and through careful design can help
develop a sense of place and sense of identity of the development within the local area.
Detailed comments
Temporary rights and access to land – mapping of designated and non-designated heritage
assets needs to be undertaken and safeguards put in place to ensure damage is not
inadvertently caused.
4.46 – the Bakers Hole SSSI should also be considered in the Cultural Heritage section in
terms of its Palaeolithic archaeology and the need to consider geological evidence to
understand Palaeolithic archaeology
The Kent project site 5.23 onwards should include description of cultural heritage.
5.32 Welcome recognition of 1965 ‘super pylon’ as a local landmark but it also needs to be
considered as an industrial heritage asset, in terms of views and setting etc.
5.45 Land remediation proposals and 5.57 landscaping should be assessed for
archaeological impacts.
5.63 people mover and transit interchange and 5.68 access route - impacts on
archaeological remains should be noted.
5.75 river transport – heritage assessment of proposals at Bell Wharf is needed and
appropriate mitigation.
5.76 flood defence and 5.77 habitat improvement – archaeological impact assessment and
appropriate mitigation is needed.
5.66 construction activities – need for archaeological investigations has been noted but there
is also a need for archaeological evaluation, impact assessment and mitigation through
design first.
Written schemes of investigation and Construction practice codes should also be agreed
before consent is granted.
The Construction Environmental Management Plan and Construction Transport
Management Plan need to take full account of archaeological impact assessment and
mitigation requirements.
Ch 6 Scope of EIA and methodology Table 6.1 should be amended to include non-World
Heritage Site internationally important heritage assets – the latter is based on political
decisions not significance thresholds. Expert professional judgement should be used.
Table 6.1 should also be amended for all levels of sensitivity to include non-designated
heritage assets as possible sensitive sites, see NPPF para 194 footnote 63. Again
professional judgement should be used.
9.390 Mitigation measures should be agree with LPAs and statutory consultees before
submission of the DCO.
Ch 10 As noted above the impact on heritage assets at Bell Wharf needs to be assessed
including from dredging.

Dartford Borough Council
21st September 2020
25

Agenda Item 10

Page 196

Response to consultation on London Resort 2020
Ch 11 Landscape and visual effects – Landscape Strategy document including planting
proposals should take account of heritage assets.
The landscape character assessment should take account of historic landscape character
which at the moment it does not seem to include.
The site is referred to as brownfield or having previous industrial use but the industrial
heritage character needs to be assessed further.
Table 11.4 should include Springhead Roman town, St Botolph’s Church, All Saints Church,
Northfleet historic town, and Swanscombe peninsula super pylon.
Chapter 14, the draft Archaeological desk-based assessment and the draft deposit model
etc will need to be updated as noted above and stated in 14.3. The potential for survival of
important industrial heritage remains should be considered in more detail rather than just
assuming that recent industrial use will mean their wholesale removal. Further assessment
by an appropriately qualified specialist will be required. Draft reports should be provided prior
to submission of the DCO.
It is disappointing that archaeological field evaluation has not yet been completed and
reported on. Draft reports should be provided prior to submission of the DCO.
14.57 – KCC standard specifications for archaeological work (copies attached to the email)
should be added to the relevant guidance section.
Palaeolithic desk-based assessment - more detailed assessment of impacts including
sections, at the southern end of the people mover, transport access and transit interchange
is required.
See also general comments re cultural heritage above.
It is not possible to comment on most of Chapter 14 until the baseline assessment has been
updated and the field evaluations carried out. In the absence of up to date information in the
statutory consultation, a draft of Chapter 14 should be provided to the local authorities and
statutory consultees for comment before it is finalised.
Ch 18 The impact of the proposals on the geological significance of Bakers Hole SSSI does
not seem to have been assessed in this chapter or elsewhere in the PEIR. When it is
assessed should be aware that geological character and value contributes to Palaeolithic
significance also.
Fig 5.4 Land use plan - the whole of Bakers Hole SSSI/SM and adjacent nationally important
non-designated Palaeolithic archaeology is shown as resort access – this introduces too
much flexibility and uncertainty into the proposals and should be amended to show the
agreed route.
Fig 9.5 – should include other important heritage assets.
Fig 11.2 should include nationally important non-designated archaeological assets.
Fig 14.1 and 14.3 Swanscombe skull SSSI and NNR should be included on plan of Kent
heritage assets.
Figs 14.3 to .7 need to be updated.”

Dartford Borough Council
21st September 2020
26

Page 197

Agenda Item 10

Response to consultation on London Resort 2020

KCC Heritage Conservation have also supplied to the Council standard specifications
for evaluation and investigation stage documents which they require to be submitted
as it is understood that it is useful to supply such documents at the DCO stage.
The Council notes that the Historic Environment Framework and Strategy for
submission with the DCO referred to above does not appear to have been included in
the Draft DCO.
It appears from thee comments that a significant amount of work, assessment and
detailed design needs to be completed in order for the impacts on cultural heritage
and archaeology to be understood and mitigated.
RISK: The cultural heritage and archaeology in the area may be lost without
adequate investigation and interpretation.

Chapter 15: Noise and vibration
The Council notes that there is a commitment to discuss the methodology of the
assessment and the noise receptors with the Council’s Environmental Health advisors
and welcomes this. However, there has been no discussion yet with regard to this
methodology and the Council is concerned about the limited time that now may be
available to discuss and agree such detail.
The assessment should include consideration of the impacts from the evening uses
and venues proposed, as well as impacts away from the Resort at transport
interchanges and other locations where visitors/ employees/construction workers may
gather. There is little mention of the evaluation of associated development such as
hotels/convention centre.
The Council notes that a floating pontoon is proposed to serve Thames Clipper, which
will extend from Bells Wharf towards Ingress Park (a waterfront residential
development). As noise cannot be attenuated well over water this should be assessed
in detail with regard to the impact on the adjacent existing dwellings as well as the new
residential development (with a resolution to grant planning permission subject to a
legal agreement) which will extend over the foreshore on a pier structure
There is no assessment of residential receptors near infrastructure buildings,
particularly those buildings proposed to the rear of Swanscombe High Street.
RISK: Inadequate assessment of noise potential could result in inadequate
mitigation

Chapter 16: Air Quality
Dartford Borough Council
21st September 2020
27

Agenda Item 10

Page 198

Response to consultation on London Resort 2020

General comments on the proposed methodology
The proposed assessment methodology is generally accepted. However the Council
notes that the report states that the traffic modelling will be used to identify the full
study area used for the air quality assessment. One of the Council’s main concerns is
the impact that the development will have on the local road network. Whilst the majority
of vehicles accessing the site are likely to use the Strategic Road Network(SRN) there
may be a large number of vehicles that are displaced from the SRN on to the local
road network as a result of increased congestion. This scenario should be included
within the modelling. The impacts of additional bus services, their direct contribution
to air pollution, as well the air quality consequences of increased congestion on the
local road network should also be considered.
Given the potential for wider impacts arising from the development, the other Air
Quality Management Areas in the Borough should also be considered, not only the
AQMA immediately adjacent to the site along the A226 and that at Bean junction.
It is suggested that in order to ensure the final assessment meets the Council’s normal
requirements that the detail of the proposed assessment is discussed further with the
Council’s Environmental Health advisors and agreed before the modelling work is
carried out.
Potential mitigation put forward to reduce air quality should be included and assessed
within the EIA.
Consideration should be given to new areas with regard to worsening air quality which
may lead to a need for further AQMAs to be declared. The Council would expect the
developer to pay for designating such AQMA and funding mitigation. Examples might
be worsening air quality in Ingress Park, due to the increased number of buses, cars
looking for park etc, or worsening air quality on the new development in Ebbsfleet
Garden city adjacent to Ebbsfleet junction and the Resort access road.
Details should be provided of the proposed energy centre, in terms of location and
emissions.
The air quality of the proposed riverboat landing appears to have been assessed with
regard to the construction impacts but there seems to be no assessment with regard
to the operational impacts on air quality.
RISK: Increased levels of pollutants within the Council’s AQMAs which are all
based around the local and strategic road network. Need for further AQMA’s to
be declared where new housing is coming forward in the Garden City.
RISK: Increased emissions as a result of the development could delay the
achievement of Air Quality objectives in the Borough.

Dartford Borough Council
21st September 2020
28

Page 199

Agenda Item 10

Response to consultation on London Resort 2020

Chapter 16: Water Resources Management
The Council will defer to comments made by the Environment Agency and the Lead
Local Flood Authority (KCC) and other statutory consultees with regard to this
matter.
However, the water management issues in this area are complex and must be
considered with regard to other developments coming forward. The Council as local
planning authority needs to ensure that the development does not prejudice the
infrastructure available for other developments, particularly given the level of
development coming forward within the Borough. The Council will expect the
assessment to consider how the impact of the development on water resource
availability will be mitigated.
The Council will also expect the water management mitigation proposals to set out
how water will be conserved and water use minimised both during the construction
phase and the operation phase.

Chapter 18: Soils and ground conditions
The Council would suggest the involvement of their contaminated land officer in the
detailed site investigation methodology and assessment in order to ensure that the
risk to human health is prevented.

Chapter 19: Waste and Materials
The Council defers to KCC as waste authority with regard to the detail of this
assessment.
However, the Council would expect the mitigation proposed to seek to minimise waste
generated, maximise recycling and seek to minimise impacts with regards to the
removal of waste from the site. The number of vehicle movements should also be
minimised. If, as is likely, a commercial waste company undertakes the waste
collection operations, there would need to be assessment provided of the
origin/destination of the waste vehicles to feed into the traffic modelling. Waste
disposal is a KCC matter but it may have land use effects on the area if there are
additional requirements for waste sorting/recycling/ incineration or other disposal
facilities such as anaerobic digestion.
The Works set out in the DCO include provision for waste transfer facilities. More
details of the location of this should be provided, as the works plans provide a number
of alternative location. Together with details as to whether such a facility would be
dedicated to the Resort only or accessible to other waste companies.
Dartford Borough Council
21st September 2020
29

Agenda Item 10

Page 200

Response to consultation on London Resort 2020

Draft Development Consent Order
Detailed comments on the draft Development Consent Order are attached to this
response (appendix B).
Some issues have been touched on above but as identified there appears to be
inadequate detail on implementation and phasing and the requirement for approval of
details of works parcels is limited.
The provisions for deemed consent seem to give very little time for consideration of
what could be complex detailed matters, given the lack of information submitted with
the proposal. Although not matters for the Council, the risk to the Council is that
important matters in the Borough managed by other statutory providers will not be
considered fully.
Article 51 advises that the development is an amusement park for permitted
development purposes. But the Council would argue that a lot of the principal
development and all the associated development is not actually the amusement park.
The area to be considered for this benefit should be defined on a plan. The risk is that
permitted development could take place on Green Zones or landscaped areas or could
impact on neighbouring residents.

Mitigation and s106
In order to start to identify some of the mitigations required as a result if the proposal
the Council has also attached a table of the s106 requirements (Appendix C) which
should be considered as a starting point for discussions on the matter. The Council
reserves the right to add or amend this list of requirements as the impacts of the
proposal become more fully understood.

Dartford Borough Council
21st September 2020
30

Appendix B
INITIAL PRELIMINARY COMMENTS ON THE DRAFT DCO AND DCO REQUIREMENTS – TO BE
DISCUSSED FURTHER WITH APPLICANT PRE-SUBMISSION
Provision

LRCH dDCO

Suggested amendments

General

Commentary
While it is noted that the new link road is to be
"unadopted" EDC and DBC note that there is
no provision in the dDCO that would deal with
the process for the construction to an
appropriate standard, of highways generally,
and their subsequent handover and adoption in
the case of highways, or works to existing
adopted highways. While this is a matter
primarily for the relevant highway authorities
EDC and DBC is concerned to ensure that
highways in and connecting to its areas are
appropriately maintained.

Art 2(1)

Definition of maintain:

117127441.5\gm05

1

Agenda Item 10

"maintain" includes inspect, repair, adjust, alter,
remove, refurbish, reconstruct, replace and
improve any part, but not replace the whole of
the authorised development, but only insofar as
such activities do not give rise to any materially
new or materially different environmental effects
than those identified in the environmental
statement and “maintenance” and “maintaining”
are to be construed accordingly;

In respect of the power to maintain please see
comments in respect of article 4 below. There
are concerns that this definition of maintain
appears to be very wide. EDC and DBC would
expect LRCH's environmental statement to
very clearly demonstrate that "maintenance" in
these terms has been fully assessed.

Page 201

Similarly EDC and DBC wish to ensure that the
link road does not form a barrier preventing the
laying of utilities and other services in or
crossing the link road, and other important
services, are not impeded from serving the
urban development area.

INITIAL PRELIMINARY COMMENTS ON THE DRAFT DCO AND DCO REQUIREMENTS – TO BE
DISCUSSED FURTHER WITH APPLICANT PRE-SUBMISSION
Definition of relevant planning authority:
“the relevant planning authority” means the
planning authority for the area in which land to
which the provisions of this Order apply is
situated and, in respect of the requirements,
means the planning authority in whose
administrative district the part of the authorised
development to which the requirement relates is
located;

Definition
authority:

of

relevant

planning

"the relevant planning authority" means—
(a) the planning authority for the area in
which land to which the provisions of this
Order apply is situated and, or, in respect
of land within the urban development area,
Ebbsfleet Development Corporation; or

[Insert the following new definitions in
alphabetically in article 2(1)]
"Ebbsfleet Development Corporation"
means the urban development corporation
established by the Ebbsfleet Development
Corporation (Area and Constitution) Order
or its successors to its planning functions;
"urban development area" means the
urban development area designated by the
Ebbsfleet Development Corporation (Area
and Constitution) Order 2015;

117127441.5\gm05

2

EDC's development area was designated by
the Ebbsfleet Development Corporation (Area
and Constitution) Order 2015. Its planning
functions over its urban development area
were transferred to it by the Ebbsfleet
Development
Corporation
(Planning
Functions) Order 2015 ("Planning Functions
Order"). The effect of article 3(a) of the
Planning Functions Order is that EDC is the
local planning authority for the urban
development area, for all purposes for Part 3
(control over development) of the Town and
Country Planning Act 1990, save for in respect
of section 61E to 61Q (which deal with
neighbourhood planning).
Once EDC has completed its statutory
objective of the regeneration of the urban
development area the Secretary of State may
decide to transfer its planning functions and
wind up the development corporations affairs.
Should this occur then the reference in the
definition
of
"Ebbsfleet
Development
Corporation" would ensure that the recipient of
those planning functions would also fall within
the definition of "relevant planning authority".
The definition of "urban development area"
cross refers to the Secretary of State's
designation of EDC's urban development area

Page 202

(b) in respect of the requirements, means
the
planning
authority
in
whose
administrative district the part of the
authorised development to which the
requirement relates is located, or, in the
case of Requirements that relate to the
parts of the authorised development within
the urban development area, Ebbsfleet
Development Corporation.

As drafted the definition of "the relevant
planning authority" does not appropriately
reflect EDC's planning functions for its urban
development area.

Agenda Item 10

Art 2(1)

INITIAL PRELIMINARY COMMENTS ON THE DRAFT DCO AND DCO REQUIREMENTS – TO BE
DISCUSSED FURTHER WITH APPLICANT PRE-SUBMISSION
by the Ebbsfleet Development Corporation
(Area and Constitution) Order 2015.
Art 3(3)

Development consent granted by the Order

This article allows for the wholesale
replacement of Work Nos.1 and 2. Unlike
"maintain" (which includes "replace") this is not
constrained to not giving rise to any materially
new or materially different environmental
effects to those assessed in the environmental
statement. At a minimum this wording must be
added.

(3) Subject to the provisions of this Order,
including the requirements in Schedule 2, the
undertaker may at any time replace any part of
the authorised development comprised in
Works Nos. 1 and 2.

(4) Subject to article 6 (parameters of
authorised development) the works numbered
in Schedule 1 (authorised development) must
be constructed in the lines and situations shown
on the works plans and to the levels shown on
the sections.

Art 4

Maintenance of the authorised development
4. The undertaker may at any time maintain the
authorised development, except to the extent
that this Order, or an agreement made under
this Order, provides otherwise.

117127441.5\gm05

3

It is not clear how the parameter plans, works
plans, highways plans and sections relate to
one another. See comments below in respect
of article 6.

Maintenance
development

of

the

authorised

4. Subject to the Requirements, the
undertaker may at any time maintain the
authorised development, except to the
extent that this Order, or an agreement
made under this Order, provides
otherwise.

Given the breadth of the power to maintain that
is
sought
(including
its
wholesale
replacement), it is appropriate that it is clear,
for the avoidance of any doubt, that the power
to maintain is subject to the requirements. This
is necessary to ensure that appropriate
mitigation for the maintenance of the
authorised development, in line with the

Agenda Item 10

Art 3(4)

Page 203

The EM does not explain why this power is
required in addition to the wide power to
"maintain" in article 4, the definition of which
includes "replace". Nor does it explain, if this
power is different, how it is intended to differ
from "maintenance."

INITIAL PRELIMINARY COMMENTS ON THE DRAFT DCO AND DCO REQUIREMENTS – TO BE
DISCUSSED FURTHER WITH APPLICANT PRE-SUBMISSION

Art 5(1)

Maintenance of drainage works

(1) Nothing in this Order, or the construction,
maintenance or operation of the authorised
development under it, affects any responsibility
for the maintenance of any works connected
with the drainage of land, whether that
responsibility is imposed or allocate by or under
any enactment, or otherwise, unless otherwise
agreed in writing between the undertaken and
the person responsible.

(1) Nothing in this Order, or the
construction, maintenance or operation of
the authorised development under it,
affects any responsibility for the
maintenance of any works connected with
the drainage of land, whether that
responsibility is imposed or allocated by or
under any enactment, or otherwise, unless
otherwise agreed in writing between the
undertakern and the person responsible.

Parameters of the authorised development
6.—(1) The authorised development is to be
carried out within the parameters shown and
described on the parameters plans and in
carrying out the authorised development the
undertaker may—
(a) deviate laterally from the lines or situations
of the authorised development shown on the
works plans to the extent of the limits of
deviation shown on those plans;
(b) deviate vertically from the levels shown on
the sections—

117127441.5\gm05

4

Please correct
identified.

the

typographical

errors

Lateral deviations are determined by reference
to the Works Plans.
Vertical deviations are determined by
reference to the Sections. No Section drawings
have been provided for statutory consultation.
Highway works may deviate vertically 1.5m
upwards or downward by reference to the
levels shown on the highways plans. No
highways plans have been provided in the
consultation.
Given that both the highways plans and the
sections have not been made available for the
statutory consultation EDC and DBC are not
able to provide a comprehensive view on this
article. Given those limitations EDC offer the

Page 204

Art 6

Maintenance of drainage works

Agenda Item 10

environmental statement when it is complete,
is secured.

INITIAL PRELIMINARY COMMENTS ON THE DRAFT DCO AND DCO REQUIREMENTS – TO BE
DISCUSSED FURTHER WITH APPLICANT PRE-SUBMISSION
(i) to any extent upwards within the limits of
deviation shown on the sections; or
(ii) to any extent downwards as may be
necessary, convenient or expedient;
(c) in respect of the highway works deviate
vertically from the levels shown on the highways
plans to any extent not exceeding 1.5 metres
upwards or downwards; and

Layered on top of the above permitted
deviations is a requirement for the
development to be carried out "within the
parameters shown on the parameter plans".
The parameter plans show particular subdivisions but these do not necessarily align with
the numbered works shown on the Works
Plans. It is not clear to what extent the
Parameter Plans are intended to govern the
lateral location of the numbered works, or the
whether they are concerned only with the
vertical parameters for those parts of the
authorised development shown on the
parameter plans.
The parameter plans do not establish
parameters for other key areas of the
authorised development, for example, the
highway works.
LRCH should clearly explain how it envisages
these plans are intended to establish the

117127441.5\gm05

5

Agenda Item 10

(2) Part 2 (procedure for discharge of
requirements) of Schedule 2 (requirements)
applies to an application to the Secretary of
State for certification under paragraph (1) as
though it were an approval required by a
requirement under that Schedule.

Boundaries between the areas of numbered
works shown on the Works Plans may deviate
laterally by 20m either side. This is a significant
deviation that may affect impacts, when those
are appropriately assessed and it will be
important that the environmental statement
demonstrates how deviations have been
assessed.

Page 205

(d) in respect of any boundary between the
areas of two numbered works deviate laterally
by 20 metres either side of the boundary as
shown on the works plans, except that these
maximum limits of deviation do not apply where
it is demonstrated by the undertaker to the
Secretary of State’s satisfaction and the
Secretary of State, following consultation by the
undertaker with the relevant planning authority,
certifies accordingly that a deviation in excess
of these limits would not give rise to any
materially new
or
materially different
environmental effects in comparison with those
reported in the environmental statement.

following comments and looks forward to
further detail being made available to it in
advance of LRCH submission of its application
for development consent.

INITIAL PRELIMINARY COMMENTS ON THE DRAFT DCO AND DCO REQUIREMENTS – TO BE
DISCUSSED FURTHER WITH APPLICANT PRE-SUBMISSION

Art 8(4)

Transfer of Benefit of Order

There is a missing conjunction between article
8(4)(a) and 8(4)(b).

(4) The consent of the Secretary of State is
required for the exercise of the powers of
paragraph (1) except where—

Agenda Item 10

parameters of the proposed development
against which it will carry out its environmental
assessment for the construction, operation,
maintenance and decommissioning of the
authorised development.

It is suggested it should be an "or".

(b) the time limits for all claims for compensation
in respect of the acquisition of land or effects
upon land under this Order have elapsed and—
(i) no such claims have been made;
(ii) any such claims that have been made have
all been compromised or withdrawn;
(iii) compensation has been paid in final
settlement of all such claims has taken place;
(iv) payment of compensation into court in lieu
of settlement of all such claims has taken place;
or
(v) it has been determined by a tribunal or court
of competent jurisdiction in respect of all claims
that no compensation is payable.

117127441.5\gm05

6

Page 206

(a) the transferee or lessee is the holder of a
licence under section 6 of the Electricity Act
1989(a);

INITIAL PRELIMINARY COMMENTS ON THE DRAFT DCO AND DCO REQUIREMENTS – TO BE
DISCUSSED FURTHER WITH APPLICANT PRE-SUBMISSION
Art 10

Planning permission

Planning Permission

10.—(1) This article applies where the land is
used for temporary construction works.

10.—(1) This article applies where the
Order land is used for temporary
construction works.

(2) Where this article applies, section 57(2)
(planning permission required for development)
of the 1990 Act applies as if the development
consent granted by this Order were planning
permission granted for a limited period.
(3) Development consent granted by this Order
is to be treated as specific planning permission
for the purposes of section 264(3)(a) (cases in
which land is to be treated as not being
operational land) of the 1990 Act.

(2) Where this article applies, section 57(2)
(planning
permission
required
for
development) of the 1990 Act applies as if
the development consent granted by this
Order were planning permission granted
for a limited period.

With respect to article 10(3) a resort operator is
not a class of person to which section 264(3)(a)
of the 1990 Act applies. It is therefore unclear
what the purpose or effect is of this general
declaration and no specific justification or
explanation is provided in the EM.
Amusement parks do benefit from permitted
development (Class B of Part 18 of the Town
and Country Planning (General Permitted
Development) (England) Order 2015) however
such permitted development does not employ
the concept of "operational land" which is the
preserve of statutory undertakers.
Note the heading in the EM refers to the
heading for this article being "Application of the
1990 Act" whereas the dDCO refers to it as
"Planning permission".

Application of the Community Infrastructure
Levy Regulations 2010
1) The Community Infrastructure Levy
Regulations 2010(a) apply to the authorised
development as if regulation 5(2) of those
Regulations (meaning of “planning permission”)
referred to development consent which is
deemed to be granted for a limited period by an
order made under section 114(1)(a) (grant or

117127441.5\gm05

7

The intention of the drafting appears, as is
explained in the EM, to be to ensure that
temporary construction, including temporary
construction that may yet be in place for a long
period of time, is made subject to CIL.
EDC is supportive of this general principle.
However, paragraph (2) is far from clear as to
its scope. What would be temporary

Agenda Item 10

Art 11

Page 207

(3) Development consent granted by this
Order is to be treated as specific planning
permission for the purposes of section
264(3)(a) (cases in which land is to be
treated as not being operational land) of
the 1990 Act

"Land" in this context is insufficiently precise
and it is suggested that it is replaced with the
defined term "Order land".

INITIAL PRELIMINARY COMMENTS ON THE DRAFT DCO AND DCO REQUIREMENTS – TO BE
DISCUSSED FURTHER WITH APPLICANT PRE-SUBMISSION
construction works and other temporary
buildings? The Applicant should clarify this,
perhaps by reference to a schedule.

(2) Development consent is deemed to be
granted for a limited period for temporary
construction works and any other temporary
buildings or works authorised by this Order.
Art 12

Planning Permission

12.—(1) If planning permission is issued
pursuant to the 1990 Act for development any
part of which is within the Order limits following
the publication of this Order that is—

12.—(1) If planning permission is issued
pursuant to the 1990 Act for development
any part of which is within the Order limits
following the publication of this Order that
is—

(a) not itself a nationally significant
infrastructure project under the 2008 Act or part
of such a project; and/or
(b) required to complete or enable the
construction, use, operation or replacement of
any part of the development authorised by this
Order,
then the carrying out, use or operation of such
development pursuant to the terms of the
planning permission is not to constitute a
breach of the terms of this Order.
(2) Nothing in this Order is to prejudice the
operation of, and the powers and duties of the
undertaker under the 1980 Act, the 1991 Act
and the Town and Country Planning (General

117127441.5\gm05

8

Note, this is the second article to be headed
"Planning Permission".
The use of "and/or" is generally considered to
be inappropriate in a statutory instrument.

(b) required to complete or enable the
construction,
use,
operation
or
replacement of any part of the
development authorised by this Order,

There is an argument to say that this provision
is ultra vires. The development within the
scope of the section 35 direction is
development for which development consent is
required. There simply is no option to obtain
planning permission for it. The section 35
direction is drawn in very broad terms covering
"the project known as "London Paramount" at
Swanscombe Peninsula and land to the south
towards Ebbsfleet Station, Kent".

then the carrying out, use or operation of
such development pursuant to the terms of
the planning permission is not to constitute
a breach of the terms of this Order.

In respect of (2) what functions will the
undertaker have under the Highways Act 1980
that merits this "carve out"? It is not, nor will be,
a highway authority.

(2) Nothing in this Order is to prejudice the
operation of, and the powers and duties of
the undertaker under the 1980 Act, the
1991 Act and the Town and Country

In respect of paragraph (3) EDC is concerned
that this very widely drawn provision, which
applies to planning permissions granted in
respect of land within, or "adjacent to", the
Order limits will have on its ability to properly

(a) not itself a nationally significant
infrastructure project under the 2008 Act or
part of such a project; and/or

Page 208

Planning Permission

Agenda Item 10

refusal of development consent) of the 2008 Act
rather than to planning permission which is
granted for a limited period.

INITIAL PRELIMINARY COMMENTS ON THE DRAFT DCO AND DCO REQUIREMENTS – TO BE
DISCUSSED FURTHER WITH APPLICANT PRE-SUBMISSION
Permitted
2015(b).

Development)

(England)

Order

Planning
(General
Permitted
Development) (England) Order 2015(b).

(3) As from the date on which the authorised
development is commenced any conditions of a
planning permission granted under section 57(f)
(requirement of planning permission) of the
1990 Act which relate to land within the Order
limits or land adjacent to the Order limits cease
to have effect to the extent they are inconsistent
with the authorised development or with
anything done or approved under the
requirements in Schedule 2 (requirements).

(3) As from the date on which the
authorised development is commenced
any conditions of a planning permission
granted under section 57(f) (requirement of
planning permission) of the 1990 Act which
relate to land within the Order limits or land
adjacent to the Order limits cease to have
effect to the extent they are inconsistent
with the authorised development or with
anything done or approved under the
requirements
in
Schedule
2
(requirements).

Street works

Art 14

Application of the 1991 Act

We note the statutory authorisation for street
works is intended to apply only to specified
streets within Schedule 4, albeit that Schedule
4 has yet to be populated. EDC is supportive of
an approach that would limit the street works
authorisation to specified streets where it is
required, rather than of general application
within the Order limits.

Art 15

117127441.5\gm05

Power to alter layout, etc. of streets

9

(2) Without limitation on the specific
powers conferred by paragraph (1), but
subject to paragraph (4), the undertaker
may, for the purposes of constructing,
operating and maintaining the authorised
development, permanently or temporarily
alter the layout of any street within the
Order limits and the layout of any street

This article is drafted in incredibly wide terms
and would authorise the alteration of any street
within the Order limits and any street having a
junction with such street, for the purposes of
both construction and maintenance of the
authorised development. This is therefore a
wide ranging provision temporally and
geographically, especially in light of their being

Agenda Item 10

Notwithstanding the above, LRCH should
clearly and precisely justify the powers sought.

Page 209

Art 13

discharge its development management
functions for the Ebbsfleet Garden City. DBC
have concerns that it will not deliver the
housing, employment and infrastructure
identified in their Local Plan. LRCH's
justification for this provision in the EM does not
explain why it is necessary or appropriate to
interfere with planning permissions, in or on
land adjacent to, the authorised development.
Without any clear and precise justification, it
should be deleted.

INITIAL PRELIMINARY COMMENTS ON THE DRAFT DCO AND DCO REQUIREMENTS – TO BE
DISCUSSED FURTHER WITH APPLICANT PRE-SUBMISSION

4) The powers conferred by paragraph (2)
must not be exercised without the consent
of
the
street
authority,
following
consultation with the relevant planning
authority.

no envisaged "end date" for the LRCH
Scheme.

It is not clear that the environmental effects of
such works have been considered in the PEIR
and EDC and DBC would be looking to LRCH
to ensure that such effects are thoroughly
assessed, and the requirement for the
temporal and geographical scope of the
function is fully justified.
Art 16

Permanent stopping up of streets and rights
of access

EDC and DBC note that Schedule 6, which sets
out the streets and public rights of way to be
stopped up under this article, has yet to be
populated.
EDC and DBC also note that very little
information has been published during this
statutory consultation in respect of stopped up,
new or diversionary rights of way nor how the
Applicant has considered what opportunities

117127441.5\gm05

10

Page 210

This has the potential to interfere with the
proper planning of the development envisaged
in the Ebbsfleet Garden City and the wider area
given that key distributor roads are included
within the Order limits. It is not clear that LRCH,
who is not otherwise a highway authority or
other body with significant experience of the
management of highways, streets and traffic,
ought to be authorised to make such wide
ranging alterations to the layout of streets. In
this regard it is noted that consent of the street
authority is required, where LRCH is not the
street authority. However, that provision is
subject to article 28 deemed consent provision.

Agenda Item 10

having a junction with such a street; and,
without limiting the scope of this
paragraph, the undertaker may—

INITIAL PRELIMINARY COMMENTS ON THE DRAFT DCO AND DCO REQUIREMENTS – TO BE
DISCUSSED FURTHER WITH APPLICANT PRE-SUBMISSION
there may be to improve access to the rights of
way network (per paragraph 5.184 of the
National Policy Statement for National
Networks). EDC and DBC consider this to be a
missed opportunity to seek views of the
relevant authorities and the public on its
proposals in this regard.

Article 17

Temporary stopping up of streets and rights
of access

Art 18

Access to and from works

Access to and from works

18.—(1) The undertaker may, for the purposes
of the authorised development and with the
consent of the relevant planning authority, after
consultation with the relevant highway authority,
form and lay out such other means of access or
improve existing means of access, at such
locations within the Order limits as the
undertaker reasonably requires for the
purposes of the authorised development.

18.—(1) The undertaker may, for the
purposes of the construction of the
authorised development and with the
consent of the relevant planning authority,
after consultation with the relevant
highway authority, form and lay out such
other means of access or improve existing
means of access, at such locations within
the Order limits as the undertaker
reasonably requires for the purposes of the
authorised development.

11

EDC and DBC also have concerns with the
application of the deemed consent provision in
and take the view that procedures in Part 2 of
Schedule 2 (as is suggested are to be
modified) should apply.

Agenda Item 10

117127441.5\gm05

(2) If a relevant planning authority which
receives an application for consent under
paragraph (1) where the formation and
laying out of a new means of access or the
improvement of the existing means of
access is for the purposes of the

The power in this article persists indefinitely.
LRCH has not set out in its Explanatory
Memorandum why such a wide ranging power
(affecting any highway within the Order limits)
is required, beyond referring to the model
provision. The exercise of the power should be
limited to the construction phase.

Page 211

(2) If a relevant planning authority which
receives an application for consent under
paragraph (1) fails to notify the undertaker of its
decision before the end of the period of 28 days
beginning with the date on which the application
was made, it is deemed to have granted
consent.

Please correct the typographical error in the
final line of paragraph (4) (reference to Part 1
of Schedule "78").

INITIAL PRELIMINARY COMMENTS ON THE DRAFT DCO AND DCO REQUIREMENTS – TO BE
DISCUSSED FURTHER WITH APPLICANT PRE-SUBMISSION

Article 20(7)

Discharge of water

It is not clear why article 20(7) cross refers to
article 50. Article 50 deals with amendments to
provisions relating to compulsory acquisition
compensation.

Art 22(1)

Authority to survey and investigate land
22.—(1) The undertaker may for the purposes
of this Order enter on any land shown within the
Order limits or which may be affected by the
authorised development or upon which entry is
required in order to carry out monitoring or
surveys in respect of the authorised
development and—

22.—(1) The undertaker may for the
purposes of the construction of the
authorised development this Order enter
on any land shown within the Order limits
or which may be affected by the authorised
development or upon which entry is
required in order to carry out monitoring or
surveys in respect of the authorised
development and—

Contrary to what LRCH states in paragraph 7.6
of the EM, as drafted, article 22(1) would
authorise surveys or investigations of land
beyond the Order limits. No specific
justification is given for the requirement to carry
out surveys beyond the Order limits, so the
article should be amended to reflect the
intention expressed in the EM.
The article as drafted can be exercised for "the
purposes of the authorised development". It is
not limited temporally to the construction phase
or to any other specific purposes relating to the
authorised development. The Applicant has not
justified why it would be appropriate for it, as a
private commercial operation, to benefit from a
power to occupy private land for the purposes

117127441.5\gm05

12

Page 212

(7) Subject to article 50 (application and
modification of legislative provisions) nothing in
this article overrides the requirement for an
environmental permit under regulation 12(1)(b)
(requirement for environmental permit) of the
Environmental Permitting (England and Wales)
Regulations 2016(b).

Agenda Item 10

construction or maintenance of the
authorised development, fails to notify the
undertaker of its decision before the end of
the period of 28 days weeks beginning with
the date on which the application was
made, it is deemed to have granted
consent.

INITIAL PRELIMINARY COMMENTS ON THE DRAFT DCO AND DCO REQUIREMENTS – TO BE
DISCUSSED FURTHER WITH APPLICANT PRE-SUBMISSION
of carrying out surveys without any meaningful
constraint on its exercise temporally or
geographically.
Art 23(2)

Compulsory acquisition of land

Compulsory acquisition of land

(2) As from the date on which a compulsory
acquisition notice is served or the date on which
the Order land, or any part of it, is vested in the
undertaker, whichever is the later, that land or
that part of it which is vested (as the case may
be) is discharged from all rights, trusts and
incidents to which it was previously subject.

(2) As from the date on which a compulsory
acquisition notice is served or the date on
which the Order land, or any part of it, is
vested in the undertaker, whichever is the
later, that land or that part of it which is
vested (as the case may be) is discharged
from all rights, trusts and incidents to which
it was previously subject.

A "compulsory acquisition notice" as defined in
article 2(1) of the dDCO, as a notice under
section 134 of the Planning Act 2008. The
purpose of a section 134 Planning Act 2008
notice is to notify the recipient that powers of
compulsory acquisition have been granted in
respect of their interest in land and to inform
those persons, if aggrieved, that the DCO may
be challenged under section 118 of the
Planning Act 2008 within 6 weeks of its
publication.

This would be wholly disproportionate and
would deprive persons of their interests in land
before formal acquisition powers are exercised
(if indeed they ever are required to be
exercised).

117127441.5\gm05

13

Agenda Item 10

As the dDCO seeks authorisation of permanent
rights over land required temporarily (see art
26 below) this would affect all land within the
Order limits.

Page 213

The effect of this article would be to extinguish
all private rights in land within the Order limits
as soon as notice is served under section 134
Planning Act 2008. If the DCO is granted, a
section 134 notice is required to be served on
each person who would qualify under section
12(1) Acquisition of Land Act 1981.

INITIAL PRELIMINARY COMMENTS ON THE DRAFT DCO AND DCO REQUIREMENTS – TO BE
DISCUSSED FURTHER WITH APPLICANT PRE-SUBMISSION

Note, if LRCH deletes paragraph (2) it should
also delete the definition of "compulsory
acquisition notice" in article 2(1). In any event,
it is not necessary to define that term given that
it is defined in section 134(7) of the Planning
Act 2008.
Compulsory acquisition of rights
imposition of restrictive covenants

and

26.—(1) Subject to paragraph (2), the
undertaker may acquire compulsorily such
rights over the Order land, or impose restrictive
covenants affecting the Order land, as may be
required for any purpose for which that land
may be acquired under article 23 (compulsory
acquisition of land) by creating them as well as
by acquiring rights already in existence.
(2) In the case of the Order land specified in
column (1) of Schedule 8 (compulsory
acquisition of rights) the undertaker may
acquire compulsorily the rights, and impose
restrictions, over the Order land described in the
book of reference, by creating them as well as
by acquiring rights and the benefits of
restrictions already in existence.

The EM at paragraph 8.9 indicates that the
imposition of restrictive covenants is common
place in Transport and Works Act 1992 Orders,
PINS Advice Note 15 at section 24 discusses
the circumstances where it may be appropriate
for a DCO to authorise the imposition of
restrictive covenants, where it states "In order
to enable the Secretary of State to consider
whether the imposition of Restrictive
Covenants is necessary for the purposes of
implementing a DCO, and appropriate in
human rights terms, applicants should be
prepared to fully explain and justify the need for
including such powers in the Statement of
Reasons. DCO provisions seeking to impose
Restrictive Covenants should not be broadly
drafted and should identify the land to which
they relate and the nature of the Restrictive
Covenant."
EDC and DBC note that LRCH is not consulting
on the nature of the rights required or restrictive

117127441.5\gm05

14

Page 214

Art 26

Agenda Item 10

Given that Article 27 already deals with private
rights (including the suspension of private
rights during periods of temporary possession
under article 33) and does so in a less
disproportionate way, this provision should be
deleted.

INITIAL PRELIMINARY COMMENTS ON THE DRAFT DCO AND DCO REQUIREMENTS – TO BE
DISCUSSED FURTHER WITH APPLICANT PRE-SUBMISSION
covenants to be imposed, or the justification for
such rights. As such, its ability to meaningfully
respond in its capacities as local planning
authority and landowner is significantly
diminished.
Notwithstanding that it is not at this time in a
position to engage on the substance of the
justification for such powers EDC has serious
concerns that dDCO would authorise the
imposition of restrictive covenants and
acquisition of rights over land over which
temporary possession is sought.
This is the case because:

2. Article 26(1) includes a general power
to impose restrictive covenants over
land that might be acquired under
article 23.

4. However, article 33(10) while clarifying
that the land for which temporary
possession for the purposes of
construction
is
authorised
and
ultimately to be detailed in Schedule

117127441.5\gm05

15

Agenda Item 10

3. Article 26(2) "carves out" of the general
power in article 26(1) the power to
acquire rights and impose restrictive
covenants over the Order land
specified in Schedule 8.

Page 215

1. article 23(1) authorises the outright
compulsory acquisition of all of the
Order land.

INITIAL PRELIMINARY COMMENTS ON THE DRAFT DCO AND DCO REQUIREMENTS – TO BE
DISCUSSED FURTHER WITH APPLICANT PRE-SUBMISSION

Should it be the case that LRCH genuinely
requires such wide powers across the Order
limits, EDC and DBC would expect its
Statement of Reasons to make a clear and
convincing case that such a power is justified
in the public interest and that the Book of
Reference clearly spells out the nature of rights
and restrictions to which the Order land may be
subject.

Art 33(2)
(10)

&

Modification of Part 1 of the 1965 Act

Modification of Part 1 of the 1965 Act

(3) In section 11A (powers of entry: further
notices of entry)—

(3) In section 11A (powers of entry: further
notices of entry)—

(a) in subsection (1)(a) after “land” insert “under
that provisions”; and

(a) in subsection (1)(a) after “land” insert
“under that provisions”; and

(b) in subsection (2) after “land” insert “under
that provision”.

(b) in subsection (2) after “land” insert
“under that provision”.

Temporary use of land for carrying out the
authorised development

(2) Not less than 14 days 3 months before
entering on and taking temporary
possession of land under this article the
undertaker must serve notice of the
intended entry on the owners and
occupiers of the land.

(2) Not less than 14 days before entering on and
taking temporary possession of land under this
article the undertaker must serve notice of the
intended entry on the owners and occupiers of
the land.

117127441.5\gm05

16

(10) The undertaker may not compulsorily
acquire under this Order the land referred

Please correct the typographical error in article
30(3)(a).

As noted above in respect of article 26 EDC
and DBC have serious concerns with the
prospect of the acquisition of rights or
imposition of restrictive covenants over land
over which only powers of temporary use are
sought. Such a wide general power over such
land would need to be fully justified and the
reference in paragraph 8.35 of the EM of it
being consistent with articles 23 and 31 is

Page 216

Art 30

Agenda Item 10

10 may not be acquired outright; it may
nonetheless be subject to the
acquisition of rights or imposition of
restrictive covenants.

INITIAL PRELIMINARY COMMENTS ON THE DRAFT DCO AND DCO REQUIREMENTS – TO BE
DISCUSSED FURTHER WITH APPLICANT PRE-SUBMISSION
(10) The undertaker may not compulsorily
acquire under this Order the land referred to in
paragraph (1)(a)(i) except that the undertaker is
not precluded from—
(a) acquiring new rights or imposing restrictive
covenants over any part of that land under
article 26 (compulsory acquisition of rights and
imposition of restrictive covenants); or
(b) acquiring any part of the subsoil of or airspace over (or rights in the subsoil of or
airspace over) that land under article 30
(acquisition of subsoil or air-space only).

Felling or lopping of trees

inadequate
justification
disproportionately wide power.

(a) acquiring new rights or imposing
restrictive covenants over any part of that
land under article 26 (compulsory
acquisition of rights and imposition of
restrictive covenants); or

EDC and DBC has concerns that the 14 days
notice LRCH is required to give before
dispossessing a person of their land is
inadequate and has not been specifically
justified in the EM. This is particularly the case
given that section 20 of the Neighbourhood
Planning Act 2017, when it comes into force,
would mandate a minimum 3 month period of
notice.

(b) acquiring any part of the subsoil of or
air-space over (or rights in the subsoil of or
airspace over) that land under article 30
(acquisition of subsoil or air-space only).

for

the

In addition, this article would authorise the
construction of permanent works on land
possessed temporarily. The EM does not
explain why this measure is required or is
appropriate in the circumstances of this project.
This article would authorise LRCH to fell or lop
any tree, shrub or hedgerow "near any part of
the authorised development".

Page 217

Art 42

to in paragraph (1)(a)(i) except that the
undertaker is not precluded from—

The effect of paragraph (4) is to authorise the
removal of any such tree even were it subject
to a TPO.

117127441.5\gm05

17

Agenda Item 10

EDC would remind LRCH of PINS Advice Note
15, section 22, which advises applicants to
include a plan showing the location of any
protected tree or protected hedgerows for
which authorisation for the removal is sought.
No such plan appears to have been included
within the statutory consultation documents.

INITIAL PRELIMINARY COMMENTS ON THE DRAFT DCO AND DCO REQUIREMENTS – TO BE
DISCUSSED FURTHER WITH APPLICANT PRE-SUBMISSION

Trees subject to tree preservation orders

Please see comments above in respect of
article 42. It is not clear why two similarly
worded articles are required or are appropriate
in the circumstances of this project.

Art 45(1)(a)(i)
and (2)

Defence to proceedings in respect of
statutory nuisance

EDC notes the two references to section 65
Control of Pollution Act 1974, which was
repealed on 1 October 2015 by the
Deregulation Act 2015 (see paragraph 11 of
Part 5 of Schedule 13). EDC and DBC are not
in a position to consider whether the defence
provided by this article is appropriate in the
circumstances of this scheme.

Art 49

Procedure in relation to approvals, etc.,
under Schedule 2

Please correct the typographical error in the
penultimate line of paragraph (1) ("such
agreement not to b").
Please see Part 2 of Schedule 2 for comments
on the substance of this provision.

Art 50

117127441.5\gm05

Disapplication
and
legislative provisions

modification

18

of

The purpose and effect of this article are
unclear. The EM at paragraphs 9.27 and 9.28
refer to the modifications to compensation
provisions in Schedule 9. That Schedule has
already been introduced by article 26(3) and so
it is unnecessary to introduce it a second time.
Paragraph 9.28 refers to article 43 which EDC

Page 218

Art 43

Agenda Item 10

Furthermore, the EM, while noting that this
drafting follows the equivalent provision in the
now repealed Infrastructure Planning (Model
Provisions) (England and Wales) Order 2009,
it does not justify why the inclusion of such a
provision is justified in the circumstances of this
scheme.

INITIAL PRELIMINARY COMMENTS ON THE DRAFT DCO AND DCO REQUIREMENTS – TO BE
DISCUSSED FURTHER WITH APPLICANT PRE-SUBMISSION
and DBC suspects is an incorrect cross
reference, given that article 43 is concerned
with trees subject to preservation orders.
EDC and DBC suggest that the position would
be clearer were this article to be deleted in the
interests of drafting economy as it appears to
serve no other purpose than to introduce
Schedule 9. If it is intended to serve some other
function, LRCH is invited to set out and justify
that function.
Art 51

Permitted development

The authorised development, as defined in
article 2(1) comprises 28 numbered works,
together
with
"further
associated
development". Not all of that development will
comprise an "amusement park". If LRCH
wishes the certainty of such a declaration it
should be related to an appropriately discrete
parcel of the land within the Order limits that
would be used as an "amusement park".

EDC and DBC have serious concerns that it
would be inappropriate to maintain, for
example and without limitation, that the Essex
Site or the Highway Works, the services and

117127441.5\gm05

19

Agenda Item 10

EDC queries whether there is in fact any need
to add any gloss on the application of permitted
development under the Town and Country
Planning (General Permitted Development)
Order 2015.

Page 219

51. The authorised development constitutes an
amusement park for the purposes of Class B of
Part 18 (miscellaneous development) of the
Town and Country Planning (General Permitted
Development) (England) Order 2015(a).

EDC and DBC have concerns that the effect of
this provision is far wider than is explained in
the EM at paragraph 9.29.

INITIAL PRELIMINARY COMMENTS ON THE DRAFT DCO AND DCO REQUIREMENTS – TO BE
DISCUSSED FURTHER WITH APPLICANT PRE-SUBMISSION

Art 53 and 54

Byelaws

EDC and DBC note that LRCH is seeking the
power to make byelaws for a broad range of
purposes which are not limited by the scope of
paragraph (2).

EDC and DBC also note that no Schedule
containing byelaws has been provided, which
has increasingly been the practice where
byelaw making powers are sought in a DCO.
EDC and DBC further query who would have
the responsibility, and powers, to enforce such
byelaws if they are made and whether LRCH
has given any consideration to the resource
requirements of the enforcing bodies?
Art 56

Guarantees in
compensation

respect

of payment of

EDC reserves
opportunity to
Statement.

its position pending the
review LRCH's Funding

EDC notes that the EM explains that the
purpose of this provision is to ensure a suitable
guarantee or appropriate form of security is in

117127441.5\gm05

20

Page 220

In this regard it isn't clear why it would be
appropriate to extend byelaw making powers,
usually the preserve of local authorities or
transport undertakers, to a private commercial
developer. The EM does not justify why byelaw
making powers are required, or are appropriate
in the specific circumstances of this proposal.

Agenda Item 10

infrastructure works or the "conferention
centre" would comprise an "amusement park"
upon which it is appropriate to carry out the
development permitted by Class B of Part 18.

INITIAL PRELIMINARY COMMENTS ON THE DRAFT DCO AND DCO REQUIREMENTS – TO BE
DISCUSSED FURTHER WITH APPLICANT PRE-SUBMISSION
place prior to the exercise of compulsory
acquisition powers. The relevant powers are
listed in paragraph (2).
It should be noted that other powers within the
draft DCO would also give rise to a right to
compensation for compulsory interferences
with interests in land, for example:



article 17 (permanent stopping up of
streets and rights of access);



article
21(protective
buildings);



article 22 (authority to survey and
investigate land);



article 24 (power to override
easements and other rights);



article 37 (recovery of costs of new
connection);



article 41 (temporary closure of, and
works in, the River Thames;



article 42 (felling or lopping trees); and



article 43 (trees subject to tree
preservation orders).

works

to

Agenda Item 10

21

article 16 (permanent stopping up of
streets and rights of access);

Page 221

117127441.5\gm05



INITIAL PRELIMINARY COMMENTS ON THE DRAFT DCO AND DCO REQUIREMENTS – TO BE
DISCUSSED FURTHER WITH APPLICANT PRE-SUBMISSION

New
57

Article

-

Enforcement
57. For the purposes of this Order and
subject to section 173(4) of the 2008 Act,
Ebbsfleet Development Corporation is
deemed to be the relevant planning
authority for any part of the authorised
development
within
the
urban
development area, for the purposes of Part
8 (enforcement) of the 2008 Act.

Schedule 1
Authorised Development

117127441.5\gm05

22

This new article is required to ensure that there
is certainty that EDC is entitled to enforce the
Order within the urban development area.

Page 222

Additionally, given the limited information
provided on the proposed timing of the build out
of the proposed development it isn't clear that
the 15 year limitation on the form of financial
provision set out in paragraph (4) is appropriate
given the uncertainties surrounding the timing
of all of the authorised development coming
forward. Several of the provisions listed in
paragraph (2) may be exercisable beyond this
15 year period, for example, the power in article
34 to temporarily possess land for the
purposes of maintenance (the five year
maintenance period does not begin to run until
the part of the authorised development to
which it relates is completed).

Agenda Item 10

It is not clear from the EM why LRCH ought to
be permitted to exercise the above functions
before appropriate financial provision is in
place.

INITIAL PRELIMINARY COMMENTS ON THE DRAFT DCO AND DCO REQUIREMENTS – TO BE
DISCUSSED FURTHER WITH APPLICANT PRE-SUBMISSION
Schedule 1

Given the limited information available and the
absence of other key plans that establish the
spatial
parameters
of
the
proposed
development it is difficult for EDC and DBC to
comment on Schedule 1 in detail. In that
context the following observations are offered.
Schedule 1 ought to acknowledge the urban
development area of Ebbsfleet Development
Corporation.

The works listed under the heading "other
relevant works" are of concern, in particular the
very widely drawn paragraph (u) which would
authorise anything necessary or expedient for
the "use" of the authorised development.

117127441.5\gm05

23

Agenda Item 10

Finally it is noted that the LRCH is not
specifying the location of construction
compounds. Given that such compounds are
likely to be a concentration of environmental
effects relating to noise, air quality, traffic, the
water environment, and subsequent effects on
ecology, it will be important that the flexibility to
site such compounds anywhere within the
Order limits is clearly assessed in the
environmental statement and appropriate

Page 223

It is noted that there is an inconsistent
approach to defining the maximum areas of the
numbered works e.g. Work No.2 is expressed
as being “the construction of buildings and
facilities for tourism and leisure uses up to 22
ha in area include-“ whereas other descriptions
of numbered works do not contain such helpful
clarifications.

INITIAL PRELIMINARY COMMENTS ON THE DRAFT DCO AND DCO REQUIREMENTS – TO BE
DISCUSSED FURTHER WITH APPLICANT PRE-SUBMISSION

Schedule 2
Part 1 - Requirements
General

“No phase of the authorised development may
commence"

“No part of the authorised development is
to be commenced until a [written scheme]
for the phase containing that part of the
authorised development is approved by …”

EDC and DBC note that it is LRCH’s intention
to bring forward the authorised development in
phases. EDC has no concerns with the
principle of that approach.

EDC and DBC have suggested the outline of
an approach and would expect LRCH to
address the point wherever it arises in the
requirements for the draft DCO submitted with
its application for development consent (save
in requirement 5 itself for which a different
approach would be appropriate – see below).
R1

117127441.5\gm05

Interpretation

LRCH should provide a definition for
"operational use" so it is clear what is meant by
that trigger when it is employed in the
requirements

24

Page 224

However, it does have some concerns that the
use of the term “No phase of the authorised
development may commence” as the trigger for
the obligation to discharge requirements is
uncertain. This is because the term “phase” is
defined by reference to the written scheme to
be submitted under requirement 5. If no
scheme is submitted, yet nonetheless
development commences, the requirements
featuring that drafting would be unenforceable.

Agenda Item 10

enforceable measures are in place to mitigate
and regulate those environmental effects.

INITIAL PRELIMINARY COMMENTS ON THE DRAFT DCO AND DCO REQUIREMENTS – TO BE
DISCUSSED FURTHER WITH APPLICANT PRE-SUBMISSION
R2

Time limits

Time limits

2. The authorised development must
commence no later than the expiration of 5
years beginning with the date that this Order
comes into force.

2.—(1) The authorised development must
commence no later than the expiration of
53 years beginning with the date that this
Order comes into force.
(2) Each phase of the authorised
development approved pursuant to
Requirement 5 must not commence after
the expiry of the period of 2 years from the
date specified in the delivery programme
for that phase approved by the relevant
authority pursuant to Requirement 5.

In order to reflect the assumed development
timescales in the consultation documents,
development needs to commence within the
standard 3 years, not 5 years.

As such, it is considered that a standard three
year time limit on commencement is required.

R3

117127441.5\gm05

Design drawings

Design drawings

3.—(1) Subject to Requirement 4, the
authorised development must be carried out in
general accordance with the design drawings.

3.—(1) Subject to Requirement 4, the
authorised development must be carried
out in general accordance with the design
drawings.

25

EDC and DBC notes that the design drawings
referred to in this requirement have not been
published for consultation. Consequently, EDC
reserves its position to comment further once
that further level of detail becomes available. It
is not clear at this stage which parts of the

Agenda Item 10

A 3 year commencement limit would not wholly
address this concern, as only modest
operations on the land would be sufficient to
meet the definition of "commence" in article
2(1).
Consequently,
further
phasing
requirements are proposed, please see
requirement 5 below.

Page 225

In addition, uncertainties surrounding when,
whether and what form LRCH's proposals for
the development of Swanscombe peninsula
would come forward have persisted for many
years, since at least from the date of the
Secretary of State's section 35 Planning Act
2008 direction in May 2014. This has exerted a
blighting influence on the development of
EDC's development area. If LRCH's proposals
are granted development consent then it is
important that they are progressed promptly to
limit any further harm caused by uncertainty.

INITIAL PRELIMINARY COMMENTS ON THE DRAFT DCO AND DCO REQUIREMENTS – TO BE
DISCUSSED FURTHER WITH APPLICANT PRE-SUBMISSION
authorised
development
would
encompassed by the design drawings.

Detailed design approval

Detailed design approval

4.—(1) The details of Works Nos. 1 and 2 must
be in accordance with the detailed design
statement (Document X.X) as may be reviewed
and updated by the undertaker in agreement
with the relevant planning authorities.

4.—(1) The detailed design of the
authorised development Works Nos. 1 and
2 must be in accordance with the detailed
design statement (Document X.X) as may
be reviewed and updated by the
undertaker in agreement with and

EDC welcomes the general principle of the
requirement for the detailed design to be in
accordance with the detailed design statement.

26

be

In the meanwhile EDC and DBC offer the
following observations. At this stage EDC has
significant concerns that only “general
accordance” is required with the design
drawings, but welcomes the confirmation that a
materially new or materially different
environmental effect would constitute a
departure
from
“general
accordance”.
However, EDC and DBC is concerned that this
is an exclusive test, that is to say, it sets the
yardstick by which "general accordance" is
measured only in terms of environmental
effects. While environmental effects are
important, it can be envisaged that departures
from the design drawings could be material in
planning terms in respect of the proper
management of the emerging Ebbsfleet
Garden City, yet not hitting the high threshold
of a materially new or different environmental
effect. At a minimum, paragraph (2) should be
amended to make it clear that other factors
may be of relevance to the determination of
“general accordance" with the design
drawings.

However it has a number of concerns with the
requirement as currently drafted.

Page 226

117127441.5\gm05

(2) Without prejudice to the generality of
paragraph
(1)
Tthe
authorised
development will not be in general
accordance with the design drawings to the
extent that any departure from the design
drawings gives rise to any materially new
or different environmental effects from
those assessed in the Environmental
Statement.

Agenda Item 10

R4

(2) The authorised development will not be in
general accordance with the design drawings to
the extent that any departure from the design
drawings gives rise to any materially new or
different environmental effects from those
assessed in the Environmental Statement.

INITIAL PRELIMINARY COMMENTS ON THE DRAFT DCO AND DCO REQUIREMENTS – TO BE
DISCUSSED FURTHER WITH APPLICANT PRE-SUBMISSION
the

relevant

planning

(a) events spaces;
(b) themed rides and attractions;

(2) The details of each work must include
details of the following, if they form part of
the work—

(c) entertainment venues;

(a) events spaces;

(d) cinemas;

(b) themed rides and attractions;

(e) theatres;

(c) entertainment venues;

(f) night clubs;

(d) cinemas;

(g) retail facilities;

(e) theatres;

(h) dining facilities;

(f) night clubs;

(i) entertainment facilities;

(g) retail facilities;

(j) visitor entrance areas;

(h) dining facilities;

(k) hotels;

(i) entertainment facilities;

(l) hard and soft landscaping;

(j) visitor entrance areas;

(m) pedestrian and cycle access routes and
infrastructure;

(k) hotels;
(l) hard and soft landscaping;

(n) built development design (including external
materials and sustainable energy measures)
and layout;
(o) site levels and finished floor levels;

117127441.5\gm05

27

(m) pedestrian and cycle access routes
and infrastructure;

Firstly, it would appear to be the case that
LRCH intends to produce the detailed design
statement with its application for development
consent and that the document would become
a document certified under the Order, should it
be made. EDC and DBC would welcome early
consultation on the substance of the detailed
design statement in advance of the submission
of LRCH’s application. EDC and DBC’s further
comments below are without prejudice to any
further comments it may have once it has had
sight of the detailed design statement.
Notwithstanding their in principle support of an
appropriate design statement, EDC and DBC
would expect that the relevant planning
authorities ought to also be responsible for
approving the detailed design itself, before
commencement.
Secondly, EDC has concerns regarding the
propriety of the detailed design statement
being "reviewed and updated by agreement
with the relevant planning authorities". To the
extent that the document is to be updated it
should be via a formal application under the
requirements to which Part 2 of Schedule 2
applies. This is to ensure that any updates are
appropriately considered and consulted upon.
This is particularly important given that the
proposed development straddles multiple local
planning authority areas.
Thirdly, sub-paragraph (3) is drafted in
confusing language and lacks certainty. It is
unnecessary to refer to any updated detailed

Agenda Item 10

approved by
authorities.

Page 227

(2) The details of each work must include details
of the following, if they form part of the work—

INITIAL PRELIMINARY COMMENTS ON THE DRAFT DCO AND DCO REQUIREMENTS – TO BE
DISCUSSED FURTHER WITH APPLICANT PRE-SUBMISSION

(q) surface and foul drainage; and

(n) built development design (including
external materials and sustainable energy
measures) and layout;

(r) fencing, walls and other means of enclosure.

(o) site levels and finished floor levels;

(3) Any works carried out in accordance with the
approved design must be carried out in
accordance with the approved design or with
any amended design that may subsequently be
approved by the relevant planning authority.

(p) buildings and structure elevations;
(q) surface and foul drainage; and
(r) fencing, walls and other means of
enclosure.

(4) No part of the authorised development
is to be commenced until written details of
the design to be constructed for the phase
containing that part of the authorised
development have been approved by the
relevant planning authority.
(5) The written details referred to in
paragraph (4) must include—
(a) a visual illustration, including
annotation, of how the proposals respond
to the context and the design framework

117127441.5\gm05

28

Fourthly, LRCH have not justified why only
Work Nos. 1 and 2 are to be governed by a
detailed design statement or approved by the
relevant planning authority. EDC and DBC
consider that such measures should extend to
the whole of the authorised development.
Finally, EDC notes that paragraph 4(2)(f) refers
to “nightclubs" which are not expressly
provided for in Schedule 1 (authorised
development) and, if such is proposed, it ought
to be.

Page 228

(3) Any works The authorised development
must be constructed carried out in
accordance with the approved detailed
design statement. must be carried out in
accordance with the approved design or
with any amended design that may
subsequently be approved by the relevant
planning authority.

design statement as this matter is covered in
requirement 1(3). EDC has suggested
proposed amendments to refer to the
development being carried out in accordance
with the approved detailed design statement to
achieve this.

Agenda Item 10

(p) buildings and structure elevations;

INITIAL PRELIMINARY COMMENTS ON THE DRAFT DCO AND DCO REQUIREMENTS – TO BE
DISCUSSED FURTHER WITH APPLICANT PRE-SUBMISSION
established within the master planning
design statement;
(b) proposed uses, floor space and
locations
(c) site levels and finished floor levels;
(d) buildings and structure elevations;
(e) fencing, walls and other means of
enclosure;
(f) finishes and materials;

Phases of the development
5.—(1) No phase of the authorised
development may commence until a written
scheme setting out all the phases of the
authorised development has been submitted to
and approved by the relevant planning
authority.

(2) The written scheme must include
phasing details of—
(a) ecological mitigation;

(a) ecological mitigation;

(b) earthworks;

(b) earthworks;

(c) details of the development to be
constructed in each phase to include the
quantum of floor space for use for each of
the following purposes—

29

EDC welcomes the principle of this
requirement, which would require LRCH to
submit a phasing plan, setting out phasing
details
including
ecological
mitigation,
earthworks, drainage and mains services.
However EDC and DBC do have concerns with
the drafting and with the scope of what must be
included in the phasing scheme.
In terms of the drafting, the “trigger” point of "no
phase of the authorised development may
commence..." is defective. "Phase" is defined
in paragraph 1(1) by reference to the written
scheme to be approved under requirement 5. It
is therefore circular. If LRCH were to
commence construction without first having
obtained the approval of the phasing scheme,
there would be no “phase” against which

Agenda Item 10

(2) The written scheme must include phasing
details of—

(c) surface water and foul drainage; and

117127441.5\gm05

5.—(1) No part phase of the authorised
development may is to be commenced
until a written scheme setting out all the
phases of the authorised development has
been submitted to and approved by the
relevant planning authority.

Page 229

R5

INITIAL PRELIMINARY COMMENTS ON THE DRAFT DCO AND DCO REQUIREMENTS – TO BE
DISCUSSED FURTHER WITH APPLICANT PRE-SUBMISSION
(i) events spaces;

(3) The authorised development must be
carried out in accordance with the phasing plan
and the written scheme as approved from time
to time in writing by the relevant planning
authority.

(ii) themed rides;

compliance would be measured. EDC has
suggested amendments to address this issue.
Additionally, paragraph (3) refers to a “phasing
plan” and it is not apparent whether this is
intended to be a separate document (in which
case it ought to be subject to approval under
paragraph (1)) or part of the written scheme.

(iii) entertainment venues;
(iv) theatres;
(v) cinemas;
(vi) ancillary retail;
(v) dining;
(vi) entertainment facilities;
(vii) guest facilities;
(viii) commercial uses ancillary to
each of the internal visitor
entrance areas referred to Work
No. 1(e);
(ix) the quantum of motor vehicle
parking spaces;
(x) hotels;
(xi) conferention centre
ancillary accommodation
loading bay;
(xii) enclosed water park;
(xiii) visitor centre;

117127441.5\gm05

30

and
and

Page 230

For the reasons outlined above in respect of
requirement 2, EDC and DBC consider that it
is of paramount importance that appropriate
provisions are in place to ensure that adequate
detail of each phase is provided, that each
phase is completed and brought into operation
promptly and that appropriate provision is
made for the monitoring of the effectiveness of
mitigation employed at each phase.

Agenda Item 10

(d) mains services.

INITIAL PRELIMINARY COMMENTS ON THE DRAFT DCO AND DCO REQUIREMENTS – TO BE
DISCUSSED FURTHER WITH APPLICANT PRE-SUBMISSION
(d) (c) surface water and foul drainage; and
(e) (d) mains services;
(f) confirmation of adequate funding for the
completion of the phase;
(f) any other proposed use; and
(g) details of a programme for the
anticipated implementation, completion
and occupation or use of each phase
("delivery programme").

(5) The notification of completion and
operation of a phase referred to in subparagraph (4) must be accompanied by a
monitor and manage report detailing the
environmental and transport impacts of

117127441.5\gm05

31

Agenda Item 10

(4) Other than the first phase, no phase of
the authorised development may
commence until the undertaker has
notified the relevant planning authority in
writing of the completion and operation of
the preceding phase and approved the
monitor and manage report referred to in
sub-paragraph (5).

Page 231

(3) The authorised development must be
carried out in accordance with the phasing
plan and the written scheme as approved
from time to time in writing by the relevant
planning authority.

INITIAL PRELIMINARY COMMENTS ON THE DRAFT DCO AND DCO REQUIREMENTS – TO BE
DISCUSSED FURTHER WITH APPLICANT PRE-SUBMISSION

(7) If, after the expiry of the period of 6
years from the date of publication of the
Order the undertaker has commenced but
not completed the first phase of the

117127441.5\gm05

32

Page 232

(6) If after the expiry of the period of 2
years from the date specified in the
delivery programme for commencement
of a phase approved pursuant to
Requirement 5, that phase has not
commenced, the undertaker must not
construct any works authorised by this
Order, or exercise any functions under
this Order in relation to that phase unless
otherwise approved by the relevant
planning authority.

Agenda Item 10

the previous phase and the effectiveness
of the mitigation measures implemented
to avoid or mitigate such impacts and
details of any proposed additional, or
changes to, existing mitigation measures
to improve the effectiveness of such
mitigation ("monitor and manage
mitigation") prior to the commencement of
the next phase of the authorised
development and a programme for their
implementation ("a monitor and manage
report"). Any approved monitor and
manage report must be implemented in
accordance with the approved
programme.

INITIAL PRELIMINARY COMMENTS ON THE DRAFT DCO AND DCO REQUIREMENTS – TO BE
DISCUSSED FURTHER WITH APPLICANT PRE-SUBMISSION
authorised development approved
pursuant to Requirement 5, the
undertaker must submit for the approval
of the relevant planning authority a
scheme and timetable for either—
(i) the decommissioning and removal of
any part of the first phase which has
commenced but remains incomplete and
a restoration scheme for the land upon
which such phase has been commenced;
or

117127441.5\gm05

33

Agenda Item 10

(8) The undertaker must complete the
works and operations set out in the
approved scheme and timetable pursuant
to sub-paragraph (7) not more than twenty
four months from the date of such approval
or such longer or shorter date as has been
approved pursuant to sub-paragraph (7)
including that to the extent it is an approved
requirement that the whole of the first
phase of the authorised development must
be completed and brought into use within a
period of 8 years from the date of

Page 233

(ii) the completion and bringing into use of
the whole of the first phase of the
authorised development within a period of
8 years from the date of publication of the
Order.

INITIAL PRELIMINARY COMMENTS ON THE DRAFT DCO AND DCO REQUIREMENTS – TO BE
DISCUSSED FURTHER WITH APPLICANT PRE-SUBMISSION

R6

Ecological management plan

Ecological management plan

6.—(1) No phase of the authorised
development may commence until a written
ecological management plan for that phase has
been submitted to and approved in writing by
the relevant planning authority in consultation
with the Environment Agency, Natural England
and Kent County Council where required.

6.—(1) No phase of the authorised
development may commence until a
written ecological management plan for
that phase has been submitted to and
approved in writing by the relevant
planning authority in consultation with the
Environment Agency, Natural England and
Kent County Council where required.

(3) The ecological management plan must
include an implementation timetable and be
implemented as approved.

(2) The ecological management plan must
contain on-site biodiversity mitigation to
address the biodiversity loss resulting from
the construction of the authorised
development, unless off-site compensation
or “offsetting” is provided to address this
biodiversity loss (in full or in part) to the
satisfaction of the relevant planning
authority.
(3) Where the ecological management
plan provides off-site compensation or
"offsetting" it must contain a statement
giving the undertaker's reasons why
sufficient on-site mitigation can not be
provided, to the satisfaction of the relevant
planning authority.
(34) The ecological management plan
must include an implementation timetable
and be implemented as approved.

117127441.5\gm05

34

EDC and DBC would expect the application to
detail the extent of the biodiversity loss and
include a clear outline of how biodiversity net
gain would be achieved. The requirement
should also properly reflect the established
hierarchy of seeking to avoid biodiversity loss
in the first instance, where that is not possible
seeking on-site compensation, then off-site
compensation before considering further "offsetting".
Where offsetting is proposed EDC would
expect details of the offsetting proposal to be
made available to the examination to enable
proper scrutiny of the proposals.

Page 234

(2) The ecological management plan must
contain on-site biodiversity mitigation to
address the biodiversity loss resulting from the
construction of the authorised development,
unless off-site compensation or “offsetting” is
provided to address this biodiversity loss (in full
or in part) to the satisfaction of the relevant
planning authority.

EDC and DBC broadly welcome the principle
of a requirement requiring the approval of an
ecological management plan to secure on-site
biodiversity mitigation.

Agenda Item 10

publication of the Order, that shall be
complied with

INITIAL PRELIMINARY COMMENTS ON THE DRAFT DCO AND DCO REQUIREMENTS – TO BE
DISCUSSED FURTHER WITH APPLICANT PRE-SUBMISSION
R7

Construction Environmental Management
Plan

Construction
Management Plan

7.—(1) [No phase of the authorised
development may commence until a CEMP for
that phase has been submitted to and approved
in writing by the relevant with the relevant
planning authority.]

7.—(1) [No phase of the authorised
development may commence until a
CEMP for that phase has been submitted
to and approved in writing by the relevant
with the relevant planning authority.]

(2) All construction works for the authorised
development must be carried out in general
accordance with the CEMP, unless otherwise
agreed with the relevant planning authority

(2) All construction works for the
authorised development must be carried
out in general accordance with the CEMP.,
unless otherwise agreed with the relevant
planning authority

(a) archaeological
investigation;

written

scheme

(3) The CEMP, which specifies measures
to be used to minimise the impacts of
construction works, incorporates the
following plans and strategies—

of
(a) archaeological written scheme of
investigation;

(b) biodiversity mitigation strategy;
(b) biodiversity mitigation strategy;

EDC and DBC note that at this stage the
contents of the CEMP and the range of other
measures to be incorporated within it, is not
available.
EDC and DBC are however very concerned
that the requirement would require only
"general accordance" with the measures
outlined in the approved CEMP. This would
seriously undermine the ability of the
requirement to be enforced and as such EDC
and DBC are of the firm view that only
"accordance" (and not "general accordance")
with those approved measures is sufficiently
precise and enforceable.
EDC and DBC are also concerned at the
proposed "tail piece" in sub-paragraphs (2) and
(5). Given that the draft DCO accommodates
changes
to
approved
documents
in
requirement 1(3) and includes a process for the
approval of requirements in Part 2 of Schedule
2, the formal process should be used to ensure
transparency.

Page 235

(3) The CEMP, which specifies measures to be
used to minimise the impacts of construction
works, incorporates the following plans and
strategies—

Environmental

(c) construction traffic management plan;
(c) construction traffic management plan;
(d) ecological construction mitigation plan;
(e) noise and vibration management plan;
(e) noise and vibration management plan;
(f) rights of access management plan; and
(f) rights of access management plan; and
(g) waste management plan.
(g) waste management plan.
(4) Any works carried out pursuant to the plans,
scheme and strategy referred to in

117127441.5\gm05

35

Agenda Item 10

(d) ecological construction mitigation plan;

INITIAL PRELIMINARY COMMENTS ON THE DRAFT DCO AND DCO REQUIREMENTS – TO BE
DISCUSSED FURTHER WITH APPLICANT PRE-SUBMISSION

(5) The plans, scheme and strategy referred to
in sub-paragraph (3) must be implemented as
approved unless otherwise agreed with the
relevant planning authority.

Approval
and
implementation
construction mitigation plans

of

8.—(1) No phase of the authorised
development may commence until, for that
phase, the following plans and scheme to
minimise the impacts of construction works
have been submitted to and approved by the
relevant planning authority—

(4) Any works carried out pursuant to the
plans, scheme and strategy referred to in
subparagraph (3) must be carried out in
general accordance with the approved
plan, scheme or strategy unless otherwise
agreed with the relevant planning
authority.
(5) The plans, scheme and strategy
referred to in sub-paragraph (3) must be
implemented
as
approved
unless
otherwise agreed with the relevant
planning authority.
Approval and implementation
construction mitigation plans

of

8.—(1) No phase of the authorised
development may is to commence until, for
that phase, the following plans and
schemes to minimise the impacts of
construction works have been submitted to
and approved by the relevant planning
authority—

(a) [ ];
(a) construction method statement;
(b) [ ];
(c) [ ];

(b) construction and
management plan;

(d) [ ];

(c) health and safety management plan;

(e) [ ];

(d) construction travel plan;

(f) [ ]; and

117127441.5\gm05

36

logistics

traffic

It is noted that a significant number of the
plans, strategies and schemes referred to in
the PEIR do not appear to have been reflected
in
the
requirements.
The
proposed
amendments reflect the plans, schemes and
strategies identified as a result of that review.

Page 236

R8

Agenda Item 10

subparagraph (3) must be carried out in general
accordance with the approved plan, scheme or
strategy unless otherwise agreed with the
relevant planning authority.

INITIAL PRELIMINARY COMMENTS ON THE DRAFT DCO AND DCO REQUIREMENTS – TO BE
DISCUSSED FURTHER WITH APPLICANT PRE-SUBMISSION
(g) [ ].

(e) construction delivery and servicing plan
(including details of waste collections);

(2) The construction works for each phase of
the authorised development must be carried out
in general accordance with the approved plans
and scheme referred to in sub-paragraph (1),
unless otherwise agreed with the relevant
planning authority.

(f) construction traffic management plan
(g) construction river transport safety
management plan;
(h) construction vessel movement and
terminal operation management plan (to
include measures to manage biofouling
and ballast discharge and invasive nonnative species);
(i) construction landscape and ecology
initiatives plan;

(k) biodiversity management plan;

Page 237

(j) construction landscape and ecology
management plan;

(l) habitat provision and management plan;
(n) green infrastructure strategy;

(p) sustainable drainage and hydrological
strategy;
(q) biosecurity plan;

117127441.5\gm05

37

Agenda Item 10

(o) clean air strategy;

INITIAL PRELIMINARY COMMENTS ON THE DRAFT DCO AND DCO REQUIREMENTS – TO BE
DISCUSSED FURTHER WITH APPLICANT PRE-SUBMISSION

(s) marine archaeological monitoring plan;
(t) dust management plan;
(u) dust and odour complaint monitoring
plan;

Agenda Item 10

(r) Emergency incident plan (to include
measures to address spillages and
pollution incidents);

(v) exceptional incident tracking plan;
(w) flood risk management plan

(y) surface water drainage strategy and
management plan
(z) wastewater and foul drainage strategy;
(aa) sediment load management plan;
(bb) flood evacuation and management
plan
(cc) land contamination and remediation
risk management plan;
(dd) leachate management plan
(ee) gas protection management plan

117127441.5\gm05

38

Page 238

(x) water resource management plan

INITIAL PRELIMINARY COMMENTS ON THE DRAFT DCO AND DCO REQUIREMENTS – TO BE
DISCUSSED FURTHER WITH APPLICANT PRE-SUBMISSION
(ff)
unexploded
management plan;

ordnance

risk

(gg) foundation works risk assessment and
earthworks management plan;
(hh) construction waste management plan;
(ii) materials management plan;
(jj) sustainable construction management
plan;

(a) safety and security management plan;
(b) health and safety management plan

117127441.5\gm05

39

Agenda Item 10

(3) No phase of the authorised
development is to be brought into
operation until, for that phase, the following
plans, schemes and strategies to mitigate
the impacts of the operation of the
authorised development have been
submitted to and approved by the relevant
planning authority—

Page 239

(2) The construction works for each phase
of the authorised development must be
carried out in general accordance with the
approved plans and scheme referred to in
sub-paragraph (1), unless otherwise
agreed with the relevant planning
authority.

INITIAL PRELIMINARY COMMENTS ON THE DRAFT DCO AND DCO REQUIREMENTS – TO BE
DISCUSSED FURTHER WITH APPLICANT PRE-SUBMISSION

(d) parking and event management plan
(e) operational travel plan;
(f) operational delivery and servicing plan
(including details of waste collections);

Agenda Item 10

(c) inclusive design operational policy
monitoring and management plan;

(g) ticketing management plan ((to include
complementary
initiatives
such
as
combined resort and public transport
tickets);

(i) operational traffic management plan (to
include a traffic incident management plan
for the operational phase);
(j) operational river
management plan;

transport

safety

(k) operational vessel movement and
terminal operation management plan
(l) operational landscape and ecology
initiatives plan;
(m) operational landscape and ecology
management plan;

117127441.5\gm05

40

Page 240

(h) parking and event management plan (to
control onsite and offsite parking and detail
measures to discourage visitors arriving by
private motor vehicle during peak times);

INITIAL PRELIMINARY COMMENTS ON THE DRAFT DCO AND DCO REQUIREMENTS – TO BE
DISCUSSED FURTHER WITH APPLICANT PRE-SUBMISSION
(n) habitat provision and management
plan;
(o) green infrastructure strategy;
(p) clean air strategy;
(q) sustainable drainage and hydrological
strategy;
(r) operational environmental management
plan;
(s) flood risk management plan;
(t) water resource management plan

Page 241

(u) surface water drainage strategy and
management plan
(v) wastewater and foul drainage strategy
(w) gas protection management plan;
(x) operational waste management plan;

R9

117127441.5\gm05

Construction hours and noise

Construction hours and noise

9.—(1) Construction works (which for the
purposes of this requirement exclude
archaeological investigations, landscaping

9.—(1) Construction works (which for the
purposes of this requirement exclude
archaeological investigations, landscaping

41

It is noted that paragraph 15.153 of the PEIR
indicates that normal construction hours will be
between 08:00 and 18:00 and the requirement
ought to reflect the basis of the assessment.
The appropriateness of other measures within

Agenda Item 10

(4) The authorised development must be
operated in accordance with the plans,
schemes and strategies approved under
paragraph (3).

INITIAL PRELIMINARY COMMENTS ON THE DRAFT DCO AND DCO REQUIREMENTS – TO BE
DISCUSSED FURTHER WITH APPLICANT PRE-SUBMISSION

(2) The noise level for the construction works
measured at a noise sensitive receptor must not
exceed Leq, 12hour 75 dB(A) wherever
practicable, unless otherwise agreed in writing
by the relevant planning authority.

(4) Work is permitted outside the periods
mentioned in sub-paragraph (1) provided the
noise level measured at the boundary of the
Order limits does not exceed 45 dB(A).
(5) Regardless of sub-paragraphs (1) to (4) the
following works are permitted—
(a) emergency works; and

(3) Where compliance with sub-paragraph
(1) or (2) is not practicable prior consent
under section 61 of the Control of Pollution
Act 1974(a) must be obtained.
(4) Work is permitted outside the periods
mentioned in sub-paragraph (1) provided
the noise level measured at the boundary
of the Order limits does not exceed 45
dB(A).
(5) Regardless of sub-paragraphs (1) to (4)
the following works are permitted—

(b) works which do not cause noise that is
audible at the boundary of the Order limits.
(6) Any emergency works carried out under
sub-paragraph (5)(a) must be notified to the
relevant planning authority within 72 hours of
their commencement.

117127441.5\gm05

(2) The noise level for the construction
works measured at a noise sensitive
receptor must not exceed Leq, 12hour 75
dB(A) wherever practicable, unless
otherwise agreed in writing by the relevant
planning authority.

42

(a) emergency works; and
(b) works which do not cause noise that is
audible at the boundary of the Order limits.
(6) Any emergency works carried out under
sub-paragraph (5)(a) must be notified to

this requirement will be considered in the light
of the corresponding noise assessment, once
available.

Page 242

(3) Where compliance with sub-paragraph (1) or
(2) is not practicable prior consent under
section 61 of the Control of Pollution Act
1974(a) must be obtained.

works and any non-intrusive internal fit-out
works but include start up, shut down and
deliveries) must not take place other than
between 07:00 08:00 and 19:00 18:00
hours on weekdays and between 07:00
08:00 and 13:00 hours on Saturdays,
excluding public holidays.

Agenda Item 10

works and any non-intrusive internal fit-out
works but include start up, shut down and
deliveries) must not take place other than
between 07:00 and 19:00 hours on weekdays
and between 07:00 and 13:00 hours on
Saturdays, excluding public holidays.

INITIAL PRELIMINARY COMMENTS ON THE DRAFT DCO AND DCO REQUIREMENTS – TO BE
DISCUSSED FURTHER WITH APPLICANT PRE-SUBMISSION

R10

10.—(1) No phase of the authorised
development may be brought into use until a
written scheme has been submitted to and
approved in writing by the relevant planning
authority for the monitoring of noise generated
during the operational phases of that phase of
the development.

10.—(1) No phase of the authorised
development may be brought into use until
a written scheme has been submitted to
and approved in writing by the relevant
planning authority for the monitoring of
noise generated during the operational
phases of that phase of the development.

(2) The written scheme must specify the
locations from where noise will be monitored,
the method of noise measurement (which must
be in accordance with BS4142: 1997 for fixed
plant noise and Calculation of Railway Noise
1995, equivalent successor standards or other
measurement methodologies appropriate to the
circumstances agreed by the relevant planning
authority) and identify maximum noise levels
appropriate to each location.

(2) The written scheme must specify the
locations from where noise will be
monitored,
the
method
of
noise
measurement (which must be in
accordance with BS4142: 1997 for fixed
plant noise and Calculation of Railway
Noise
1995,
equivalent
successor
standards
or
other
measurement
methodologies
appropriate
to
the
circumstances agreed by the relevant
planning authority) and identify maximum
noise levels appropriate to each location.

(3) The written scheme must also specify the
periods within which monitoring of operational
noise is to take place.

(5) The written scheme is to be subject to
annual reviews to establish the frequency of
noise monitoring and the need for continued
monitoring.

117127441.5\gm05

43

(4) The written scheme must be
implemented to establish baseline noise
conditions.
(5) The written scheme is to be subject to
annual reviews to establish the frequency
of noise monitoring, and the need for

In respect of paragraph (6) it is not clear what
the "health and safety requirements" would be
that would prevent the use of broadband
reversing alarms. These matters ought to be
addressed by LRCH.
While the requirement does require monitoring,
it contains no measures requiring action to
remedy any unacceptable impacts that may be
identified by such monitoring.

Agenda Item 10

(4) The written scheme must be implemented to
establish baseline noise conditions.

(3) The written scheme must also specify
the periods within which monitoring of
operational noise is to take place.

In respect of paragraph (2) it is not clear why
BS4142:1997 is referred to as an appropriate
standard to employ considering it has been
updated several times in the intervening period
and that the latest standard is BS4142:2019.

Page 243

Noise during the operational phase

the relevant planning authority within 72
hours of their commencement.
Noise during the operational phase

INITIAL PRELIMINARY COMMENTS ON THE DRAFT DCO AND DCO REQUIREMENTS – TO BE
DISCUSSED FURTHER WITH APPLICANT PRE-SUBMISSION

Agenda Item 10

(6) Subject to health and safety requirements,
broadband reversing alarms must be employed
on mobile plant.

continued
monitoring
and
further
measures to mitigate the adverse effects of
noise if identified by such monitoring
together with an implementation timetable,
to be approved by the relevant planning
authority and implemented by the
undertaker.
(6) Subject to health and safety
requirements, broadband reversing alarms
must be employed on mobile plant.

R11

Monitoring of complaints

11.—(1) In the event that complaints for noise
nuisance are received by a relevant planning

11.—(1) In the event that complaints for
noise nuisance are received by a relevant
planning authority, which considers
subsequently notifies the undertaker that it
considers those complaints to merit
investigation justified, the undertaker must
unless otherwise agreed in writing by the
relevant planning authority, at its own
expense and within seven days, employ a
consultant approved by the relevant
planning authority to carry out an
assessment
of
noise
from
the
development, whether relating to noise
from construction or operation of the site.

authority, which considers those complaints
justified, the undertaker must unless otherwise
agreed in writing by the relevant planning
authority, at its own expense, employ a
consultant approved by the relevant planning
authority to carry out an assessment of noise
from the development, whether relating to noise
from construction or operation of the site.
(2) The assessment must be carried out to an
appropriate methodology agreed in writing by
the relevant planning authority and the results
of the assessment must be submitted to the
relevant planning authority within 28 days of the
assessment.
(3) Those results must include a comparison of
measured data with the requirements, all data
which was collected for the purposes of the

117127441.5\gm05

44

(2) The assessment must be carried out
within 14 days of the notification referred to
in paragraph (1) and in accordance with to
an appropriate methodology approved
agreed in writing by the relevant planning
authority and the results of the assessment
must be submitted to the relevant planning

EDC is supportive of the inclusion of a
requirement to respond to noise complaints.
However, as drafted the requirement would
require only the monitoring of noise complaints,
it would not compel LRCH to take any steps or
measures to remedy those complaints where
the monitoring concludes that they were
justified.
As drafted, the requirement does not set any
time frame within which the monitoring is
required to be undertaken.

Page 244

Monitoring of complaints

INITIAL PRELIMINARY COMMENTS ON THE DRAFT DCO AND DCO REQUIREMENTS – TO BE
DISCUSSED FURTHER WITH APPLICANT PRE-SUBMISSION
assessment and certificates of the measuring
instrument’s calibration.

authority within 28 14 days of the
assessment.

R12

(2) All construction traffic must at all times
access the authorised development using an
access point approved under sub-paragraph (1)
for that phase.

117127441.5\gm05

45

(2) All construction traffic must at all times
access the authorised development using

The relevant highway authority ought to be
consulted on the appropriateness of the
construction traffic accesses.

Agenda Item 10

Access by construction traffic
12.—(1) No phase of the authorised
development is to commence until the locations
and details of the access points for construction
traffic from the public highway into the
authorised development have been submitted
to and approved in writing by the relevant
planning authority for that phase.

(4) The mitigation measures and timetable
approved by the relevant planning
authority referred to in paragraph (3) must
be implemented by the undertaker.
Access by construction traffic
12.—(1) No phase of the authorised
development is to commence until the
locations and details of the access points
for construction traffic from the public
highway into the authorised development
have been submitted to and approved in
writing by the relevant planning authority,
following consultation with the relevant
highway authority, for that phase.

Page 245

(3) Those results must include a
comparison of measured data with the
requirements, all data which was collected
for the purposes of the assessment and
certificates of the measuring instrument’s
calibration and where the assessment
shows that unacceptable noise arises from
the construction or operation of the
authorised development, the assessment
must include measures to mitigate those
unacceptable effects and a timetable for
their implementation, both of which must
be submitted for the approval of the
relevant planning authority.

INITIAL PRELIMINARY COMMENTS ON THE DRAFT DCO AND DCO REQUIREMENTS – TO BE
DISCUSSED FURTHER WITH APPLICANT PRE-SUBMISSION

R13

Provision of landscaping
13.—(1) No phase of the authorised
development is to commence until a written
landscaping strategy has been submitted to and
approved in writing by the relevant planning
authority.
(2) The landscaping strategy may be subject to
alteration by prior approval in writing of the
relevant planning authority.

Provision of landscaping
13.—(1) No phase of the authorised
development is to commence until detailed
a landscape proposal and specification for
that phase a written landscaping strategy
has been submitted to and approved in
writing by the relevant planning authority.

(a) location, quantity, species, height and
spread, pot size and density of any
proposed planting;
(b) full planting specification including
cultivation, importation of materials and
other operations to ensure plant
establishment,
including
a
soil
management plan;
(c) landscape management plan for the
first years as well as management for
longevity (to include measures for the
monitoring
and
maintenance
of
landscaping during construction and
operation of the authorised development
and
details
of
management
responsibilities);
(d) proposed finished ground levels;

117127441.5\gm05

46

As drafted, the requirement does not specify
the minimum scope of the landscaping
strategy. EDC and DBC suggest amendments
are made to address these matters.

Page 246

(2) The detailed landscape proposal and
specification must contain details of all
hard and soft landscaping works
including—

EDC and DBC welcome the general principle
that details of landscaping should be subject to
the approval of the relevant planning
authorities. It also notes that at this preliminary
stage details of the required landscaping
mitigation remain to be assessed as such it is
not clear at which stages or phases relevant
landscape mitigation must be implemented. It
therefore reserves its ability to comment further
on this aspect in due course.

Agenda Item 10

an access point approved under subparagraph (1) for that phase.

INITIAL PRELIMINARY COMMENTS ON THE DRAFT DCO AND DCO REQUIREMENTS – TO BE
DISCUSSED FURTHER WITH APPLICANT PRE-SUBMISSION
(e) hard surfacing materials and street
furniture;
(f) a programme for implementation of all
landscaping works, including advanced
planting;
(i) details of fencing and enclosures;
(j) vehicular and pedestrian access,
parking and circulation areas, (including
details of areas of public access);

(2) The planting scheme submitted under subparagraph (1) must include details of—
(a) the location and a schedule of plants noting
number, species, size and planting density of
any proposed planting or seeding;

117127441.5\gm05

47

(2) The planting scheme submitted under
sub-paragraph (1) must include details
of—

No justification has been provided for the "tail
piece" at the beginning of the requirement
consequently EDC and DBC recommend that
it is deleted.

Agenda Item 10

Replacement planting
14.—(1) Unless otherwise agreed with the
relevant planning authority, no phase of the
authorised development, may be brought into
operation until, for that phase, a scheme for the
planting of trees, groups of trees and
hedgerows to replace those to be removed
during that phase that accords with [ ] has been
submitted to and approved by the relevant
planning authority.

Page 247

R14

(2) The landscaping strategy may be
subject to alteration by prior approval in
writing of the relevant planning authority.
Replacement planting
14.—(1) Unless otherwise agreed with the
relevant planning authority, n No phase of
the authorised development, may be
brought into operation until, for that phase,
a scheme for the planting of trees, groups
of trees and hedgerows to replace those to
be removed during that phase that accords
with [ ] has been submitted to and
approved by the relevant planning
authority.

INITIAL PRELIMINARY COMMENTS ON THE DRAFT DCO AND DCO REQUIREMENTS – TO BE
DISCUSSED FURTHER WITH APPLICANT PRE-SUBMISSION

(c) details of a five year maintenance regime.

Implementation
of
landscaping
and
replacement planting
15.—(1) All landscaping and replacement
planting works referred to in requirements 13
and 14 must be implemented in the first
available planting season after that part of the
authorised development to which the
landscaping or replacement planting works
apply is first brought into operational use and
must be carried out in general accordance with
specification set out at [ ] and the relevant
landscaping scheme for that phase of the
authorised development, and to a
reasonable standard in accordance with the
relevant recommendations of appropriate
British Standard or other recognised codes of
good practice.
(2) Any tree or shrub planted on land outside
Work No.1 and Work No.2 as part of an
approved landscaping or replacement planting
scheme that, within a period of five years after

117127441.5\gm05

48

(a) the location and a schedule of plants
noting number, species, height and
spread, pot size and planting density of any
proposed planting or seeding;
(b) a full planting specification including
cultivation, importing of materials and other
operations to ensure plant and seed
Establishment
including
a
soil
management plan; and
(c) details of a five year maintenance
regime and measures for maintenance for
longevity.
Implementation of landscaping and
replacement planting
15.—(1) All landscaping and replacement
planting works The schemes, detailed
landscape proposals and specifications
referred to in requirements 13 and 14 must
be implemented in the first available
planting season after that part phase of the
authorised development to which the
landscaping or replacement planting works
apply is first brought into operational use
and must be carried out in general
accordance with specification set out at [ ]
and the relevant landscaping scheme
matters approved under requirements 13
and 14, for that phase of the authorised
development, and to a reasonable
standard in accordance with the relevant
recommendations of appropriate British
Standard or other recognised codes of
good practice.

EDC and DBC note that landscaping relating to
works other than Work Nos. 1 and 2 is to be
maintained for a period of five years. LRCH will
have to demonstrate in its application the
appropriateness of this period.
EDC and DBC consider it is also inappropriate
for such works to be carried out in "general
accordance" with the relevant standard, full
accordance should be required.
The requirement is silent on the period for
maintenance of landscaping relating to Work
Nos. 1 and 2. EDC would anticipate that it
ought to be maintained throughout the
operation of the authorised development.

Page 248

R15

Agenda Item 10

(b) cultivation, importing of materials and other
operations to ensure plant and seed
establishment; and

INITIAL PRELIMINARY COMMENTS ON THE DRAFT DCO AND DCO REQUIREMENTS – TO BE
DISCUSSED FURTHER WITH APPLICANT PRE-SUBMISSION
planting, is removed, dies or becomes in the
opinion of the relevant planning authority
seriously damaged or diseased, must be
replaced in the first available planting season
with a specimen of the same species and size
as that originally planted, unless otherwise
approved by the relevant planning authority.

(2) Any tree or shrub planted on land
outside Work No.1 and Work No.2 as part
of
an
approved
landscaping
or
replacement planting scheme that, within a
period of five years after planting, is
removed, dies or becomes in the opinion of
the relevant planning authority seriously
damaged or diseased, must be replaced in
the first available planting season with a
specimen of the same species and size as
that originally planted, unless otherwise
approved by the relevant planning
authority.

Retention and protection of existing trees
and hedgerows
16.—(1) No phase of the authorised
development may commence until, for that
phase, a Tree and Hedgerow Protection
Strategy (THPS) identifying the trees, groups of
trees and hedgerows to be retained during that
phase has been submitted to and approved by

117127441.5\gm05

49

Measures to protect existing trees and
hedgerows
are
welcomed.
The
appropriateness of the measures contained in
this requirement will be considered once
further detail concerning LRCH's proposals
become available. It is considered that
consideration should be given to naming
further consultees that may have an important

Agenda Item 10

R16

Page 249

(3) Any tree or shrub planted on land in
relation to Work No.1 and Work No.2 as
part of an approved landscaping or
replacement planting scheme that, is
removed, dies or becomes in the opinion of
the relevant planning authority seriously
damaged or diseased, must be replaced in
the first available planting season with a
specimen of the same species and size as
that originally planted, unless otherwise
approved by the relevant planning
authority.

INITIAL PRELIMINARY COMMENTS ON THE DRAFT DCO AND DCO REQUIREMENTS – TO BE
DISCUSSED FURTHER WITH APPLICANT PRE-SUBMISSION
following

role to play in approving such measures,
including Natural England.

(2) The THPS referred to in sub-paragraph (1)
must include—
(a) Tree Protection Plans detailing the
alignment of temporary physical tree protection
measures, in accordance with the details
identified in [ ];

Page 250

(b) a schedule of all proposed tree removal and
pruning with annotated plans;
(c) a specification for temporary physical
protection for trees and hedgerows; and
(d) details of an auditable system of compliance
with the approved protection measures.
(3) The trees, groups of trees and hedgerows
identified in the THPS referred to in subparagraph (1) must not be felled or otherwise
removed in connection with the construction of
the authorised development.

R17

117127441.5\gm05

(4) The relevant phase of the authorised
development must not commence until the
approved protection measures referred to in
sub-paragraph (1) are in place, and they must
thereafter be maintained during the construction
of the relevant phase of the authorised
development.
Fencing and other means of enclosure
17.—(1) No phase of the authorised
development is to commence until written
details of all proposed permanent external

50

Agenda Item 10

the relevant planning authority,
consultation with Natural England.

Fencing and other means of enclosure
17.—(1) No phase of the authorised
development is to commence until written
details of all proposed permanent external

EDC suggests minor amendments are made to
paragraph (2) to correctly use the term
"authorised development" and to remove the
unnecessary reference to details being "from

INITIAL PRELIMINARY COMMENTS ON THE DRAFT DCO AND DCO REQUIREMENTS – TO BE
DISCUSSED FURTHER WITH APPLICANT PRE-SUBMISSION

R18

fences, walls or other means of enclosure
for that phase have been submitted to and
approved in writing by the relevant
planning authority.

(2) The development must be carried out in
accordance with the details as approved from
time to time in writing by the relevant planning
authority.
Lighting details
18.—(1) Prior to the commencement of each
phase of the authorised development, details of
the proposed lighting visible from outside the
authorised development in that phase must be
submitted to and approved in writing by the
relevant planning authority.

(2) The authorised development must be
carried out in accordance with the details
as approved from time to time in writing by
the relevant planning authority.
Lighting details
18.—(1) Prior to the commencement of
each
phase
of
the
authorised
development, details of the proposed
lighting visible from outside the authorised
development in that phase must be
submitted to and approved in writing by the
relevant planning authority.

(2) The approved lighting scheme must be
implemented and maintained as approved from
time to time during operation of the authorised
development and no external lighting other than
that approved under this requirement is to be
installed.

R19

117127441.5\gm05

Flood risk and surface water discharge
19.—(1) No phase of the authorised
development which encroaches upon the
existing floodplain of the [ ] is to be brought into
use until the Flood Defence Works have been
completed.

51

(3) The details submitted under this
requirement must include details of any
lighting on any gantry cranes.
Flood risk and surface water discharge
19.—(1) No phase of the authorised
development which encroaches upon the
existing floodplain of the [ ] is to be brought
into use until the Flood Defence Works
have been completed.

The reference to "approved from time to time"
is unnecessary as this is dealt with in
requirement 1(3).
It is considered that insufficient information has
been provided to justify the exclusion of lighting
visible only from within the authorised
development, from the scope of this
requirement. In particular the effects of lighting
on any onsite ecological mitigation or
compensation are an important consideration.
EDC notes the reference to details of the
lighting of gantry cranes and would expect the
environmental assessment of landscape and
visual effects to fully assess the use during
construction or operation of gantry cranes.
Generally it is noted that this requirement
appears to be in an embryonic and outdated
form, noting in particular with respect to
paragraph (3) that consents under section 23
Land Drainage Act 1991 would be issued by
the "drainage board concerned" in relation to
ordinary watercourses rather than Environment
Agency, the latter of which is responsible,

Agenda Item 10

(3) The details submitted under this requirement
must include details of any lighting on any
gantry cranes.

(2) The approved lighting scheme must be
implemented and maintained as approved
from time to time during operation of the
authorised development and no external
lighting other than that approved under this
requirement is to be installed.

time to time" approved. The latter being
unnecessary as it is addressed in requirement
1(3).

Page 251

fences, walls or other means of enclosure for
that phase have been submitted to and
approved in writing by the relevant planning
authority.

INITIAL PRELIMINARY COMMENTS ON THE DRAFT DCO AND DCO REQUIREMENTS – TO BE
DISCUSSED FURTHER WITH APPLICANT PRE-SUBMISSION

(4) The authorised development must be
carried out in accordance with the mitigation
measures detailed within the [Flood Risk
Assessment] submitted with the application or
be carried out in accordance with any variation
to the those mitigation measures agreed in
writing by the Environment Agency, the lead
local flood authority or the approving body
under Schedule 3 (sustainable drainage) to the
Flood and Water Management Act 2010(a).
(5) The elements of the authorised development
which encroach or directly impact upon
HS1must not be commenced until such time as
the detail of the relevant bridging structure and
flow control structure have been submitted to
and approved in writing by the
relevant planning authority.

117127441.5\gm05

52

(3) The details of the Flood Defence Works
must accord with the agreement reached
with the Environment Agency and
consented under section 23 (prohibition on
obstructions etc. in
watercourses) of the Land Drainage Act
1991(a) with consent number [ ] or any
varied consents issued or variation to the
works agreed in writing by the Environment
Agency or the lead local flood authority.
(4) The authorised development must be
carried out in accordance with the
mitigation measures detailed within the
[Flood Risk Assessment] submitted with
the application or be carried out in
accordance with any variation to the those
mitigation measures agreed in writing by
the Environment Agency, the lead local
flood authority or the approving body under
Schedule 3 (sustainable drainage) to the
Flood and Water Management Act
2010(a).
(5) The elements of the authorised
development which encroach or directly
impact upon HS1must not be commenced
until such time as the detail of the relevant

under the Environmental Permitting (England
and Wales) Regulations 2016 for the issue of
flood risk permits in relation to main rivers. EDC
urges LRCH to carefully review and update this
requirement in the light of the existing legal
landscape.
Generally the requirement ought to be clear
about which body is ultimately responsible for
discharging that part of the requirement, again
this should reflect the existing legal landscape,
see paragraphs (4), (5), (7)
Paragraph (5) should require consultation with
HS1.
There is a conflict between paragraph (5),
which requires details to be approved by the
relevant planning authority and requirement (6)
which passes the responsibility for approving
variations to the approved details to the
Environment Agency or LLFA, following
consultation with the relevant planning
authority.
Paragraph (7) ought to be clear as to the
process for the approval of the Surface Water
Drainage Strategy rather than leave it to be
prescribed by the Flow and Water
Management Act 2010.
In paragraphs (8) and (10) the references to
"any variations to the details agreed in writing
by the relevant planning authority" is
unnecessary and ought to be deleted; this
matter is dealt with by requirement 1(4). EDC

Page 252

(3) The details of the Flood Defence Works
must accord with the agreement reached with
the Environment Agency and consented under
section 23 (prohibition on obstructions etc. in
watercourses) of the Land Drainage Act
1991(a) with consent number [ ] or any varied
consents issued or variation to the works
agreed in writing by the Environment Agency or
the lead local flood authority.

(2) The Flood Defence Works are to be
constructed as part of the authorised
development and in advance of the
operation of that phase unless another
mitigation option approved by the
Environment Agency has already been
implemented.

Agenda Item 10

(2) The Flood Defence Works are to be
constructed as part of the authorised
development and in advance of the operation of
that phase unless another mitigation option
approved by the Environment Agency has
already been implemented.

INITIAL PRELIMINARY COMMENTS ON THE DRAFT DCO AND DCO REQUIREMENTS – TO BE
DISCUSSED FURTHER WITH APPLICANT PRE-SUBMISSION
(6) The structures that fall within sub-paragraph
(5) must be implemented as approved or in
accordance with any variation to the approved
details agreed in writing by the Environment
Agency or lead local flood authority, following
consultation with the relevant planning
authority.

(8) The scheme must subsequently be
implemented in accordance with the approved
details or in accordance with any variations to
the details agreed in writing by the relevant
planning authority prior to the completion of the
authorised development.

117127441.5\gm05

53

(7) No phase of the authorised
development is to commence until a
surface water drainage scheme for that
phase based on sustainable drainage
principles and an assessment of the
hydrological and hydrogeological context
of the development in accordance with the
Surface
Water
Drainage
Strategy
submitted with the application has been
submitted to and approved in writing by the
relevant planning authority, following
consultation with the lead local flood
authority and the Environment Agency. or
in accordance with such other approval
process that may be prescribed under the
Flood and Water Management Act 2010.
(8) The scheme must subsequently be
implemented in accordance with the
approved details or in accordance with any
variations to the details agreed in writing by
the relevant planning authority prior to the
completion of the authorised development.

Agenda Item 10

(9) Prior to the commencement of any element
of the authorised development which directly
affects a watercourse or floodplain, a
construction working method statement for such
element to cover all works in, over under or
within [ ] metres of the top of the bank of either
watercourse or their floodplains must be

(6) The structures that fall within subparagraph (5) must be implemented as
approved or in accordance with any
variation to the approved details agreed in
writing by the Environment Agency or lead
local flood authority, following consultation
with the relevant planning authority.

also reserves its position as to whether the
scheme ought to be implemented sooner than
the completion of the authorised development.
Given the multi-phase nature of LRCH's
proposal it is concerned that critical mitigation
may never be implemented if later phases are
not brought forward.

Page 253

(7) No phase of the authorised development is
to commence until a surface water drainage
scheme for that phase based on sustainable
drainage principles and an assessment of the
hydrological and hydrogeological context of the
development in accordance with the Surface
Water Drainage Strategy submitted with the
application has been submitted to and approved
in writing by the relevant planning authority or in
accordance with such other approval process
that may be prescribed under the Flood and
Water Management Act 2010.

bridging structure and flow control
structure have been submitted to and
approved in writing by the
relevant planning authority.

INITIAL PRELIMINARY COMMENTS ON THE DRAFT DCO AND DCO REQUIREMENTS – TO BE
DISCUSSED FURTHER WITH APPLICANT PRE-SUBMISSION

(10) Thereafter the development must be
carried out in accordance with the approved
scheme and any subsequent amendments
agreed in writing with the relevant planning
authority.

Agenda Item 10

submitted to and agreed in writing by the
relevant planning authority.

(9) Prior to the commencement of any
element of the authorised development
which directly affects a watercourse or
floodplain, a construction working method
statement for such element to cover all
works in, over under or within [ ] metres of
the top of the bank of either watercourse or
their floodplains must be submitted to and
agreed in writing approved by the relevant
planning authority.

R20

Contaminated land and groundwater

Contaminated land and groundwater

20.—(1) No phase of the authorised
development may commence until a written
scheme applicable to that phase to deal with the
ground conditions, including contamination of
any land or groundwater, within the Order limits
which is likely to cause significant harm to
persons or pollution of controlled waters or the
environment has, after consultation with the
Environment Agency, been submitted to and
approved by the relevant planning authority.

20.—(1) No phase of the authorised
development may commence until a
written scheme applicable to that phase to
deal with the ground conditions, including
contamination of any land or groundwater,
within the Order limits which is likely to
cause significant harm to persons or
pollution of controlled waters or the
environment has, after consultation with
the Environment Agency, been submitted
to and approved by the relevant planning
authority.

(2) Remediation measures must be carried out
in accordance with the approved scheme.

117127441.5\gm05

54

This requirement addresses contamination
known to be present prior to the
commencement of development. It does not
deal with measures to address any unexpected
contamination
encountered
during
construction. Given the nature that CKD tipping
and the deposition of river dredgings have
taken place in the area (which is acknowledged
in Chapter 5 of the PEIR) the requirement
ought also to cater for appropriate mitigation to
be employed where previously unknown
contamination
is
encountered
during
construction or maintenance.

Page 254

(10) Thereafter the development must be
carried out in accordance with the
approved scheme and any subsequent
amendments agreed in writing with the
relevant planning authority.

INITIAL PRELIMINARY COMMENTS ON THE DRAFT DCO AND DCO REQUIREMENTS – TO BE
DISCUSSED FURTHER WITH APPLICANT PRE-SUBMISSION
(2) Remediation measures must be carried
out in accordance with the approved
scheme.

Page 255

(3) If, during the construction of the
authorised development, contamination
not previously identified in the written
scheme is found to be present, then,
unless otherwise agreed by the relevant
planning authority (following consultation
with the Environment Agency), no further
construction operations are to be carried
out in the part of the site in which the
contamination is identified until a
remediation strategy is submitted to and
approved by the relevant planning
authority (following consultation with the
Environment Agency).
(4) The relevant part of the authorised
development must be carried out in
accordance with the details approved
under paragraph (3).
R22

Geology

(2) The scheme must set out criteria for the
assessment of geological exposures of
scientific interest for the purposes of deciding

117127441.5\gm05

55

Agenda Item 10

22.—(1) No phase of the authorised
development is to commence until a written
scheme of geological investigation has been
submitted to and approved in writing by the
relevant planning authority.

EDC and DBC support the principle of ensuring
that geological conservation is given
appropriate regard.

INITIAL PRELIMINARY COMMENTS ON THE DRAFT DCO AND DCO REQUIREMENTS – TO BE
DISCUSSED FURTHER WITH APPLICANT PRE-SUBMISSION

(3) The authorised development must be
carried out in accordance with the approved
scheme.
R25

Highway works

25.—(1) No work to construct or alter any
permanent or temporary means of access to a
highway to be used by vehicular traffic may
commence until written details of the design and
layout of that means of access has been
submitted to and approved by the relevant
highway authority.

25.—(1) No work to construct or alter any
permanent or temporary means of access
to a highway to be used by vehicular traffic
may commence until written details of the
design and layout of that means of access
has been submitted to and approved by the
relevant highway planning authority,
following consultation with the relevant
highway authority.

(2) The highway accesses must be constructed
in accordance with the details approved under
sub-paragraph (1).
(3) The undertaker must carry out stage 2, 3 and
4 road safety audits of the highway works
authorised by this Order in accordance with GG
119 of the Department for Transport’s Design
Manual for Roads and Bridges or in accordance
with any standard that supersedes that
Standard and must remedy to the reasonable
satisfaction of the relevant highway authority
any defects identified in any such road safety
audits.

117127441.5\gm05

56

(2) The highway accesses must be
constructed in accordance with the details
approved under sub-paragraph (1).
(3) The undertaker must carry out stage 2,
3 and 4 road safety audits of the highway
works authorised by this Order in
accordance with GG 119 of the
Department for Transport’s Design Manual
for Roads and Bridges or in accordance
with any standard that supersedes that
Standard and must remedy to the
reasonable satisfaction of the relevant
highway authority any defects identified in
any such road safety audits.

This requirement appears to be inconsistent
with article 18, which gives the LRCH the
power to form accesses to the highway.
Consent under article 18 is required to be given
by the relevant planning authority, whereas
approval under this requirement is to be given
by the relevant highway authority.
EDC and DBC would suggest that matters
referred to in paragraph (1) ought to be for the
approval of the relevant planning authority,
following consultation with the relevant
highway authority.

Page 256

Highway works

Agenda Item 10

whether a permanent geological conservation
site should be created.

INITIAL PRELIMINARY COMMENTS ON THE DRAFT DCO AND DCO REQUIREMENTS – TO BE
DISCUSSED FURTHER WITH APPLICANT PRE-SUBMISSION
R26

HGV traffic
26.—(1) Except in exceptional circumstances,
HGV movements associated with the
authorised development shall not be permitted
between [ ] at the following highway junctions—
(a) [ ]; and

HGV traffic
26.—(1)
Except
in
exceptional
circumstances,
HGV
movements
associated
with
the
authorised
development shall are not be permitted
between [ ] 07:00 and 09:00 or between
16:00 and 19:00 at the following highway
junctions—

While the full results of transport and other
assessments are awaited, EDC and DBC
would anticipate that it would be necessary for
HGV movements to avoid these junctions at
peak times.

(b) [ ].
(2) The restrictions do not apply to the
movement of HGVs on the strategic or local
road network other than at the junctions referred
to in sub-paragraph (1).

(a) junctions 1a, 1b and 2 of the M25
motorway [ ]; and
(b) the A2 (T) Bean Junction ; and[ ]
(c) Ebbsfleet junction.

R27

Scheme of marking

27.—(1) No phase of the authorised
development may commence until a scheme of
marking for HGVs to identify vehicles engaged
on work in the authorised development has,
after consultation with the relevant planning
authority, been submitted to and approved by
the relevant highway authority.

27.—(1) No phase of the authorised
development may commence until a
scheme of marking for HGVs to identify
vehicles engaged on work in the
authorised
development has, after
consultation with the relevant planning
authority, been submitted to and approved
by the relevant highway planning authority,
following consultation with the relevant
highway authority.

(2) The authorised development must be
carried out in accordance with the approved
scheme of marking.

117127441.5\gm05

57

The approval of the scheme of marking should
be for the relevant planning authority, following
consultation with the relevant highway
authority. This strikes an appropriate balance
between the expertise of the highway authority
coupled with accountability at a local level.

Agenda Item 10

Scheme of marking

Page 257

(2) The restrictions do not apply to the
movement of HGVs on the strategic or
local road network other than at the
junctions referred to in sub-paragraph (1).

INITIAL PRELIMINARY COMMENTS ON THE DRAFT DCO AND DCO REQUIREMENTS – TO BE
DISCUSSED FURTHER WITH APPLICANT PRE-SUBMISSION

R28

Highway signage plans

28.—(1) No phase of the authorised
development may commence until plans for
highway signage for that phase have been
submitted to and approved by the relevant
highway authority.

28.—(1) No phase of the authorised
development may commence until plans
for highway signage for that phase have
been submitted to and approved by the
relevant highway authority.

(2) Unless otherwise agreed with the relevant
highway authority, no signage may be installed
other than in accordance with the plans referred
to in sub-paragraph (1).

(2) Unless otherwise agreed with the
relevant highway authority, nNo signage
may be installed other than in accordance
with the plans referred to in sub-paragraph
(1).

Traffic Incident Management Plan
29.—(1) No phase of the authorised
development may commence until a Traffic
Incident Management Plan for that phase has
been submitted to and approved by the relevant
highway authority.

Traffic Incident Management Plan
29.—(1) No phase of the authorised
development may commence until a Traffic
Incident Management Plan for that phase
has been submitted to and approved by the
relevant highway authority, following
consultation with the relevant planning
authority.

(2) The Traffic Incident Management Plan must
set out measures to be taken in the event that
either—
(a) any part of the strategic or local road
networks in the vicinity of the authorised
development is temporarily closed; or
(b) traffic from an incident elsewhere is diverted
along one of the proposed construction routes
for the authorised development.

117127441.5\gm05

58

(2) The Traffic Incident Management Plan
must set out measures to be taken in the
event that either—
(a) any part of the strategic or local road
networks in the vicinity of the authorised
development is temporarily closed; or

It is considered that the "tail piece" is
unnecessary as requirement 1(3) already
contains a formal mechanism for the approval
of amended details.

It is considered that the relevant planning
authority ought to be consulted on the approval
of the Traffic Incident Management Plan.

Page 258

R29

Highway signage plans

Agenda Item 10

(2) The authorised development must be
carried out in accordance with the
approved scheme of marking.

INITIAL PRELIMINARY COMMENTS ON THE DRAFT DCO AND DCO REQUIREMENTS – TO BE
DISCUSSED FURTHER WITH APPLICANT PRE-SUBMISSION
(3) In the event of a traffic incident as referred
to in sub-paragraph (2) during the construction
works, the approved measures in the Traffic
Incident
Management
Plan
must
be
implemented.

R30

(3) The approved information dissemination and
complaints handling systems must be
implemented as approved throughout the
construction of the authorised development,
unless otherwise approved by the relevant
planning authority.

117127441.5\gm05

59

(2) The information to be disseminated
must include general provision of
information in relation to the phasing and
carrying out of construction works for the
authorised development and specifically in
relation to activities on-site that may lead
to nuisance.
(3) The system for handling complaints
must include—
(i) provision for the appointment of an
independent
person
to
investigate
complaints and determine any appropriate
remedial actions;

EDC and DBC are supportive of the principle of
a requirement dealing with the dissemination of
information to residents and complaints
handling.
EDC and DBC would like to see the
requirement set out in further detail the scope
of the complaints handling procedure together
with a clear duty on LRCH to investigate
complaints and take remedial action, to log
complaints and actions to investigate and
remediate them and for that log to be made
available to a relevant planning authority or
environmental health officers on request.

Agenda Item 10

(2) The information to be disseminated must
include general provision of information in
relation to the phasing and carrying out of
construction works for the authorised
development and specifically in relation to
activities on-site that may lead to nuisance.

(3) In the event of a traffic incident as
referred to in sub-paragraph (2) during the
construction
works,
the
approved
measures in the Traffic Incident
Management Plan must be implemented.
Residential
amenity:
information
dissemination and complaints handling
30.—(1) The authorised development must
not commence until a system for the
provision of information to local residents
and occupiers about the works and for the
handling of complaints has, following
consultation with the relevant highway
authority, been submitted to and approved
by the relevant planning authority.

Page 259

Residential
amenity:
information
dissemination and complaints handling
30.—(1) The authorised development must not
commence until a system for the provision of
information to local residents and occupiers
about the works and for the handling of
complaints has, following consultation with the
relevant highway authority, been submitted to
and approved by the relevant planning
authority.

(b) traffic from an incident elsewhere is
diverted along one of the proposed
construction routes for the authorised
development.

INITIAL PRELIMINARY COMMENTS ON THE DRAFT DCO AND DCO REQUIREMENTS – TO BE
DISCUSSED FURTHER WITH APPLICANT PRE-SUBMISSION

(iii) provision requiring the log to be
provided to the relevant planning authority
or environmental health officers on
request.

N/A

Requirement
for
accommodation

N/A

Transport

It is noted that LRCH greatly relies on the use of the river for the transportation during the
construction and operation of the authorised development. EDC and DBC will want to be
assured that there are enforceable measures securing appropriate sustainable
transportation.

N/A

Maintenance and replacement

EDC and DBC consider it essential that appropriate requirements are in place to regulate
the effects of the maintenance of the authorised development under article 4 or its
replacement under article 3(3), particularly in view of the wide power to maintain that LRCH
seeks.

117127441.5\gm05

regulating

60

worker

It is considered that it is essential that appropriate requirements are in place to regulate the
design of any "related housing" and to ensure that such accommodation is used only for the
purposes of accommodating workers.

Page 260

(43)
The
approved
information
dissemination and complaints handling
systems must be implemented as
approved throughout the construction of
the authorised development, unless
otherwise approved by the relevant
planning authority.
Additional Requirements (non-exhaustive)

Agenda Item 10

(ii) details of the system for logging
complaints
received,
investigations
undertaken and remedial actions carried
out; and

INITIAL PRELIMINARY COMMENTS ON THE DRAFT DCO AND DCO REQUIREMENTS – TO BE
DISCUSSED FURTHER WITH APPLICANT PRE-SUBMISSION
N/A

Decommissioning

EDC and DBC will want to be assured that the DCO makes appropriate provision for the
decommissioning and restoration of the site should it cease operation.

Schedule 2
Part 2 – Procedure for Discharge of Requirements
Paragraph 31

Applications made under requirements
31. Where an application has been made to a
relevant authority for any consent, agreement or
approval required by a requirement included in
Schedule 2 (requirements) to this Order, the
relevant authority must give notice to the
undertaker of its decision on the application
within a period of 4 weeks beginning with—

(b) where further information is requested under
paragraph 1(2), the day immediately following
that on which further information has been
supplied by the undertaker; or

(2) Where an application has been made under
paragraph 1(1) the relevant authority may
request such reasonable further information

117127441.5\gm05

61

The key concerns are:


the relevant planning authority is
afforded only 7 days to determine
whether or not further information is

Agenda Item 10

(c) such longer period as may be agreed in
writing by the undertaker and the relevant
authority.

Given the limited detail of the LRCH proposals
that are available to date EDC is concerned
that much of the important detail will be left over
to approval under requirements. There must be
adequate time available to it for that detail to be
properly scrutinised.

Page 261

(a) where no further information is requested
under paragraph 1(2), the day immediately
following that on which the application is
received by the authority;

It is noted that the time periods within which
certain actions must be taken are very short.
While it is acknowledged that the LRCH's
proposal have been subject to a direction
under section 35 of the Planning Act 2008,
deeming it to be a nationally significant
infrastructure project, LRCH's proposals are for
a scheme the nature of which is unlike other
projects that have progressed through
Planning Act 2008 regime. Given the clear
differences, it is apparent the precedent
drafting presented (which does not follow the
precedent drafted appended to PINS Advice
Note 15) here is ill-suited to a complex scheme
of a different nature to that usually consented
under the 2008 Act.

INITIAL PRELIMINARY COMMENTS ON THE DRAFT DCO AND DCO REQUIREMENTS – TO BE
DISCUSSED FURTHER WITH APPLICANT PRE-SUBMISSION
required to determine an application.
Given the complexity of the proposal
and the commensurate length and
complexity
of
the
documents
submitted for approval, combined with
the need to draw upon internal and
possibly external expertise, it will, in
practice, be virtually impossible to
adequately
scrutinise
the
documentation to a standard that it is
confident no further information is
required, within 7 days of receipt.

(3) If the relevant authority considers further
information is necessary and the requirement
does not specify that consultation with a
requirement consultee is required, the relevant
authority must, within 7 business days of receipt
of the application, notify the undertaker in
writing specifying the further information
required.

(5) If the relevant authority does not give the
notification mentioned in sub-paragraph (3) or
(4) it is deemed to have sufficient information to
consider the application and is not thereafter
entitled to request further information without
the prior agreement of the undertaker.

117127441.5\gm05

62



where additional information is
provided, the 4 week determination
period starts on the day following
receipt of that information. The only
provision dealing with the scenario
whereby the additional information
supplied is also insufficient, is that the
undertaker may appeal if it disagrees
with the relevant authority (see
paragraph 33(1)(d)).



it is afforded only one business day to
prepare and issue the consultation to a
requirement consultee from receipt of
the application. This affords a relevant
authority no meaningful period of time
to handle such consultations.



named consultees are given a
maximum of 21 days within which to
request any additional information. In
practice this will be shorter given that
such requests are required to be

Page 262

(4) If the requirement specifies that consultation
with a requirement consultee is required, the
relevant authority must issue the consultation to
the requirement consultee within 1 business
day of receipt of the application and must notify
the undertaker in writing specifying any further
information requested by the requirement
consultee within 1 business day of receipt of
such a request and in any event within 21
business days of receipt of the application.

Agenda Item 10

from the undertaker as it considers is necessary
to enable it to consider the application.

INITIAL PRELIMINARY COMMENTS ON THE DRAFT DCO AND DCO REQUIREMENTS – TO BE
DISCUSSED FURTHER WITH APPLICANT PRE-SUBMISSION
transmitted to the relevant planning
authority which must in turn request
the additional information within that
21 day period.


it is prevented from requesting further
information if requests are not made
within the specified, and very short,
time periods.



despite
paragraph
32(2)(a)
recognising the
possibility that
applications could be invalidly made,
there is no provision terminating the
"clock" on such a determination.

Furthermore the term "business days" is not
defined in either article 2, or paragraph 1 of
Schedule 2, and it ought to be for clarity.
Para 32

117127441.5\gm05

Fees

While EDC and DBC welcome the provision of
a fee in connection with the processing of
approvals under the operative provisions of the

63

Agenda Item 10

At a minimum EDC and DBC would require an
8 week determination period and sufficient time
to seek the views of relevant consultees.

Page 263

These short time periods and the limitations
placed upon the relevant planning authority
and other requirement consultees are
inconsistent with EDC's duties under the
Infrastructure Planning (Environmental Impact
Assessment) Regulations 2017 in respect of
subsequent applications (see regulations 22 to
24).

INITIAL PRELIMINARY COMMENTS ON THE DRAFT DCO AND DCO REQUIREMENTS – TO BE
DISCUSSED FURTHER WITH APPLICANT PRE-SUBMISSION

(a) a fee of £[ ]; or

EDC and DBC is also concerned with
paragraph (2)(b) which would require it to
refund or credit against a future application, a
fee paid in connection with an application
where that application is considered to be
invalid. EDC and DBC's public resources
should not be expended reviewing deficient
applications.

(b) such other fee as may be prescribed (under
sections 303 and 333(2A) of the 1990 Act for
the discharge of conditions attached to a
planning permission).
(2) Any fee paid under this Schedule must be
refunded to the undertaker within 4 weeks of—
(a) the application being rejected as invalidly
made; or
(b) the relevant planning authority failing to
determine the application within 4 weeks from
the date on which it is received,
unless within that period the undertaker agrees
in writing that the fee may be retained by the
relevant planning authority and credited in
respect of a future application.

117127441.5\gm05

64

Page 264

draft DCO and its requirements, it is concerned
to ensure that the fee is commensurate to the
resources that handling such a complex
scheme will require. This concern is
heightened by the very short time frames
specified in paragraph 31.

Agenda Item 10

32.—(1) Where an application is made to a
relevant planning authority for any consent,
agreement or approval required by a
requirement included in Schedule 2 to this
Order, a fee must be paid to the relevant
planning authority as follows—

London Resort DCO – Preliminary List of Indicative S106 Planning Obligation Topics

Appendix C

Set out below is an emerging preliminary list of indicative S106 planning obligations EDC and the host authorities have identified as needing to
appropriately mitigate and offset the impacts of the development in conjunction with DCO requirements. This is based on the consultation material reviewed
to date and is non-exhaustive. It will need to be supplemented following engagement with other statutory consultees and others and discussed with the
applicant pre-submission and significant progress made on a draft S106 Agreement ahead of submission alongside the DCO and DCO Requirements.
Public Transport
1.1 Rail

a) Improvements to increase capacity at Ebbsfleet International Station – this would include changes to escalators,
concourse areas etc.
b) Redevelopment of Swanscombe Railway Station with new station provision due to the increase in patronage
c) Contribution to improve Greenhithe and Northfleet Stations due to the increase in patronage

1.2. Buses

Contribution to FastTrack buses and network to facilitate the connections to the site and increase capacity on the network
including measures to enable FastTrack to share new "people mover route" between Manor Way and Ebbsfleet Station

1.3.Cycleways

a) Cycleways will need investing in. Need to ensure a consistent attractive network. Proposals show connections from the
site to the immediate connection point outside of the boundary but need to look at wider connection and desire lines
b) Wayfinding contribution to support cycle routes
Ensure available to public/wider area not just London Resort visitors

1.5 New ferry terminal

Ensure available to public/wider area not just London Resort visitors

1.6 New RO RO slipway

Ensure available to public not just London Resort visitors

1.7 Footpaths

a) Footpaths will need investing in. Need to ensure a consistent attractive network. Proposals show connections from the site
to the immediate connection point outside of the boundary but need to look at wider connection and desire lines

Page 265

1.4 New passenger jetty

b) Wayfinding contribution to support footpath routes
Contributions to support relevant authority engagement and monitoring, management and enfoecement

1.9 Jetty

Jetty for construction deliveries and operational traffic including wayfinding and setting

Highways
2.1 Roads, junctions, bridges, signals

A2 junction improvements
Pooled contribution to Junction 1a improvement
Local Highways and Junction improvements

2.2 Demand management measures intelligent transport systems

Investment in ITS and Demand Management Measures, including Travel Plan and updates and continual improvement

2.3 Parking

Offsite parking controls / contribution to cover financial costs of any Controlled Parking Zones which need implementing

Agenda Item 10

1.8 Staffing, Monitoring & Enforcement

Fund to use to encourage sustainable travel modes if targets are not met & significant funds into Staff Travel Plan to support
rail, bus and car club use and comprehensive ticketing strategy to incentivise sustainable transport useage

2.5 Street Lighting
2.6 Staffing, Monitoring & Enforcement

Street lighting enhancements on visitor routes
Contributions to support relevant authority engagement and monitoring, management and enforcement

2.7 Phasing

Phased delivery of works – in conjunction with R5 in DCO - phasing plan providing that:
a) Gate 2 and RDE not to come forward until Gate 1 open
b) Resort road to be completed before any opening (link to s278)

Environmental Health
NME requirements subject to final noise reports

3.2 Noise monitoring staff/ consultant support and hotline costs

Contributions to support relevant authority engagement and monitoring, management and enforcement

3.3 Noise insulation scheme

NIS if required, depending on final noise reports

3.4 Air quality monitoring equipment

Air quality monitoring equipment along main routes near sensitive receptors and funding of any AQMA as necessary

3.5 Air quality management plans and mitigation measures

As required due to impact of the development and cumulative impact

3.6 Low Emission Zones (LEZs)

As required due to impact of the development and cumulative impact

3.7 Electric Vehicle Fleet & Parking

EV charging points and fleet of EVs

3.8 Resourcing for EH

Contribution to resourcing environmental health due to increased workload at both construction and operation stages

4. Economic Development, Skills & Training
4.1 Business relocation and support strategy

Need for a business relocation and support strategy that supports the existing companies that will be relocated as part of the
scheme and creates new business space to enable that to occur locally

4.2 Employment and Skills Contributions

Significant contributions to support learning and skills development in the area both during construction and operation
phases of the development, including:
1. To work with local authorities and local businesses to maximise the use of local businesses in their supply chain
2. To provide an on-site training academy during construction to promote skills and training for local people
3. To develop leisure /hospitality focused educational programmes and modules with local schools, colleges and universities
4. To provide a skills investment fund to enable local residents to take advantage of opportunities provided by Proposed
Development
5. To provide a facility for staff training and recruitment – a bridge between the Proposed Development and the wider
community

Page 266

3.1 Noise monitoring equipment

Agenda Item 10

2.4 Parking Levy and/or Congestion Charge

4.3 STEM boost in schools and higher/further education for supply
chain for local opportunities

To be targeted locally at job skills areas/employment opportunity areas

4.4 Digital infrastructure network

Improvements to cater for development and impact

4.5 Investment Partnership programmes funding (inward investment)

Role of development within local and regional investment programmes, including liaison with Government

4.6. Diversity and inclusion initiatives to reduce inequalities and access
to employment and skills opportunities

1. Local advertisement / procurement
2. Support for community based programmes to provide opportunities to residents from disadvantaged backgrounds
Assess EQIA and target opportunities

5. Community Services Impact

5.2 Healthcare

Health contribution to EDC Health and Wellbeing Hub and Local Hospitals/GPs arising from the need generated from the
worker accommodation

5.3 Temporary Accommodation

Worker accommodation strategy – temporary accommodation for construction workers but designed for quality permanent
standard housing – to discuss with applicant

5.4 Leisure/ Parks &
Recreation

Contribution to upgrade of leisure/parks and recreational facilities arising from the need generated from the worker
accommodation

5.5 Community facilities/ centres

Contribution towards community facilities to expand and improve facilities in existing neighbourhoods to cater for increased
demands as a result of the resort

5.6 Hotel/B&B Sector

Hotel/B&B impact strategy and mitigation fund – to mitigate impact on local hotels/B&Bs and visitor accommodation due to
development – need to assess capacity for other purposes and how resort eats into capacity and measures to address to
ensure indirect adverse effects are appropriately mitigated. Need to finalise strategy and impact mitigation fund requirements

5.7 Housing market impacts, including resort worker and supply chain
affordable housing needs

Affordable housing for workers provision

5.8 Wayfinding/ signage improvement

Where relevant to community impacts of the proposed development

5.9 Police/Security

Security contribution to Kent Police to cater for increased demands as a result of the resort

6. Environment
6.1 Ecology mitigation
6.2 Biodiversity net gain

Mitigation for ecology impacts. Smaller scale local enhancements to support the Kent Thameside Green Grid.
Funding and delivery of offsite compensation scheme to achieve biodiversity net gain in accordance with PEIR commitment

6.3 Species mitigation

Offsite species mitigation, e.g. birds, other species potentially impacted

6.4 Habitat mitigation

Managed alteration to flood defences and along riverbank profile dry sections of Kent project site to provide additional
saltmarsh habitat (river flood wall and riverside path improvements)

Agenda Item 10

Contribution to education provision to cater for increased residential development growth to support
worker/employee/contractor accommodation required due to the development

Page 267

5.1 Schools

Intertidal terracing requirement to mitigate intertidal mud habitat loss.
Other habitat impact mitigation and offset

No future/expansion of resort in terms of habitat impact
Public use where appropriate
Habitat management strategy
6.5 Flood defences

Flood defence improvements

6.6 Heritage interpretation

Heritage strategy and interpretation including heritage contribution to facilitate heritage interpretation across Ebbsfleet
including enhancement of Swanscombe Heritage Park

6.7 Heritage – shopfronts

Agenda Item 10

Green Zones, marshes etc to be retained as such

Fund and measures to improve commercial frontages in shopping parades in Swanscombe and Northfleet to help deal with
the impact of the development proposals
6.8 Public realm improvements

Contribution to public realm improvements in Swanscombe and Northfleet High Streets to help mitigate impacts on local
shopping and leisure facilities

7.1 Carbon reduction tracker
7.2 Tree planting
7.3 Housing Insulation schemes
7.4 Renewable Technologies (e.g. PV, Air Source Heat Pumps)
7.5 Other
8. Culture/Arts Contribution

To measure and reduce carbon footprint and hit reduction targets towards net zero
To offset carbon footprint and contribute to carbon reduction targets. Direct planting and fund.
To offset carbon footprint and contribute to carbon reduction targets. Fund.
To offset carbon footprint and contribute to carbon reduction targets. Direct provision and fund.
For example safeguarded land / green zones, marshes etc. to be retained as such

Culture/Arts contribution – e.g. contribution to future Ebbsfleet Trust to
support Civic Life

To ensure impact of scheme on cultural life is appropriately integrated and complimentary to existing cultural and arts
facilities and to work together to attract beneficial new facilities and/or experiences/support schemes

9. Community and Authority Stakeholder Liaison Group
9.1 Community and Authority Stakeholder Liaison Group

9.2 Planning, EHO, H&S, Street Services, Highways/Parking etc.
officer monitoring, management and enforcement funding/contribution

18.09.20

Scope, constitution, governance, remit and funding to ensure construction and operational impacts are appropriately dealt
with, planned, monitored and managed
To ensure adequate monitoring, management and enforcement of the development by relevant authority officers and
monitoring and responding to impacts and complaints

Page 268

7. Carbon Offset & Mitigation

Page 269

Agenda Item 11

CABINET
29 OCTOBER 2020

DRAFT PRIVATE SECTOR DISCRETIONARY ASSISTANCE POLICY
1.

Summary

1.1.

Central government allocates funding which allows discretionary financial
assistance to be provided by a local authority to assist local residents to live
independently and safely in their own homes.

1.2.

This report proposes a new draft Private Sector Discretionary Assistance Policy
to replace the previous Better Care Fund Discretionary Assistance Policy.

2.

RECOMMENDATIONS

2.1.

That the Hospital Discharge Grant be increased from £5,000 to £10,000.

2.2.

That the Safe and Secure Grant be increased from £5,000 to £10,000.

2.3.

That the Discretionary Assistance Grant be increased from £7,500 to £15,000.

2.4.

That a new Contribution Grant for mandatory Disabled Facilities Grants be
approved with a maximum grant limit of £10,000.

2.5.

That a new Relocation Grant be approved with a maximum grant limit of
£10,000.

2.6.

That all grants be made non-repayable.

2.7.

That the draft Private Sector Discretionary Assistance Policy, attached at
Appendix A to this report, be approved.

2.8.

That the Strategic Director (External Services) be granted delegated authority
to make in-year amendments to the approved Private Sector Discretionary
Assistance Policy, as necessary.

3.

Background and Discussion

3.1.1. The Regulatory Reform Order (Housing Assistance) 2002 (the Order), gives
local authorities a general power to introduce local policies for assisting
individuals with renewals, repairs and adaptations to their homes through
grants and loans. As a result, the Order expands the scope of adaptations
available under Disabled Facilities Grants (DFG) legislation. It enables the
provision of a range of assistance schemes to provide ‘fast track’
mechanisms for low level adaptations. The Order therefore provides local
authorities with the ability to widen the assistance it can provide.

Agenda Item 11

Page 270

3.1.2. In 2015, Government announced that up to £500 million of capital funding was
being made available for DFGs and related works as part of the Better Care
Fund (BCF). The Council’s budget allocation for DFGs via the BCF increased
from 2017 but has stayed the same for 2019/2020 and 2020/2021.
3.1.3. In light of the Order and the BCF funding allocations, the Council developed a
BCF Assistance Policy, which was approved by Cabinet on 25 January 2018
(Min. No. 104) to assist people leaving hospital and return to a suitable home,
thus reducing bed blocking.
3.1.4. Historically, the way in which DGF funding could be used was rather
prescriptive. However, since the introduction of the Better Care Fund in 2015
and the RRO a wider private sector housing assistance approach is being
promoted
3.1.5. The BCF Assistance Policy has now been reviewed and a new policy
developed that better reflects the needs of Dartford residents. The main
changes are summarised below:





All assistance, in the form of grants to be made non-repayable
Maximum grant limits to be increased
The scope of discretionary assistance to be widened and new
discretionary assistance schemes implemented
Inclusion of details of other schemes funded by the BCF for ease of
reference

3.1.6. The reasons for these proposals are set out in this report.
3.2.

Grant Funding and Underspend

3.2.1. The Council has, over the last few years, underspent BCF grant funding.
This has mainly been due to limited financial assistance schemes being
available initially and relatively low levels of grant monies being made
available to applicants.
3.2.2. The following table shows the level of grant funding made available to
Dartford and underspend each year.
TOTAL
AVAILABLE
FUNDING

PORTION OF
THE GRANT
SPENT BY DBC
IN YEAR

UNDERSPEND
C/F (SPENT
FOLLOWING
YEAR)

2017/18

£439,000

£308,718

£130,282

2018/19

£483,400

£229,349

£254,051

2019/20
2020/21

£521,576
£521,576

£227,396

£294,180

Page 271

Agenda Item 11

CABINET
29 OCTOBER 2020

3.2.3.

As can be seen, spend has been lower than the allocation each year
however, underspend is rolled forward. It is envisaged that the new Policy
will help ensure the Council maximises spend and assist more people to
live independently in a safe home environment and to help with discharges
from hospital to prevent bed blocking.

4. Discretionary Assistance Schemes and services
4.1. Hospital Discharge Grant
4.1.2. The grant is provided to support local residents being discharged from
hospital and funds a range of works detailed in the new Private Sector
Discretionary Assistance Policy, attached at Appendix A.
4.1.3. It is proposed that this grant be increased from £5000 to £10000 to enable
any works that are deemed necessary to enable a person to return home
from hospital.
4.2. Safe and Secure Grant
4.2.1. This grant is designed to reduce admissions and readmissions to hospital
and to ensure a person can remain in their own home as long as possible.
4.2.2. It is proposed that this grant be increased from £5000 to £10000 to cover any
additional works that may be required.
4.3. Discretionary Assistance Grant
4.3.1. This is a fast track grant for urgently needed disabled aids/adaptations in the
home, often used rather than the mandatory DFG, which has a maximum of
£30,000 available, but which has a more detailed and lengthy application
process including a mean test.
4.3.2. It is proposed that this grant be increased from £7500 to £15000 to cover
works such as replacement indoor lifts, which cost more than the previous
maximum available, or other higher cost works deemed necessary. Cases
that are eligible for this grant have steadily increased over the last year and
it is expected that this will continue, particularly with an increase in monies
available.
4.4. Contribution Grant for Mandatory DFGs
4.4.1. This is a new grant to be made available to the property owner where a
person is in receipt of a mandatory DFG but they have a financial contribution
towards it following a means test. Although this grant is means tested, there
are cases where a person is unable to afford the cost of the works for
example they may be in receipt of a works pension which takes them over
the threshold for the means test but have very little savings. As most clients

Agenda Item 11

Page 272

are older, they may find it more difficult to secure loans to pay for the works
and a contribution grant may be required.
4.4.2. It is proposed that this grant be set at £10000.
4.5. Relocation Grant
4.5.1. This is a new discretionary assistance scheme where an applicant is eligible
for a mandatory DFG but their property is not adaptable to their needs. In
these cases, a relocation grant may be offered.
4.5.2. It is proposed that the maximum grant be £10000.
4.6.

Non Person-Specific Assistance
The Order allows funding to be used for a range of works including schemes
that are not person specific. Applications can therefore be considered for
adaptations and improvements on buildings as well as the acquisition of
properties to assist vulnerable clients, which could include rough sleepers.
All applications will be considered by a senior manager.

4.7.

Subsidised Handyperson Service and Handyperson Enablement
The Council already subsidises a Handyperson service for local residents
through the local Home Improvement Agency. The service undertakes minor
repairs for Dartford residents at a low cost.
In addition to this, funding is made available for the provision of a
handyperson enablement service which offers both discharge and practical
support to help people get discharged from hospital more quickly and to
prevent admissions to hospital by offering practical solutions to problems
around the home. The enablement service is provided free of charge.

4.8.

Other services
Additional services already operating using BCF monies include the provision
of a Health and Housing Co-ordinator for Dartford based at Darent Valley
Hospital and a Hoarding Co-ordinator, in partnership with Gravesham
Borough Council. Further details can be found in the draft Private Sector
Discretionary Assistance Policy, attached at Appendix A.

5.

Proposal to make all grants non-repayable

5.1.1. The Council’s current policy and procedures in relation to repayable grants
(those over £5000), places a significant burden on applicants to complete
extensive paperwork and seek independent financial advice when securing
a repayable grant.
5.1.2. This, in turn, significantly slows the process for both the applicant and the
Council and essentially means that the applicant is not getting the assistance
they need as quickly as they should. In some cases, the applicant chooses

Page 273

Agenda Item 11

CABINET
29 OCTOBER 2020

not to apply due to the extra burden these additional requirements place on
them.
5.1.3. Moreover, repayable grants are only repayable if an applicant moves from
their current property and it is the Private Sector Team’s experience that this
does not happen very often which means the Council rarely receives any
monies back. Grants are also not repayable if an applicant dies.
5.1.4. It is therefore proposed to make all grants non repayable.
6. Other considerations
6.1.1. In all cases, discretionary assistance is subject to budget availability and may
be frozen by the Council when necessary.
6.1.2. Mandatory DFG applications will take precedence over discretionary funding
as detailed in the DFG Policy.
7.

Relationship to the Corporate Plan
This report relates to the Corporate Plan aims of ‘meeting the housing needs
of the Borough and achieving self-reliant communities’

8.

Financial, legal, staffing and other implications and risk assessments
Financial Implications

As detailed in this report

Legal Implications

None specifically

Staffing Implications

None

Administrative Implications None
Risk Assessment

There is a risk that demand may exceed supply but, as
there is no legal obligation to provide discretionary
assistance, it will have no impact on the Council. If this
is the case, a waiting list will be set up and managed
by the private sector housing team.

Equality Impact
Assessment

A Customer Access review has been carried out with
no adverse outcomes identified (see Appendix B).

Appendices
Appendix A - Draft Private Sector Discretionary Assistance Policy
Appendix B – Customer Access Review

Agenda Item 11

Page 274

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Documents consulted

Date /
File Ref

Report Author

Section
and
Directorate

Exempt
Information
Category

Jackie Pye
(01322) 343683

Housing/
External
Services

N/A

Page 275

Agenda Item 11

PRIVATE SECTOR
HOUSING
DISCRETIONARY
ASSISTANCE POLICY
Update October 2020

Agenda Item 11

1.

Page 276

INTRODUCTION

1.1.1. This document sets out Dartford Borough Council’s (hereby referred to as
‘the Council’) policy of assistance pursuant to the Regulatory Reform Order
(Housing Assistance) 2002. . This Policy has been adopted under Article
4 of the Regulatory Reform (Housing Assistance) (England and Wales)
Order 2002 (RRO). The RRO enables local authorities to develop a means
of providing assistance to any resident so they can address local needs and
priorities. A local authority must adopt a policy to exercise the powers set
out in the Order.
1.1.2. The RRO gives authorities a general power to introduce local policies for
assisting individuals with renewals, repairs and adaptations in their homes
through grants or loans. For example, it can provide authorities a vehicle for
funding essential repairs to reduce injury and accidents in the home, to
ensure homes are adequately heated, and to expand the scope of
adaptations available under the Disabled Facilities Grants (DFG) legislation.
Local authorities can also use the RRO to create assistance schemes which
help people meet their needs without going through the full DFG process.
Schemes such as these can, for example, provide ‘fast track’ mechanisms
for low level adaptations, which do not require a full social care assessment
or means test.
1.1.3. The Council believes that it is primarily the responsibility of property owners
to maintain the housing they own to a satisfactory standard of repair.
Nevertheless, the Council is aware that some property owners, including the
disabled and the vulnerable, will have difficulty in doing so without
assistance.
1.1.4. In addition, in 2015, Government announced that up to £500 million of
capital funding was being made available for DFGs and related works as
part of the Better Care Fund (BCF).
1.1.5. The BCF creates a local single pooled budget to incentivise the NHS and
local government to work more closely together around people, placing their
wellbeing as the focus of health and care services. The BCF also shifts
resources into social care and community services for the benefit of the
people, communities and health and care systems and maximises the
partnership role that the Council has with the NHS. The aim is ensure that
people can manage their own health and wellbeing, and live independently
in their communities for as long as possible.
1.1.6. This Policy sets out how the Council is providing additional assistance to its
residents as a result of the RRO and BCF and the range of programmes
and packages available to assist people in better maintaining housing they
own and/or live in and to assist people to move to more suitable
accommodation or provide non-person specific assistance to meet an
identified need.
1

Page 277

Agenda Item 11

2. Under the terms of this Policy the following may be provided.








Assisting with essential works such as repairs
Provision of necessary equipment
Deep cleaning/de-cluttering
Enabling homes to be efficiently heated for persons whose long term
health conditions or age makes them vulnerable to the cold
Non person specific assistance where resources allow
Assistance to help disabled people relocate to a suitable property that
meets their needs
Non-repayable, non-means tested grants for all types of assistance
including works to enable people to be discharged from hospital into
a safe environment

2.1.1. This Policy is therefore intended to cover a range of non means tested
services/funding not currently provided through any other means to prevent
admissions or readmissions to hospital, improve health and wellbeing and
to provide funding to eligible households for, for example, essential repairs
or heating installation which, if not carried out, may have a detrimental
impact on their health and wellbeing.
2.1.2. Eligibility for different programmes will be subject to meeting certain criteria.
Exceptions will be considered by a Senior Manager.
3.

Discretionary Financial Assistance

3.1.1. Historically, the way in which DGF funding could be used was rather
prescriptive. However, since the introduction of the Better Care Fund in
2015 and the RRO a wider private sector housing assistance approach is
being promoted. The RRO permits housing authorities to assist, directly or
indirectly, any person in respect of the acquisition, adaptation, improvement,
repair, demolition or construction of housing accommodation and takes a
joined-up approach to improving outcomes across health, social care and
housing.
3.1.2. The following grants are available to persons who meet one or more of the
aims of this Policy:
4.

Hospital Discharge Grant (HDG)

4.1.1. The maximum grant is £10,000.
4.1.2. This grant is solely to provide support to local residents being discharged
from hospital. Due to the many housing related issues that prevent a timely
hospital discharge, a finite list of works cannot be given. However all works
associated with the grant must be essential to enable the individual to once
again reside in their own home.
4.1.3. Examples of works that would be expected to be supported by a HDG
include:


Moving necessary furniture from upstairs to downstairs
2

Agenda Item 11







Page 278

Clearing a room to make it safe, including tackling hoarding
Deep cleaning a room to make it safe
Necessary equipment (not provided by any other means) to enable the
person to be discharged from hospital, e.g. tilting chairs/boiler repairs or
replacements
Purchasing of essential furniture such as a bed, if this is preventing
hospital discharge
Any other works that are deemed necessary to enable the person to
return home to a safe, warm and secure environment; within the scope
of this Policy ( to be agreed by the Head of Housing)

4.1.4. Applicants for an HDG must be in hospital at the time of referral and awaiting
discharge.
4.1.5. External organisations can refer applicants to the Council for assessment
including local hospitals etc., care navigators, GPs, occupational therapists,
health staff and the Health and Housing Coordinator based at Darent Valley
Hospital.
4.1.6. Confirmation of ownership/tenancy in the Borough will be confirmed prior to
discharge. In the case of tenants, only works or the provision of equipment
that is not the responsibility of the landlord will be provided.
5.

Safe and Secure Grant (SSG)

5.1.1. The maximum grant is £10,000.
5.1.2. The Safe and Secure Grant is designed to reduce admissions and
readmissions to hospital, improve health and wellbeing, to promote
independence and to ensure that the person can remain in their own home
as long as possible.
5.1.3. Applicants should normally be 65 or over and/or have a specific ill health
diagnosis/disability that affects their ability to remain in their own home
without financial assistance (see 7.2. also).
5.1.4. Repairs






to

the

house

and

its

environs

could

include:

repairs or modifications to stairs, floors and steps
boiler installation or repairs
safety and security repairs, including the provision of key safes etc.
providing additional property modifications to promote independence
for customers with a specific disability or diagnosed condition e.g.
dementia or other related conditions
any other works that are deemed necessary to enable the person to
remain in their own home and prevent hospital admission or
readmission within the scope of this Policy (to be agreed by the Head
of Housing)

3

Page 279

Agenda Item 11

5.1.5. Applicants can make a self-referral or external organisations can refer
residents to the Council for assessment including local hospitals etc., care
navigators, GPs, Occupational Therapists, health staff, Home Improvement
Agency and the Health and Housing Co-ordinator based at Darent Valley
Hospital.
6.

Discretionary Assistance Grant
Policy)

(also part of the Council’s DFG

6.1.1. The maximum grant is £15,000.
6.1.2. Discretionary Assistance Grant is a non-means tested grant for urgently
needed disabled aids/adaptations e.g. straight track stair lift, level access
shower, access ramp and the repair/replacement of obsolete or defective
equipment e.g. repair to stair lift or wash dry toilet. The purpose of the grant
is to assist hospital discharge, prevent hospital admission and provide
palliative assistance via a more streamlined process. Applications should
be submitted using the Council’s Discretionary Assistance application form.
Applicants must be:





An owner- occupier
A private sector tenant
A Registered Social Landlord tenant
Registered or registerable as a disabled person

6.1.3. Works must be recommended by an Occupational Therapist.
6.1.4. Applicants may employ the Home Improvement Agency or an Independent
Agent to assist them in the process and fees can be included within the cost
of the DFG.
7. Top up contribution grant for mandatory DFGs
7.1.1. The maximum grant is £10,000.
7.1.2. A grant will be made available to the property owner where a person is in
receipt of a mandatory DFG but they have a financial contribution towards
it, following the statutory means test.
7.1.3. Grants will be made available to pay for a person’s financial contribution
towards DFG works. The application for this grant must be made by the
homeowners of the property being adapted.
8.

Relocation Grant

8.1.1. The maximum grant is £10,000.
8.1.2. In appropriate cases where a person is eligible for DFG assistance but the
property is unsuitable for adaptation to their specific needs, a Relocation
Grant may be offered. This grant will only be available to a disabled person
4

Agenda Item 11

Page 280

following a decision by the Council in consultation with Social Services that
the existing property cannot be economically or reasonably adapted to their
needs.
8.1.3. In the event of the owner occupier having to move to alternative
accommodation, it will be a requirement that they sell their existing property
to facilitate a move to a property that is considered suitable for adaptations.
8.1.4. The applicant may be asked to undertake the statutory means test for a
DGFs and/or provide other details to confirm there is financial hardship.
8.1.5. If the new property is of less value and the applicants benefit from the equity
released, then the new grant may be a NIL approval.
8.1.6. Social Services and the Council must agree the suitability of the new
property. If the new property requires adaptation, a DFG may also be
offered.
8.1.7. Eligible items that can be included in the grant:
 Legal fees (minimum of two quotes required)
 Stamp Duty
 Surveyor/ Valuation fees
 Estate agent fees (minimum of two quotes required)
 Removal fees (minimum of two quotes required)
8.1.8. The Grant is to be approved before costs are incurred.
8.1.9. All fees are to be paid in full by the applicant who will then be reimbursed
by the grant.
8.1.10. All requests for payment are to be supported by relevant invoices from
the contractors via the applicant.
9. Non person specific assistance
9.1.1. The RRO permits housing authorities to assist, directly or indirectly, any
person in respect of the acquisition, adaptation, improvement, repair,
demolition or construction of housing accommodation. It gives the power to
use BCF and DFG funding as part of a wider private sector housing
assistance and improvement approach.
9.1.2. Applications for financial assistance will therefore be considered for the
funding of adaptation/improvement work for a variety of non person- specific
schemes such as providing disabled access to a communal entrance of a
residential block and the improvement or acquisition of properties to assist
vulnerable persons, including rough sleepers. All applications/schemes will
5

Page 281

Agenda Item 11

be subject to approval by Senior Management and dealt with on a case by
case basis, where resources allow.
10.

Subsidised Handyperson Service & Handyperson Enablement

10.1.1. Handypersons service and materials budget
The Council already subsidises a Handyperson service for local residents
through the local Home Improvement Agency run by Peabody SE Ltd. The
service undertakes minor repairs of a DIY nature for residents within the
borough of Dartford, following checks on repair responsibilities. All clients
are expected to cover the cost of materials required to carry out their repairs.
The service provides a subsidised service charge of £5.00 per hour (Inc.
V.A.T) for labour to residents who receive a qualifying mean tested benefit
for those who do not qualify a labour charge of £15.00 per hour (Inc. V.A.T.)
will apply.
10.1.2. In addition to this, funding is made available for the provision of a
handyperson enablement service which offers both discharge and practical
support to help people get discharged from hospital more quickly and to
prevent admissions to hospital by offering practical solutions to problems
around the home.
10.1.3. Funding has also been made available for the cost of materials to the
enablement service. A capped spend of £500.00 per customer is available
without the need to apply for one of the discretionary assistances outlined
in this policy. Any cases over this cap will be considered on an individual
basis and a final decision made by the Housing Solutions & Private Sector
Housing Manager. This service is provide free of charge.
10.2. Health and Housing Co-ordinator
The Council funds a full time Health and Housing Co-ordinator for the
Dartford Borough provided by Peabody SE Ltd, working at Darent Valley
Hospital to assist persons leaving hospital as well as offering a service to
help residents retain safe and independent living in their own home. It is a
tenure neutral service provided free of charge.
10.3. Hoarding Co-ordinator
The Council funds a hoarding co-ordinator with mental health specialism
which is provided by Peabody SE Ltd, in partnership with Gravesham
Borough Council and is a tenure neutral service.
Customers must either be 65 years or older or have a long term health
condition that is being exacerbated by the conditions in which they live; or
are living in housing with significant disrepair issues that need urgently
addressing and are impacting on a person’s physical health but cannot be
addressed due to the clutter within.
6

Agenda Item 11

Page 282

The service will endeavour to ascertain the underlying cause that leads to
hoarding and will work to support the person to agree to a referral to an
appropriate ongoing service.
Referrals will be treated as a priority where a patient is in hospital and their
discharge is dependent on clutter/hoarding being dealt with to ensure a safe
home environment. Referrals can be received from any of the Kent mental
health units where patients discharging need assistance with housing
related issues and they are either a resident of Dartford or Gravesham.
Referrals can also be accepted from Local Authorities, Kent Fire and
Rescue Service and Health and Social Care professionals.
All referrals must meet the service criteria, any variation to the criteria must
receive prior approval from the relevant Local Authority before the service’s
involvement.
This service is provided free of charge.
11.

Grant Conditions

11.1.1. All assistance is non-means tested and non-repayable and is available
to all eligible residents. Tenants are eligible for assistance not required to
be met by the landlord (e.g. de-cluttering, deep cleaning, purchase of
mattresses etc.).
11.1.2. To be eligible for a safe and secure grant, for under 65 year olds, written
evidence must be provided to the Council confirming the applicant’s medical
condition, e.g. GP referral letters/hospital letters.
11.1.3. In each grant case, an application form must be completed and approved
by the Council.
11.1.4. Applicants, or their advocate, need to provide one quote for all works or
the provision of equipment.
11.1.5. Consent for works to be completed on a property must be provided by
an owner of the property.
11.1.6. An application for any assistance shall be in a form approved by the
Council.
11.1.7. Any application for assistance for work, which has been carried out or
already commenced, will be refused.
11.1.8. In all cases, funding will only be provided where there is no other
assistance/funding available to the applicant.

7

Page 283

Agenda Item 11

11.1.9. In all cases, discretionary assistance is subject to budget availability and
may be frozen by the Council when necessary.
12.

Decision and Notification

12.1.1. The Council will notify an applicant in writing whether his or her
application is refused or approved.
12.1.2. If the Council approves the application, the notification will specify the
works eligible for assistance, the value of the assistance and the
contractor's quotation on which the assistance is based.
12.1.3. If the application is refused, the notification will include the reasons for
refusal.
13.

Supervision of Works

13.1.1. The responsibility for supervision of the works and obtaining any
necessary Building Regulations approval or other consent rests with the
applicant or his or her agent. The Council does not accept any responsibility
for supervision of the works.
13.1.2. The Council is not responsible for the quality of the work or any defects
that arise.
14.

Payments

14.1.1. The Council will pay assistance direct to the contractor either in
instalments or in one lump sum on completion of the works. It should be
noted that the Contract is between the applicant and the contractor, not the
Council.
14.1.2. Payments will be made by the Council direct to the contractor on
satisfactory completion of works. Where assistance is payable, but the
eligible works have not been executed to the satisfaction of the Council, the
Council may withhold some or all of the payment from the contractor until
the issue is resolved to the satisfaction of the Council. Where works are
completed to the satisfaction of the Council, but not the applicant, the
Council may still make full payment to the contractor.
15.

Death of the applicant
Where the applicant dies before the eligible works have been completed,
the Council has discretion whether to pay any assistance in respect of some
or all of the works already carried out or any other works covered by the
application.

8

Agenda Item 11

16.

Page 284

Successive Assistance
An application for two grants or more within a three-year period will be
considered on a case-by-case basis and will be determined at the Council’s
sole discretion.

17.

Complaints
If a complaint relates to the standard of service or to an action or lack of
action in implementing this Policy, the complainant should follow the
Council's Corporate Complaints Procedure www.dartford.gov.uk
Complaints leaflets are available from the Council offices.

9

Customer Access Review – Full Assessment
Assessment details
Assessment area
Date of assessment
Directorate and Service
Manager
Officer conducting assessment

Private Sector Housing Discretionary Assistance Policy
October 2020
Strategic Directorate (External Services), Housing Services
Peter Dosad
Jackie Pye

Step 1: Scoping the assessment
What are the aims and objectives of the activity or proposal?

2
3

Who will be affected?
How does the activity or proposal contribute to:
a) any key performance indicators?
b) policies, values or objectives of Dartford Borough Council?

4

Which aspects of the activity or proposal are dictated by
legislation/regulation and where do we have discretion in how
they are delivered?

The Policy is tenure neutral so households across all tenures can apply.
Ultimately it is the applicants’ choice which scheme within the policy they
apply to.

July 2016

Agenda Item 11

To ensure Dartford Borough residents are able to access discretionary
assistance to enable them to live safely and securely in their own homes and
to provide a clear and transparent policy for doing so.
All eligible Dartford Borough residents.
To positively impact on residents lives by helping them to live independently.
The Policy relates to the Council’s Corporate Plan 2017-20 strategic aim to
facilitate quality, choice and diversity in the housing market, to create strong
and self-reliant communities and deliver high quality services to service users,
and the strategic objective of meeting the housing needs in the borough.
The Council has a power under the Regulatory Reform Order (Housing
Assistance). The Order provides local authorities with a general permissive
power to assist households with the improvement of living conditions. The
issuing of grants and services is discretionary where resources allow.
The grants are non-means tested and non-repayable.

Page 285

1

Customer Access Review – Full Assessment
Step 2: Information collection

What consultation has taken place with affected groups? Please
describe who was consulted and the key findings

7

Are there any gaps in information? If so, what additional research
and/or consultation is needed to ensure that affected groups
needs and views are taken into account?

Any future Policy revisions will include consulting the public/service users for
their views.
Information on applying for a Discretionary Grant will be available the
Council’s website as well as locally; particularly via the local Home
Improvement Agency (HIA), social services and GP surgeries. The HIA has a
Punjabi speaking Officer. The Council can also access a translation service if
necessary.

July 2016

Page 286

6

The Council does not have a waiting list for Discretionary Grants and cases
are processed as quickly as possible.
As grants are administered on an ad hoc basis and referrals can be made by
other agencies and directly by residents, therefore no formal consultation
has taken place.
No additional research required.

Agenda Item 11

Note: Equality and Diversity information for Dartford can be found at http://www.kent.gov.uk/about-the-council/information-and-data/Facts-and-figuresabout-Kent/equality-and-diversity-data
5 What do you know about the groups of people who will be
The policy affects any resident who would qualify for assistance under the
affected? i.e. demographic information in relation to the protected terms of the policy in relation to the type of grant being provided. However,
characteristic groups (age, disability, pregnancy and maternity,
it is likely to mainly affect elderly or disabled residents.
religion or belief, race, sex, sexual orientation, gender
reassignment)
There is no single measure of disability. Using the broadest definition (2011
Census) 14,735 residents in Dartford (15.1%), have a health problem or
disability which limits their day-to-day activities. Of this, 6,621 residents or
44.9% of those with long term health problem or disability have their day to
day activities limited a lot.

Customer Access Review – Full Assessment
Additional information/promotional work is planned including awareness
training for staff in other Agencies/Organisations and improvements to the
Council’s website.

Step 3: Assessing the equality impact
8

Consider whether the activity or proposal has or will have any positive or negative equality impacts on the protected characteristic groups in
relation to the following aims of the General Equality Duty:
a) tackling unlawful discrimination
b) promoting equality of opportunity
c) promoting good relations

a

The provision of grants and services
is available to all residents
regardless of age and so enables
people of all ages to live safely and
securely in their own home.

None identified

☒

☐

Agenda Item 11

July 2016

Age

Page 287

NOTES:
 The Initial Screening will have identified which aims of the Public Sector Equality Duty are relevant to the activity or proposal for consideration
 For existing activities, consider how they are working in practice for each relevant protected group
 For new proposals, consider whether there is anything that could give rise to positive and negative equality impacts for each relevant protected group
 If there is no identified equality impact, please tick the ‘No Impact’ box and explain why in question 9
 If the equality impact is unclear, please tick the ‘Unknown’ box and explain why in question 9
POSITIVE IMPACTS
NEGATIVE IMPACTS
NO IMPACT UNKNOWN

Customer Access Review – Full Assessment

c
d

Gender (including reassignment)
Race

e

Religion/Belief

f
g
9

Sexual Orientation
Pregnancy/Maternity
If ‘no impact’ or ‘unknown’ was selected,
please explain
If DBC works with partners to deliver the
activity or proposal, please describe
circumstances that could give rise to
positive/negative equality impacts
between different groups
Any other comments

10

11

July 2016

All grants are for the benefit of all
☒
residents, including those with a
None identified
disabililty. People with hearing and
sight impairments are able to
request information about the service
in alternative formats (e.g. Braille and
Audio Tape) as part of our corporate
policy.
Not applicable
None identified
☒
Non-English speaking groups are
None identified
☒
able to request translated
information about the service and
we can provide interpreters. The HIA
also has a Punjabi speaking Officer
The timing of any works will be
☒
arranged with the applicants cooperation so any religious/faith
holidays to be taken into account
Not applicable
None identified
☒
Not applicable
None identified
☒
All grants and services will be provided regardless of the addition of any other protected
characteristic.
None identified.

None

☐

☐
☐

☐

☐
☐

Page 288

Disability

Agenda Item 11

b

Customer Access Review – Full Assessment
Step 4: Action plan
11. Based on the information in Steps 1 and 2, please list the actions that will be taken to address:
a) any gaps in information and consultation
b) how any negative impacts on equality will be mitigated or eradicated

Identified impacts (and
who is affected)
None

Action

Intended outcome

Date for completion

How this will be
monitored

Responsible officer

Page 289

a) If additional information and/or consultation is required or the impact is still unclear, what actions will you put in place to gather the information
you need?
Information needs
Action
Intended outcome
Date for completion
How this will be
Responsible officer
monitored
None
b) If any negative impacts on equality were found, what actions will you put in place to mitigate or eradicate these impacts?

Agenda Item 11

July 2016

Customer Access Review – Full Assessment

13
14
15

Which decision making process does this Customer Access Review
need to go through? i.e. who does this need to be approved by?
How will you continue to monitor the impact of the activity or
proposal on the equality groups?
When will you review this Customer Access Review?

Relevant Director
New assessments will be undertaken as and when the policy is significantly
updated or reviewed.
As required or in 2 years.

Agenda Item 11

Step 5: Decision making and future monitoring

Step 6: Final steps

July 2016

Once this Customer Access Review has been approved, send this assessment to the Policy & Projects Officer
If the subject of the Customer Access Review is going to committee, summarise your findings in the committee report
Implement the actions identified from this Customer Access Review and ensure progress is monitored and recorded

Page 290

16
17
18

Page 291

Agenda Item 12

CABINET
29 OCTOBER 2020

THE KENT AND MEDWAY ENERGY AND LOW EMISSIONS
STRATEGY (ELES)
1. Summary
1.1 This report outlines the details of the Kent and Medway Energy and Low
Emissions Strategy.
2. RECOMMENDATIONS
2.1 That the Council’s commits to support for the Kent and Medway Energy and Low
Emissions Strategy.
2.2 That a future report be submitted to Cabinet on the Kent and Medway Energy and
Low Emissions Strategy Implementation Plan, linking with future Council activities.
3.

Background and Discussion
3.1 The Kent and Medway Energy and Low Emissions Strategy (ELES) outlines the Kent
and Medway approach to achieving a reduction in carbon emissions and
improvements in air quality with an agreed Kent and Medway target of net zero
emissions by 2050. The ELES aims to help identify ways to deliver a clean growth
strategy and action plan around air quality, reducing fuel poverty and delivering
affordable, clean and secure energy for Kent and Medway.
3.2 The ELES was recently considered by Kent local authorities’ Chief Executives and
the Kent Leaders Group. The ELES itself has been some time in its preparation and
has gone through a number of consultation processes as well as consideration of
issues created by the COVID 19 pandemic.
3.3 The resulting revised ELES is attached as Appendix A and Cabinet’s approval is
sought to support the aims of the ELES as set out in the document.
The 10 priority actions are listed below and further details on these can be found on
pages 15 to 28 of the ELES:
 Priority 1: Emissions Reduction Pathways to 2050.
 Priority 2: Public Sector Decision Making.
 Priority 3: Planning and Development.
 Priority 4: Climate Emergency Investment Fund.
 Priority 5: Building Retrofit Programme.
 Priority 6: Transport, Travel and Digital Connectivity.
 Priority 7: Renewable Energy Generation.
 Priority 8: Green Infrastructure.
 Priority 9: Supporting Low Carbon Business.
 Priority 10: Communications.
These will form the basis of an implementation plan

Agenda Item 12

Page 292
CABINET
29 OCTOBER 2020

3.4 A detailed Implementation Plan is also being developed by officers and partners
across Kent and Medway and this will be available in the near future for local
authorities to consider the links with their own Climate Change Action Plans.
3.5 The ELES will formally be launched at the Kent and Medway Net Zero Conference
on 27th November 2020, which will now be a virtual event.
4. Dartford Borough Council Activity
The following paragraphs detail ongoing activity within the Council that supports this
agenda and would sit alongside the ELES.
4.1 Dartford Borough Council has collected it’s Greenhouse Gas Emission data annually
since its involvement in the Carbon Trust Carbon Management Plan (our first baseline
data collected was 2007) and the Council has monitored its carbon emissions since
then including : electricity, gas, staff car mileage whilst at work, leased vehicle
mileage, waste collection service carbon etc., Dartford Borough Council set an interim
target to reduce the CO2 emissions from its activities by 35% from the 2007 baseline
by 2012. This target was met.
4.2 The Council along with several other Kent LAs were successful in a joint bid to
Government and received funding in January 2020 to work with BRE to obtain
different sets of housing, benefit, energy performance certificate data to be used in
the new private sector housing policy. This information helps with the targeting of
energy efficiency measures and private sector/HMO works
4.3 The Council was the lead authority in a joint bid for seven Kent LAs to the Warm
Homes Fund to obtain additional funding towards first time gas central heating
systems. Dartford had already secured funding with SGN towards the first time gas
central heating, along with agreement for free gas connections for vulnerable
residents in receipt of benefits, on low income and residents with a health condition
impacted by living in a cold home. The Council is currently in contract with Scottish
& South Eastern Utilities (SSE) to provide first time central heating systems and to
assess whole house energy efficiency measures.
4.4 The Council is promoting the Solar Together Kent scheme and as itsclose had
received 113 registrations for Solar PV and battery storage. Social media posts and
press releases were issued for the scheme, which recently closed for applications.
4.5 The Council is also part of Kent Energy Deal a collective energy switching scheme
which it has been involved in for a number of years and has achieved thousands of
pounds in savings on residents energy bills.
4.6 The Council uses its Better Care Funding to support through the Safe and Secure
Grant additional top up for boiler works and other essential energy efficiency
measures to elderly residents and residents with long term health conditions living in
cold homes.
4.7 The Council recently submitted a successful funding application to BEIS on behalf of
other Kent LAs involved in the Warm Homes Fund project for the Green Home Grant
Local Authority Delivery Scheme (LADS). The application submitted works alongside
the current Warm Homes project and in addition offers external wall insulation and air
source heat pumps to owner occupied and 10% privately rented properties. The
application supports 70 properties across the seven participating Kent LAs and the
energy efficiency works under this project have to be delivered by 31 March 2021.

Page 293

Agenda Item 12

CABINET
29 OCTOBER 2020

4.8 The Council has signed a contract with BP Chargemaster to install electric vehicle (EV)
charging points in some Council car parks. The Council had previously obtained Office
for Low Emission Vehicles (OLEV) funding for electric vehicle (EV) charging points in
Westgate Car Park these will be upgraded and maintained under the new
contract. Eight EV charging points are being installed in the Acacia Hall site, slightly
delayed due to COVID but will be in place by 31 March 2021. Ducting is in place for
additional EV charging points if required in the future.
4.9 The Council’s housing stock has had a programme of different energy efficiency
measures in place for a number of years upgrading boilers, cavity wall and loft
insulation works undertaken. A number of properties have Solar PV installed which is
monitored. Through a successful Government Green Communities funding
application, an external wall insulation programme was started and external wall
insulation (EWI) works continue to take place as part of the ongoing maintenance of
Council properties. An Expression of Interest for xxx has been submitted to the Social
Housing Decarbonisation Technical Fund.
4.10 The Council was the first Kent LA to write its Local Authority Flexible Eligibility
Statement of Intent. This has helped many low income residents whose health is
impacted by living in a cold home to have free cavity wall and loft insulation and ECO
funding towards replacement gas boilers. The Council continues to offer and promote
energy efficiency schemes to owner occupied properties, rented sector etc.
4.11 Environment, carbon emissions and housing standards have featured as part of the
Corporate Plan for a number of years. The Corporate Plan is currently being updated
and green recovery is at the heart of the new plan and an action plan will be developed
to progress the green recovery throughout the Borough
4.12 A cross party climate change Member working group meets to discuss activities they
would like to develop around community action and climate change – this includes tree
planting, edible gardens – this campaign was due to launch as Planet Dartford just
days before Lockdown. An Officer working group will be also be established.
4.13 Two climate change audits have been undertaken across the different services in the
Council over the last year to monitor activity that impacts on climate change and to
provide an overall picture of our climate change activity.
4.14 The recently launched Green Home Grant Vouchers will be promoted to Dartford
residents to ensure our residents get the necessary support they require – our energy
efficiency scheme details have been updated on the Simple Energy website and the
Council has already received a large number of enquiries about the scheme.
4.15 The Kent and Medway Warm Homes Framework, supporting energy efficiency
schemes, is under discussion at present, as the current contract expires in March
2021. The Council, along with a number of other Kent LAs, have recommended that
the way forward is to focus on Domestic Home Energy Procurement in Kent in the
future, so that Kent LAs are in a stronger position to bid when funding opportunities
arise.
4.16 A new Air Quality Action Plan for the Borough is currently being prepared.

Agenda Item 12

Page 294
CABINET
29 OCTOBER 2020

5. Existing Council endorsement and aspirations
5.1 To support its commitment to positively contribute and combat climate change and
reduce carbon, the Council resolved at the General Assembly of the Council 7th
October 2019 [Min.No.50(2)]:
“That this Council recognises the serious impact of climate change and accepts that
rising global temperatures presents a clear and present threat to our world. We are
facing a climate emergency”.
5.2 The Council further recognised that “all governments (national, regional and local)
have a duty to act but feels that progress in Dartford should not be constrained by the
actions of the slowest. “Our town and its people have a part to play in securing a
sustainable future and this Council must not only be a force for change in itself, but
must inspire and encourage change in others”
The statement welcomes the Government’s commitment to meet the
Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change target to cut greenhouse gas emissions
to net zero by 2050. The Council aspires to see the effects of climate change tackled
earlier than either the 2050 national target or the 2030 date proposed by some.
5.3 The Council commits to pursuing measures that are deliverable, measureable and
practical and will aim to inspire and promote efforts - small and large – to address
climate change throughout its local community. It recognises that the interests of the
environment are served not by empty promises or by setting one legitimate interest
against another but by securing collaboration and a genuine commitment to change
throughout the Borough and amongst its residents, neighbourhoods, businesses and
wider partners. The Council will aim to co-operate with other local authorities to
deliver on its commitments.
5.4 The Council is aware of the particular challenges posed by rising traffic volumes and
the impact on local air quality. It will aim to increase its efforts to work with highway
partners to reduce car use, resolve traffic issues in pollution hotspots and create
workable, popular solutions within residential communities to prioritise pedestrians,
cyclists and calmer, safer traffic. The Council will also aim to make enlightened
choices in its own supply chain and encourage other organisations to do the same
with the aim of safeguarding resources and reducing pollution. The Council
acknowledges the input of the cross-party Member working group on climate change
and commits to developing this group to include informed and representative local
voices.
5.5 The Council aims to contribute to tackling climate change to match any comparable
local authority. This is considered a sound basis on which to further endorse the
ELES.
6. The Way Forward.
6.1 It is proposed that a further report be submitted to Cabinet in in 6 – 9 months’ time,
with a view to presenting an action plan of Council activities and policies to link to
the ELES. These can be developed from within existing resources or by obtaining
external funding.

Page 295

Agenda Item 12

CABINET
29 OCTOBER 2020

7. Relationship to the Corporate Plan.
This links to the Corporate Plan target - ET1 -to reduce carbon emissions. Also, and
as referenced above, Green Recovery features within the revised Corporate Plan
which is currently being developed for future Cabinet & GAC approval.
8. Financial, legal, staffing and other implications and risk assessments*
Financial Implications

None directly in relation to this report.

Legal Implications

Staffing Implications

The various aspects, initiatives and actions detailed
in this report are delivered accordance with one of
more of the following;
The Climate Change Act 2008
The Home Energy Conservation Act 1995
The Clean Growth Strategy 2017
The Clean Air Strategy 2019
None directly in relation to this report.

Administrative Implications

None directly in relation to this report.

Risk Assessment

No uncertainties or constraints.

9. Details of Exempt Information Category
Not applicable
10. Appendices
Appendix A – Kent and Medway Energy and Low Emissions Strategy
BACKGROUND PAPERS
Documents consulted

Date /
File Ref

Report Author

Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information
Category

Peter Dosad
(01322) 343327

STRATEGIC
(EXTERNAL
SVS).

N/A

Page 296

This page is intentionally left blank

june 2020

Agenda Item 12

MEETING THE CLIMATE CHANGE CHALLENGE

Page 297

KENT AND MEDWAY
ENERGY AND LOW
EMISSIONS STRATEGY

3

Vision

4

Introduction

4

Purpose of this strategy

6

Policy context

7

Examples of activities and achievements in Kent and Medway

8

Kent and Medway key facts and figures

9

Our challenges

10

How we developed the Energy and Low Emissions Strategy

13

Energy South to East: Towards a low carbon economy

14

Our ten priorities

15

How we will deliver this strategy

29

Measuring progress - our indicators

30

Glossary

32

2

Kent and Medway Energy and Low Emissions Strategy

Page 298

Foreword

Agenda Item 12

CONTENTS

FOREWORD
We’ve only got one world. Just one. And it’s changing.
Some will say “It’s always changed” but this time around humans are responsible. The decisions
we make today set the course for our planet’s future. We must do the right thing.
Our Energy and Low Emissions Strategy is a big document with a single, simple goal - to ensure
that every resident, neighbourhood and business in the county takes some simple steps to care
for this beautiful, productive yet fragile part of the world – the bit we call Kent.
It is part of Kent’s wider Environment Strategy and offers you an invitation - an invitation to come
with us and find something you can do for your world. Get involved. Join in.

We can all make better choices - when we travel, when we invest, where and when developers
plan new homes, when we choose a vehicle or when we insulate our homes. Those decisions
are better when advice and learning is shared and when private and public sectors work
together.
Please take a look at this Strategy and commit yourself to be part of it.
It means the world to us.

3

Kent and Medway Energy and Low Emissions Strategy

Alan Jarrett
Leader of Medway Council

Agenda Item 12

The call to action is all around us. We see a growing number of severe weather events
and nature’s response of flooding and then water shortages, icy winters and then rising
temperatures. Kent is a wonderful county full of opportunity, but the truth is that some of our
people live in places where air quality is low or where fuel poverty is high.

Roger Gough
Leader of Kent County Council

Page 299

The first step is to recognise this climate emergency and the second is to commit to the change
we need to rescue and sustain our world. There is huge pressure for growth in our county
and we need to find new ways to ensure it is GOOD growth. It matters to our environment,
our economy and our health. As the gateway to Europe we are well placed to take a lead on
energy and emissions and our contribution could have positive impacts far beyond our county
boundaries.

By 2050 the county
of Kent has reduced
emissions to net-zero
and is benefiting from a
competitive, innovative
and resilient low carbon
economy, where no
deaths are associated
with poor air quality.

The coronavirus pandemic has changed the
world, but presents an opportunity to rebuild the
county stronger, cleaner and more resilient. At the
same time, our climate is changing and the effects
are already being felt in Kent and Medway. Limiting
our contribution to global warming and driving low
carbon economic recovery will undoubtedly be the
most urgent issues of this decade.

over the coming years will require momentous effort
and rely on action taken in partnership.
The coronavirus pandemic will severely restrict
growth in the short term, but as we emerge from
this crisis the longer-term trajectory will be a return
to growth, and this growth must be low carbon.
By 2031 it is anticipated that there will be almost
180,000 new homes and nearly 400,000 extra people,
a 24% increase from 2011 levels. The local economy
is also expected to expand, creating an additional
170,300 jobs by 2031 a 21% increase from 2011
levels, in line with forecast population growth.

In recognition of the UK environment and climate
emergency, all 14 local authorities in Kent and
Medway have committed to ambitious targets to
reduce greenhouse gas emissions to net-zero by
2050 at the latest. Our joint action has already
Economic recovery presents an opportunity to
seen carbon dioxide emissions in the area fall by
37% since 2005, but fully decarbonising our economy invest in new jobs and low carbon infrastructure;
support innovation, re-skilling and retraining to
expand the low carbon and environmental goods
and services sector; and drive a shift in social norms
and behaviour change that will benefit health and
reduce emissions. A green, clean economic recovery
will help protect the climate, air, land and water on
which future generations depend.
Kent and Medway are already experiencing
significant environmental issues and constraints.

Trees, hedgerows, grasslands, wetlands and
saltmarsh all provide natural carbon storage that
can provide a significant contribution to our net-zero
targets; as well as other environmental and health
benefits. However, these important habitats are

4

Kent and Medway Energy and Low Emissions Strategy

1

Calculated using all age, all cause deaths.

Page 300

INTRODUCTION

Agenda Item 12

VISION

at risk from land use pressures, lack of appropriate
management, climate change and diseases such
as Ash Dieback (Hymenoscyphus fraxineus), which
threatens Kent’s most widespread tree species.
Although air quality is generally improving in line
with national trends, there are still 43 Air Quality
Management Areas across Kent and Medway and
significant pockets of poor air quality along the
county’s major road networks. It is estimated that
in 2017, there were 922 deaths associated with
particulate matter (PM2.5) exposure across Kent and
Medway. 1

The cost of energy is rising. The average annual
domestic combined gas and electricity bill increased
by 8.8% between 2017 and 2019 and now costs

5

Kent and Medway Energy and Low Emissions Strategy

In industry, approximately 75% of the energy used
is to produce heat, much of which is wasted. This is
also true across Kent and Medway. The Government
expects business and industry to improve energy
efficiency by at least 20% by 2030,3 this includes a
focus on industrial heat recovery.
Ensuring an affordable energy supply for all and
continuing to promote energy efficiency, forms a
significant element of our Strategy. Supporting new
forms of renewable low carbon energy supply will be
an important part of the mix, and an opportunity to
grow new low carbon sectors. The county has already
seen an increase in renewable energy generation of
726% since 2012 (230MW to 1900MW). We must be
bold and encourage new developments to create
their own decentralised energy.

Economic recovery, if clean, is a significant
opportunity for Kent and Medway. Measures to
tackle poor air quality and lower greenhouse gas
emissions will have multiple benefits. For instance,
promoting walking and cycling for short journeys
improves health and reduces congestion; increasing
tree and hedgerow coverage can help improve air
quality, manage flood risk and support biodiversity;
and supporting a switch to more efficient, low
carbon energy use creates jobs and new market
opportunities.
By tackling poor air quality, energy and carbon
constraints in parallel, and by working closely across
the public sector, business and communities to scale
up action, we can protect health, the environment
and be a significant player in the low carbon
environmental goods and services sector (LCEGS)
both in the UK and internationally.

However, low carbon technologies such as electric
vehicles and local renewable energy generation pose
a challenge to the electricity grid network in Kent and
Medway which is already significantly constrained,
and which could inhibit future growth. Therefore,

1
Calculated using all age, all cause deaths
Provisional estimated average bill, Department for Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy (December 2019).
3
Department for Business, Energy & Industrial Strategy, “Helping businesses to improve the way they use energy: call for evidence,” 18th July 2018 [online]
2

Agenda Item 12

Actions to improve and promote public transport
and encourage walking and cycling for short
journeys, will have the dual benefit of reducing
harmful emissions and tackling congestion.
Supporting the switch away from petrol and diesel
to clean, alternatively fuelled vehicles will also be
essential. Over 4,845 ultra-low emission vehicles are
already registered in Kent.

Many Kent and Medway homes, often those
of the most vulnerable residents, are cold and
poorly insulated. 34% of homes that have an
Energy Performance Certificate have the lowest
energy efficiency ratings (E, F and G); usually due
to inadequate insulation and inefficient heating
systems, which can result in higher energy bills.

we must work with the energy utility companies to
create a more resilient, smart and innovative local
energy system to ensure we have the energy we
need, when we need it, at the right price and without
any negative environmental impacts.

Page 301

Pollution from road vehicles is the main cause of
poor air quality across Kent and Medway and is also
the largest source of carbon emissions. In addition,
congestion continues to be a problem, with average
journey times on A-roads increasing 6% since 2015.
Keeping the county moving is a high priority, as
congestion negatively impacts productivity levels
and air quality.

£1,360.2 Government data shows that in 2017, 9.6%
of Kent and Medway residents were living in fuel
poverty.

The Kent and Medway Energy and Low Emissions Strategy sets out how
we will respond to the UK climate emergency and drive clean, resilient
economic recovery across Kent and Medway. Taking an evidencebased approach, it identifies a pathway to reduce greenhouse gas
emissions, eliminate poor air quality, reduce fuel poverty, and promote
the development of an affordable, clean and secure energy supply for
this county. It is informed by and delivers, but does not duplicate, the
priorities and actions from other strategies related to energy and the
environment. The strategy also builds on the strengths and activities of
other partner organisations.

1. EVIDENCE: Provide an ongoing evidence and intelligence base;
linking data sets to identify hot spots and opportunities, and to build
the business case for action across Kent and Medway
2. POLICY AND STRATEGY: Facilitate the development of evidencebased policy and strategy to future-proof economic recovery, tackle
emerging issues and realise opportunities
3. LEADERSHIP: Support the public sector across Kent and Medway
to play a strong leadership role with regards to challenges and
opportunities
4. ACTION: Facilitate increased and accelerated action and
implementation across Kent and Medway
The priority actions to deliver these four aims over the next five
years are described on pages 15-27. Further information on the
detailed actions, timescales and outputs are provided in the technical
implementation plan, which is published alongside this strategy.

6

Kent and Medway Energy and Low Emissions Strategy

The Kent and Medway Energy and Low Emissions Strategy sits within the
framework of the Kent Environment Strategy, which was published in
2016.
The Kent Environment Strategy provides the basis for closer cross-sector
partnership working between environment, health and economic
agendas. It identifies the high-level priorities to support sustainable
economic growth whilst protecting and enhancing the natural and historic
environment, and sustaining vibrant, healthy and resilient communities.
The Kent and Medway Energy and Low Emissions Strategy delivers across
all three themes of the Kent Environment Strategy:
THEME 1: BUILDING THE FOUNDATIONS FOR DELIVERY – aims to ensure
decision makers have an evidence-based understanding of the risks and
opportunities relating to energy and emissions and are incorporating
them into strategies, plans and actions.
THEME 2: MAKING THE BEST USE OF EXISTING RESOURCES, AVOIDING OR
MINIMISING NEGATIVE IMPACTS – aims to ensure existing infrastructure,
assets and resources across the public, private and domestic sector are
managed to reduce emissions and build a clean future energy supply.
THEME 3: TOWARDS A SUSTAINABLE FUTURE – aims to ensure Kent and
Medway’s communities, businesses and public sector have embraced
clean growth and are working towards developing a clean, affordable and
secure local energy future.

Page 302

The Strategy has four strategic aims:

SUPPORTING DELIVERY OF THE KENT ENVIRONMENT STRATEGY

Agenda Item 12

PURPOSE OF THIS STRATEGY

POLICY CONTEXT
Adopted by all United Nations
Member States, the goals provide
a shared blueprint for peace and
prosperity for people and the planet,
now and into the future.

Clean Air Strategy

Industrial Strategy

Focuses on reducing industrial
and transport emissions. It also
aims to reduce particulate matter
emissions from solid fuel used in
homes. It also aims to tackle rising
agricultural emissions.

Aims to boost productivity, create
good jobs and position the UK as
a leader in low cost, low carbon
innovation.

The Road to Zero

The Clean Growth Strategy

Aims to ensure almost every
car and van is zero emission by
2050. It supports delivery of both
the Industrial and Clean Growth
Strategies.

Aims to achieve nearly zero
emissions from buildings and
transport by 2050.

Local Transport Plan 4:
Delivering Growth without
Gridlock (2016-2031)

Local Energy Strategy:
Energy South 2 East
Provides an analysis of the
opportunities and challenges
across heat, transport and power
in South East England.

FIGURE 1: Key national and regional strategies influencing the development of the Kent and Medway Energy and Low Emissions Strategy.

7

Kent and Medway Energy and Low Emissions Strategy

Agenda Item 12

SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT GOALS

Aims to deliver cleaner air
and water; thriving plants and
animals; connect people with
the environment; and secure
the environment for future
generations.

Page 303

Local action will play a significant role in
achieving these ambitions and therefore
local policy must reflect these priorities.
The key strategies that have influenced the
development of the Energy and Low Emissions
Strategy are summarised in Figure 1. Further
detail on the policies driving action are
outlined in the Kent and Medway Energy and
Low Emissions Strategy Evidence Base, which
is published alongside this strategy.

25 YEAR ENVIRONMENT PLAN

OPPORTUNITIES

Further policy is set out in the Home
Energy Conservation Act 1995, the 25 Year
Environment Plan (2018), the Clean Growth
Strategy (2017), the Clean Air Strategy (2019)
and Clean Maritime Plan (2019), which aim to
protect and enhance the environment, mitigate
climate change, support clean, low carbon
economic growth and address the negative
impacts on health from a poor environment.

CHALLENGES

Climate change, energy and air quality
issues are high on the national agenda. The
Government has set a clear policy direction
by revising the Climate Change Act 2008 to
legislate for net-zero by 2050. Net-zero means
reducing greenhouse gas emissions to almost
zero and balancing any remaining emissions
with schemes to remove carbon dioxide from
the atmosphere, such as tree planting or
technology.

EXAMPLES OF ACTIVITY AND ACHIEVEMENTS IN KENT AND MEDWAY

Kent and Medway’s non-domestic
gas consumption decreased by
57% between 2005 and 2018, whilst
domestic gas consumption fell by
20% over the same period.

Since the Warm Homes Scheme
began in 2014, over 2,400 energy
efficiency measures have been
installed in over 2,300 homes in
Kent and Medway.

Average household electricity use in
Kent and Medway continues to fall;
down from 4,117 kWh in 2015, to
3,894 kWh in 2018. A 5% reduction in
three years.

8

Kent and Medway Energy and Low Emissions Strategy

4,845 ultra-low emission vehicles
(ULEVs) are registered in Kent
(September 2019). In February 2019,
Kent County Council was awarded
£180,000 from the Government’s
Office of Low Emission Vehicles to
install 8 rapid chargers for use by
taxis in 6 Kent Districts.

The number of days of moderate
or high air pollution in Kent and
Medway fell between 2012 and
2016 and there have been
improvements in most Air Quality
Management Areas.

89% of newly built homes in
Kent and Medway had an Energy
Performance Certificate rating of A
or B in 2017, meaning they have the
highest energy performance, up from
62% in 2011.

In a 2018 survey of Kent residents,
85% reported that they have fitted
energy efficiency measures, such
as loft or cavity wall insulation, and
40% have fitted energy monitoring
equipment.

There has been a 42% increase in
people using train stations in Kent
in the past ten years. In 2016/17,
1.8 million people used Ebbsfleet
International Station.

Page 304

The installed capacity of solar, wind,
waste and Combined Heat and
Power (CHP) increased by 726% in
five years, from 230MW in 2012 to
1,900MW in 2017.

Low Carbon Across the South East
(LoCASE) has been identified in
the Tri-LEP Energy Strategy as an
exemplar project for replication
across the south-east region.
Supported by European funding,
LoCASE provides free support to
help businesses become more
competitive and profitable while
protecting the environment and
encouraging low carbon solutions.
Since LoCASE began in 2016, £3.5m
has been awarded to 425 Kent and
Medway businesses.

Agenda Item 12

Carbon dioxide emissions in Kent
and Medway fell 37% between 2005
and 2017, hitting our 2020 Kent
Environment Strategy target two
years early.

KENT AND MEDWAY KEY FACTS AND figures

54%
of total fuel
consumption
is from gas and
electricity

Heat networks4
currently provide
2% of the UK heat
demand, but this is
estimated to rise to
43% by 2050.

9.2m

vehicle movements
at Port of Dover
and Channel Tunnel
every year

Air Quality Management Areas,
where air pollutants have been
known to exceed government
objectives.

Kent’s rate of Excess Winter
Mortality was the same as
the South East and English
averages in 2017/18.

11% of residents
have reported that
they struggle to
pay their energy
bills. 41% of those,
live in rented
accommodation. 5

Only a 4.5% fall in
carbon emissions from
transport since 2005.
Kent’s rate of Excess
Winter Mortality was
the same as the South
East and English
averages in 2017/18.
Kent and Medway’s
mortality rate
associated with poor
air quality is worse
than the national
average.

4

9

Kent and Medway Energy and Low Emissions Strategy
6

178,600
additional homes
(24% growth)

396,300
additional people
(23% growth)

170,300
additional jobs
(21% growth)

This predicted population and
economic growth will require
a higher demand for energy.
It is likely that domestic gas
and electricity sales will rise by
23% and 19% respectively from
2014/15 to 2030/31.

Heat networks supply heat from a central source to consumers.
5
Kent Environment Strategy resident survey, July 2018
Figures identified by the Growth and Infrastructure Framework for Kent and Medway

Agenda Item 12

43 Air Quality

73,000

households in fuel
poverty (2017)

23% of homes and 19%
of public buildings are
E, F, or G rated, meaning
they have the worst
energy performance,
highest energy running
costs and make a
bigger contribution to
emissions.

Page 305

14.3% increase in the
number of vehicles
on major roads in
Kent between 2006
and 2016

BY 2031 KENT AND MEDWAY
ARE EXPECTING TO SEE6

SECURING A CLEAN, GREEN ECONOMIC RECOVERY

REDUCING GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSIONS TO NET-ZERO
All local authorities in Kent and Medway have committed to reducing
greenhouse gas emissions to net-zero. Our current progress is a 37% reduction
in carbon dioxide emissions since 2005 but achieving our target will require a
substantial step up in action, both in terms of scale and speed.
Whilst emissions from the industry and commercial sector and domestic sector
have fallen significantly over the period (falling 57% and 35% respectively),
emissions from the transport sector have only reduced by 4.5% (see Figure 2).
The transport sector is now the largest source of emissions in Kent and Medway.
To date, much of the reduction in emissions has been due to a national decrease
in the use of coal for electricity generation and the closure of a small number
of energy-intensive industrial plants. However, in order to achieve net-zero, all
10

Kent and Medway Energy and Low Emissions Strategy

6,000.0
5,000.0
4,000.0
3,000.0
2,000.0
1,000.0
0
2005

2006 2007 2008

2009

2010

2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016

2017

YEAR
Industry and commerical total

Transport total

Domestic total

FIGURE 2: CO2 emissions profile for Kent and Medway; this data includes
estimated emissions for the industrial and commercial, transport and domestic sectors.
Note: kt refers to kilotons

sectors will need to use resources much more efficiently and switch to lowcarbon fuels for electricity, heating and transport.
We will also need to increase the amount of carbon stored in the natural
environment; this is known as carbon sequestration. Soil and vegetation
such as trees, hedges, wetlands and kelp all store carbon, so improving land
management practices and increasing vegetation coverage will be essential if
we are to achieve our net-zero target. These measures can also provide other
benefits, such as reducing air and water pollution, reducing flood risk, improving
biodiversity and providing health, cultural and leisure opportunities for local
communities.

Page 306

Supporting economic recovery from the coronavirus pandemic and
accommodating the significant levels of housing growth currently required
by government will be a major challenge for the county and is an influencing
factor in all the key issues identified. This means not only creating new jobs
and supporting low carbon innovation, but also advancing climate action in
ways that make Kent and Medway more resilient and attractive places for low
carbon companies to invest. Principles of Clean Growth (growing our economy
whilst reducing greenhouse gas emissions), must be factored into all planning
and development polices and decisions, whilst not becoming a barrier to new
development.

Kent and Medway CO2 emissions by sector (2005/2017)
7,000.0

CO2 Emissions (kt CO2)

Despite the many successes and opportunities, Kent continues to face some
significant challenges. These will need to be addressed in the short to mediumterm if the environmental condition of the county is not to see considerable
deterioration. The Kent and Medway Energy and Low Emissions Strategy
Evidence Base identifies the key issues, which are summarised here:

Agenda Item 12

OUR CHALLENGES

TACKLING HOT-SPOTS OF POOR AIR QUALITY
Poor air quality is a major health challenge for the UK causing both short and
long-term effects on health. Long-term exposure to air pollution can impact
on all stages of life; from asthma in children, to emerging evidence linking fine
particulate matter (PM2.5) to the progression of Alzheimer’s and Parkinson’s.
Public Health England estimates that the cumulative health and social care costs
of air pollution (PM2.5 and NO2) in England could reach £18.6 billion by 2035.
Poor air quality also has adverse impacts on the natural environment through
damage to vegetation, soils, rivers and lakes.

PROTECTING THE VULNERABLE

•
•
•
•

living in areas with high levels of air pollution
learning or working near busy roads
age; in the womb, infancy, early childhood and the elderly
existing medical conditions, such as lung and heart disease and asthma.

These vulnerabilities are heightened among those living in the most deprived
communities. This is due to poor housing and indoor air quality, the stress of
living on a low income, unhealthy diet, smoking and limited access to green
spaces.

11

Kent and Medway Energy and Low Emissions Strategy

A convenient, affordable and reliable transport network is vital for providing
access to facilities and services, connecting businesses and communities and
reducing social isolation. However, transport contributes over 40% of the
county’s carbon emissions and pollutants from road vehicles have a negative
impact on air quality and human health.
Kent is already experiencing increased congestion on its road and rail network.
The average delay on Kent’s A-roads has increased almost 7% since 2015 and
average speed has dropped 1% over the same period. With severe congestion
on the highway network, particularly in major town centres, growth across the
county will be constrained without investment.
Achieving safe and effective transport networks that support clean economic
recovery is a significant challenge. Our action must not only focus on low carbon
road transport such as electric and hydrogen vehicles, but also promote smarter
driving and traffic management; improve infrastructure for walking and cycling
(active travel); ensure convenient connections to clean public transport; and
support new transport models such as car clubs, car sharing and automated
vehicles through the use of smart technology.
Promoting and supporting active travel will be an essential element of the
strategy, which will not just help to reduce emissions, but also bring numerous
health benefits.
At the same time, we need to support smarter working practices. The coronavirus
pandemic forced many organisations and businesses to adapt to home working

Agenda Item 12

It is often the most vulnerable and deprived that suffer the most from poor air
quality, cold homes and fuel poverty. Whilst air pollution is harmful to everyone,
some people are at greater risk due to

GROWTH WITHOUT GRIDLOCK – ENABLING INTEGRATED AND
CONNECTED TRANSPORT, TRAVEL AND DIGITAL CONNECTIVITY

Page 307

Although air quality in the county is generally improving in line with national
trends, there are still 43 Air Quality Management Areas and significant pockets
of poor air quality along the major road networks. Kent and Medway’s position
between London and the continent brings air quality challenges associated with
cross-channel traffic, including a disproportionately large number of HGVs, with
their associated diesel emissions. Around the coast and ports, shipping brings
additional impacts from the use of marine diesel. Even air pollution sources from
outside Kent and Medway impact the population; with easterly winds bringing
pollution from continental sources and westerly winds bringing urban pollution
from London.

Eliminating poor air quality and fuel poverty and achieving net-zero emissions
will require changes to the way we travel, access services and use energy. We
must therefore ensure that all residents in Kent and Medway are supported to
make and benefit from these changes. For example, providing funding to help
those in fuel poverty improve the energy efficiency of their home and ensuring
superfast broadband, public transport and refuelling points for low carbon
vehicles are widely available.

ENSURING ENERGY SUPPLIES ARE LOW-CARBON, SECURE,
AFFORDABLE AND LOCAL WHERE POSSIBLE

Continued housing growth means that our energy consumption is set to rise.
A study commissioned by Kent County Council revealed that between 2014/15
and 2030/31, domestic gas demand in Kent and Medway is expected to increase
by 23% and domestic electricity demand is expected to increase by 19%.
Demand for energy is exacerbated by the fact that large amounts are wasted.
The UK has some of the least energy efficient housing stock in Europe and
much of the industrial heat produced in South East England is released into the
atmosphere, despite the fact it could be reused. There is a huge opportunity to
utilise more efficient technology to reduce energy demand and achieve cost
savings for residents and businesses alike.
Demand for heat and electricity, together with generation and supply is
intrinsically linked to carbon dioxide emissions, due to our current reliance on
fossil fuels. It is therefore essential to understand how much energy is used, by
whom, how and for what, and how this might change in the future. This will
allow us to identify the most appropriate and cost-effective interventions to
support the transition to a secure, affordable, low or zero carbon energy system.

12

Kent and Medway Energy and Low Emissions Strategy

• Increase the supply of local, low carbon energy generation, at or near the point
of use, whether domestic or industrial.
• Significantly cut consumption of energy derived from fossil fuels, for example,
facilitating low-carbon energy connections for properties that are not
connected to the gas network and still heated by coal or oil.
• Eliminate wasted energy through greater energy efficiency, targeting industrial
processes, commercial buildings and homes.
OVERCOMING ENERGY GRID CONSTRAINTS
Energy security is vital to the development and growth of Kent and Medway in
the coming years. However, the energy system in the UK and Kent is changing.
Two-thirds of the UK’s existing coal, gas and nuclear power stations are set to
close by 2030 and any future power stations must be largely decarbonised, if the
UK is to achieve its legally binding target of cutting carbon emissions to net-zero
by 2050.
Much of the county is already subject to electricity grid network constraints,
which is making new connections increasingly difficult, particularly for new
energy generation projects. Electricity demand is also expected to grow
significantly by 2050, driven by the growth in electric vehicles and increased
electrification of heating, which could see up to 60% of homes using heat
pumps. A drive towards locally generated renewable energy, often from smaller,
more dispersed sources, will further ramp up pressure on an already constrained
electricity grid network.
Changing supply and demand, though an enormous opportunity, also presents
significant challenges to our existing system nationally and locally. It will
require large amounts of investment in infrastructure and the transmission and
distribution networks. It will be essential to map existing electricity and gas grid
constraints against future development, to identify potential issues early and to
identify any opportunities for local generation solutions, such as district heating
systems.

Page 308

Energy prices are increasing again. Government data estimates that the average
annual domestic combined gas and electricity bill increased by 8.8% between
2017 and 2019 and now costs £1,360. Higher energy prices can have an impact
on business recovery and residents’ wellbeing. Although fuel poverty levels vary
across the county; from 12.3% in Thanet, to 7.7% in Dartford, eight council areas
recorded fuel poverty rates higher than the South East average of 8.7% in 2017.

The challenge of decarbonising energy at the local level will be threefold:

Agenda Item 12

overnight. As restrictions are lifted and the economy recovers, we must utilise
and learn from this experience, whilst continuing to improve broadband services
and enhance access to digital services to ensure demand for travel reduces
permanently. Over 95% of Kent and Medway’s homes and businesses now have
access to superfast broadband, but there are still significant challenges to get
100% consistent coverage and service across the county and ensure the full
benefits of digitalisation are realised.

HOW WE DEVELOPED THIS
STRATEGY
Underpinning this Strategy is the Kent and Medway Energy and Low
Emissions Strategy Evidence Base, which is drawn from a wide range
of sources:

13

Kent and Medway Energy and Low Emissions Strategy

Engagement

Kent State of the
Environment report

Public Perception
Survey

Kent Environment
Strategy Annual
Monitoring

Review of key
strategies

Kent and Medway
Energy and Low
Emissions
Strategy 2020

Stakeholder
workshops

Stakeholder
consultantions and
external consultant
review

Figure 3: Summary of the review process used to develop the Kent and Medway
Low Emissions Strategy

Agenda Item 12

Central to the development of this strategy has been stakeholder
engagement, through a dedicated cross-sector working group,
workshops and consultations. Organisations and partners involved
in the development of the strategy include, amongst others, all
Local Authorities in Kent and Medway, Joint Chief Executives, Joint
Kent Leaders, NHS, Kent Fire and Rescue Service, South East Local
Enterprise Partnership, Kent and Medway Economic Partnership,
Public Health, Kent Housing Group, Kent and Medway Air Quality

Evidence &
monitoring

Page 309

• Government strategies, plans, reports and national data sets.
• The Tri-LEP Energy Strategy and Evidence Base.
• The Kent and Medway State of the Environment Report and
annual monitoring report.
• AECOM Renewable Energy for Kent 2017 Update.
• Public health indicators and evidence covering national and
local area data.
• Home energy conservation and fuel poverty action plans and
reports.
• Air quality monitoring plans and reports from Kent District and
Borough Councils and Medway Council.
• Public and private sector research and current activity on the
topics of energy, fuel poverty, transport, air quality, growth and
planning and the impacts on public health.
• The 2018 Kent Environment Strategy Public Perception Survey.

Partnership, Kent and Medway Sustainable Energy Partnership, Kent Energy Efficiency
Partnership, Kent Planning Officers Group and Kent Health and Wellbeing Board. A summary
of the review process is shown in Figure 3.

The Government’s Department for Business, Energy and
Industrial Strategy (BEIS) has requested and provided the
funding to all Local Enterprise Partnerships (LEPs) to produce
regional Local Energy Opportunities Strategies, which
should provide a clear analysis of the local opportunities and
challenges across heat, transport and power.

The strategy has identified five themes and 18 potential
technological project model interventions, which are shown
in Figure 4. These interventions will be scalable across the
geography to increase impact and investment and develop
partnership working across Local Enterprise Partnerships,
including Kent and Medway. Where project models are
relevant for Kent and Medway, suitable actions will be
reflected in the Kent and Medway Low Emissions Strategy.
The full strategy can be found at www.southeastlep.com/ourstrategy/energy-south2east.

PROJECT MODELS

LOW CARBON
HEATING

#1
#2
#3
#16

District Heat Networks rollout
Off-gas grid homes
Hydrogen injection into the Natural Gas grid
New-build homes on hydrogen grid

ENERGY SAVING
AND EFFICIENCY

#2 Off-gas grid homes
#9 Energy Efficiency in homes
#10 SME Support Programme

RENEWABLE
GENERATION

#4
#5
#6
#7
#8
#17

Offshore wind development
Solar and microgrid on landfill sites
Biomass fuel supply chain development
Solar energy for Network Rail
Car parks - solar potential
Biofuel evolution

SMART ENERGY
SYSTEM

#5
#11
#12
#15
#18

Solar and microgrid on landfill sites
Housing and community microgrids
EV charging & hydrogen-fuelling infrastructure
Setup of ESCO / MUSCO infrastructure
Support developments in CO2 capture

TRANSPORT
REVOLUTION

#12 EV charging & hydrogen-fuelling infrastructure
#13 CNG fleet fuelling
#14 Ports - modernisation of energy infrastructures

Figure 4: The 5 themes and 18 project models in the Energy South2East Action Plan.

14

Kent and Medway Energy and Low Emissions Strategy

Page 310

In response to this request, the South East Local Enterprise
Partnership (SELEP) has partnered with Coast to Capital and
Enterprise M3, to develop an ambitious regional Local Energy
Strategy, which aims to reduce emissions from energy and
transport and support clean growth.

FIVE PRIORITY THEMES

Agenda Item 12

ENERGY SOUTH TO EAST: TOWARDS A LOW CARBON ECONOMY THE TRI-LEP ENERGY STRATEGY

Our ten priorities
Achieving our vision will require significant, coordinated action across
all sectors for the next thirty years. The following pages describe the
ten areas that have been identified as a priority for collaboration and
the immediate, short- and longer-term actions required.
The priorities are not listed in order of importance and will be
implemented concurrently. No regrets actions that should be
undertaken immediately have also been included to ensure significant
action takes place as soon as possible.

Page 311

A technical implementation plan accompanies this strategy and
provides detailed information on the specific actions that will be
taken, action owners, timescales and outputs.

Agenda Item 12

15

Kent and Medway Energy and Low Emissions Strategy

HIGH LEVEL ACTIVITIES
DO NOW

Set five-year carbon budgets and emission reduction pathways to 2050 for Kent
and Medway, with significant reduction by 2030.

Set local authority carbon budgets with emission
reduction pathways to net zero by 2050, with
significant reduction by 2030.

RATIONALE
SHORT TERM
(BY 2023)

Set costed and jointly owned area-based carbon
budgets for Kent and Medway.
Set detailed, area-based emission reduction
pathways to net zero by 2050, with significant
reduction by 2030. Pathways to cover all public
and private organisations and communities.

OUTCOME
Everyone in Kent and Medway can see the scale of action required to achieve net-zero
emission by 2050, with significant reductions in emissions by 2030. Decision makers
understand where action and resources should be targeted. Progress is monitored and
reported.

16

Kent and Medway Energy and Low Emissions Strategy

Monitor and report progress publicly.
FOR LONGER TERM
CONSIDERATION
(BY 2030)

Develop a full carbon footprint for Kent and
Medway based on consumption (not territorial
or organisational boundaries), with consumption
targets and reduction measures integrated into
existing carbon budgets.

Page 312

Carbon budgets will set quotas for the amount of greenhouse gases that can be
emitted in five-year periods. These can then be used to identify the actions (or
pathways), that will allow us to stay within our carbon budgets. Such evidence-based
pathways will ensure we prioritise the most cost-effective activities and will support
more collaborative working with partners across the county, region and nationally.
It will also highlight where appropriate engagement is needed to influence aspects
outside local authorities’ control.

Agree evidence and current baseline for five-year
carbon budgets.

Agenda Item 12

PRIORITY 1:
EMISSION REDUCTION PATHWAYS TO 2050

PRIORITY 2:
PUBLIC SECTOR DECISION MAKING

HIGH LEVEL ACTIVITIES
DO NOW

Develop a consistent approach across Kent and Medway, to assess, manage
and mitigate environmental impacts (both positive and negative), resulting
from public sector policies, strategies, service delivery, commissioning and
procurement.

Revisit existing social value commitments within
contracts and align to climate change and net-zero
ambitions where possible.

RATIONALE

Stronger emphasis on reducing carbon miles and
on buying local goods and services where possible.
SHORT TERM
(BY 2023)

OUTCOME

Develop a supply chain support programme to
enable small and medium sized enterprises (SMEs),
within large supply chains to effect change and
reduce costs; adopt new lower impact processes
and win new business.
FOR LONGER TERM
CONSIDERATION
(BY 2030)

17

Kent and Medway Energy and Low Emissions Strategy

Consider expanding to include a full carbon and
ecological footprint, based on consumption and
lifetime costs in strategy, policy, commissioning and
procurement.

Agenda Item 12

Public sector decisions and spending are consistent with our net-zero and clean
growth targets and are utilising opportunities to drive market change and support
expansion in the clean growth sector.

Develop a full net-zero and climate change impact
assessment and social value framework aligned
with Kent and Medway targets, to include: specific
policies such as requiring the supply chain to
match net-zero commitments; simple checklists;
guidance and tool kits; training and technical
support.

Page 313

The decisions made by Kent and Medway’s public sector affect the environment
and everyone living and working in the area. Kent County Council alone spends over
£1.5 billon each year providing a range of essential services to the people of Kent.
Developing a simple way to assess, manage and mitigate these impacts will ensure
public sector policies, services and spending support our environmental targets. In
addition, the public sector’s influence and spending power will help drive demand
and support innovation in the local clean growth sector.

Develop a simple checklist to identify where
significant environmental issues and opportunities
may arise, for use on imminent key decisions, major
commissions and procurements.

HIGH LEVEL ACTIVITIES
DO NOW

Ensure climate change, energy, air quality and environmental considerations
are integrated into Local Plans, policies and developments, by developing a
clean growth strategic planning policy and guidance framework for Kent and
Medway, to drive down emissions and incorporate climate resilience.

SHORT TERM
(BY 2023)

Develop a clean growth and climate change
strategic planning framework for Local Plans and
development, by identifying common guidance,
position statements, policies and targets.

OUTCOME
New developments in the county are sustainable, carbon neutral and climate resilient.
Kent and Medway’s development and construction industry is supported to be
cutting edge to enable a quicker economic recovery for the sector.

Develop a jointly owned, clean growth and climate
change evidence base for planning policy and
development control.

Set stretching net-zero targets for any new
development over 100 houses.
FOR LONGER TERM
CONSIDERATION
(BY 2030)

Fully integrate clean growth and climate change
into Local Plans and planning policies.
Aim for “energy positive” new developments and
communities (communities producing more
energy than they are using).

18

Kent and Medway Energy and Low Emissions Strategy

Page 314

Refresh the Kent Design Guide to reflect clean
growth, net-zero and climate change mitigation
and adaptation.

RATIONALE
Almost 180,000 new homes will have been built in Kent and Medway by 2031 and will
still be in use after 2050. To ensure the buildings and infrastructure we construct today
are fit for the zero-carbon future, we need to ensure planning policies and decisions
embrace clean growth, support good quality sustainable design and promote low
carbon travel, transport and digital connectivity. A joint evidence base and planning
resource, together with shared position statements, guidance and polices will help
inform planning decisions and future-proof new developments.

Secure agreement for a joint Kent and Medway
clean growth and climate change evidence base
and planning resource, to ensure that planning
decisions are fully informed by the latest evidence
and advice.

Agenda Item 12

PRIORITY 3:
PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT

PRIORITY 4:
CLIMATE EMERGENCY INVESTMENT FUND

HIGH LEVEL ACTIVITIES
DO NOW

Establish a trusted Kent and Medway ‘climate emergency’ carbon offset
scheme and renewable energy investment fund

Package up quick wins and ‘oven-ready’ projects
suitable for external funding such as crowd funding
or business sponsorship

RATIONALE

OUTCOME
Developers, businesses, public sector and residents can offset their carbon emissions
by investing in meaningful ‘climate emergency’ projects in Kent and Medway, such
as tree and hedge planting, habitat improvement, renewable energy generation and
building retrofit. The fund not only generates additional resources for delivering our
climate emergency targets, but also brings environmental and social benefits.

19

Kent and Medway Energy and Low Emissions Strategy

SHORT TERM
(BY 2023)

Develop and promote a Kent and Medway offset
scheme and permanent crowd funding space to
support new and existing local environmental
projects and groups.

FOR LONGER TERM
CONSIDERATION
(BY 2030)

Further develop a cross-sector, multi-agency
sequestration, offset and low carbon investment
fund for Kent and Medway that can be used by the
public, community and private sector.

Agenda Item 12

A climate emergency investment fund for Kent and Medway will pool the funding
available and match it to the most cost effective and biggest impact schemes. The
fund will be informed by renewable energy and natural capital opportunities studies.

Review external funding expertise and
opportunities and look at increasing access to
finance through collaboration and development of
a central resource.

Page 315

Before the coronavirus pandemic, funding for climate emergency actions came from
many disparate sources including; developer contributions, business rates, public
sector funding, charitable donations from residents and businesses, and external
grants and funding. There is likely to be significantly less funding available for
environmental projects in the short to medium term, so ensuring money is invested
in projects that have the greatest impact and bring multiple benefits will become
increasingly important.

Review existing funding streams and see how they
can be tweaked to provide additional resource.

In 2018, Maidstone Borough Council and Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
environmental health teams worked with local schools to tackle local air
pollution. Schools who signed up to the Clean Air for Schools Scheme were
helped to undertake an engaging class experiment. Schools were provided
with two free air monitoring tubes per month, along with a teaching pack and
guidance on how to record data and report the results back to the council.

The Kent and Medway Air Quality Monitoring Network is funded by the district
and borough councils within the county, Medway Council and Kent County
Council. The network aims to promote the improvement of air quality within the
region, to help local authorities to meet their obligations under environmental
regulations and to maintain an accessible database of robust measurements for
public reporting, research and development.

This hands-on approach allowed students to analyse the direct relationship
between the volume of traffic outside their school and its impact on air pollution
within the school grounds. The objective was to encourage a reduction in car
journeys made by parents and to highlight the effects of leaving engines idling
while dropping off and collecting children.

The Kent Air website has been developed by the network to provide easy public
access to live air quality levels, historic data measured from automatic monitoring
and NO2 diffusion tubes, and published data and reports for Medway and all
district and borough councils except for Dartford and Sevenoaks (whose data is
hosted on the London Air Quality Network website: www.londonair.org.uk). The
website also provides information about the health impacts of air pollution and
recommended health advice for the forecast level of pollution.

The project was launched in conjunction with the KM Charity Team’s Green
Champions and is sponsored by the Mid-Kent Environmental Health Team, with
no funding required from the schools. For more information, or to register, visit:
www.maidstone.gov.uk/cleanairforschools. Similar schemes are now also run by
Medway Council and Swale Borough Council, in partnership with the KM Charity
Team.

20

Kent and Medway Energy and Low Emissions Strategy

Page 316

CASE STUDY: KENT AIR WEBSITE

Agenda Item 12

CASE STUDY: WORKING WITH SCHOOLS TO TACKLE AIR POLLUTION

HIGH LEVEL ACTIVITIES
DO NOW

PRIORITY 5:
BUILDING RETROFIT PROGRAMME

Utilise and promote existing funding pots:
• Kent and Medway Warm Homes Programme
and other domestic energy efficiency and
fuel poverty projects through the Kent Energy
Efficiency Partnership (KEEP).
• LOCASE (Low Carbon Across the South East)
grant support programme to improve efficiency
of local businesses.

Develop Kent and Medway net-zero buildings retrofit plans and programmes
for public sector, domestic and business.

RATIONALE

SHORT TERM
(BY 2023)

Look to scale up housing retrofit by maximising
government funding and developing innovative
funding mechanisms with a focus on fuel poor;
difficult to treat properties such as park homes;
off-gas properties; private rented sector; and ‘Able
to Pay’.
Scope cross-sector place-based approach,
identifying quick wins and how we can work with
private investors to scale up retrofit across Kent and
Medway.

OUTCOME
Greenhouse gas emissions from Kent and Medway’s existing buildings are significantly
reduced and the housing stock no longer exacerbates levels of fuel poverty. High
volume retrofit programmes for homes, businesses and public sector buildings
maximise external funding and finance, supporting the local retrofit industry to be
cutting edge.

21

Kent and Medway Energy and Low Emissions Strategy

FOR LONGER TERM
CONSIDERATION
(BY 2030)

Develop a large scale, cross-sector, area-based
retrofit programme. The programme will focus
on place and public realm, including business
and communities, to create net-zero and “energy
positive” communities.

Agenda Item 12

In the short term, our activities will focus on expanding and accelerating existing
domestic energy efficiency and fuel poverty initiatives and supporting energy
efficiency and low carbon heat generation in non-domestic buildings. These
programmes will then need to be expanded to ensure retrofit is seen from the
perspective of a ‘place’, linking public buildings and the public realm, schools,
businesses and homes, both rented and owned.

Establish a public sector building retrofit
programme, identifying joint initiatives that
maximise economies of scale including shared
buildings and facilities, EV charging and micro
energy generation.

Page 317

Over the next 30 years, most of the emissions from the built environment will be from
buildings or communities that are already in existence today. In addition, some of
our most vulnerable residents are living in cold, energy inefficient homes which are
expensive to run; worsening health problems and causing fuel poverty. Funding for
building improvements is fragmented and complicated by property ownership issues,
and projects often need to be done at scale to attract the investment needed.

Undertake ‘quick-wins’ in public and commercial
premises such as converting lighting to LEDs,
installing energy and water efficiency measures and
controls and training building managers.

DO NOW

PRIORITY 6:
TRANSPORT, TRAVEL AND DIGITAL
CONNECTIVITY

Work collaboratively with the public and private sector to
roll out EV charging points and infrastructure for walking and
cycling.
Support public transport providers, including school
transport providers, to use lower emission vehicles.

Set up a smart connectivity and mobility modal shift programme – linking
sustainable transport, transport innovations, active travel, virtual working,
broadband, digital services, artificial intelligence and behaviour change.

Tackle poor air quality hotspots through the implementation
of Air Quality Management Plans.
SHORT TERM
(BY 2023)

Tackling poor air quality and achieving safe and effective transport networks that
support low carbon economic recovery have been highlighted as key challenges
for Kent and Medway. Furthermore, greenhouse gas emissions from transport
have remained stubbornly high, but the coronavirus pandemic triggered a
change in digital and travel behaviours that could be utilised to ensure emissions
from transport are reduced permanently.
Tackling these issues and opportunities will require a combination of measures
that improve infrastructure and facilities to encourage low carbon travel and drive
behaviour change. We must also continue to tackle poor air quality hotspots,
through the implementation of Air Quality Management Plans.

OUTCOME
Greenhouse gas emissions from transport and travel are significantly reduced and
air quality is improved.

22

Kent and Medway Energy and Low Emissions Strategy

Develop and expand sustainable travel policies that reduce
car use and business miles, through a hierarchy of travel
options to reduce the need to travel, encourage modal
shift to walking, cycling and public transport or increase car
sharing.
Implementation of low-carbon mobility hubs for electric cars,
electric bikes and push bikes, to include battery storage and
solar panels where possible.

FOR LONGER
TERM
CONSIDERATION
(BY 2030)

Review and develop approaches that consider:
• locating services nearer to public transport or within
walking distance of communities
• reallocation of road space in favour of more sustainable
travel modes
• increased control, regulation and charging for public
parking in favour of electric vehicles and public transport
• increased involvement in regulation of public transport and
taxis to tackle poor air quality and lower greenhouse gas
emissions
• testing and roll-out of new technologies to enable the
transition to low carbon transport and travel.

Page 318

RATIONALE

Set a challenging 2030 business miles reduction target for the
public sector.

Agenda Item 12

HIGH LEVEL ACTIVITIES

CASE STUDY: PARK AND PEDAL IN CANTERBURY

CASE STUDY: MAKING KENT HOMES WARMER

In June 2018, Canterbury City Council launched its Park and Pedal scheme at
Wincheap Park and Ride. Over 1,200 journeys were recorded between July 2018
and January 2019. Of these journeys, 87% were by customers who were not
regular users of the Wincheap Park and Ride and would normally have driven into
the city centre.

Through a combination of schemes and initiatives, local authorities in Kent and
Medway have been able to maximise funding and signpost residents to initiatives
that make homes warmer, reduce health inequalities and lower carbon emissions.

Cyclists who sign-up to the scheme pay a £15 deposit for a key card that allows
them to leave their bike in a high security compound. They are then able to drive
to the car park each morning and park for free, before grabbing their bike and
heading into the city, helping to cut the queues and improving air quality in the
town centre.

Kent and Medway partners are also working together to promote the Warm
Homes scheme that helps residents identify energy efficiency measures that
will help lower their energy bills and make their homes feel warmer. Since the
Warm Homes scheme began in 2014, over 2,400 energy efficiency measures have
been installed in over 2,300 homes. In total, the measures are expected to save
an estimated 39,000 tonnes of carbon and save residents £8.8 million over the
course of the measures’ life.

Page 319

The scheme was largely funded by a £21,300 grant from Kent County Council.
The Park and Pedal map can be viewed on Canterbury City Council website and
shows bike routes from Wincheap Park and Ride into the city, cycle racks and
places to refill your water bottle.

Since 2013, Dartford, Dover, Gravesham, Tonbridge and Malling and Tunbridge
Wells Councils have offered a Collective Energy Switching scheme, called Energy
Deal. Residents can register for free to take part in energy auctions (held 3 times
a year), to identify lower energy tariffs without any obligation to switch. Since
2013, the Energy Deal has helped residents save £804,632 on their energy bills
collectively.

For more information visit www.energydealswitch.com and
www.kent.gov.uk/warmhomes

Agenda Item 12

23

Kent and Medway Energy and Low Emissions Strategy

HIGH LEVEL ACTIVITIES
DO NOW

Set up an opportunities and investment programme for renewable
electricity and heat energy generation.

Install roof-top solar panels on all suitable public sector
buildings.
Support residents and small businesses to install roof-top
solar panels, by offering a group purchasing scheme such as
Solar Together Kent.

OUTCOME
The county is an exemplar for renewable energy generation; producing more low
carbon energy than it consumes and stimulating enhanced renewable energy
supply chain opportunities that will support a green recovery.

24

Kent and Medway Energy and Low Emissions Strategy

SHORT TERM
(BY 2023)

Undertake a renewable electricity and heat energy
generation opportunities study for Kent and Medway. The
study will build on existing knowledge and focus on all
existing and emerging technologies including solar, wind,
nuclear, heat pumps, district heating and green gas such as
hydrogen.

FOR LONGER
TERM
CONSIDERATION
(BY 2030)

Develop a joint Future Energy Investment Programme for
Kent and Medway looking at:
•
•
•
•
•

hydrogen
green gas
decentralised energy in new developments
community energy generation
other emerging energy technologies.

Page 320

RATIONALE
Securing a low carbon, sustainable economic recovery will require us to transform
the way we generate energy. Whilst some of this will be done at the national level,
we must also support new low-carbon energy infrastructure opportunities, such
as those presented in the Tri-LEP Energy Strategy. We will focus on supporting
opportunities that allow more of our energy to be produced locally and from
renewable sources and increasing the number of new developments supplied by
local energy centres and district heating schemes.

Agenda Item 12

PRIORITY 7:
RENEWABLE ENERGY GENERATION

PRIORITY 8:
GREEN INFRASTRUCTURE

HIGH LEVEL ACTIVITIES
DO NOW

Develop a multi-functional, natural capital opportunity and investment
programme – focusing on environmental projects that store carbon,
increase climate change resilience, improve air quality and soil health and
increase biodiversity.

OUTCOME
There is increased capacity for Kent and Medway’s natural environment to store
carbon and offset the county’s greenhouse gas emissions: bringing additional
benefits such as reduced air and water pollution, increased flood storage capacity,
improved biodiversity and providing health, cultural and leisure opportunities for
local communities.

25

Kent and Medway Energy and Low Emissions Strategy

SHORT TERM
(BY 2023)

Assess the carbon and resilience value of natural capital in
Kent and Medway, together with other potential functions.
Scope develop and implement a multi-functional, natural
capital opportunity and investment programme.

FOR LONGER
TERM
CONSIDERATION
(BY 2030)

Expand the natural capital opportunity and investment
programme to include all sectors.

Agenda Item 12

Soil, trees, hedgerows, grassland, wetlands and maritime habitats all store carbon,
so improving land management practices and increasing coverage of these
habitats will be essential if we are to achieve our net-zero target. In addition, our
actions to increase carbon storage can also support our efforts to respond to
the ecological emergency, support the Kent Biodiversity Strategy and increase
resilience to climate change. The development of an opportunity and investment
programme will ensure resources can be targeted at the most appropriate
projects, capable of generating the most benefits.

Produce tree planting guidance to ensure the right tree
species are planted in the most appropriate places.

Page 321

RATIONALE

Identify natural environment ‘quick-wins’ and areas where tree
establishment is needed, especially in relation to Ash
Dieback.

HIGH LEVEL ACTIVITIES
DO NOW

Develop and implement a Kent and Medway business recovery and support
programme to cut costs and win new business.

Support public sector suppliers to complete Steps
to Environmental Management (STEM) training (or
equivalent), in order to identify supply chain emissions and
drive efficiencies where possible. 7
Promote and refer businesses and supply chain to LOCASE,
for support and access to grant funding to reduce their
costs and access new markets.

RATIONALE
SHORT TERM (BY
2023)

Conduct public sector supply chain assessments, focusing
on the largest suppliers.
Undertake a supply chain analysis of the economic
opportunities from the low carbon sector across Kent and
Medway (funded through SELEP).
Require public sector suppliers to undertake STEM or a
similar scheme.
Working in partnership with local authorities and the Kent
and Medway Economic Partnership, develop a targeted
business support supply chain programme for the Kent
and Medway public sector, building on LOCASE.

OUTCOME
Greenhouse gas emissions from local small and medium sized enterprises are
reduced and businesses are supported to make the most of the economic
opportunities that arise as we transition to a low carbon economy.

FOR LONGER TERM
CONSIDERATION
(BY 2030)
7

Develop local supply chain, low carbon clusters or
opportunities (dependent on supply chain analysis).

The STEM accreditation scheme was developed through Low Carbon Across the South East
(LOCASE) and is free to members of the Low Carbon Kent business network. It helps businesses
improve their environmental performance through a series of assessments and certificates (blue,
silver and gold), which correspond to National Standard BS 8555.

Kent and Medway Energy and Low Emissions Strategy

Page 322

The coronavirus pandemic has had a significant impact on local businesses and
many will need support to recover. In addition, whilst many local businesses
have already taken action to save money and reduce their impact on the
environment, our evidence shows that this activity needs to be expanded and
rapidly accelerated if we are to achieve our low carbon vision. A dual pronged
approach to local business support, which utilises the considerable purchasing
power of Kent and Medway’s public sector and supports businesses to reduce
their environmental impact will help drive a low carbon economic recovery.

26

Agenda Item 12

PRIORITY 9:
SUPPORTING LOW CARBON BUSINESS

PRIORITY 10:
COMMUNICATIONS

HIGH LEVEL ACTIVITIES
DO NOW

Develop a comprehensive communications, engagement and behaviour
change programme targeted at residents, employees, businesses and
visitors.

RATIONALE

Residents, employees, businesses and visitors to Kent and Medway understand
how their actions impact the environment; are aware of the risks of climate
change and poor air quality; appreciate the value of the natural environment;
and are sufficiently well informed and motivated to adopt more sustainable and
low carbon behaviours. This increased awareness and engagement increases the
impact of the other programmes developed through this Strategy.

27

Kent and Medway Energy and Low Emissions Strategy

SHORT TERM
(BY 2023)

Develop a joint communications, engagement and
behaviour change strategy and programme for residents,
public sector staff and businesses.
Monitor effectiveness of campaigns and develop into
targeted behaviour change programmes.

Agenda Item 12

OUTCOME

Use the Kent Environment Strategy Conference as a
mechanism to raise the profile of local authority collective
action.

Page 323

We will not tackle the climate emergency through technology alone: our net-zero
future will only be achieved if we successfully change perceptions, behaviour
and social norms. Despite a recent surge in public interest in climate change
there remain many psychological, social and cultural barriers to behaviour
change, alongside a lack of physical capability or opportunity. These barriers are
compounded by many competing voices seeking to advance their own part of
the environmental agenda. We will need to work closely with our partners to
develop simple, tailored and targeted communications that raise awareness and
encourage a change in perceptions and behaviour.

Link up existing stakeholder communications and agree
shared messages on topics such as air quality, fuel poverty,
active travel and energy efficiency.

In March 2018, Kent took part in an eight-week electric bus demonstrator trial
commissioned by Volvo Bus UK and ABB UK. The trial aimed to demonstrate to
Kent County Council, Prologis and Arriva (the bus operators), that electric buses
can be operational without disrupting current schedules, whilst also improving
air quality, energy efficiency, noise and passenger comfort, as well as providing
financial benefits. The trial was conducted along the 23.6km-long ‘Fastrack Route
A’, operating 20 hours daily between Dartford and Bluewater.

The Low Carbon Across the South East (LoCASE) project provides free support
to help businesses become more competitive and profitable, by reducing
environmental impacts through resource efficiencies and encouraging low
carbon innovation. It does this through a three-pronged approach of stimulating
demand, supporting supply and transferring knowledge. The scheme is
administered by Kent County Council and supports businesses in Kent and
Medway, Essex, Thurrock, Southend-on-Sea and East Sussex.

Data gathered from the trial showed that an energy saving of 69.3% could be
realised on the Fastrack Route A (based on the annual energy use of current
diesel buses; 2,063MW, versus the energy used by the bus on the trial; 634MW).
Feedback from Arriva was positive, with the electric bus outperforming
expectations and the drivers reporting that they preferred the electric vehicles.
The public were also complimentary, with 70% of Twitter comments being
neutral or positive.

So far the project has seen nearly £3.5 million of EU grant funding approved for
425 Kent and Medway Small and Medium Sized Enterprises (SMEs), towards a
huge range of purposes. This investment is set to deliver over 4,000 tonnes of
carbon dioxide equivalent of savings through 250 energy and resource efficiency
projects; from simple lighting, heating and insulation works, to investing in more
effective and sustainable business practices. To date this support has helped
create 160 jobs, launch 45 new products or services and support 31 business
start-ups in Kent and Medway’s burgeoning Low Carbon Environmental Goods
and Services sector.

The demonstration proved that the vehicle operated within Fastrack’s operational
requirements. It also helped promote the drive towards zero emissions
technology and whilst the vehicle itself drew attention, the visual element of the
charging infrastructure proved to be much more effective and thought provoking
for the general public and stakeholders alike.

It was due to this success that LoCASE was identified as an exemplar project for
replication across the south east in the Energy South2East regional local energy
strategy. It was also selected as a runner-up by the President of the Association of
Directors of Environment, Economy, Planning and Transport (ADEPT) Awards in
2018.
The project will continue to administer additional funding up to a value of £49
million to support businesses in the South East, in addition to expanding delivery
into the neighbouring Local Economic Partnership (LEP) areas of Coast to Capital,
Enterprise M3 and the Solent. This will open up access to LoCASE support to any
SME based in Kent, Medway, Essex, Surrey, Hampshire and the Solent.

28

Kent and Medway Energy and Low Emissions Strategy

Page 324

CASE STUDY: LOW CARBON ACROSS THE SOUTH EAST

Agenda Item 12

CASE STUDY: ELECTRIC BUS TRIAL

HOW WE WILL DELIVER THIS STRATEGY
The Kent and Medway Energy and Low Emissions Strategy sets out how we
will respond to the UK climate emergency and ensure our recovery from the
coronavirus pandemic drives clean and resilient economic growth, eliminates poor
air quality, reduces fuel poverty, and promotes the development of an affordable,
clean and secure energy supply across Kent andMedway. Building on the
strengths and activities of local authorities and their partners, the strategy
identifies ten high level priorities for action now and in the short- and long-term.

Regional

Energy South to East: Local Industrial Strategy
Local Economic Plan and Strategic Economic Statement
Transport Strategy for the South East

County wide

Environment Strategy
Growth and Infrastructure Framework

The strategy is owned by all 14 Kent and Medway local authorities, but the
actions will need to be taken in partnership with other public and private
sector partners, academic and charitable organisations. In addition, the strategy
will develop programmes that will require the support of local businesses,
community groups and residents if they are to be successful.

Biodiversity Strategy

A technical implementation plan accompanies this strategy and provides detailed
information on the specific actions that will be taken to achieve each priority,
the partners involved, timescales and outputs. Progress, risks and issues will be
regularly reviewed by Kent Leaders, Kent Chief Executives and appropriate
partnerships. Progress reports and the latest indicators will be published online
at www.kent.gov.uk/environment.

Joint Strategic Needs Assessment

Active Travel Strategy (excluding Medway)
Health and Wellbeing Strategy

Fuel Poverty Strategy
Housing Strategy
Enterprise and Productivity Strategy (in development)
Sustainability and Transformation Plan
Local

Local Plans

Sustainable School Travel Strategy (Medway only)
Walking and Cycling Strategies
Air Quality Management Area Strategies
Figure 4: Key strategies linked to the Kent and Medway Energy and Low
Emissions Strategy

Kent and Medway Energy and Low Emissions Strategy

Agenda Item 12

Covid-19 recovery plans
Green Infrastructure Strategies

29

Page 325

The Energy and Low Emissions Strategy is a sub-strategy of the Kent Environment
Strategy and is intrinsically linked to several other strategic documents and
policies across Kent. These are shown in Figure 4.

Local Transport Plan

To ensure our activities remain effective, it is essential that we monitor and evaluate progress against our priorities regularly. To do this
we will establish and monitor the following key indicators; ensuring that they remain measurable over the lifetime of this strategy. These
indicators will be monitored quarterly (as they are updated) and published online.
THEME
Carbon dioxide
emissions
Air quality

Energy

30

Per capita carbon dioxide (CO2) emissions
Annual exceedance of key air pollutants
Number of days of moderate or higher air pollution
Deaths associated with particulate matter (PM2.5)
Number of air quality management areas
Tree canopy coverage
Carbon storage value of habitats
Annual energy consumption of local authority estate (all 14
councils)
Average domestic energy consumption (gas and electricity) per
customer
Carbon emissions from gas and electricity consumption
Renewable electricity generation

Kent and Medway Energy and Low Emissions Strategy

BASELINE
8,958.2 kilo tonnes of CO2 (2017).
Total CO2 emissions have fallen by 37% since 2005.
4.9 tonnes per person (2017).
2 site failures for NOx and 2 site failure for O3 (2018).
78 days (21.3% of the year), where at least one pollutant recorded
levels of moderate or higher air pollution (2018).
922 deaths associated with particulate matter (2017).
43 air quality management areas (2019).
To be developed
To be developed
To be developed
16,781 kilowatt hours (2017).
4.87 Mega tonnes CO2 (2017).
1,751 Mega Watts (2018).

Page 326

Green infrastructure

INDICATOR
Total carbon dioxide (CO2) emissions

Agenda Item 12

MEASURING PROGRESS – OUR INDICATORS

Transport

Carbon emissions from the transport sector
Active travel to school (walking, cycling, scooting)
Active travel to work (census data – updated every 10 years)

Housing and health

Carbon emissions from the domestic sector
Household water consumption
Energy Performance Certificate (EPC) rating of homes

Number of energy efficiency measures installed in homes

Page 327

Journey delays on local A-roads (excluding Medway)
Journey delays on local A-roads (Medway only)
Electric Vehicle Registrations
Road transport fuel consumption
Number of car share / car clubs in operation
Kilometres of footpath/cycle lane improved
Households in fuel poverty
Excess winter deaths

3,953.7 kilo tonnes of CO2 (2017).
64.2% of primary school children. 36.6% of secondary school
children (2018).
In 2011, 32% of people that work within 5km of their home actively
travelled to work in Kent.
35.4 seconds per vehicle per mile (2018).
46.9 seconds per vehicle per mile (2018).
4,845 electric vehicle registrations (December 2019).
1,182,943 tons of oil equivalent.
To be developed
To be developed
73,010 (9.6%) households in fuel poverty (2017).
1,610 excess winter deaths
29.6% averaged excess winter mortality (2017/18).
2,585.9 kilo tonnes of CO2 (2017).
To be developed
83% of new builds had an EPC rating of A or B (2018).
16% of all domestic EPC lodgements were rated A or B for energy
efficiency (2018).
To be developed

Agenda Item 12

31

Kent and Medway Energy and Low Emissions Strategy

Active travel - Travel and transport by physically
active modes of transport such as cycling, walking or
scooting.
Air quality - The composition of the air in terms of
how much pollution it contains.

Department for Business, Energy and Industrial
Strategy (BEIS) – Formed in 2016 The Department
for Business, Energy and Industrial strategy is a
government department responsible for business,
industrial strategy, science and innovation and
energy and climate change policy.
Car club – Car clubs allow you to rent a car by the
hour. Car clubs offer the benefits of using a car without the expense or inconvenience of maintaining
and running your own car.
Clean energy – Energy that is not produced from
fossil fuels (coal, oil or natural gas)
Clean growth – set out in the Government’s Clean
Growth Strategy, the concept aims to lower carbon
emissions, protecting the environment and meeting

32

Kent and Medway Energy and Low Emissions Strategy

Combined Heat and Power (CHP) - When electricity
is generated, up to 60% of the energy can be wasted
as lost heat. Combined Heat and Power schemes are
designed to recover most of this waste heat and use
it to power a turbine and generate more electricity.
Department for Environment, Farming and
Rural Affairs (DEFRA) – Formed in 2001, the
Department for Environment, Food and Rural
Affairs is the government department responsible
for environmental protection, food production
and standards, agriculture, fisheries and rural
communities in England.
District heating - A district heating system is a
network of insulated pipes, which delivers heat (or
chilled water) from a centralised energy centre to
multiple end users [see also Heat Network].
Energy Performance Certificate (EPC) - EPCs are
intended to inform potential buyers or tenants about
the energy performance of a building, so they can
consider energy efficiency as part of their investment
or business decision. The scale is from A-G, A being
the most efficient.
Energy switching – a process carried out by
consumers aiming to reduce their energy bills by
changing their energy provider.

Excess Winter Deaths – is defined as the difference
between the number of deaths which occurred
in winter (December to March) and the average
number of deaths during the preceding months
(August to November) and the subsequent four
months (April to July).
Flexible working - Flexible working is a way of
working that suits an employee’s needs, for example
having flexible start and finish times, or working from
home.
Fuel poverty - Fuel poverty in England is measured
by the Low Income High Costs definition, which
considers a household to be in fuel poverty if they
have fuel costs that are above average (the national
median level) and where if they were to spend that
amount, they would be left with a residual income
below the official poverty line.
Geographic Information Systems (GIS) – A
computer system that allows analysis of spatial data
by organising layers of information into visual maps
and 3D scenes. Commonly used GIS applications are
ArcGIS and MapInfo.
Greenhouse gases - As defined under the Kyoto
Protocol, these include:
Carbon dioxide (CO2) Methane (CH4) Nitrous
oxide (N2O)
Hydrofluorocarbons (HFCs) Perfluorocarbons
(PFCs) Sulphur hexafluoride (SF6)

Page 328

Air Quality Management Areas (AQMAs) – Where
Local Authorities have found that air pollution
objectives have been exceeded or are not likely to
be achieved, an Air Quality Management Area must
be declared. The size of these areas is not predefined
and can vary.

our climate change obligations, whilst stimulating
growth and prosperity, increasing earning power and
creating and supporting thousands of jobs.

Agenda Item 12

GLOSSARY

Green infrastructure - Green infrastructure is a network of multi-functional green space, both new and
existing, both rural and urban, which supports the
natural and ecological processes and is integral to the
health and quality of life of sustainable communities.
Growth and Infrastructure Framework –
prepared by Kent County Council to provide a
view of emerging development and infrastructure
requirements to support growth across Kent and
Medway. It provides a strategic framework across the
County, for identifying and prioritising investment
across a range of infrastructure, for planned growth
up to 2031.

businesses They play a central role in determining
local economic priorities and undertaking activities
to drive economic growth and the creation of local
jobs.
Low Carbon Across the South East (LoCASE) – An
EU funded project set up to help businesses tackle
and adapt to climate change, by aiming to reduce
costs by cutting emissions and promoting the
opportunities of the low carbon and environmental
goods and services market.
Low carbon economy - An economy which has a
minimal output of greenhouse gas emissions.

Heat networks - A heat network, sometimes called
district heating, is a distribution system of insulated
pipes that takes heat from a central source and
delivers it to a number of domestic or non-domestic
buildings. The heat source might be a facility that
provides a dedicated supply to the heat network,
such as a combined heat and power plant; or heat
recovered from industry and urban infrastructure,
canals and rivers, or energy from waste plants.

Renewable energy - Energy produced using
naturally replenishing resources. This includes solar
power, wind, wave, tide and hydroelectricity. Wood,
straw and waste are often called solid renewable
energy, while landfill gas and sewerage gas can be
described as gaseous renewables.

Local Enterprise Partnership (LEP) – LEPs are locally
owned partnerships between local authorities and

33

Kent and Medway Energy and Low Emissions Strategy

Net-zero – Achieving net-zero carbon emissions by
deeply cutting emissions, with remaining emissions
offset by removal from the atmosphere (eg. by trees
or technology).

Small and Medium Sized Enterprises (SMEs) Micro, small and medium-sized enterprises who
employ fewer than 250 people and which have an
annual turnover of less than £25 million.

Tri-LEP – A term used to describe collaboration between the South East, Coast to Capital and Enterprise
M3 Local Economic Partnerships. The Tri-LEP area
covers much of south east England including Kent,
Sussex, Surrey, Hampshire and Essex.
Ultra-Low Emission Vehicles (ULEVs) – Ultra low
emission vehicles (ULEVs), also known as plug-in
vehicles, emit extremely low levels of motor vehicle
emissions compared to traditional petrol or diesel
vehicles.
Vulnerable resident – A term for an individual who
is at risk of harm due to life circumstances such as
being homeless, frail or elderly or has a mental or
physical illness.

Agenda Item 12

Mega Watt (MW) - a measure of power, one million
watts.

Sustainable development - Development
that meets the needs of the present without
compromising the ability of future generations to
meet their own needs. It is central to the economic,
environmental and social success of the country
and is the core principle underpinning the National
Planning Policy Framework.

Page 329

Hard-to-treat homes – homes that cannot
accommodate routine, cost-effective energy
efficiency measures. Homes considered hard-to-treat
are often not connected to the gas network or are
built with solid walls (without a cavity); this includes
older properties and park homes.

Superfast broadband - In the UK, ‘superfast’ broadband is defined as a connection with download
speeds of 24Mb or above.

This document is available in alternative formats and can
be explained in a range of languages. Please contact
alternativeformats@kent.gov.uk

Page 330

www.kent.gov.uk/environment

Agenda Item 12

KENT AND MEDWAY
ENERGY AND LOW
EMISSIONS STRATEGY

Page 331

Agenda Item 13

CABINET
29 OCTOBER 2020
ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH PARTNERSHIP AND PROPOSED DISENGAGEMENT BY
SEVENOAKS DISTRICT COUNCIL
1. SUMMARY
This report informs Members of the decision of Sevenoaks District Council to
disengage from the Environmental Health Partnership, the implications for
the [Borough] Council and the steps to be taken to safeguard services to the
Borough’s residents and businesses.
2. RECOMMENDATIONS
2.1 That the proposal by Sevenoaks District Council to disengage from the
Environmental Health Partnership, be noted.
2.2 That the actions proposed by Dartford Council, as set out in paras. 3.6 and 3.7
of the report, to mitigate the impact of the disengagement, be noted.
3. Background and Discussion
3.1 The Council’s Environmental Health service has been delivered in partnership with
Sevenoaks District Council since April 2012 with the Environmental Health Manager
having managed the two services since 2008. The service has been (is) extremely
effective, delivering responsive, high quality services to residents and businesses
across both districts. It has benefited both authorities by providing access to a wider
pool of expertise and to greater resilience while delivering savings of approximately
£1.5M to each authority, over a period of nine years. The joint service is fully
integrated and funded 50/50. Its main operational base is Dartford Civic Centre.
3.2 Members will be aware that environmental health is a key regulatory service with a
wide remit aimed at protecting residents, visitors, business and the environment. It
encompasses food safety, health and safety, business compliance with various
regulations (including those relating to coronavirus), statutory nuisance arising from
e.g. noise, bonfires etc., pollution control, air quality, contaminated land, pests and
animal welfare. Its prime functions are proscribed in statute.
3.3 Sevenoaks District Council has given formal notice that it wishes to disengage from
the partnership. Whilst the end-date and ancillary matters have not yet been agreed,
the partnership agreement stipulates that 18 months’ notice be given. Sevenoaks’
stated ambition is for dis-engagement to be complete by 31 March 2021. Given that it
originally took around 18 months to merge the two separate services, this is an
extremely challenging timeframe for both authorities but it is especially so for Dartford
having had no prior notice of the decision.
3.4 This Council recognises Sevenoaks District Council’s absolute discretion to determine
how it delivers its services. However, it should be noted that the timing of this decision,
coming as it does in the midst of an on-going public health emergency when
environmental health officers are critical to local government’s response to the
coronavirus pandemic, creates further pressure on the team by requiring them to
prepare for fundamental organisational and operational change while maintaining
essential services.

Agenda Item 13

Page 332
CABINET
29 OCTOBER 2020

3.5 Over the past couple of years, Officers have been approached by, or approached,
other neighbouring authorities to discuss the potential for expanding the partnership.
None of these approaches has borne fruit and it is considered neither practical nor
desirable to seek a new partnership at this time. Senior Officers in Environmental
Health will need to work closely with colleagues in HR, IT and Finance at both
Councils over the coming months to facilitate a smooth transition from the joint service
to two separate services. No redundancies are expected, indeed, it is anticipated that
both Councils will need to recruit additional staff if services are to be maintained at
current levels.
3.6 Dartford has commenced preparatory work to determine the resource (people, skills,
budget etc.) needed to operate a standalone environmental health service. Once this
has been established steps will be taken to recruit to vacant and newly established
posts as soon as possible. In parallel, plans will be developed and implemented to
effect the de-coupling of IT systems and migration of data to the ‘home’ Council.
3.7 The partnership agreement provides a mechanism for withdrawal which includes any
loss of funding which may arise from such withdrawal and any other loss, liability,
damage, claim or expense incurred by Dartford as a result of Sevenoaks’
disengagement. Losses (if any) are being assessed by Dartford, including the
consideration of legal remedies available to it.
4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan
None.
5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk assessments
Financial Implications

Legal Implications

Staffing Implications
Admin Implications
Risk Assessment

6. Appendices

Returning the service to its pre-merger state is likely to
require an increase in budget of approximately £180,000.
This is a significant sum. This amount will need addressing
in the 2021/22 revenue budget and factoring in to the
medium term financial plan which is likely to result in the
need for compensating efficiency savings to be sought from
across the Council in future years.
The partnership arrangements, including the mechanism for
withdrawal, are detailed in the partnership agreement. The
parties showed an intention to create legal relations. The
courts will usually determine acceptance of terms based on
the individual’s conduct (i.e. consent by conduct) - Reveille
Independent LLC and Anotech International (UK) Ltd).
As set out in the body of the report.
As set out in the body of the report.
There is a risk that change at this time will destabilise the
service and performance levels will drop.
There is a risk that Dartford will be unable to recruit staff with
appropriate skills and experience.
These risks can be mitigated to an extent by good
communications with staff, careful planning and proactive
recruitment.

Page 333

Agenda Item 13

CABINET
29 OCTOBER 2020
N/A
BACKGROUND PAPERS
Documents
consulted

Date

File Ref

Report
Author

Section and
Directorate

Sheri Green

Strategic
Director
(External
Services)

Exempt
Information
Category
N/A

Page 334

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 335

Cabinet
29 October 2020.

Agenda Item 14

REVIEW OF MANAGEMENT OF HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT
GARAGE PORTFOLIO.
1. SUMMARY.
1.1 Following an audit recommendation to review the current performance of the
Council’s garage stock, this report explores the options that might best deliver the
aims of improving the condition of the stock to ensure they are fit for purpose and to
improve the occupancy rate and maximise potential rental income.
2. RECOMMENDATIONS.
2.1 That, for the reasons outlined in the body of the report, the outsourcing of the
management service for the Council’s garage stock, be endorsed in principle.
2.2 That a further report will be presented following the tender process, seeking
approval for the outsourcing to be in place, from 1 April 2021.
3.

Background and Discussion.

3.1 In August 2020, the internal audit team presented a comprehensive audit report of
the Council’s garage management service. Whilst the outcome of the audit was
positive, it was r4ecommendedthat the housing team “review the utilisation of
assets and develop a strategy to improve the current garage occupancy rate. This
should include consideration of alternatives where there is limited prospect of
letting the garage”.
3.2 The Council owns a stock of 1258 garages, which are managed within the Housing
Revenue Account (HRA). Whilst the provision and management of garages is not
a statutory service, garages represent a significant asset and how they are
managed can have a direct impact on the long-term business plan for the service.
This is particularly relevant in respect to the collection of rental income, vacancy
rent loss and the expenditure relating to repair, maintenance and improvement of
the various sites. These factors could affect the financial viability of the Housing
Revenue Account, if not managed effectively.
3.3 The 1258 Council owned garages are located at 70 separate sites throughout the
Borough, with the size of garages sites varying from a single garage to the largest
block, containing more than 50 garages.
3.4 Historically, garages were provided as part of the development of Council housing
estates for use by Council tenants, however, over time, the changing profile of
tenure on Council housing estates through the operation of the right to buy
scheme, together with a general lack of demand, has led to a marked change in
the tenant base of garages, with the majority of the Council garages now being let
to private residents.
3.5 The letting of garage units is independent from the allocation of Council housing
and garage units are no longer sold, due to the ongoing management difficulties
encountered on mixed tenure garage sites. In the past, and in response to
increasing vacancy levels and difficulty in re-letting garages, a decision was taken
to directly link vacant garages to new lettings on the large flatted estates where
appropriate. However, due to the management difficulties posed, and complaints
from tenants, this practice has ceased.

Agenda Item 14

Page 336

3.6

Cabinet has previously been presented with reports detailing garage sites that
could have potential for redevelopment and some sites have been redeveloped for
housing. However, the remaining sites have various constraints that would make
redevelopment difficult to achieve.

3.7

The rental policy for garages has developed over many years. The current charge
is £15.00 per week for Council tenants and £17.80 per week for non-Council
tenants. The difference relates to the fact that VAT is only payable by non-Council
tenants and these charges are applicable across the whole garage stock with no
variation dependent on the garage site location and typically increase annually

4.
4.1

Current Position.
Of the 1258 Council garages available, there was a vacancy rate of 20% on the 1
April 2015 and this void increased to 26% as at the 1 October 2020. Of the 75% of
garages that are let, 65% are let to non-Council tenants.

4.2

As the Housing team offer a reactive service, complaints regarding the condition of
the garages, lack of security and lighting, the need for CCTV & fly tipping in and
around the garages are numerous. Health and safety issues, in relation to the
condition of the garages, are also of increasing concern.

4.3

Current modelling show the HRA is expected to receive £664k in income for
2020/21.

4.4

The Housing team currently delivers approximately £75k worth of day-to-day
reactive repairs to the garages but there is no current allocation in the HRA capital
budget for planned improvements. Garage and site conditions are deteriorating
posing a health and safety risk.

4.5

The specific management functions for the Council’s garages are split between
officers in the Customer Services, Housing Finance & Housing Repairs teams with
the Head of Housing having overall responsibility for the service.

5.
5.1

The Challenge.
Despite receiving a high level of income annually, officers feel that the Council’s
garage stock portfolio is now at a crossroads with increasing complaints from
garage users, increasing voids rates (officers estimate that the void rate is
increasing by around 1% per year) and a significant deterioration in relation to the
condition of the garages and their immediate environment. When this is then
viewed in the context of no future budget being allocated to reverse that trend it is
essential that the future of the garages is analysed and future options proposed
that would ensure the garage stock is fit for purpose and meets its primary function
whilst mitigating any negative impact on rental income.

6.
6.1

Options.
Continue with existing management arrangements
The Council can continue to manage its garage stock as it currently does, but the
letting patterns suggest that the high income levels and occupancy rates are not
sustainable in the long term due to the split management approach and the lack of
capital investment. As mentioned earlier in this report, there is no allocated budget
to deal with the estimated £4.2m worth of backlog repairs required across the
entire garage portfolio as the decision has been made that the finite capital budget
available is best spent on improving the quality of tenant’s accommodation across
the housing stock. Whilst the lack of improvement budget can be addressed with a
Capital budget allocation, the skills and resources to professionally market and
manage the garages, that are required to at the very least maintain the current
level of rent income, would also need to be correctly resourced and would be
problematic within the existing structure across more than one team.

Page 337

Agenda Item 14

6.1.1 On that basis, and whilst it is the simplest option, it is felt by Officers that this
approach does not solve the long term problems facing the Council in relation to
optimising the value of the garage stock moving forward
6.2

Set up in house garage management team.
An option available to the Council is to create an in house team with its sole focus
on improving the condition of the HRA garage stock and ensuring they are fit for
purpose, improve the occupancy rate and maximising potential rental income. To
do this, it is estimated that it would take at least two full time officers to deliver all
management responsibilities from advertising, repairs, cleaning of the sites, lock
changes, sign ups, tenancy issues, rent collection & debt collection. This would
clearly have an additional cost in terms of salaries and a vehicle but would also
require additional budget allocation for repairs etc. It is estimated that to set up and
budgetary fund such a team would cost in excess of £125k with no guarantee that
void garages will reduce and income increase.

6.2.1 Whilst this would be relatively straightforward to implement, it is an expensive
option and will not add any expertise to the delivery of this non-essential service. It
will also not deliver any vacancy saving elsewhere as the service is currently
absorbed into the existing duties of officers in three different teams. On that basis,
it is felt by Officers that this is not the best approach to solve the long term
problems facing the Council in relation to optimising the value of the garage stock
moving forward.
6.3

Sell the garages on the open market.
The Council could potentially sell the garages on the open market and achieve a
capital receipt. This however would not do anything to immediately improve the
condition of the garage stock, which lies at the centre of our estates. Whilst this will
instantly have a negative impact in terms of revenue income it is also felt that the
likely receipt for the sites would be relatively low, due to likely planning constraints
etc., as clearly any private buyer could also make any number of choices as to
what they wanted to do with “their” garage site but this may not include any parking
or garage provision for our tenants or local residents who currently rent the
garages. Any capital receipt would also been ring fenced and stay within the
Housing Revenue Account which is already in a healthy position long term.

6.3.1 On the basis that sale of the garages is not a financial imperative, and the fact that
the loss of the garage sites could be detrimental to the tenants and residents that
reside on the housing estates in terms of overall loss of parking, it is not felt that
this is a good option to pursue at this time.
6.4

New management arrangements.
As part of the research undertaken by the Housing team in preparation for this
report, Officers have found that other Councils, facing the same issues with their
garages have chosen an outsourced management approach that both protects,
and increases, the their garage rental income and provides a positive management
framework by which the condition of the garage stock can be improved and the
vacancy rate reduced. The model allows for the control of rent rises, prioritises
tenants for letting, and initiates a full review of every garage site to ensure
optimum use and performance, including differential rent rates across sites.

6.4.1 Based on the current situation, and the options available, Officers feel that this is
the best option to pursue at this time as it achieves the aims of both protecting the
Council’s rental income and provides a basis to improve the quality and desirability
of the Council’s garage stock.

Agenda Item 14

Page 338

6.4.2 It will also allow key members of staff in Customers Service and the Housing team
to concentrate on key service delivery areas that better serve the needs of the
Council’s tenants and residents.
7.0
7.1

Proposal.
The proposed model would operate as follows:
 A tender will be let for the outsourcing of the management of the Council’s garage
stock and a long term contract signed with the successful contactor.
 The Council would pay a garage management fee to the successful contractor.
 The management agreement fee would include the obligation on the contractor to
undertake any minor repairs to the garages within the set management fee.
 The successful contractor would assume all management responsibilities from
advertising, repairs, cleaning of the sites, lock changes, sign ups, tenancy issues,
rent collection & debt collection.
 The Council would not see a significant change in the level rental income in year
one and as the contract progresses rental income would increase when
compared to the 2019/20 baseline as voids levels decrease & income increases.
 All sites will be subjected to a viability assessment with various options
considered. This could result in a straightforward garage refurbishment, garages
could be demolished and replaced with larger garages providing more space to
park larger modern vehicles, sites could be converted to open and secure parking
areas or sites could be used for container type storage units for rent. Sites will be
assessed in terms of their own location, individual merits and assessed for
viability for development for Housing if alternative parking/garage arrangements
cannot be delivered.
 Council tenants renting garages benefit from a reduced rental rate and receive
priority when new garages become available to let.
 The Housing team will retain oversight of the operation to ensure it is delivered
correctly & achieves the Council’s aims and the needs of tenants and residents.

7.2 Impact on HRA budget.
The Council would set aside a capital budget, of up to £500k per annum, to
support the scheme and ensure that the money is available to improve the
garages that will in turn create additional rental income. This is achievable due to
the current financial position of the HRA due to decreasing scheduled debt and
interest repayments and would be proposed as part of the 2020/21 budget.
In terms of the potential impact on the rental (revenue) income the new
arrangement will add up to £150k in expenditure but this is immediately offset by
the £75k saved by the Council as the successful contractor will undertake all minor
repairs within the management fee paid by the Council. The remainder of the
additional expenditure will be recovered in time by the increase in rental income by
reducing the garage void rate as detailed elsewhere in this report.
7.3

Benefits of the proposal.
It is felt that the proposal provides clear benefits for both the Council and the
tenants and residents who rent the Council’s garages in terms of;
 Providing a specialised & customer focussed garage management service.
 Improving the condition of the garage stock and the estate environment.
 Protects rental income for the Council.
 Increases rental income.
 Protects tenants from high rental rises and give them priority on new lettings.
 Fewer complaints from tenants and residents & eliminates H&S risks.
 Deals with the estimated £4.2m backlog in repairs in a programmed manner.
 Retains Council ownership of the garage stock.

Page 339

Agenda Item 14

7.3.1 A further benefit to the Council is that the tender would be procured as a
Framework, after a fully OJEU compliant tender process. Other local authorities or
Housing Associations could then use the Council’s certified OJEU procurement
process to appoint their own garage management contractors. The Council would
receive a payment from each body that signs up to use the Framework, creating a
revenue stream for the Housing Revenue Account.
8
8.1

Relationship to the Corporate Plan.
This report relates to the Corporate Plan strategic aim ‘to facilitate quality, choice
and diversity in the housing market, to create strong and self-reliant Communities
and deliver high quality services to service users.

9

Financial, legal, staffing, administrative implications & risk assessments;
Financial
Implications

Appendix A details the projected financial model that the
Council estimates can be delivered if approval to tender is
achieved. The model indicates that following a minimal loss in
year from year one (£2954), but from year two of the new
management arrangement will achieved an significant
increased level on income that increases, per year, for the
duration of the contract.
Whilst the projected model, is in places, based on estimates,
those estimates are backed up by extensive research as to how
the model has worked elsewhere and fully underpinned by
Dartford’s Council’s own data.
If the tender returns do match the Council’s cost model
projection then Cabinet approval will be needed prior to the
award of the proposed contract, as its value will exceed the
thresholds for significant contracts and affect more than one
ward. A further report will be therefore be presented to Cabinet,
following the tender process, seeking approval to proceed with
the new arrangement to be in place from the 1.4.2021
All costs will be met from the ring-fenced Housing Revenue
Account and capital allocation. The estimated net costs of
delivering the contract will be built into the 2021/2022 budget
setting process.
The Housing Revenue Account business plan will be updated to
take into account planned expenditure for the life of the contract.

Legal
Implications

The financial standing of the recommended company will be
verified by Financial Services as being acceptable in relation to
this value of contract.
Subject to Cabinet approval to proceed the contract will be
procured and will be let in accordance with the Public Contracts
Regulations 2015.
The terms of the contract will be agreed in consultation with the
Head of Legal Services and will include termination clauses to
cover events such as financial insolvency, poor performance etc.
with break clauses will be included in the contract that allow either
party to terminate the contract at any time.

Agenda Item 14
Staffing
Implications
Administrative
Implications
Risk
Assessment

Page 340

None as detailed in the report.
None.
The risk of doing nothing, and continuing the current
arrangements, are both reputational and financial and are
effectively the opposite to the benefits of the proposals as set out
in paragraph 7.3 of this report.

10 Appendix


Appendix A – Garage Management Arrangement Cost Model.

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Documents consulted

Date /
File Ref

Report Author

Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information
Category

None

N/A

Peter Dosad

Housing
Strategic
(Ext
Services)

N/A

Appendix A - Projected garage management proposal cost model.

Current
1,258

Year 1
1,258

Year 2
1,258

Year 3
1,258

Year 4
1,258

Year 5
1,258

Year 6
1,258

Year 7
1,258

Year 8
1,258

Year 9
1,258

Year 10
1,258

335

295
40
963

255
40
1,003

215
40
1,043

175
40
1,083

135
40
1,123

115
20
1,143

105
10
1,153

95
10
1,163

85
10
1,173

75
10
1,183

16.00
18.00

17.00
19.00

18.00
20.00

19.00
21.00

20.00
22.00

20.00
22.00

20.00
22.00

20.00
22.00

20.00
22.00

20.00
22.00

Rental income from new lets

18,720

57,200

97,760

140,400

185,120

219,440

236,600

248,040

259,480

270,920

Rental income from rent increase on existing lets - Yr 1
Rental income from rent increase on existing lets - Yr 2
Rental income from rent increase on existing lets - Yr 3
Rental income from rent increase on existing lets - Yr 4

47,996

47,996
47,996

47,996
47,996
47,996

47,996
47,996
47,996
47,996

47,996
47,996
47,996
50,076

47,996
47,996
47,996
50,076

47,996
47,996
47,996
50,076

47,996
47,996
47,996
50,076

47,996
47,996
47,996
50,076

47,996
47,996
47,996
50,076

15.00

15.82

16.99

18.10

19.18

19.36

19.65

19.79

19.82

19.86

19.89

664,560

731,276

817,752

906,308

996,944

1,043,744

1,078,064

1,095,224

1,106,664

1,118,104

1,129,544

144,670

148,287

151,994

155,794

159,689

163,681

167,773

171,967

176,266

180,673 115

85,000

95,000

105,000

115,000

115,000

115,000

115,000

115,000

115,000

115,000

671,606

764,465

859,314

956,150

999,055

1,029,383

1,042,451

1,049,697

1,056,838

1,063,871

59,670
66,716
2,954

53,287
153,192
79,905

46,994
241,748
164,754

40,794
332,384
251,590

44,689
379,184
294,495

48,681
413,504
324,823

52,773
430,664
337,891

56,967
442,104
345,137

61,266
453,544
352,278

65,673
464,984
359,311

No of garages
No of voids at year end
New garages let (assume let evenly during year)
Total number of garages let at year end
Weekly rent
Proposed weekly rent - existing lets
Proposed weekly rent - new lets

Ave Weekly Rent (total portfolio)
Gross rental income (current year modelled)

75,000

Garage Management Fee (£115 per garage, pa. - includes advertising, management,
minor repairs, site appraisals etc)
Less DBC (est) maintenance costs saved pa as now included in management fee.

Net Revenue Income to HRA p.a
Net Revenue loss to HRA
Gross increase in rental income compared to current performance
Net increase in rental income compared to current performance

589,560

-

Page 341

Estimated DBC maintenance * clearing expenditure pa.

923
15.00

Increased income does not include any additional income that would be generated from letting contract as a Central Purchasing Scheme (Framework) where other LA's would pay a fee to use our procuremnt process for their own garages stock.

Agenda Item 14

Backlog of repairs required for garages estimated at £4.5m
No direct staff savings as not delivered by a single post.
Void rates Increasing by 5-7% pa due to deteriorating condition of garages.

Page 342

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 343

Agenda Item 15

CABINET
29 October 2020

CAPITAL PROGRAMME - MONITORING 2020/2021
1. Summary
1.1

To inform Cabinet of the progress to date on the schemes in the approved Capital
Programme, and to report the latest position on capital resources.

2. RECOMMENDATIONS
2.1.

That Cabinet notes the progress made to date on the 2020/21 Capital Programme.

2.2.

That the current position on the Capital Prudential Indicators, as shown in
Appendix C to the report, be noted

2.3.

That Cabinet approves the virements between housing revenue account budgets,
as detailed in the report and in Appendix A.

2.4.

That Cabinet approves the virement of £900,000 from the Leisure and Open
Spaces budget, to the Acacia Project budget.

3. Background and Discussion
3.1.

The original budget for 2020/21 was approved by the General Assembly of
the Council (GAC) on 24 February 2020 at £29,828,000 [Min No 7]. The
GAC approved £1,208,000 of carry-forward from the 2019/20 programme on
the 27 July 2020 [Min.No.x92] and the total budget was increased to
£31,036,000.

3.2.

Attached as Appendices A and B to this report, are details of the Capital
Programme and budget for 2020/21. These detail the resources available
for Housing and General Fund projects respectively, and the expenditure to
the end of September 2020. Appendix C shows an updated position on the
Council’s Capital Prudential Indicators.

3.3

Housing Revenue Account projects
The approved budget for 2020/21 is £12.013m.
General housing capital projects were impacted significantly by the COVID19 pandemic with contractors not working at the start of the financial year
and then by reluctance from tenants to allow contractors into their homes.
Contractors have had to change working practices to accommodate social
distancing requirements. This has resulted in some of the works being
diverted into works that can be completed safely outdoors or in communal
areas. Whist the overall budget is not changed, it is requested that Cabinet

Agenda Item 15

Page 344
CABINET
29 October 2020

approve the virement of budgets to those works that can be completed more
safely, for example, roof renewals, replacement doors and communal areas.
Appendix A sets out the details of the virements.
New Homes:
Work has commenced on the building of new homes at three sites; Keary
Road (6 units), Mead Crescent (3 wheelchair accessible units) and Milton
Road (7 units). A fourth site, Gilbert Close, received planning permission
earlier this month and initial enabling works have now began.
The budget for the year was originally set to match the Council house sale
income retained for the rebuilding of Council homes. The Council has three
years to spend the retained funds, otherwise the unspent funds are to be
paid to MHCLG with interest. However, because of the COVID19 pandemic
and lockdown of the country, and the impact this has had on progressing
with capital works, MHCLG agreed to an extension of the period by which
the Council has to spend the retained funds earnt in the first two quarters of
2017/18.
This means that there was no requirement to pay back
underspent funds at the end of June, nor will there be a requirement to pay
back underspent funds at the end of September 2020 and instead the
Council has until December 2020 to spend these retained funds. The
Council will need to have spent £5.135m on new homes by the end of
December 2020 to avoid having to repay the retained funds with interest.
However, even with work starting on the three sites and the buy-back of
former Council properties, it is looking unlikely that the total of £5.135m will
have been reached and a proportion of the retained funds will need to be
repaid. The Council will be approaching MHCLG to request they consider
extending the deadline further in light of continued COVID-19 impacts.
In order to maximise use of the 141 capital receipts and minimise the
repayment to central government of unspent monies the Council has
additionally purchased 5 properties on the open market for social rent,
mainly former right to buy properties, with a further 3 properties in
conveyancing.
Housing IT Upgrade – underspend £137,000
The contract with Capita was signed on 14 July 2020. Working restrictions
caused by COVID19 have been mostly overcome but did cause a
detrimental effect on progress earlier in the year. Implementation has been
condensed from 400 days to 348 days with the anticipated go live date set
for 12 October 2021. The upgrade programme is made up of two strands;
data migration and interfaces with other systems (this is ahead of schedule
due to Dartford’s data being kept in good order) and functionality (designing
the system to meet the needs of the service). The latter is made up of 28

Page 345

Agenda Item 15

CABINET
29 October 2020

different work streams, the first of which started on 22 September 2020, the
last is programmed to be completed on 15 April 2021.
Due to delays to the project, only £183,000 will be spent this year, with the
under-spending from this year to be carried forward to next year to complete
the project. The delays have increased implementation costs but it is
anticipated that these can be contained within existing budgets.
3.4

General Fund projects:

3.4.1 The budget approved by GAC on 24 February 2020 was £18.248m.
Following further approval by GAC on 27 July 2020 of carry forwards of
£0.75m, the budget now stands at £19.023m.
Comments on the main ongoing schemes are as follows:
Acacia Hall – Overspend estimated at £900,000
The regeneration of the Acacia Estate is a complex and far-reaching project
and work had reached a critical stage just prior to the COVID 19 outbreak
and national lockdown. The outbreak caused unavoidable delays in the
second quarter of the year but the site is now progressing well and moving
forward, although there is no reasonable prospect of recovering time lost.
All demolition work is now complete, including the ballroom. Entrance to the
site is now diverted across Darenth Road. Bridges have been removed and
work started on the foundation for three new bridges. Kerbs are being
constructed for new parking and the river channel has been dug out. Work
is now scheduled for completion in February 2021.
The overall project costs have been significantly impacted by COVID 19
delays and risen by approximately £900,000 due to the following:







Section 278 construction costs have risen by approximately £140,000
as a result of the availability of materials driving up costs across the
sector.
Delays resulting from COVID 19 and 278 works have totalled
£268,000 (including costs of £160,000 directly due to COVID 19) .
River wall strengthening works £177,000 – additional work deemed
necessary to protect the Mansion House from a structural perspective
with regard to the new river design.
River bank matteressing £21,000 – additional river bank requirement
Offtake structure £113,000 – offtake structure in Central Park
required as part of the river works
Asbestos removal £48,000 – a pile of buried asbestos was found
when excavating and had to be notified and professionally removed.

Agenda Item 15

Page 346
CABINET
29 October 2020




Vicarage Wall Extension & Planting £31,000– Additional planting and
detail on Vicarage Wall following confirmation of road levels and
agreement with Diocese Surveyor.
Approximately £100,000 of under-provision for previous year’s works.

It is requested that Cabinet approve a virement from the leisure and open
spaces capital budget of £900,000. Leisure and open spaces capital works
were suspended during lockdown and will be allocated a new capital budget
in 2021/22 to take them forward.
Leisure and Open Spaces – No spend expected
These capital works were suspended during lockdown and the Green
Spaces Officer post, responsible for taking this project forward, was left
vacant from March 2020 until early October. The new post holder will wish
to agree a new plan of works and there is consequently not expected to be
any expenditure before March 2021.
Cliff Maintenance Works – Underspend of £350,000
Work is progressing well and structural works to the cliff will commence in
November and will be completed by February. The full cost of the works are
likely to come in at £1.15m, which is £0.35m under the budget set.
Darenth Creek – underspend £500,000
This project is still very much in its infancy due to the amount of liaison that
has been required with landowners. Spend is forecast to be around
£250,000 this year with the surplus budget being taken forward to next year.
However this level of spend is still dependant on obtaining consents from
landowners and the Environment Agency.
Stone Lodge
Final account negotiations are still ongoing with the contractor that
completed the rugby club build. A tender for the grass pitch initially came in
significantly over budget but value engineering has resulted in a lower price,
although still over the original budget. A report will be taken to Cabinet n
November to agree the continuance of this work.

Page 347

Agenda Item 15

CABINET
29 October 2020
Central Park Cranford Road Entrance – No spend expected
Work has not progressed on this project due to vacant posts in the
department, recruitment into those posts and cancellation of the festival (the
festival being the main driver to widening the entrance).
Dartford Town Centre Transport and Public Realm Improvements
Phase 1 is now nearing completion, with a formal Completion Date of 23
October 2020 expected. The majority of the Works to laying paving and
install the planters is now complete – with only the entrance to Acacia Hall
and the interim finishes to Garden Area 4 (rear of Iceland) ongoing.
Additional works for paving in Memorial Gardens, improvements at the
Home Gardens bus stops and the new Interim car park in Acacia Hall
(currently the contractor’s compound) are to commence 16 November 2020,
and to be complete by Christmas. This phase is subject to a 7-month overrun due to a combination of the early Thames Water issues, a number of
design changes, Covid-19 and a general contractor over-run. There is to be
some publicity for a soft-launch of Brewery Square, with a more formal
“opening” to take place in the spring.
Tenders have been issued for both phase 1a and phase 2 works. Phase 1a
involves works to the High Street and phase 2 is improvement works to
Instone Road and Highfield Road. Tenders are expected back mid-October
with work due to start in January 2021.
Fairfield Improvement Works – Underspend of £295,000
Planning permission was granted to create 14 additional car parking spaces
at Fairfield Leisure Centre. However, due to the closure of leisure facilities
for an extended period due to the COVID19 pandemic this project was put
on hold. There is not likely to be any progress on this project this financial
year.
Mini Pitches Refurbishment – No spend expected
The COVID 19 pandemic resulted in this project not being progressed due
to staff being diverted onto other projects and contractors not being
available due to lock down. The plan was for the pitches to be refurbished
over the summer when pitch hire reduces. Now that the football season has
started, resulting in increased pitch hire, and with the winter season not the
best time for this kind of work, the refurbishment will be rescheduled to the
summer of 2021.

Agenda Item 15

Page 348
CABINET
29 October 2020

Community Infrastructure Levy Expenditure – No spend expected
At this stage, funding has not been allocated to individual projects but an
envelope for spend has been agreed. Future projects will be agreed by
Cabinet.
3.5

Resources
Usable receipts brought forward into 2020/21 totalled £24.622m of which
£19.501m are unrestricted receipts that can be used for any capital scheme.
£5.121m is restricted to the provision of new social housing (141 receipts).
The 141 receipts are required to be used on the provision of new social
housing, within three years of the receipt, and match-funded in the ratio of
30:70 by other funding.
Grants and contributions brought forward into 2020/21 totalled £1.772m. A
further £6.301m of grant funding is expected to be received this year to fund
capital projects.
For the financial year to date £5.1m has been billed for Community
Infrastructure Levy, with £4.8m due to be paid within this financial year and
the remaining £0.3m due to be settled in 2021/22.
By the end of October 2020, capital receipts of £227,500 had been received
arising from the Discounted Sales Scheme at The Bridge.
To date, 10 Right to Buy sales have completed, giving rise to a capital
receipt of £1.85m before pooling.
It is expected that all the 2020/21 expenditure can be funded within existing
resources.

4

Relationship to the Corporate Plan
The capital programme covers many individual projects and will contribute to
meeting many of the objectives in the Corporate Plan.

5

Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk
assessments
Financial Implications

As discussed in the report

Legal Implications
Staffing Implications
Administrative Implications
Risk Assessment

None
None
None
There is a small risk of committed schemes
needing to be curtailed due to lack of capital
finance; this risk is mitigated by regular and
sound budget monitoring and reporting.

Page 349

Agenda Item 15

CABINET
29 October 2020

6

Appendices
Appendix A Capital Programme, Planned Expenditure and Resources–
Housing Projects 2020/21
Appendix B Capital Programme, Planned Expenditure and Resources –
General Fund Projects 2020/21
Appendix C Prudential Indicators

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Documents
consulted

Date

File
Ref

Report
Author

Section and
Directorate

Catherine Bailey
01322 343312

Financial Services
Internal Services

Exempt
Information
Category
N/A

Page 350

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 351

Agenda Item 15
APPENDIX A

CAPITAL PROGRAMME - BUDGET & RESOURCES
HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT 2020/2021
CURRENT
BUDGET
2020/2021
£'000s

PROPOSED
VIREMENT

NEW CURRENT
BUDGET
2020/2021
£'000s

£'000s

EXPENDITURE
TO DATE
2020/2021
£'000s

COUNCIL HOUSING PROJECTS
Disabled Adaptations

250

250

25

Decent Homes Works:
Central Heating Renewals

821

0

821

93

Rewiring

775

-131

644

122

Asbestos Removal

115

0

115

16

25

0

25

0

Door Replacements

550

350

900

16

Kitchen and Bathrooms

975

-775

200

37

1,000

0

1,000

557

50

0

50

0

300

75

375

0

50

0

50

0

744

356

1100

2

External Chimneys

10

0

10

0

Lift Replacement

72

0

72

45

Major Repairs

115

125

240

60

Housing IT Upgrade

320

0

320

65

Supported Housing

299

0

299

0

5,542

0

5,542

920

12,013

0

12,013

1,958

Brought
Forward

Probable
Additions
in Year

Used to Fund
Capital
Expenditure

Carried
forward

0

0

0

0

5,121

1,000

(1,663)

4,458

Grants & Contributions

648

250

(500)

398

Major Repairs Reserve

0

3,518

(3,518)

0

Revenue Contribution

0

6,332

(6,332)

0

5,769

11,100

(12,013)

4,856

Rising Main Replacement

External Wall Rendering
Fascia /Soffit Replacements
Roof Renewal
Roof Tanks/Water Mains Supply
Communal Areas

Other Projects:
New Homes

Resources

Usable Receipts (restricted)
1-4-1 Receipts

52.76

Agenda Item 15

Page 352

APPENDIX B

CAPITAL PROGRAMME - BUDGET & RESOURCES
GENERAL FUND 2020/2021
CURRENT
BUDGET
2020/2021
£'000s

Acacia Hall - Improvements
IT Equipment
The Orchard Theatre
Other Corporate Properties
Leisure and Open Spaces
Cliff Maintenance Works
Darenth Creek
Stone Lodge
Central Park Cranford Road Entrance
Dartford Town Centre Transport and Public Realm Improvements
High Street Improvements
Fairfield Improvement Works
Replacement wheelie bins
Columbaria
Cemetery Storage
Civic Centre Refurbishment Internal Repairs and Improvements
Community Infrastructure Levy Expenditure
Mini Pitches Refurbishment
Co-op site
Housing projects:
Disabled Facilities Grants
SUB TOTAL : GENERAL FUND PROJECTS

PROPOSED
VIREMENT
£'000s

4,063

EXPENDITURE
TO DATE
2020/2021
£'000s

4,063

1,525

140

140

69

30

30

0

30

30

0

985

0

1,500

1,500

345

750

750

25

654

654

11

60

60

0

6,579

6,579

1,246

354

354

0

300

300

5

50

50

0

50

50

0

985

900

NEW CURRENT
BUDGET
2020/2021
£'000s

(900)

15

15

0

325

325

31

1,000

1,000

0

160

160

0

1,400

1,400

0

578

578

142

19,023

0

19,023

3,399

Brought
Forward

Probable
Additions
in Year

Used to Fund
Capital
Expenditure

Carried
forward

19,501

2,400

(11,706)

10,195

Grants & Contributions

1,124

6,051

(6,157)

1,018

Community Infrastructure Levy

9,945

4,800

(1,000)

13,745

Revenue contribution/reserves

0

160

(160)

0

30,570

13,411

(19,023)

24,958

Resources

Usable Receipts

Page 353

Agenda Item 15
Appendix C

PRUDENTIAL INDICATORS 2020/21

Prudential Indicators 2020/21
The Local Government Act 2003 requires the Authority to have regard to the
Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy’s Prudential Code for Capital
Finance in Local Authorities (the Prudential Code) when determining how much
money it can afford to borrow. The objectives of the Prudential Code are to ensure,
within a clear framework, that the capital investment plans of local authorities are
affordable, prudent and sustainable, and that treasury management decisions are
taken in accordance with good professional practice. To demonstrate that the
Authority has fulfilled these objectives, the Prudential Code sets out the following
indicators that must be set and monitored each year.

Estimates of Capital Expenditure: The Authority’s planned capital expenditure and
financing may be summarised as follows:
Table 1: Prudential Indicator: Estimates of Capital Expenditure in £ millions

2020/21
budget
General Fund services

2021/22
budget

2022/23
budget

19.023

8.749

3.702

0.000

3.713

1.509

Council housing (HRA)

12.013

10.304

12.150

TOTAL

31.036

22.766

17.361

General Fund – right of
use
assets/finance
leases*

*This includes notional expenditure on recognition of right of use assets in line with IFRS16, a new
accounting standard which takes effect from 1st April 2021
The right of use assets are properties that the Council leases for temporary accommodation (DPLS
scheme) and the 20/21 figure is the initial recognition of these. From 2021/22 onwards the capital
expenditure for right of use assets is solely new leases of temporary accommodation to replace
expiring agreements.

Table 2: Capital financing in £ millions

1

Agenda Item 15

Page 354
Appendix C

2020/21

2021/22

2022/23

budget

budget

budget

External sources
Contribution From
Revenue/Reserves
Right of use
assets/finance leases
MRP*
Capital Receipts
Right of use
assets/finance leases
Capital Financing
Requirement**
TOTAL

7.657

7.534

4.472

10.010

8.263

9.185

0

1.290

0.221

13.369

3.256

2.195

0

2.423

1.288

31.036

22.766

17.361

* This is equivalent to the current revenue cost of the leases.
**Increases in debt/capital financing requirement is the recognition of right of use/finance
assets which will increase CFR initially but will be gradually extinguished with the revenue
cost of the leases applied each year.

Estimates of Capital Financing Requirement:
The
Capital
Financing
Requirement (CFR) measures the Authority’s underlying need to borrow for a capital
purpose.
Table 3: Prudential Indicator: Estimates of Capital Financing Requirement in £ millions
31.3.2020
actual

31.3.2021
forecast

31.3.2022
forecast

31.3.2023
forecast

General Fund services

1.215

1.024

3.252

3.147

Council housing (HRA)

51.408

46.963

37.518

33.975

0

0

0

0

52,623

47.987

40.770

37.122

Capital investments
TOTAL CFR

Gross Debt and the Capital Financing Requirement: In order to ensure that over
the medium term debt will only be for a capital purpose, the Authority should ensure
that debt does not, except in the short term, exceed the total of capital financing
requirement in the preceding year plus the estimates of any additional capital
financing requirement for the current and next two financial years. This is a key
2

Page 355

Agenda Item 15
Appendix C

indicator of prudence.
Table 4: Prudential Indicator: Gross Debt and the Capital Financing Requirement in £ millions
31.3.2020
actual

31.3.2021
budget

31.3.2022
budget

31.3.2023
budget

Debt

51.405

46.961

37.518

33.975

Capital
Financing
Requirement

52.623

47.987

40.770

37.122

Total debt is expected to remain at or below the CFR during the forecast period.
Operational Boundary for External Debt: The operational boundary is based on
the Authority’s estimate of most likely (i.e. prudent but not worst case) scenario for
external debt. It links directly to the Authority’s estimates of capital expenditure, the
capital financing requirement and cash flow requirements, and is a key management
tool for in-year monitoring. Other long-term liabilities can comprise finance leases,
Private Finance Initiative and other liabilities that are not borrowing but form part of
the Authority’s debt. The level set includes an allowance for the possibility of
significant payments due to successful business rate appeals.
Authorised Limit for External Debt: The authorised limit is the affordable
borrowing limit determined in compliance with the Local Government Act 2003. It is
the maximum amount of debt that the Authority can legally owe. The authorised limit
provides headroom over and above the operational boundary for unusual cash
movements.
Table 5: Prudential Indicators: Authorised limit and operational boundary for external debt in £m
2020/21
limit
Authorised limit – borrowing

2021/22
limit

2022/23
limit

120

120

120

20

20

20

Authorised limit – total external debt

140

140

140

Operational boundary – borrowing

100

100

100

15

15

15

115

115

115

Authorised limit – PFI and leases

Operational boundary – PFI and leases
Operational boundary – total external debt

Ratio of Financing Costs to Net Revenue Stream: This is an indicator of
affordability and highlights the revenue implications of existing and proposed capital
expenditure by identifying the proportion of the revenue budget required to meet
financing costs, net of investment income.
Table 6: Prudential Indicator: Proportion of financing costs to net revenue stream

3

Agenda Item 15

Page 356
Appendix C

Proportion
of
revenue stream:

net

General Fund
Housing
Account

Revenue

2020/21
budget

2021/22
budget

2022/23
budget

0.04%

-0.60%

-1.23%

5.72%

5.18%

4.09%

4

Page 357

Agenda Item 16

CABINET
29 October 2020

STREET NAMING & NUMBERING –
Littlebrook Power Station Access Roads
Bridge Ward
1. Summary
1.1

To approve two new road names for the Littlebrook Power Station
redevelopment

2. RECOMMENDATION
2.1

That the names of Harris and Powerhouse be approved for the two access
road at the Littlebrook Power Station Development.

3. Background and Discussion
3.1.

Two names were originally proposed and put out for consultation –
Whitty & Powerhouse. Whitty was in connection with Chris Whitty, the
Government’s Chief Medical Officer. Whitty did not comply with the
current policy on Street Naming and it was agreed by consultees that it
was too soon to be using names associated with the pandemic.

3.2.

It was proposed by Councillor Kite that the name Harris was used to
replace Whitty. The name complies with the Council’s policy on Street
Naming.

3.3.

The family of the late Graham Harris have given their permission for the
name to be used and the Developer is also happy to use it.

3.4.

Suitable suffixes will be chosen once the final road names have been
approved.

3.5.

The Developer requires the names as soon as possible to ensure that
the utilities are connected.

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan
Not applicable
5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk
assessments
Financial Implications

None

Legal Implications

It is open to the developer to object in the
Magistrates’ Court to a street naming. If the
developer’s suggested names are in accord with
Council Policy, it is likely that the Magistrates will
rule in favour of the developer.

Staffing Implications

None

Agenda Item 16

Page 358
CABINET
29 October 2020

Administrative Implications

None

Risk Assessment

No uncertainties

6. Details of Exempt Information Category
Not applicable
7. Appendices
Appendix A – Map showing proposed site (Consult – Appendix A)
BACKGROUND PAPERS
Documents
Consulted

Date /
File Ref

Report
Author

Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information
Category

Street Naming and
Numbering Guidance

Dec 2013

Samantha
Eastwood

Property Information
(Internal Services)

N/A

°

1:5,000 @ A4

Map Produced By: seastwood On: 29/09/2020 11:25 AM

Page 359

H:\Maps & Plans\Map Templates\PI_Mapping_A4_Land_date.mxd

Appendix A
Littlebrook Power Station
Phase 1

Agenda Item 16

Reproduced from the Ordnance Survey
map with the permission of the Controller
of Her Majestys Stationery Office
© Crown Copyright 2020
Unauthorised reproduction
Infringes Crown Copyright and
May lead to prosecution or civil
Proceedings
Dartford Borough Council 100025870 2020

Page 360

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 361

Agenda Item 17

CABINET
29 OCTOBER 2020

TREASURY MANAGEMENT MID-YEAR REPORT 2020/2021
1. Summary
1.1

To inform Cabinet of the investment performance of the Council’s internally and
externally managed funds to 30 September 2020.

1.2

To update the Treasury Indicators for the six months to 30 September 2020.

2. RECOMMENDATIONS
2.1

That Cabinet notes the investment performance of the Council’s funds.

2.2

That Cabinet notes the half-year position of the Council’s Treasury Indicators.

3. Background and Discussion
3.1.

The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy’s Treasury
Management Code recommends that Members are informed of
Treasury Management activities at least twice a year. This report
therefore ensures that the Council complies with best practice in
accordance with CIPFA’s recommendations.

3.2.

The Council’s Treasury Management Strategy for 2020/2021 was
approved by GAC on 24 February 2020 [Min.No.7].

3.3.

The Council has borrowed and invested substantial sums of money and
is therefore exposed to financial risks including the loss of invested funds
and the revenue effect of changing interest rates. The successful
identification, monitoring and control of risk is therefore central to the
Council’s Treasury Management Strategy.

3.4.

The 2017 Prudential Code includes a requirement for local authorities to
provide a Capital Strategy, a summary document approved by the GAC,
covering capital expenditure and financing, treasury management and
non-treasury investments. The Council’s Capital Strategy complying
with CIPFA’s requirement, was approved by GAC on 24 February 2020
[Min.No.7].

3.5.

Economic Background and Outlook
The following has been provided by the Council’s treasury advisors,
Arlingclose.
Economic background: The spread of the coronavirus pandemic
dominated during the period as countries around the world tried to
manage the delicate balancing act of containing transmission of the virus
while easing lockdown measures and getting their populations and
economies working again. After a relatively quiet few months of Brexit

Agenda Item 17

Page 362
CABINET
29 OCTOBER 2020

news it was back in the headlines towards the end of the period as
agreement between the UK and the EU on a trade deal was looking
difficult and the government came under fire, both at home and abroad,
as it tried to pass the Internal Market Bill which could override the agreed
Brexit deal, potentially breaking international law.
The Bank of England (BoE) maintained Bank Rate at 0.1% and its
Quantitative Easing programme at £745 billion. The potential use of
negative interest rates was not ruled in our out by BoE policymakers, but
then a comment in the September Monetary Policy Committee meeting
minutes that the central bank was having a harder look at its potential
impact than was previously suggested took financial markets by
surprise.
Government initiatives continued to support the economy, with the
furlough (Coronavirus job retention) scheme keeping almost 10 million
workers in jobs, grants and loans to businesses and 100 million
discounted meals being claimed during the ‘Eat Out to Help Out’ (EOHO)
offer.
GDP growth contracted by a massive 19.8% (revised from first estimate
of -20.4%) in Q2 2020 (Apr-Jun) according to the Office for National
Statistics, pushing the annual growth rate down to -21.5% (first estimate
(-21.7%). Construction output fell by 35% over the quarter, services
output by almost 20% and production by 16%. Recent monthly estimates
of GDP have shown growth recovering, with the latest rise of almost 7%
in July, but even with the two previous monthly gains this still only makes
up half of the lost output.
The headline rate of UK Consumer Price Inflation (CPI) fell to 0.2%
year/year in August, further below the Bank of England’s 2% target, with
the largest downward contribution coming from restaurants and hotels
influenced by the EOHO scheme. The Office for National Statistics’
preferred measure of CPIH which includes owner occupied housing was
0.5% year on year.
In the three months to July, labour market data showed the
unemployment rate increased from 3.9% to 4.1% while wages fell 1% for
total pay in nominal terms (0.2% regular pay) and was down 1.8% in real
terms (-0.7% regular pay). Despite only a modest rise in unemployment
over the period, the rate is expected to pick up sharply in the coming
months as the furlough scheme ends in October. On the back of this the

Page 363

Agenda Item 17

CABINET
29 OCTOBER 2020
BoE has forecast unemployment could hit a peak of between 8% and
9%.
The US economy contracted at an annualised rate of 31.7% in Q2 2020
(Apr-Jun). The Federal Reserve maintained the Fed Funds rate at
between 0% and 0.25% but announced a change to its inflation targeting
regime. The move is to a more flexible form of average targeting which
will allow the central bank to maintain interest rates at low levels for an
extended period to support the economy even when inflation is
‘moderately’ above the 2% average target, particularly given it has been
below target for most of the last decade.
The European Central Bank maintained its base rate at 0% and deposit
rate at -0.5%.
Financial markets: Equity markets continued their recovery, with the
Dow Jones climbing to not far off its pre-crisis peak, albeit that
performance being driven by a handful of technology stocks including
Apple and Microsoft, with the former up 75% in 2020. The FTSE100 and
250 have made up around half of their losses at the height of the
pandemic in March. Central bank and government stimulus packages
continue to support asset prices, but volatility remains.
Ultra-low interest rates and the flight to quality continued, keeping gilt
yields low but volatile over the period with the yield on some short-dated
UK government bonds remaining negative. The 5-year UK benchmark
gilt yield started and ended the June –September period at -0.06% (with
much volatility in between). The 10-year gilt yield also bounced around,
starting at 0.21% and ending at 0.23% over the same period, while the
20-year rose from 0.56% to 0.74%. 1-month, 3-month, and 12-month bid
rates averaged 0.02%, 0.06% and 0.23% respectively over the period.
At the end of September, the yield on 2-year US treasuries was around
0.13% while that on 10-year treasuries was 0.69%. German bund yields
remain negative across most maturities.
Credit review: Credit default swap spreads eased over most of the
period but then started to tick up again through September. In the UK,
spreads between ringfenced and non-ringfenced entities remains,
except for retail bank Santander UK whose CDS spread remained
elevated and the highest of those we monitor at 85bps while Standard
Chartered was the lowest at 41bps. The ringfenced banks are currently
trading between 45 and 50bps.

Agenda Item 17

Page 364
CABINET
29 OCTOBER 2020

There were no changes to advice from Arlingclose in respect of any of
the Council’s counterparties.
There continues to be much uncertainty around the extent of the losses
banks and building societies will suffer due to the impact from the
coronavirus pandemic and for the UK institutions there is the added
complication of the end of the Brexit transition period on 31st December
and what a trade deal may or may not look like. The institutions on
Arlingclose’s counterparty list and recommended duration remain under
constant review.
Outlook for the remainder of 2020/21: The medium-term global
economic outlook is weak. While the strict initial lockdown restrictions
have eased, coronavirus has not been supressed and second waves
have prompted more restrictive measures on a regional and national
basis. The ebb and flow of restrictions on normal activity will continue for
the foreseeable future, at least until an effective vaccine is produced and
importantly, distributed.
The global central bank and government responses have been
significant and are in many cases on-going, maintaining more stable
financial, economic and social conditions than otherwise. This has
supported a sizeable economic recovery in Q3.
However, the scale of the economic shock to demand, on-going social
distancing measures, regional lock downs and reduced fiscal support will
mean that the subsequent pace of recovery is limited. Early signs of this
are already evident in UK monthly GDP and PMI data even before the
latest restrictions.
This situation will result in central banks maintaining low interest rates
for the medium term. In the UK, Brexit is further complication. Bank Rate
is therefore likely to remain at low levels for a very long time, with a
distinct possibility of being cut to zero. Money markets have priced in a
chance of a negative Bank Rate.
Longer-term yields will also remain depressed, anchored by low central
bank policy rates, expectations for potentially even lower rates and
insipid inflation expectations. There is a chance yields may follow a
slightly different path in the medium term, depending on investor
perceptions of growth and inflation, or if the UK leaves the EU without a
deal.
Arlingclose expects Bank Rate to remain at the current 0.1% level and
additional monetary loosening in the future most likely through further
financial asset purchase (QE). While Arlingclose’s central case for Bank
Rate is no change from the current level of 0.1%, further cuts to Bank

Page 365

Agenda Item 17

CABINET
29 OCTOBER 2020
Rate to zero or even into negative territory cannot be completely ruled
out.
Gilt yields are expected to remain very low in the medium term. Shorterterm gilt yields are currently negative and will remain around zero or
below until either the Bank of England expressly rules out negative Bank
Rate or growth/inflation prospects improve.
Downside risks remain in the near term, as the government dials down
its fiscal support measures, reacts to the risk of a further escalation in
infection rates and the Brexit transition period comes to an end.
3.7

Local Context
On 31 March 2020, the Council had £51.41m outstanding loans and
investments net of internal borrowing of £126.34m. The underlying need
to borrow for capital purposes is measured by the Capital Financing
Requirement (CFR), while usable reserves and working capital are the
underlying resources available for investment. These factors are
summarised in Table 1 below

Table 1 – Balance Sheet Summary
31.03.20 Actual
£m
General Fund CFR

1.21

HRA CFR

51.41

Total CFR

52.62

External Borrowing

51.41

Internal Borrowing

1.21

Less:
General Reserve

3.00

HRA balances

13.80

Earmarked/capital reserves

77.66

Less:
Working capital
Investments net of internal
borrowing

31.88
126.34

Agenda Item 17

Page 366
CABINET
29 OCTOBER 2020

The treasury management position at 30th September 2020 and the
change during the period is shown in Table 2 below.
Table 2: Treasury Management Summary
31.03.20
Balance
£m

Movement
£m

30.09.20
Balance
£m

Long-term borrowing

(46.97)

0

(46.97)

Short-term borrowing

(4.44)

2.22

(2.22)

(51.41)

2.22

(49.19)

Long-term investments

57.80

8.62

66.42

Short-term investments

27.79

7.55

35.34

Cash and cash equivalents

40.75

3.81

44.56

126.34

19.98

146.32

74.93

22.20

97.13

Total Borrowing

Total investments
Net Investments

The movement in short-term borrowing was the £2.2m scheduled semiannual repayment of debt and accrued interest in August 2020.
The Council has been holding higher than anticipated daily cash
balances due to delays to capital projects as a result of the coronavirus
pandemic. Cash flow forecasts showed that some of these liquid funds
would not be needed for some time and therefore a decision was made
to move £4m into longer dated strategic funds. £2m was invested in the
Fidelity Global income fund and £2m in the Investec diversified income
fund. Both are funds the Council already has investments in.
With the Bank of England base rate at 0.1%, the money market fund
yields have been gradually getting closer to this level over the last few
months with some funds now at almost 0%. A decision was taken to
move £7m of funds invested in money markets out to cash plus funds
which offer a slightly better return but whilst still being extremely liquid
investments. £5m was invested in the Federated cash plus fund and
£2m in the Royal London Enhanced cash plus fund during September.
The remaining movement in long and short term investments includes
unrealised capital movement on the pooled fund investments.
The increase in cash and cash equivalents is mainly due to the cash flow
cycle as council tax and business rates payments are only collected over
10 months but are paid over to central government over 12 months

Page 367

Agenda Item 17

CABINET
29 OCTOBER 2020
resulting in cash flow balances rising gradually between April and
January before falling back during February and March.
3.8

Borrowing
Borrowing update: On 9th October 2019 the PWLB raised the cost of
certainty rate borrowing to 1.8% above UK gilt yields making it relatively
expensive. Market alternatives are available, however the financial
strength of individual authorities will be scrutinised by investors and
commercial lenders.
The Chancellor’s March 2020 Budget statement included significant
changes to Public Works Loans Board (PWLB) policy and launched a
wide-ranging consultation on the PWLB’s future direction.
Announcements included a reduction in the margin on new Housing
Revenue Account (HRA) loans to 0.80% above equivalent gilt yields (the
value of this discount is 1% below the rate at which the authority usually
borrows from the PWLB). £1.15bn of additional “infrastructure rate”
funding at gilt yields plus 0.60% has been made available to support
specific local authority infrastructure projects for England, Scotland and
Wales for which there is a bidding process.
The consultation titled “Future Lending Terms” allows stakeholders to
contribute to developing a system whereby PWLB loans can be made
available at improved margins to support qualifying projects. It contains
proposals to allow authorities that are not involved in “debt for yield”
activity to borrow at lower rates as well as stopping local authorities using
PWLB loans to buy commercial assets primarily for yield. The
consultation also broaches the possibility of slowing, or stopping,
individual authorities from borrowing large sums in specific
circumstances.
The consultation closed on 31st July 2020 with the announcement and
implementation of the revised lending terms expected in the latter part
of this calendar year or early next year. The Council has responded to
this consultation.
Municipal Bonds Agency (MBA): The MBA revised its standard loan
terms and framework agreement. Guarantees for the debt of other
borrowers are now proportional and limited and a requirement to make
contribution loans in the event of a default by a borrower has been
introduced. The agency has issued 5-year floating rate and 40-year fixed
rate bonds in 2020, in both instances Lancashire County Council is the
sole borrower and guarantor.
If the Council intends future borrowing through the MBA, it will first
ensure that it has thoroughly scrutinised the legal terms and conditions
of the arrangement and is satisfied with them.

Agenda Item 17

Page 368
CABINET
29 OCTOBER 2020

Borrowing during the period
The Council borrowed £86.95m to fund the Housing Self Financing
settlement on 28th March 2012. At the time of borrowing, it was possible
to set the instalment dates to suit the Council’s cash flow. 1st February
and 1st August were chosen. Table 3 below shows the current position
of outstanding debt of £49.19m.
Table 3 – Borrowing

Loan
Type

Maturity
Date

Years
to
Maturity

Maturity 01/02/2022

Principal
Borrowed
(28/03/12)
£m

Principal
Outstanding
(30/09/20)
£m

Interest
Rate %

3.34

5.00

5.00

2.40%

Semiannual
repayment
£m

EIP

01/02/2039

20.35

18.00

12.33

2.90%

0.33

EIP

01/02/2026

7.35

9.00

3.54

1.82%

0.32

EIP

01/02/2022

3.34

9.00

1.35

1.31%

0.45

EIP

01/02/2032

13.35

26.95

15.50

2.44%

0.68

EIP

01/02/2037

18.35

9.00

5.94

2.79%

0.18

EIP

01/02/2031

12.35

10.00

5.53

2.35%

0.26

13.55

86.95

49.19

2.41%

2.22

There has been no overnight/short term borrowing since 1st April 2020.
Should it be required to borrow new loans, the Council has been eligible
to apply for new loans from the Public Works Loans Board (PWLB) at
the PWLB Certainty Rate (0.2% below the PWLB standard rate). This
eligibility is for a 12 month period from 1st November 2019. The Council
can also borrow at the HRA certainty rate which is 1.2% below the
standard PWLB rate, the Council’s Chief Finance Officer must confirm
that the loan is for the HRA only.
A regular review will take place in respect of redemptions for each loan.
The Council will consider the merits of early redemption if gilt yields and,
consequently PWLB redemption rates, rise to a level which could lead
to a financial advantage in respect of early redemption of the loans. Any
benefits of early redemption will be weighed against the ongoing
requirements of the HRA business plan and its future funding needs.
3.9

Investment Activity
In House Investments

Page 369

Agenda Item 17

CABINET
29 OCTOBER 2020

The Council holds significant invested funds, representing income
received in advance of expenditure plus balances and reserves held.
During the first half of 2020/21 the Council’s total investment balances
have ranged between £129.87m and £160.52m. Table 4 below shows
the investment position as at 30th September 2020 and the total
investments made and maturities/investments sold since 1st April 2020.
Table 4 – Treasury Investment Position
Investments

Money Market Funds
Cash plus funds
Short-dated bond funds
Long dated bond funds
Equity income funds
Property funds
Multi asset income funds

Total Investments

Balance on
31/03/2020
£m

Investments
made £m

Maturities/
Investments
sold £m

40.75
12.87
14.93
15.24
20.34
1.90
20.32
126.34

93.21
7.00

(89.41)

2.00
2.00
104.21

(89.41)

Change in
value –
unrealised
gain/(loss)
£m
0.13
0.41
1.36
1.70
(0.08)
1.64
5.15

Balance on
30/09/2020
£m

44.56
20.00
15.34
16.60
24.04
1.82
23.96
146.32

Both the CIPFA Code and government guidance require the Council to
invest its funds prudently, and to have regard to the security and liquidity
of its investments before seeking the highest rate of return, or yield. The
Council’s objective when investing money is to strike an appropriate
balance between risk and return, minimising the risk of incurring losses
from defaults and the risk of receiving unsuitably low investment income.
Continued downward pressure on short-dated cash rate brought net
returns on sterling low volatility net asset value money market funds
(LNAV MMFs) close to zero even after some managers have temporarily
lowered their fees. At this stage net negative returns are not the central
case of most MMF managers over the short-term, and fee waivers
should maintain positive net yields, but the possibility cannot be ruled
out.
On 25th September the overnight, 1 and 2 week deposit rates on Debt
Management Account Deposit Facility (DMADF) deposits dropped
below zero percent to -0.03%, the rate was 0% for 3-week deposits and
0.01% for longer maturities.
The return on Money Market Funds net of fees also fell over the six
months and for many funds net returns range between 0% and 0.1%.

Average
return %
2020/21
(income
and capital)
0.16%
1.27%
3.16%
10.04%
9.78%
-2.23%
9.10%

Agenda Item 17

Page 370
CABINET
29 OCTOBER 2020

Given the increasing risk and falling returns from short-term unsecured
bank investments, the Council has moved away from unsecured bank
deposits, keeping in-house investments extremely liquid and diversified
through the use of money market funds and further investing in the
externally managed pooled funds.
The progression of risk and return metrics are shown in the extracts from
Arlingclose’s quarterly investment benchmarking in Table 5 below.
Table 5: Investment Benchmarking – Treasury investments
Credit
Score

31.03.2020 4.19
30.09.2020 4.30

Credit
Rating

Bail-in
Exposure

AAAA-

100%
100%

Weighted
Average
Maturity
(days)
1
1

Rate of
Return
(income
only) %
2.01%
1.65%

Externally Managed Funds
The Council’s £101.76m of externally managed pooled funds l have
generated £0.86m income return, and £5.08m of unrealised capital
growth, since 1st April 2020.
In a relatively short period since the onset of the COVID-19 pandemic in
March and the ensuing enforced lockdown in many jurisdictions, the
global economic fallout has been sharp and large. Market reaction was
extreme with large falls in equities, corporate bond markets and, to some
extent, real estate echoing lockdown-induced paralysis and the
uncharted challenges for governments, businesses and individuals.
The Council is invested in bond, equity, multi-asset and property funds.
The falls in the capital value of the underlying assets, in particular bonds
and equities were reflected in the 31st March 2020 fund valuations with
every fund registering negative capital returns over a 12-month period.
Since March there has been improvement in market sentiment which is
reflected in an increase in capital values of the short-dated, strategic
bond and multi-asset income funds and all of the equity income funds in
the Council’s portfolio. The capital value of the property fund is below
that at 31st March. Market values at 31st March and 30th September 2020
are as shown in Table 4 above.
Similar to many other property funds, dealing (i.e. buying or selling units)
in the CCLA Local Authorities Property Fund was suspended by the fund
in March 2020. The relative infrequency of property transactions in
March as the pandemic intensified meant that it was not possible for
valuers to be confident that their valuations correctly reflected prevailing
conditions. To avoid material risk of disadvantage to buyers, sellers and
holders of units in the property fund, the management company was

Page 371

Agenda Item 17

CABINET
29 OCTOBER 2020
obliged to suspend transactions until the required level of certainty is reestablished. The dealing suspension was lifted in September 2020.
There has also been a change to redemption terms for the CCLA Local
Authorities Property Fund; from September 2020 investors are required
to give at least 90 calendar days’ notice for redemptions.
Because the Council’s funds have no defined maturity date, but are
available for withdrawal after a notice period, their performance and
continued suitability in meeting the Council’s investment objectives is
regularly reviewed. Strategic fund investments are made in the
knowledge that capital values will move both up and down on months,
quarters and even years; but with the confidence that over a three- to
five-year period total returns will exceed cash interest rates.
With money market fund rates nearing 0%, a decision was taken to move
£7m out of money market fund investments and into cash plus funds
which offer a slight improvement on yield but are still highly liquid
investments. £5m was invested into the Federated cash plus fund and
£2m into the Royal London enhanced cash plus fund (an investment
already held by the Council). £4m was invested into longer term,
strategic investments - £2m in the Investec diversified income fund and
£2m in the Fidelity Global income fund. Both of these funds are funds
the Council already has investments in.
In 2020/21 the Council expects to receive significantly lower income from
its cash and short dated money market investments and from its
externally managed funds than it did in 2019/20 and earlier years.
Dividends and income paid will ultimately depend on many factors
including but not limited to the duration of COVID-19 and the extent of
its economic impact, the fund’s sectoral asset allocation, securities
held/bought/sold and, in the case of equities, the enforced or voluntary
dividend cuts or deferral.
3.10

Non-Treasury Investments
The definition of investments in CIPFA’s revised Treasury Management
Code now covers all the financial assets of the Council as well as other
non-financial assets which the Council holds primarily for financial
return. This is replicated in MHCLG’s Investment Guidance, in which the
definition of investments is further broadened to also include all such
assets held partially for financial return.
The Council holds £10.15m of such investments in directly owned
property, which are primarily held for service objectives and a full list is
shown below in table
Table 6: Non-treasury Investments
Property

31.03.2020

Agenda Item 17

Page 372
CABINET
29 OCTOBER 2020
Value in
accounts
£m

59-65 Hythe Street (Greek
Taverna)
The Bridge development
Crown buildings (land only)
146 Lowfield Street (land only)
16 Market Street
Fleet Estate Freehold Interests
Orchard Shopping Centre
(land only)
37 Essex Road (Nightclub –
land only)
HRA Investment properties
TOTAL

Income
expected
2020/21
£m
0.42
0.03
3.65
0.86
0.05
0.11
0.04
3.02

0
0.06
0
0.01
0
0.22

0.30

0.03

1.71
10.15

0.15
0.50

These investments are expected to generate £0.50m per annum.
3.11

Compliance
The Council received significant grant funding at the end of March and
start of 2020/21 to aid businesses with the impact from COVID-19. The
usual payment to central government of business rates were
rescheduled with larger payments later in the year and capital projects
were put on hold due to the lockdown of the country which meant the
Council had significantly higher than anticipated cash flow balances.
The Council was also advised at this time to temporarily cease using one
of the money market fund counterparties. It was therefore necessary to
seek approval from the Managing Director to increase the limit on the
remaining money market fund investments from £7m per fund to £12m
per fund and the overall limit from £65m to £81.6m for a two month period
from 1st April to 31st May 2020 but with a caveat that it would be likely
that further changes to limits would be sought at the end of this period.
At the end of May the limit was again increased but to £10m per money
market fund from £7m and overall limit from £65m to £69.6m. This
increase continued until the end of September 2020. From October
2020 the increase to fund limits to £10m has again been approved but
the overall total investment in money markets will not exceed the £65m
originally approved in the Treasury Management Strategy. This
increase will apply until 31st January 2021 after which time limits will
revert to those originally set.
All treasury management activities undertaken during the first half of
2020/21 have complied fully with the CIPFA Code of Practice and, other
than money market fund limits as detailed above, the Council’s approved
Treasury Management Strategy. Compliance with specific investment
limits is demonstrated in table 7

Page 373

Agenda Item 17

CABINET
29 OCTOBER 2020
Table 7 – Investment Limits
H1
Maximum

30.9.20
Actual

2020/21
Limit

Complied

Any single organisation, except UK
Government and externally managed
pooled funds

£0M

£0M

£7.5M



UK Central Government

£0M

£0M

Unlimited



Any group of organisations under the same
ownership (excluding externally managed
pooled funds)

£0M

£0M

£7.5M



Any group of pooled funds under the same
management

£21.2M

£21.2M

£25M



Negotiable instruments held in a broker’s
nominee account

£0M

£0M

£25M



Foreign countries

£0M

£0M

£10M



Registered Providers and registered social
landlords

£0M

£0M

£5M



Unsecured investments with Building
Societies

£0M

£0M

£5M



Loans to unrated corporates

£0M

£0M

£5M



£67.07M
in total
£10M per
fund

£44.56M
in total
£10M per
fund

£0M

£0M

Money Market Funds

Real estate investment trusts

3.12

£65M in Please see
total £7M explanation
per fund
above
£25M

Projected Outturn for 2020/2021
With security of capital our primary objective, the internal investments
have achieved income of £0.05m at an average interest rate of 0.16%,
to date.
The externally managed pooled funds have achieved an income return
of £0.86m with a further £0.35m declared and due to be received within
the next two months.
The Council is therefore confident it will meet the income budget set of
£1.25m.
However, with the bank rate now at 0.1%, interest earned from shortdated money market investments will be significantly lower over the
forthcoming six months. In relation to income from the Council’s
externally managed strategic funds, dividends and income distributions
over the next six months will ultimately depend on many factors



Agenda Item 17

Page 374
CABINET
29 OCTOBER 2020

including, but not limited to the duration of COVID-19 and the extent of
its economic impact, the funds’ sectoral asset allocation, securities
held/bought/sold and, in the case of equities, the enforced or voluntary
dividend cuts or deferral.
3.13

Treasury Indicators
The Council can confirm that it has complied with its Treasury Indicators
for 2020/21 which were set in the budget report to the General Assembly
of the Council on 24 February 2020 as part of the Council’s Treasury
Management Strategy Statement. Details are as follows:
Security: The Council has adopted a voluntary measure of its exposure
to credit risk by monitoring the value weighted average credit score of its
investment portfolio. This is calculated by applying a score to each
investment (AAA=1, AA+=2 etc.) and taking the arithmetic average,
weighted by the size of each investment. Unrated investments are
assigned a score based on their perceived risk.

Portfolio average credit rating

30.9.20
Actual
AA-

2020/21
Target
A

Complied


Liquidity: The Council has adopted a voluntary measure of its exposure
to liquidity risk by monitoring the amount of cash available to meet
unexpected payments within a rolling one month period, without
additional borrowing.
Target
Total cash available
within 1 month

£5m

Since the 1st April 2020 the Council had at least £5m available within
one month at all times.
Interest Rate Exposures: This indicator is set to control the Council’s
exposure to interest rate risk. The upper limits on the one-year impact
of a 1% rise or fall in interest rates will be:
Interest rate risk
indicator
One year revenue impact
of a 1% rise in interest
rates
Upper Limit for Variable
Interest Rate Exposure

Target

£400,000
(£1,000,000)

Page 375

Agenda Item 17

CABINET
29 OCTOBER 2020
The impact of change in interest rates is calculated on the assumption
that maturing loans and investments will be replaced at current rates.
The Council’s debt is at fixed rates and there has been no debt maturing
in the period which has needed to be refinanced. The Council will benefit
from any increase in interest rates on its investments.
Maturity Structure of Borrowing
This indicator is to control the Authority’s exposure to refinancing risk.
The upper and lower limits on the maturity structure of fixed rate
borrowing together with the actual fixed rate borrowing as at 30 th
September are shown below:
Maturity structure of fixed
rate borrowing

under 12 months
12 months and within 24
months
24 months and within 5
years
5 years and within 10
years
10 years and within 20
years
20 years and above
Total

Lower
Limit for
2020/21
%

Upper
Limit for
2020/21
%

Actual
Maturity %
as at
30/09/2020

Actual Fixed Complied
Rate
Borrowing at
30/09/2020
£m

4.44

0%

25%

9.03%

0%

50%

18.29%

9.00



0%

50%

21.61%

10.64



0%

50%

30.14%

14.82



0%

50%

20.92%

10.29



0%

20%

0.00%
100.00%

0
49.19



Principal Sums Invested for Periods Longer than a year
The purpose of this indicator is to control the Council’s exposure to the risk
of incurring losses by seeking early repayment of its investments. The
limits on long-term principal sum invested to final maturities beyond the
period end are as follows:

Internally Managed
Funds
Externally Managed
Funds

Approved upper limit
of principal invested
beyond 1 year

30/09/20
Actual

£20m

£0

£125m

£101.76m

3.14 Other
IFRS16: The implementation of the new IFRS 16 Leases accounting standard
has been delayed until 2021/22.

Agenda Item 17

Page 376
CABINET
29 OCTOBER 2020

4.

Relationship to the Corporate Plan
Council Performing Strongly Theme PS1 – Deliver high quality services,
offering value for money and demonstrating a culture of continuous
improvement.
Regular monitoring and scrutiny of the Council’s financial position, and,
in particular its treasury management function is key to maintaining a
high quality service and value for money.

5.

Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk
assessments

Financial Implications

As detailed in the report

Legal Implications

There are none as a result of this report

Staffing Implications

There are none as a result of this report

Administrative
Implications

There are none as a result of this report

Risk Assessment

Treasury operations are tightly regulated and
the Council’s external advisors consulted
regularly, thus minimising the risk to the
Council. A prudent approach is taken in relation
to investment activity with priority being given to
security and liquidity over yield.

6.

Details of Exempt Information Category
Not applicable

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Documents consulted

Banking records and
Arlingclose guidance

Date /
File Ref

Report Author

Section and
Directorate

Catherine Bailey
(01322) 343312

Financial
Services,
Internal
Services

Exempt
Information
Category
N/A

Page 377

Agenda Item 18

CABINET
29 October 2020

REVENUE BUDGET MONITORING 2020/21

1. Summary
1.1 To update Members on financial performance against the 2020/21 budget
to date for the General Fund and Housing Revenue Account.
2. RECOMMENDATION
2.1 That Members note that the overall level of spend and income for the year
is expected to be within the parameters of the budget.

3. Background and Discussion
3.1 The revenue budgets for 2020/21 were approved by the Council on 24
February 2020. This is the third of several monitoring reports, which will be
submitted throughout the year.
3.2 Budget monitoring reports are submitted to Cabinet, in narrative form,
concentrating on the key financial risks. The key risks account for a large part
of the Council’s General Fund Budget. Appendix A gives a commentary on
these areas and includes a short commentary on the Housing Revenue
Account.
3.3 Additional key risk items have been reflected into this year’s report given the
ongoing COVID-19 crisis. A separate report on the estimated financial effect
of COVID-19 was reported to Members in June. This outlined that there was
likely to be additional expenditure in year plus loss of income.
3.3 This report is based on information available up to the end of September
2020 and discussions with Spending Officers. It is too early in the year to be
able to confidently predict the year-end outturn.
3.4 The picture is mixed with extra spending due to COVID-19 mostly covered by
government grants. Loss of income is still expected due to the crisis but some
grant compensation will be applied against this. In contrast in some areas
there is reduced spend or increased income due to changes in operations or
behaviour.
3.5 Both the Business Rate and Council Tax Collection Funds are of significant
concern. Whilst income loss will not be felt in year due to collection fund
accounting rules, delayed payments and increased numbers receiving
Council Tax Support are likely to result in a deficit in the funds. These deficits
will be collected in 2021/22. Appropriate amounts will be allocated to reserves
in order to fund the required deficit payments.

Agenda Item 18

Page 378
CABINET
29 October 2020

3.6 Overall, at this stage, officers expect that services will be delivered within the
overall budget after an adjustment to the planned contribution to reserves.

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan
Regular monitoring and reporting of the Council’s financial position is key to
maintaining a sound financial strategy. This is an important element of the
Council Performing Strongly theme.
5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk
assessments
Financial Implications

Despite some pressure areas officers
currently expect that services will be
delivered within the overall budget but
monitoring will continue throughout the
year.
None
None
None
Without effective monitoring, the risk of
not being able to meet the Council’s
objectives within the approved budget
would increase, but regular budget
monitoring and swift action to correct
budget failures significantly reduces this
risk.

Legal Implications
Staffing Implications
Administrative Implications
Risk Assessment

6. Appendices
Appendix A General Fund and Housing Revenue Account Commentary

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Documents
consulted
Budget
Monitoring
papers

Date

File Ref

Report
Author

Section and
Directorate

Tim Sams
01322 343148

Financial
Services/
Internal
Services

Exempt
Information
Category
N/A

Page 379

Agenda Item 18
Appendix A

Commentary on main budget risks
Investment Income
To date a total of £911,000 has been earnt from the in-house investments and externally
managed pooled funds. A further £351,000 of dividends from the externally managed
pooled funds have been declared, with payment due to us within the next two months.
The budget of £1.25m will therefore be met and is likely to be exceeded. However, with
continued economic uncertainty due to the COVID-19 pandemic and money market rates
at an all-time low of between 0% and 0.10% the return in the second half of the year is
likely to be considerably lower than the first half and therefore it is too early to predict by
how much the budget will be exceeded.
Staffing Savings
The vacancy savings factor has been set at £250,000 for the year and as at the end of
September £276,000 has been achieved.
Inflation allowance on contracts
Each year a global sum is set aside within the budget for inflation increases and for 2020/21
this is set at £140,000. Throughout the year, as and when annual increases in
contracts/annual payments are determined, virements are actioned to the appropriate
budget headings from the set aside sum. To date £37,000 has been applied
Additional Grants
There have been a number of unbudgeted grants received this financial year largely in
connection with COVID-19:
COVID-19 General Support: Two grants have been received: £1,125,220 and £202,847
COVID-19 Discretionary Grants, £470,500 to date
COVID-19 Business Rates £130,000 new burden support.
COVID-19 Basic Supplies Assistance. This is a grant from KCC for £51,507 and must be
spent on specific assistance to those requiring assistance with food and basic supplies.
COVID-19 Test and Trace Support, £104,011, incorporating three elements: standard
scheme, discretionary scheme and administration.
COVID-19 Surge Enforcement Activity, £57,700. Support for a range of additional
compliance and enforcement activity to support public health measures.
The following unbudgeted grants for non COVID-19 related matters have been received:
Individual Electoral Reform - £9,235
Rough Sleeping Initiative - £61,651

COVID-19 Additional Expenditure and Possible Further Relief
As at the end of September, COVID-19 general fund expenditure totalled £766,630, of this
£415,680 relates to supplier support. This expenditure will be funded from the grants
received.

Agenda Item 18

Page 380
Appendix A

Additionally the government has introduced a comprehensive new funding package for
councils to help address coronavirus pressures and cover lost income during the pandemic.
Where losses are more than 5% of a council’s planned income from sales, fees and
charges, the government will cover them for 75p in every pound lost. Claims must be offset
by any savings achieved through reduced expenditure. The first claim for the period April
to July has already been submitted and the net amount claimed is £293,000.
Eltham Crematorium
It is possible that the income budget of £165,190 for Eltham Crematorium may not be
achieved. The last two years income from the crematorium did not meet their budgets,
2018/19 - £167,213 and 2019/20 - £124,017. Previously income had exceeded £200,000.
The budget for 2020/21 was reduced to be close to the 2018/19 outturn. However, the
2019/20 outturn provided another significant decrease. The Council’s income from the
crematorium is based on a fixed percentage share of net income. Recently the numbers of
cremations at the site have been falling whilst maintenance and utility costs have been
high.
Corporate Land and Properties Income
The Corporate Land and Properties current income budget for rents and service charges
for 2020/21 is £953,150. Deferrals have been offered to six leaseholders and there is some
latency of payment on other leases. If this continues and deferrals result in non-payment,
the resulting loss of income is estimated at around £250,000.

Benefits
During this year, the number of cases changing to universal credit are expected to rise.
Therefore, expenditure is likely to be lower than previous levels.
In the past, the combination of the subsidy arrangements and overpayment recovery have
often led to a net income position. This is still reflected in current monitoring but it is likely
that the total net income received will be lower with a surplus of around £150,000.
The overall figures will also be affected by the subsidy claim audit, which has been delayed
until the autumn, as adjustments could be necessary as a result.

Superannuation
The net current budget for superannuation stands at £1,326,750. The pension back pay
element of the budget that is paid to Kent County Council is overstated and will produce an
underspend of £123,730.

Land Charges Income
Last year’s outturn was impacted by adjustments that were necessary regarding the
treatment of VAT and how the land charges system dealt with it. The total adjustment was
for £29, 950, and of this £24,300 related to previous financial years. This gave an outturn
of £49,700. Actual receipts for 2019/20 totalled £73,998.

Page 381

Agenda Item 18
Appendix A

The budget for 2020/21 is £80,000. The actual to the end of September is £47,438, which
is £7,438 above its target. Following lockdown, which had a significant effect on the
property market, essentially reducing the requests for searches to re-mortgage
applications, and the subsequent lifting of restrictions, the Council has seen a recovery in
its income for land charges.
The numbers and types of searches at this stage of the year have varied compared to
2019/20. In the first half of 2019/20, 316 full searches were undertaken compared to 256
this financial year while the number of personal searches for 2019/20 for the same period
was 1,122 against 836 this year. Although activity numbers are lower this financial year,
the revised fees and charges, effective from 1 April has increased actual income.
The position to the end of September is shown in the following table:
2019/20
Current Budget
Profile to Month 6

2020/21
£80,000
£40,000

£40,358

Actual to Period 6

£47,438

£49,700

Outturn

Special Events
The net budget for special events is £139,150 and comprises of two elements, the festival,
£134,650 and the Summer Sizzlers campaign, £4,500. Both have been cancelled for the
current financial year, however, a proportion of the festival’s costs are paid in advance as
part of the arrangements for pre-booking and cannot be recovered. These costs amount
to £72,000 and additionally a further £10,000 has been payable for artiste cancellation fees.
There will be an underspend of £57,000 this financial year.

Princes Park Mini Pitches
The Council pays Dartford Football Club a fee to maintain the mini football pitches and
operate the administration of bookings. A 50:50 net profit share is in operation taking
account of income from bookings, running costs and an income based contribution to a
reserve for pitch surface replacement. This usually provides the Council with a modest
£5,000 estimated income.
No income was taken for the first quarter as the facility was closed resulting in a loss of
estimated income of £9,000. The mini pitches reopened 4 July under F.A. guidelines with
the second quarter’s income almost matching income for the same quarter last year.
Income for the remainder of the year will be dependent upon public health/F.A guidance
during the next few months. If no further restrictions need to be enforced, outturn should
still give a small but reduced net income.

Agenda Item 18

Page 382
Appendix A

Fairfield Leisure Centre
The Council’s contract with the external service provider generates an annual income of
£581,920. The centre was closed for the first four months of the financial year, reopening
3 August for gym and studio classes with lane swimming commencing 10 August and
swimming lessons 7 September. Other activities are restarting when appropriate. With
the initial centre closure and the impact of the required social distancing measures since
re-opening, it is anticipated that there will be no income this financial year. Additionally, the
last monthly payment for March 2020 has been cancelled, increasing the loss of income by
a further £43,900.
The provider has also made claims for additional costs for both the closure and reopening
periods and to date significant support has been necessary to enable the provider to fund
the costs of maintaining and opening the centre with significantly decreased income owing
to closure and social distancing measures. Regular meetings are held with the service
provider to monitor these additional costs which are being funded from the COVID-19 grant
received earlier in the year.

The Orchard
The annual payment to the Orchard was budgeted at £350,500 to include a reduction for
the start of a repayment of a new loan for capital works at the theatre. However, it has
been agreed to defer the start of the loan repayment until next year which will give an
overspend of £45,800 against budget. The income budget for the Council’s profit share is
£45,000, and this should be forthcoming as this is paid in arrears and relates to the previous
financial year. Consideration will need to be given to the 2021/22 budget as profit share will
relate to 2020/21 and the theatre will have been closed for the majority of this period. In
addition basic supplier support payments have been agreed to enable a skeleton staff to
keep the building safe and secure. At this stage, it is not known when the theatre will be
able to re-open.
Central Park Café
Due to the current situation, the café was closed for the first quarter of 2020/21, and with
restrictions, reopened 4 July. April to September are the busiest months for the café and
with the loss of this income to the tenant, the Council’s budgeted income of £13,000 for the
tenancy will not be forthcoming this year.
Enforcement Fine Income
Environmental Enforcement resumed normal service week commencing 29 June and
although the first quarter’s income was COVID-19 impacted, it is anticipated that the
£12,000 fine income budget is still likely to be met. The previous two financial years’
budgets were exceeded; 2018/19 outturned at £26,000 and 2019/20 outturned at £18,000.
Income as at the end of September stands at just over £5,000. There are a number of
cases waiting for court action, however these cannot be progressed as currently the courts
are closed. It is expected that courts will reopen early November.
The externally provided litter enforcement service was suspended in April, recommencing
3 August with a full enforcement of litter and trade waste regulations. The fine income
budget is £135,000 and although only £18,000 has been received during the first half year,

Page 383

Agenda Item 18
Appendix A

the payment to the contractor, which is based on the fines paid, will also be significantly
lower. Of the income received to date £10,000 was received in September. The Single
Justice Procedure service recommenced 21 October and it is now set to continue with 35
cases each month. The court costs income budget of £8,000 has been exceeded as
£11,100 of income is due. These costs relate to prior year cases. Overall, the litter
enforcement service has a net income budget of £20,000 and this could still be achieved.
Revenues and Business Rates Court Cost Income
Income from court costs is likely to be impacted this financial year. The budget for the two
areas is £459,000 and last year’s outturn was £487,000. Currently all courts have been
suspended and therefore no action has been possible this year so far. It was expected that
courts would be operational September/October but as of early October, the Council is still
waiting for confirmation of dates. With the resulting reduction in the number of courts and
court time, the Council could be allocated, there is likely to be a limit on the number of
cases that can be progressed, reducing income revenue this year.
Waste and Parks Management
Currently, the parks service is operating within budget.
The budget for the clearance of illegal dumping is £37,250 and as at the end of September
£13,000 has been spent, assuming current levels of spend for the remainder of the year,
actual costs will be within budget, however this is a difficult area to predict.
The take up on garden waste collection has significantly increased this year and will change
the net income budgeted position of £5,000 to approximately £50,000. Pending service
cancellations, a more precise projection will be provided as part of the autumn projection
exercise.
To enable the contractor to staff the refuse service during the COVID-19 crisis, additional
costs of £65,000 have been incurred and these costs will be funded from the government
grant received earlier in the financial year.
Cemeteries Income
The cemeteries income budget had previously been set at £195,000 and for the last three
years this budget had not been met, achieving £181,000 in 2017/18, £187,000 in 2018/19
and £183,000 in 2019/20. Giving consideration to a continuing downward trend the budget
was reduced to £175,000 for 2020/21. As at the end of September, income has exceeded
both the target for this year and the income received in the same period last financial year.
Early indications suggest that the budget should be achieved.
The table below shows the position to the end of September.
2020/21

2019/20
Current Budget
Profile to Month 6
£93,760
£182,936

Actual to Period 6
Outturn

£175,000
£87,500
£101,189

Agenda Item 18

Page 384
Appendix A

Licensing
The number of private hire and hackney carriage licence renewals has reduced in the first
six months of the year, but this is likely to be a temporary reduction resulting from drivers
delaying renewals and new applications/knowledge tests. With the easing of COVID-19
restrictions and as work increases, it is hoped that the majority of drivers will apply for their
licence renewals. The situation however is very fluid. Currently income at £16,000 is
£10,000 less than the first six months of 2019/20.
General licensing has also been impacted. Income has been lost for this year from
temporary event notices due to restrictions on events. Alcohol licensing is also affected
with a reduction that is likely to be permanent.as a number of premises have not reopened.
The full effect will not be determined until later in the year as the majority of this income is
collected in the second half of the year
The following table gives the position as at the end of September:
2019/20

£50,621

Current Budget
Profile to Month 6
Actual to Period 6

£133,492

Outturn

2020/21
£144,600
£46,500
£34,738

Car Parking Income
Car parking income has been significantly impacted by lockdown. No income was taken for
car parks for almost four months with charges being reinstated 20 July. It is expected that
income will not reach pre lockdown levels in the short/medium term.
Parking enforcement recommenced in regulated areas on 15 June with full enforcement
from 20 July. The number of fines issued in the first six months of this financial year was
2,273 compared to 6,144 for the same period last financial year. This is a reduction of
67%. Additionally, as at 31 March 2020, car parking fines totalling £233,000 were
outstanding and a provision was made for this amount within the accounts. Progressing
unpaid fines has been slower than usual as bailiff services were suspended during
lockdown but this is now fully resumed.
Some of this lost income will be recovered via the central government scheme and details
will be reported to Members at a later date.
The two tables below show the position as at September for car parking fees and charges
and fines and costs.

Page 385

Agenda Item 18
Appendix A

Fees & Charges
2019/20

£210,695

Current Budget
Profile to Month 6
Actual to Period 6

£419,130

Outturn

2020/21
£379.700
£189,850
£69,275

Fines & Costs
2019/20

£185,956
£360,691

Current Budget
Profile to Month 6
Actual to Period 6
Outturn

2020/21
£323,140
£161,570
£62,823

Dartford Markets
Following a downward trend in market income over recent years, the income budget for
2020/21 was reduced to £178,100.
Markets were not operational during the full lockdown period giving a loss of income of
£40,000 to £45,000 when comparing last year’s income at the end of June and the
anticipated income based on the 2020/21 budget. Minor savings of £6.000 were
forthcoming during that period due to there being no requirement for cleaning of the market
area at the end of the day.
The market reopened on 18 June with five traders and the Market Team have continued to
slowly increase the numbers of stalls in-line with Government guidance. Rent remains
suspended at this time to assist these small businesses through the crisis. The loss of
income stands at £89,000 as at the end of September.
2019/20

£82,613

Current Budget
Profile to Month 6
Actual to Period 6

£150,375

Outturn

2020/21
£178,100
£89.050
£0

Planning Income
Income from planning fees is higher than the profiled budget at this stage and in the first
half year 59% of the budgeted income has been received. Four receipts exceed £20,000
with one at £87,000.
Income from planning performance agreements currently stands at £54,000 against a
budget of £76,000 and commercial and residential development pre-application advice
currently stands at £16,000 against a budget of £43,000. Combining these two incomes

Agenda Item 18

Page 386
Appendix A

with other minor income sources, the actual to date of £71,010 compares favourably with
the first half year’s target of £63,750
There is significant uncertainty on planning fee income over the remainder of the
year. However, developer interest currently continues to be strong and expectations are
now that a number of further significant applications will be submitted over the coming
months.

The table below gives the position for the main planning fees as at the end of September.
2019/20

£425,014

Current Budget
Profile to Month 6
Actual to Period 6

£979,752
201
45

Outturn
No. of Receipts to period 6
No. of Receipts > £1K

£329.292

Value of Receipts > £1K

2020/21
£670,810
£335,405
£394.935
150
44
£287.388

Building Control
During and following lockdown, the number of In-year receipts and value of receipts is
considerably lower for the first half year compared to anticipated income for the year and
last year’s income for the same period. Large and small builders have returned to work
and the number of applications received and requests for site inspections has recently
slowly increased, however, the level of receipts is unlikely to increase significantly until the
construction industry and the economy fully recover.
The following table shows the position at 30 September.
2019/20
Current Budget
Profile to Month 6
£157,603
£301,791
373

In Year Receipts to Period 6
Outturn
No of Receipts to Period 6

2020/21
£331,240
£165,620
£106.052
240

Temporary Accommodation
The budget has been increased to £1,179,720 from £900,000 but it is likely that the
increased budget will be overspent by the end of the year with the net financial cost likely
to be over £600,000 over budget due to government policy to improve self-isolation
capacity.
The Council purchased 23,674 nights in nightly paid accommodation to the end of
September and 26,659 nights in leased accommodation, compared with 14,963 and 29,356

Page 387

Agenda Item 18
Appendix A

at the same point in 2019, which is an increase of 18% in total. Given the current situation
it is difficult to predict when this situation will change.
Last year total net costs were £1,205,772, which was a reduction of £165k from 2018/19.
For the current year, the budget was increased to £1,179,720. However, given the position
to date, it seems likely that the 2020/21 net position will result in a significant overspend.
An element of the above grant will be applied against the overspend.

Business Rates Income
The Council has budgeted for £5.8m of business rates income in year. The impact of
COVID-19 reliefs is expected to have peculiar effects on the timing of income recognition.
This is because the grant to compensate for lost income (if regulation are not changed) will
be counted as income in the current year alongside the original estimated income. This will
be adjusted for through reserves with a significant deficit payment due out of the fund in
the next year.
Ignoring the timing issues the overall position is that in year collection has dropped. It is
difficult to project the full year effect of this. The current estimate is that income collected
may fall by £4.7m. These amounts may be collected later but the provision for bad debts
will be increased accordingly.
The current expected effect is that retained income will be under budget by £600,000 but
further monitoring and observation continues.
Additionally appeal checks and challenges relating to the 2017 list have been increasing in
recent months. Due to this the amounts set aside against these appeals will also need to
be considered.

HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT
The Housing Revenue Account (HRA) carried forward a balance of just over £13.8m from
2019/2020 (£12.3m from 2018/9 and overall is underspending to date compared to budget.
At the half year mark the significant overspends relate to COVID-19. These areas and
others worth noting are discussed in more detail below.
General management is underspending by £221k. This is mainly due to underspends of
£76k due to vacancies in Estate Management, Performance, Rents and Repairs, as well
as pension entries being less than budget by £46K. Spend of legal fees are lower than
usual due to the current situation. Some additional COVID-19 expenses have been
incurred, the most significant being £16k for communal bin sanitisation.
Housing services for the elderly is underspent by £27k. There is £11k of COVID-19
expenses for sanitisation, cleaning products and signs but other budgets including salaries
were underspent.
Repairs and Maintenance has the biggest underspend to date of £610k. That is made up
of £247k for Planned, £185k for Responsive and £178k for Voids. This is due to the
difficulties brought by the current pandemic.

Agenda Item 18

Page 388
Appendix A

Rental Income and service charges are close to budget.
Income of £68,347 has been received from the feed-in tariff for solar energy, which is
£13,000 higher than the budget to date. This is an increase on this time last year by £4,000.
The HRA will be closely monitored and the Business Plan regularly updated, with Cabinet
being informed of any significant variances.
Provision is required for the £5 million maturity payment on the HRA debt, due in 2022,
which is in addition to the regular principal repayment of £4.4m per annum.

Page 389

Agenda Item 19

DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL
POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
MINUTES of the meeting of the Policy Overview Committee held on Tuesday 8
September 2020 at 5.00 pm
PRESENT:

Councillor M J Davis (Chairman)
Councillor Mrs. M I Peters (Vice-Chairman)
Councillor Mrs. S P Butterfill
Councillor L H K Edie
Councillor R A S Jones
Councillor D T Nicklen
Councillor T Oliver
Councillor A S Sandhu, MBE
Councillor Mrs. R F Storey

ABSENT:

None

Dartford Borough Council Officers

60.

Sheri Green

–

Mark Salisbury
Nick Chapman

–
–

James Fox

–

Strategic
Director
(External
Services)
EARS/CSU Manager
Assist.
Environmental
Health
Manager
Scientific Officer

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE
The Chairman welcomed Members and Officers to the second virtual meeting
of the Council’s Policy Overview Committee (POC), and confirmed that the
proceedings were being streamed live via YouTube.
He advised Members that the first virtual meeting of the POC on 16 June
2020 had attracted 91 views on YouTube, which he considered to be a
significant success. He also confirmed that Members had received the followup information on GP practices in Dartford [June meeting Min. No. 56 page 6
second bullet point refers], and asked that the appropriate NHS representative
be invited to the March 2021 POC meeting.
There were no apologies for absence.

61.

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
There were no declarations of interest.

62.

CONFIRMATION OF THE MINUTES OF THE POLICY OVERVIEW
MEETING HELD ON 16 JUNE 2020
1

Agenda Item 19

Page 390
POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
TUESDAY 8 SEPTEMBER 2020

RESOLVED:
That the Minutes of the virtual meeting of the Policy Overview Committee held
on 16 June 2020 be confirmed as an accurate record of those proceedings.
63.

URGENT ITEMS
The Chairman confirmed that there were no urgent items for Members to
consider.

64.

TO CONSIDER REFERENCES FROM OTHER COMMITTEES (IF ANY)
There were no references from other Committees for Members to consider.

65.

REGULATION 9 NOTICE
RESOLVED:
1. That Members note the contents of the Regulation 9 Notice [Forward
Plan] for the period 14 August 2020 to 31 December 2020.

66.

AIR QUALITY ANNUAL STATUS REPORT 2020
The report from the Council’s Scientific Officer (SO) enclosed at Appendix A,
the Council’s Air Quality Annual Status Report for 2020.
Members were asked to note the contents of both documents prior to
submission of the 2020 Air Quality Annual Status Report (Appendix A), to the
Department for the Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (Defra), in fulfilment
of Part IV of the Environment Act 1995 for Local Air Quality Management, a
statutory requirement for all local authorities.
The covering report from the SO provided Members with a summary of the
principal points contained in the 2020 ASR, including details of pollution levels
across the Borough and within the four declared Air Quality Management
Areas (AQMAs), plus an update on the progress in developing the Council’s
new Air Quality Action Plan (AQAP) to reduce emissions and pollution within
the four designated AQMAs. The SO and the Council’s Assistant
Environmental Health Manager (AEHM), were in attendance to respond to
Members’ questions.
The Chairman commended the 2020 ASR and covering report to the
Committee as positive documents which confirmed that vehicle emissions and
pollution levels in Dartford for the period under review had fallen. He proposed
that debate proceed on the basis that Members had read both documents,
and that the SO and the AEHM respond to any questions or concerns that
Members might have. In that context, he asked if there were any specific
reasons for the positive decrease in emission and pollution levels recorded in
the 2020 AQA.

2

Page 391

Agenda Item 19

POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
TUESDAY 8 SEPTEMBER 2020
The SO advised Members that improvements in vehicle manufacture, and the
increasing advent of electrical cars, were the two main contributory factors
that had achieved the reduction in emissions and pollution levels in Dartford
for the period under review. No specific data was available for the number of
electrical vehicles operating in Dartford, but registration of electrical cars had
risen sharply in the period under review, albeit from a low starting point.
The Chairman sought confirmation that the aim of the annual Air Quality
Status exercise was to continuously improve the reduction of emissions and
pollution levels in the Borough, not merely to meet Government targets.
The AEHM advised Members that there were no recognised safe levels for
emissions and pollution, and that the aim was to drive towards the lowest
possible levels for both vehicle emission and overall pollution levels. In
response to a follow-up question from the Chairman, concerning the location
and instalment of passive diffusion tubes, the SO advised that current sites
and any possible relocations/additions of diffusion tubes, would form part of
the current update exercise of the Council’s Air Quality Action Plan (AQAP)
being undertaken by Bureau Veritas (BV) a specialist external environmental
consultant.
In response to a variety of further questions and expressions of concern from
the Chairman and other Members, the AEHM and SO confirmed the following
points:








Potential ‘pinch-points’ in Dartford’s roads network continued to be
assessed as part of the review of the Council’s Air Quality Action Plan
(AQAP) including; the A2 Junction and Dartford Crossing, the potential
impact of the Ebbsfleet Garden City Development, and the proposed
London Resort development in the Swanscombe Peninsular; in terms
of increased vehicles and consequent emission levels;
Traffic levels at the ‘Blue Star’ Junction for the A2/M25 at both the
Brent side of the Fleet estate and Queens Gardens at the West end of
the estate, were not currently monitored, given that housing in those
areas was set well back from the road and vehicle emissions therefore
posed less of a risk to residents;
The review of the current AQAPs [produced in 2001 and 2009] and the
production of a new AQAP for the Borough, involved multi-staged
pieces of work, including complex and detailed computer modelling
being undertaken by BV, in the absence of such expertise within the
Council;
The initial run of computer modelling by BV had indicated that the Air
Quality Management Area (AQMA) along the A226 at London Road
could be potentially be revoked [given the fall in recorded vehicle
emission levels]. However, a final decision on revocation of the longstanding AQMA would not be taken until a further run of computer
modelling had been undertaken by BV. Those results were expected
later in the year, and would be presented to Cabinet for decision on the
retention or revocation of the AQMA. Any changes to the existing
AQMA arrangements approved by Cabinet, would be subject to
3

Agenda Item 19

Page 392
POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
TUESDAY 8 SEPTEMBER 2020





consultation with partners, Members and the public, prior to
implementation [report para 3.35 refers];
The second part of the BV modelling exercise would concentrate on
motor vehicle types and models as primary pollutants, and include the
consideration of measures to combat emissions dependant on the
pollutant source, including implementation of engine stop and re-start
measures for queuing traffic as appropriate;
The Council were not required to monitor particles smaller than PM10
and had no equipment capable of assessing PM2.5 sized particles.
However, the new Air Quality Action Plan (AQAP) being developed
with the aid of Bureau Veritas (BV), would include appropriate
measures to reduce PM2.5 particles, as well as other priority pollutants
[report para 3.13 refers].

The Chairman thanked the Scientific Officer and the Assistant Environmental
Health Manager for presenting a very comprehensive and positive 2020 Air
Quality Annual Status report to the Committee, and their responses to
Members questions and expressions of concern. Given that the 2020 AQA
report had included analysis of the higher traffic levels prevailing prior to
COVID-19 lock-down measures being imposed, he expressed the cautious
hope that the 2021 AQA report would continue the positive trend, and record
a further reduction in vehicle emission and pollution levels for the Borough.
He asked that the views of the POC (as recorded in the meeting minutes), be
noted by Officers in their formulation of the Council’s new Air Quality Action
Plan (AQAP) with Bureau Veritas, prior to the submission of final
recommendations to Cabinet.
RESOLVED:
1. That Members note the contents of the covering report, together with
the 2020 Annual Status Report [attached at Appendix A to the report];
2. That the views and concerns of the POC [as minuted above] be
included in Officer’s formulation of the Council’s new Air Quality Action
Plan (AQAP), prior to final submission to Cabinet.
67.

COUNCIL RESILIENCE & EMERGENCY PLANNING (R&EP) MEASURES
The Chairman advised Members that he had intended to consider the
Council’s emergency planning measures and general preparedness in times
of crisis, prior to the onset of the continuing Coronavirus pandemic. His
subsequent draw-down of the topic was forward looking in aim, and not
designed to repeat the Scrutiny Committee’s recent examination of the
Council’s response to COVID-19 [Scrutiny Min. No 32 refers].
He confirmed that following publication of the agenda, Members had received
individual copies of the DBC Resilience and Emergencies PowerPoint
presentation, prepared by the Enforcement & Regulatory Services (EARS)
Manager, as the responsible officer for formulating the Council’s Strategic and
Emergency Planning measures.
4

Page 393

Agenda Item 19

POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
TUESDAY 8 SEPTEMBER 2020
The EARS Manager reprised his presentation for the Committee, before
responding to Members questions. The presentation covered the following
principal areas:
Aims and Objectives
 DBC’s statutory responsibilities for Emergency Planning and Business
Continuity;
 Strategic level emergency management roles and responsibilities;
 Breadth and scope of R&EP duties;
 Understanding role of DBC staff and manager roles within multi-agency
Emergency Planning & Response;
 The role of the Kent Resilience Forum (KRF)
The definition of an ‘Emergency’ under Part 1 of the Civil Contingency Act
(CCA) 2004, formulated in response to the Foot & Mouth Outbreak was:
‘An event or situation which threatened serious damage to human welfare in
a place in the UK, the environment of a place in the UK, or war or terrorism
which threatened serious damage to the security of the UK.’
The Council’s responsibilities under the 2004 Act were:







Risk Assessment
Emergency Planning
Business Continuity Management (BCM)
Warning – Informing & Alerting the Public
Information Sharing
Co-operation [across multi agencies]

The Kent Resilience Forum (KRF) was one of 42 local resilience forums
(LRFs) set up in response to the 2004 Act, which had established a new
legislative framework for civil protection in the event of emergencies in the
UK. LRFs were aligned with police force areas, with member agencies
working together to provide a combined response and minimise impact, when
emergencies occurred.
LRFs were not legal entities in their own right, but formed a partnership of
member agencies, including those defined under the 2004 Act by responder
‘categories’:
Category 1 responders were organisations directly involved in the response
to an emergency and were subject to a number of civil protection obligations.
They included: Kent Police, Kent Fire & Rescue Service, SE Coast &
Ambulance Service, Maritime & Coastguard Agency, local authorities, primary
care aspects of the NHS and others;
Category 2 responders were organisations that had a less direct role to play
in response to emergencies e.g. utility companies, infrastructure (Network
Rail) and others. The Act did not place stringent duties on such organisations,
5

Agenda Item 19

Page 394
POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
TUESDAY 8 SEPTEMBER 2020

but they were required to share appropriate information and cooperate fully
with the Local Resilience Forum (LRF), to manage emergencies.
The Kent LRF also included members not categorised under the Act, but who
had a significant role to play in the event of emergencies e.g. the military and
the voluntary sector.
DBC Emergency Roles
 Liaison with emergency services, government, other local authorities,
voluntary sector, utility companies and others as required;
 Welfare and trauma support within Survivor Reception and Rest
Centres and across the wider community, including the provision of
transport to evacuees as necessary;
 Facilitate repairs, demolition, clearance, public transport, and waste
disposal as required, via the Council’s Housing and Waste & Parks
Departments, in consultation with KCC as appropriate;
 Media management (with emergency services) and provision of public
information, led by the Council’s Communications Manager with the
support of the Leader and all Ward Members as appropriate
The Council’s Integrated Emergency Management process in the event of
emergencies continued to be based on the traditional layered approach of
Gold (Directors), Silver (Senior Managers) and Bronze (Staff), as used for
Brexit planning, and more recently, to combat COVID-19.
Business Continuity Management (BCM)
In contrast to Emergency Planning (which was ‘outward looking’), BCM was
‘inward looking’ and was best described as what to do for yourself to protect
your business functions. Effective BCM provided a planning framework to
address disruptions to service delivery across 3 (three) main areas:




Staff (e.g. bad weather, illness)
Facilities (e.g. IT, power loss)
Buildings (e.g. Fire, flooding)

BCM also helped to identify the most important functions of a business (e.g.
Maximum Tolerable Periods of Disruption) and helped to deal with those
disrupted functions in the context of the continued running of the organisation
as a whole by:




Providing a plan to follow when an organisation is under maximum
pressure to cope;
Ensuring an organisation is able to respond effectively and quickly
under maximum pressure;
Protecting employees, service users and the organisation as a whole
into the future.

In response to variety of subsequent questions from the Chairman and other
Members, the EARS Manager confirmed the following points:
6

Page 395

Agenda Item 19

POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
TUESDAY 8 SEPTEMBER 2020












The Council’s Emergency Planning procedures had been revised in
light of COVID-19 and those documents, together with the Major
Emergency Plan were available to the public via the Council website.
He judged that the Council had been well prepared in IT terms to cope
with the disruptive effects of the pandemic, and had performed well in
continuing to deliver services to the public, with the exception of direct
public facing roles e.g. parking enforcement, although this had now
been reinstated. The Scrutiny Committee had endorsed the Council’s
planning measures at its last meeting [14 July 2020 Min. No. 32 refers],
and in the context of the pan-Kent effort to combat COVID-19 Dartford
‘stood tall’;
The measures implemented by the Council’s Transformation Manager
and his IT team had enabled the vast majority of staff to work
effectively from home, following the closure of the Civic Centre to the
public and the implementation of government distancing measures
within the office environment;
The lack of a specific ‘blue-print’ to combat COVID-19 [identified by the
Scrutiny Committee] did not impact on the Council’s Emergency
Planning and Business Continuity measures, which were based on
generic principles of co-operation with the KRF and LRFs across
England: no Council acted alone in times of emergency;
COVID-19 had highlighted a need to update specific emergency
procedures in relation to combating infectious diseases, and lessons
learnt had been incorporated into the wider KRF emergency
procedures and those for England as a whole, including in the next
KRF exercise in October to address Brexit issues, which the EARS
Manager would attend on behalf of the Council;
The KRF was a real and effective body of senior representatives from
member organizations e.g. Kent Police Assistant Chief Constable, with
some members bodies contributing to the staffing of a KRF Secretariat,
called the Kent Resilience Team (KRT) has a 24/7 on-call capability,
and also facilitates a ‘hot-desking’ principle for all member
organisations. The various KRF group meetings took place throughout
the year and considered current issues, including liaison with Essex
and London LRF bodies;
In terms of the Council’s chain of command, in response to any given
emergency, the EARS Manager was the initial ‘out-of-hours’ point of
contact. He would then liaise directly on a 1 to 1 basis with the
Strategic Director (External Services) or relevant senior Council service
manager e.g. Head of Housing Services. In the event of a multiresponse requirement, he would liaise with the Council’s dedicated
WhatsApp Emergency Group. Effective action in an emergency was
enshrined in the ‘1st Golden Hour’ principle, with the traditional ‘blue
light’ services of Police, Ambulance and the KF&RS heavily involved as
required. The recovery phase of any emergency involved more direct
use of Council services e.g. the re-housing of residents as appropriate,
and liaison with utility companies to restore services. The Council’s
Communications Manager and his team performed a key role during
emergencies, informing the public of events, and managing public
7

Agenda Item 19

Page 396
POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
TUESDAY 8 SEPTEMBER 2020

expectation of the Council’s ability to respond via the Leader and Ward
Members as appropriate.
The Chairman thanked the EARS Manager for a very comprehensive
presentation and for his detailed responses to Members questions.
He asked that the meeting minutes record that he had no concerns over the
Council’s Emergency Planning and Business Continuity Measures. The
purpose of his draw-down had been to establish greater knowledge of those
procedures; including the Council’s chain of command in the event of
emergencies; and whether any lessons learnt from the Council’s effective
response to COVID-19, had been incorporated into revised Emergency
Planning procedures. He declared himself satisfied on all counts.
68.

WORK PLAN UPDATE
The report from the Committee’s Clerk, enclosed as Appendix A, an updated
Work Plan document for the remainder of the 2020-21 municipal year and
beyond for Members consideration.
The Chairman advised that his aim was for shorter Committee meetings with
Member discussion focussed on two principal topics. Given the Committee’s
traditional review of the Council’s Litter and Recycling Services each
December, he proposed that the Committee’s review of Dartford’s Heath,
Marshes and Country Parks presently mooted for December, be moved to a
future meeting in 2021 which he would identify and advise to the Clerk in due
course.
RESOLVED:
1. That Members note the revised Committee Work Plan for the
remainder of the 2020-21 municipal year and beyond [Appendix A to
the report], subject to the Chairman’s proposed amendment, as
recorded above.

The meeting closed at 5.55 pm

Councillor M J Davis
CHAIRMAN

8

